PALLIATIVE CARE IN NEUROLOGY

EDITED BY: Raymond Voltz, Marianne de Visser and David Oliver PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Neurology







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88963-471-2 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88963-471-2

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

PALLIATIVE CARE IN NEUROLOGY

Topic Editors:

Raymond Voltz, Center for Palliative Medicine, University Hospital Cologne, Germany Marianne de Visser, Amsterdam University Medical Centre, Netherlands David Oliver, University of Kent, United Kingdom

Over the last 50 years palliative care has usually been associated with cancer patients but more recently there has been increased discussion of the role of palliative care for neurological patients.

In the past years, neurology has moved from being a purely diagnostic area to a very therapeutically active one. A further step needs to be taken to modify the therapeutic activity from "cure" to "care" depending on the patient's disease trajectory. Palliative care has been associated with care at the end of life, whereas it may be appropriate earlier in the disease progression, and will extend after death in the support of bereaved families. The care of patients with neurological disease, and their families, will encompass the psychological, spiritual and existential issues and neurologists, and the teams in which they work, should develop skills to consider all aspects of care, in order to maximize the quality of life of all involved, and enable patients to die peacefully.

Citation: Voltz, R., de Visser, M., Oliver, D., eds. (2020). Palliative Care in Neurology. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88963-471-2

Table of Contents

- 05 Editorial: Palliative Care in Neurology David Oliver, Marianne de Visser and Raymond Voltz
- 08 Neurological Symptoms in Palliative Care Patients Johanna Anneser, Victoria Arenz and Gian Domenico Borasio
- The Role of Palliative Care in Chronic Progressive Neurological Diseases—A Survey Amongst Neurologists in the Netherlands
 Hannah A. W. Walter, Antje A. Seeber, Dick L. Willems and Marianne de Visser
- 25 Impaired Quality of Life and Need for Palliative Care in a German Cohort of Advanced Parkinson's Disease Patients Martin Klietz, Amelie Tulke, Lars H. Müschen, Lejla Paracka, Christoph Schrader, Dirk W. Dressler and Florian Wegner
- 33 Alleviation of Psychological Distress and the Improvement of Quality of Life in Patients With Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis: Adaptation of a Short-Term Psychotherapeutic Intervention

Moritz C. F. Oberstadt, Peter Esser, Joseph Classen and Anja Mehnert

- 39 Associative Increases in Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Survival Duration With Non-invasive Ventilation Initiation and Usage Protocols
 Nishad Khamankar, Grant Coan, Barry Weaver and Cassie S. Mitchell
- 51 Communication Matters—Pitfalls and Promise of Hightech Communication Devices in Palliative Care of Severely Physically Disabled Patients With Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Katharina Linse, Elisa Aust, Markus Joos and Andreas Hermann

69 Death Anxiety and Depression in Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Patients and Their Primary Caregivers Marvin R. Grabler, Ute Weyen, Georg Juckel, Martin Tegenthoff and

- Paraskevi Mavrogiorgou-Juckel
 75 Access to End-of-Life Parkinson's Disease Patients Through Patient-Centered Integrated Healthcare
 Carsten Eggers, Richard Dano, Juliane Schill, Gereon R. Fink, Lars Timmermann, Raymond Voltz, Heidrun Golla and Stefan Lorenzl
- 81 A Pilgrim's Journey—When Parkinson's Disease Comes to an End in Nursing Homes

Katharina M. Lex, Philip Larkin, Jürgen Osterbrink and Stefan Lorenzl

90 Dementia and Parkinson's Disease: Similar and Divergent Challenges in Providing Palliative Care

Jenny T. van der Steen, Herma Lennaerts, Danny Hommel, Bertie Augustijn, Marieke Groot, Jeroen Hasselaar, Bastiaan R. Bloem and Raymond T. C. M. Koopmans

103 Supportive Care Needs in Glioma Patients and Their Caregivers in Clinical Practice: Results of a Multicenter Cross-Sectional Study

Mirjam Renovanz, Dorothea Maurer, Heike Lahr, Elke Weimann, Monika Deininger, Christian R. Wirtz, Florian Ringel, Susanne Singer and Jan Coburger **112** Palliative Care for Stroke Patients and Their Families: Barriers for Implementation

Tobias Steigleder, Rainer Kollmar and Christoph Ostgathe

120 The "Surprise Question" in Neurorehabilitation—Prognosis Estimation by Neurologist and Palliative Care Physician; a Longitudinal, Prospective, Observational Study

Markus Ebke, Andreas Koch, Kim Dillen, Ingrid Becker, Raymond Voltz and Heidrun Golla

- **134** Telemedicine in Palliative Care: Implementation of New Technologies to Overcome Structural Challenges in the Care of Neurological Patients Christiane E. Weck, Katharina M. Lex and Stefan Lorenzl
- 139 Practical Management of Epileptic Seizures and Status Epilepticus in Adult Palliative Care Patients

Wenke Grönheit, Stoyan Popkirov, Tim Wehner, Uwe Schlegel and Jörg Wellmer

147 Improvement of Restless Legs Syndrome Undertreatment of Cancer Pain With Morphine and Fentanyl

Jan Gärtner, Karin Jaroslawski, Gerhild Becker and Christopher Boehlke





Editorial: Palliative Care in Neurology

David Oliver^{1*}, Marianne de Visser² and Raymond Voltz³

¹ Tizard Centre, University of Kent, Canterbury, United Kingdom, ² Amsterdam University Medical Centre, Amsterdam, Netherlands, ³ Department of Palliative Medicine, Faculty of Medicine and University Hospital, University of Cologne, Köln, Germany

Keywords: palliative care, neurology, collaboration, ethical issues, quality of life

Editorial on the Research Topic

Palliative Care in Neurology

The role of palliative care for people with progressive neurological disease has been increasingly discussed over the last 20 years (1-3). Initially, the focus was on amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) which "represents a paradigm for palliative care in neurological diseases" (4). Indeed, progression in ALS is rapid, leading to severe disability, rendering the patients fully dependent on the support of carers, and death occurs \sim 3 years after disease onset in half of the patients. More recently a palliative care approach also found its way to diseases such as high-grade glioma of which the course is also relentlessly progressive like in ALS, Parkinson's disease (PD), and multiple sclerosis (MS). The two latter are also associated with progressive disability and a shortened life expectancy but have a more prolonged and thus unpredictable course.

The European Academy of Neurology (EAN), in collaboration with the European Association for Palliative Care (EAPC) have produced a Consensus paper on neurological palliative care, which outlines the need for a wider assessment of patients—physical, psychological, social and spiritual, and including consideration of end of life care and discussion of hastened death (3). Moreover, the support of carers, both family and professional has been emphasized (3).

This Research Topic has aimed to look at new developments in the palliative care of patients with neurological disease and the editors were heartened by the response and the papers submitted. They consider many different aspects of care and several different disease groups.

The need to assess carefully the various symptoms of all patients is emphasized in the paper by Anneser et al.. They found that neurological symptoms were common, both in patients with neurological diseases and other patients receiving palliative care. These symptoms may affect the quality of life of patients. However, the survey of neurologists in the Netherlands (Walter et al.) showed that discussions about treatment restrictions and the consideration of palliative care in PD and MS were often delayed until the later stages of the disease progression—cognitive decline was often the trigger. This has again shown that education of neurologists is important in enabling discussion about deterioration and end of life to take place earlier in the disease progression, as was suggested by the EAN/EAPC paper (3).

One way of enabling professionals to become more aware of the prognosis of the patient may be the use of the "Surprise Question"—"Would you be surprised if your patient would die in the next 12 months?" This was found to be useful, particularly when combined with an assessment of the symptom burden (Ebke et al.). There is also a need to ensure that the necessary expertise in the management of palliative care issues for neurological patients is more widely available. The innovative use of telemedicine in Bavaria, Germany was shown to help and support palliative care teams in the management of patients with neurological disease, when they do not have the specific expertise required (Weck et al.).

The role of palliative care for patients with ALS has been established for many years (5). The physical aspects may be complex and in particular the use of non-invasive ventilation (NIV)

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by:

Sean Ruland, Loyola University Medical Center, United States

*Correspondence:

David Oliver drdjoliver@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurocritical and Neurohospitalist Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 29 November 2019 Accepted: 11 December 2019 Published: 09 January 2020

Citation:

Oliver D, de Visser M and Voltz R (2020) Editorial: Palliative Care in Neurology. Front. Neurol. 10:1370. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.01370

5

for patients with respiratory muscle weakness was shown to be associated with improved QoL and survival (6), albeit many questions remained about timing and the minimum forced vital capacity (FVC). Khamankar et al. present a new approach to commencement of NIV with a protocol suggesting initiation for patients with a FVC of 80% or less, a higher level than is usually suggested, together with encouragement for regular usage and cough assistance. This approach would seem to improve survival– -30.8 months in their cohort, compared to a standard regime. This is a challenge to look carefully at how NIV is discussed and used.

The psychosocial issues for people with ALS are profound, facing a progressive deterioration in physical function over a short period of 2-3 years. Grabler et al. have shown that although depression, anxiety, and death anxiety are not particularly common in ALS patients, they found that they widely correlate with each other and should be addressed altogether. Caregivers' strain was related to both depression and anxiety. This again shows the importance of the care and support, and often intervention, for caregivers, to help them care for patients with ALS. A group in Leipzig in Germany are developing a shortterm intervention "Managing Cancer and Living Meaningfully (CALM)" which has been adapted for patients with ALS (Oberstadt et al.). This now needs to be validated to ascertain if this approach would be helpful in allowing patients to receive the support they need, both in terms of symptoms, relationships, and psychosocial well-being. The use of high technology alternative and augmentative communication systems is often very important as communication becomes difficult and Linse et al. discuss the issues of ensuring that equipment is used effectively to help patients strengthen self-determination, improve quality of life and reduce caregiver burden.

There is increasing interest in the role of palliative care for people with Parkinson's disease. The paper from Hanover, Germany shows that the quality of life of people with PD is poor, with motor deficits, impairment of daily living, depression and cognitive loss (Klietz et al.). However, although 72% had an unmet palliative care need, only 2.6% had received palliative care input. A new approach is described by Eggers et al. where in Cologne, Germany a network has been developed, with a model of care provided by a movement disorder neurologist and a PD nurse collaborating with neurologists across the area. This service did not seem to see late-stage disease patients and there appeared to be poor access and loss of follow-up toward the end of life. Many PD patients may be admitted for nursing home care as the disease progresses. Lex et al. looked at residents who are in a late stage of Parkinson Disease in residential care in Salzburg, Austria, and found that despite their severe disease, limiting their activities and mobility, they did not have a significant symptom burden and were content with their quality of life. They appreciated the closeness of family and nursing home care and family members were often reassured that the resident was being cared for and their anxiety and burden had lessened.

van der Steen et al. have shown that people with PD and those with dementia face uncertainty and increasing disability

and cognitive loss and that palliative care can be helpful. There is a need to develop a palliative care approach to cope with the variable and protracted deterioration, ensuring symptoms are managed effectively, carers are supported and advance care plans are considered earlier.

Although in the past palliative care for neurological patients has tended to focus on ALS, and to a lesser extent PD and MS, there is increasing awareness of the role for other disease groups. Stroke is a very common cause of disability and death across the World and there is a need to look at this patient group and their palliative care needs (7). Steigleder et al. consider the challenges of providing care for stroke, when the outcome is uncertain and there may be rapid changes. They argue for a wider consideration of palliative care and consider the barriers of the implementation of this, and look at possible ways forward. Patients with high-grade glioma also face an uncertain future and the paper from Renovanz et al. shows that both patients with glioma and their carers have many psychological issues, particularly when receiving chemotherapy. They press for greater support of both patients and carers at these difficult times.

Many patients receiving palliative care may have neurological symptoms which need to be assessed and addressed. Grönheit et al. discuss the difficult area of managing epileptic seizures and status epilepticus and provide practical advice on medication and the mode of administration. Restless legs can be a very distressing symptom, for both person and bed partner. Gärtner et al. provide an interesting insight with a case study of a patient who responded to morphine. There is still much to learn and case studies may give us an insight, which can in turn lead to a deeper understanding and more effective management of symptoms.

The papers in this volume provide an opportunity to look at palliative care for neurological patients. This is expanding and in the USA the concept of neuro-palliative care is increasing-neurologists with extra palliative care training and experience, who are able to develop the multidisciplinary approach to people with neurological diseases (8). There are many challenges and all involved in the care of patient with neurological disease-neurologists, rehabilitation physicians, the wider multidisciplinary teams, palliative care specialists, primary care teams, patients and families-need to face these issues, and may require training to cope with the new areas (3). However, with the increase in a generalist palliative care approachlistening to patients, helping to set goals and assessing all areas of care (physical, psychological, social, and spiritual)and collaborating with specialist palliative care services for more complex areas we can all learn to help patients with neurological diseases, to maintain their quality of life and enable a better quality of death (9, 10).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

REFERENCES

- American Academy of Neurology. Palliative care in neurology. The American Academy of Neurology Ethics and Humanities Subcommittee. *Neurology*. (1996) 46:870–2.
- Borasio GD. The role of palliative care in patients with neurological diseases. Nat Neurol. (2013) 9:292–5. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol. 2013.49
- 3. Oliver DJ, Borasio GD, Caraceni A, de Visser M, Grisold W, Lorenzl S, et al. A consensus review on the development of palliative care for patients with chronic and progressive neurological disease. *Eur J Neurol.* (2016) 23:30–8. doi: 10.1111/ene.12889
- Borasio GD, Shaw PJ, Hardiman O, Sales Luis ML, Silani V, European ALS, et al. Standards of palliative care for patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: results of a European survey. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Other Motor Neuron Disord.* (2001) 2:159–64. doi: 10.1080/14660820175 3275517
- Oliver D, Webb S. The involvement of specialist palliative care in the care of people with motor neurone disease. *Palliative Med.* (2000) 14:47–8. doi: 10.1191/026921600701536264
- Bourke SC, Bullock RE, Williams TL, Shaw PJ, Gibson GJ. Noninvasive ventilation in ALS: indications and effect on quality of life. *Neurology*. (2003) 61:171–7. doi: 10.1212/01.WNL.0000076182.13137.38

- Eastman P, Le B. Palliative Care and Stroke. In: MacLeod R, van den Block L, editors. *Textbook of Palliative Care*. Cham: Springer International Publishing AG (2018). doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-31738-0_59-1
- Creutzfeldt CJ, Kluger B, Kelly AG, Lemmon M, Hwang DY, Galifianakis NB, et al. Neuropalliative care. Priorities to move the field forward. *Neurology*. (2018) 91:217–26. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000005916
- Oliver D, de Visser M, Voltz R. Palliative care in neurology. Lancet Neurol. (2017) 16:868. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(17)30320-4
- Oliver D. Palliative care for people with progressive neurological disease: what is the role? J Palliative Care. (2014) 30:298–301. doi: 10.1177/082585971403000411

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Oliver, de Visser and Voltz. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Neurological Symptoms in Palliative Care Patients

Johanna Anneser^{1*}, Victoria Arenz¹ and Gian Domenico Borasio²

¹ Palliative Care Team, Department of Psychosomatic Medicine and Psychotherapy, Klinikum rechts der Isar, Technical University Munich, Munich, Germany, ² Service de Soins palliatifs et de support, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire Vaudois (CHUV), University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland

Background: Neurological expertise in palliative care may be required not only for patients with primary neurological disorders but also for patients with non-neurological diseases suffering from burdensome neurological symptoms. The aim of this study was to determine the prevalence of neurological diagnoses and symptoms in palliative care patients, as well as the related burden and impact on everyday life.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

David John Oliver, University of Kent, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Teneille Emma Gofton, University of Western Ontario, Canada Deepa Bhupali, University of Illinois at Chicago, United States Idris Baker, Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board, United Kingdom

> *Correspondence: Johanna Anneser j.anneser@tum.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurocritical and Neurohospitalist Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 07 February 2018 Accepted: 09 April 2018 Published: 25 April 2018

Citation:

Anneser J, Arenz V and Borasio GD (2018) Neurological Symptoms in Palliative Care Patients. Front. Neurol. 9:275. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00275 **Methods:** We analyzed retrospectively the medical records of 255 consecutive patients from a tertiary medical center, at the time point of referral to an inpatient palliative care consultation service. In addition, 100 patients prospectively answered a questionnaire which included the assessment of neurological symptoms, as well as numeric rating scales for quality of life, symptom-specific burden, and restrictions in everyday life.

Results: Forty-one patients (16%) suffered from a primary neurological disease. Most decisions regarding the termination of life-sustaining measures concerned this group (20/22, 91%). Neurological symptoms (excluding pain) were documented in 122 patients (48%) with an underlying non-neurological disease. In the questionnaire study, 98/100 patients reported at least one neurological or neuropsychiatric symptom, most frequently sleeping problems (N = 63), difficulty concentrating (N = 55), and sensory symptoms (N = 50). Vertigo/dizziness (N = 19) had the greatest impact on everyday life (7.57/10 ± 2.17) and the highest symptom-specific burden (7.14 ± 2.51). Difficulty concentrating (restrictions in everyday life/burden) and pain intensity were the only symptoms significantly correlated with quality of life (r = -0.36, p = 0.009/r = -0.32; p = 0.04; r = -0.327, p = 0.003).

Conclusion: Neurological diseases and symptoms are frequent among palliative care patients and are often associated with a high symptom burden, which may severely affect the patients' lives. It is thus of paramount importance to implement neurological expertise in palliative care.

Keywords: palliative care, neurological symptoms, prevalence, symptom burden, quality of life

INTRODUCTION

Palliative care aims to provide physical, psychosocial, and spiritual care for terminally ill patients and their families. Although differences between countries exist, palliative care has been linked traditionally to oncological diseases and internal medicine/oncology specialists still constitute the largest part of the palliative care workforce in many countries (e.g., Germany, USA, Japan, and

8

Canada) (1-4), while neurologists constitute less than 3% of physicians that are certified in palliative care (1, 2, 4). On the other hand, neurological and neurosurgical diseases have been found to be the second most common conditions in patients seen by a palliative care inpatient consultation service (5) and the most common diagnostic group in patients with non-malignant diseases (6).

Several reviews advocate a better integration of palliative care in the overall care of patients with neurological diseases (7–9). Both neurological and palliative care expertise are required, e.g., for patients with intracranial processes in order to assess prognosis, to substantiate decisions on the withholding or withdrawal of life-sustaining measures and to help the family understand the nature of an imminent persistent vegetative state or brain death. Although care concepts for people with motor neuron diseases may be an encouraging example of the successful integration of palliative care and neurology, many patients with neurodegenerative, neuro-oncological as well as neurovascular diseases still have a wide range of unmet palliative care needs (9, 10).

In addition, neurological expertise is required for nonneurological palliative care patients suffering from neurological symptoms. Scarce data are available on the prevalence of neurological symptoms in a general palliative care population and most of the data have been assessed retrospectively. In a metaanalysis looking at symptom prevalence in a total of 25,000 patients with incurable cancer (11), "neurological symptoms" (without further specification) were documented in 15% of all patients and in 34% within their last 2 weeks of life. Even less is known about the relevance of neurological symptoms for the patients' lives (e.g., their subjective burden, the impact on patients' quality of life (QoL), or possible restrictions in the patients' everyday lives). We therefore combined a review of patient charts with a prospective questionnaire study in order to gain an overview of the frequency of neurological symptoms as well as their clinical relevance in a general palliative care population.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Retrospective Chart Analysis

The charts of 255 consecutive patients who had been referred to the palliative care inpatient consultation service, were analyzed. Data were collected over a period of 9 months. Demographic data, diagnosis, reasons for current admission to the hospital, previous treatments as well as neurological and neuropsychiatric symptoms and preconditions—as listed in the patient charts prior to the referral to the palliative care team—were assessed.

Prospective Questionnaire Study

A total of 100 consecutive inpatients, referred to the palliative care inpatient consultation service, who were willing to participate and able to give their written informed consent were included in the questionnaire study. The questionnaire was administered in the form of a structured interview. The specific symptom burden is the degree to which the patients' everyday lives were compromised by a symptom and the patients' overall QoL were assessed using 0–10 point numeric rating scales (NRSs). NRS is a validated measure for QoL and is considered to assess the patient's general QoL rather than only its health-related aspects (12).

In order to differentiate lightheadedness or pre-syncopal syndromes from vertigo/dizziness, we asked the patients for the sensation of spinning/swaying and/or unsteady gait.

Actual pain intensity was assessed using a visual analog scale (VAS). To be able to compare the symptom "pain" with other neurological/neuropsychiatric symptoms, we assessed also the symptom-specific burden and restrictions in everyday life due to pain. Neuropathic pain was diagnosed by clinical assessment of the pain characteristics and the association with typical symptoms in the same area (e.g., tingling, numbness).

The "Confusion Assessment Method" (CAM) questionnaire was used when delirium was suspected. The CAM is a validated instrument for the diagnosis of delirium in a variety of medical settings (13, 14).

The Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-4) was used to screen patients for anxiety and depression.

In addition, patients were asked to name the symptoms, which were currently most distressing to them (max. 5). All patients who agreed received a structured neurological examination. Diagnostic workup of burdensome neurological symptoms was offered if indicated (e.g., neuro-otologic tests in patients with vertigo/dizziness). In addition, all patients were offered psychological support if desired. Descriptive statistics was performed using SPSS 24 (IBM, Chicago, IL, USA). Correlation analysis (Spearman's rho) was performed. The study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the Ethics Committee of the Technical University Munich. The protocol was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Technical University Munich (No: 5682/13). All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

RESULTS

Analysis of Patient Charts Reasons for Admission to the Hospital as Documented in the Patient Chart

Patients from nine different departments had been referred to the palliative care inpatient consultation service. For patient characteristics, see **Table 1**. In 84 out of 255 patients (33%), the main reasons or one of the main reasons for admission to the hospital were neurological symptoms (other than pain). 28 patients (11%) had been admitted directly to the departments of neurology or neurosurgery. The presence of neurological symptoms and preconditions—as documented in the admission examination or discovered in other examinations during the hospital stay—was assessed. Patients were assigned to one of four groups. (10 patients remained unclassified due to incomplete data or unclear assignment): **TABLE 1** | Analysis of patients' medical records: patients' characteristics and neurological symptoms.

Patient characteristics	255 patients
Gender	118 (45%) female
Mean age	67 ± 13 years
Mean duration of disease	35 ± 54 months
Cancer diagnosis	217 (85%)
Primary brain tumor or cerebral metastases	49 (19%)
Previous surgery	138 (55%)
Previous chemotherapy	157 (63%)
Previous radiotherapy	100 (40%)

Central paresis	41 (16%)	Group 1: 25/41 (61%) Group 2: 12/99 (12%) Group 3: 4/23 (17%)
Seizures	27 (11%)	Group 1: 22/41 (54%) Group 2: 14/99 (14%) Group 3: 1/23 (4%)
Dementia	14 (6%)	Group 1: 10/41 (24%) Group 2: 0/99 (0%) Group 3: 4/23 (17%)
Confusion	47 (19%)	Group 1: 15/41 (37%) Group 2: 27/99 (27%) Group 3: 4/23 (17%)
Other CNS symptoms	66 (26%)	Group 1: 33/41 (80%) Group 2: 27/99 (27%) Group 3: 6/23 (26%)
Peripheral paresis	27 (11%)	Group 1: 3/41 (7%) Group 2: 20/99 (20%) Group 3: 4/23 (17%)
Sensory symptoms	23 (9%)	Group 1: 0/41 (0%) Group 2: 20/99 (20%) Group 3: 3/23 (13%)

Group 1: primary neurological condition, group 2: neurological symptoms presumably caused by a non-neurological underlying disease, and group 3: neurological symptoms presumably independent from the underlying disease.

- A neurological condition is the primary underlying disease (e.g., stroke, neurodegenerative disorder, primary brain tumor): 41 patients (16%)
- (2) Neurological symptoms (excluding pain) present and presumably caused by the (non-neurological) underlying disease and/or due to treatment of that disease: 99 patients (39%)
- (3) Neurological symptoms (excluding pain) present and presumably independent from the basic disease: 23 patients (9%)
- (4) No neurological preconditions or symptoms documented: 82 patients (32%)

In most cases, no detailed neurological medical history had been assessed and no in-depth neurological examination had been performed before admission to the palliative care team. The most frequent neurological symptoms mentioned in the patient files are shown in **Table 1**. Neuropsychiatric symptoms such as sleeping problems, difficulty concentrating and impaired memory had not been assessed on a regular basis. "Taste abnormalities" were documented in none of the patient records.

Termination of Life-Sustaining Measures

After palliative care consultation, life-sustaining measures had been terminated in 22 patients, and 20 (91%) of them had been classified in group I (neurological condition as primary disease).

Patient Questionnaire Study Patient Characteristics

For the questionnaire study, 100 of 255 consecutive patients who were willing to participate and able to give their informed consent were included (50% female; 98 patients with cancer, 13 of them with brain metastases). 73 of 255 were not able to give their informed consent, 39 patients declined to participate, 32 patients could not be approached before the involvement of the palliative care consultation service, 11 lacked sufficient knowledge of the German language. None of the 41 neurologic patients could be recruited (20 were unconscious, 15 patients-mostly severe stroke or advanced glioblastoma-were conscious, but unable to consent, 5 refused to participate, and 1 lacked sufficient knowledge of the German language). 98 patients reported at least one neurological or neuropsychiatric symptom excluding pain, 38 patients stated that a neurologist or psychiatrist had treated them before admission to the hospital. Clinical neurological examination was performed after the patient interviews and objectified the symptoms reported (e.g., extent and degree of paresis or paresthesia). The values for "restrictions in everyday life" and "burden due to a specific symptom" were correlated, except for taste abnormalities.

Prevalence of Neurological Symptoms

The prevalence of neurological/neuropsychiatric symptoms, the symptom-specific burden, and restrictions in everyday life in patients participating in the questionnaire study is shown in **Table 2**. Sleeping problems (63/100), difficulties concentrating (55/100), and sensory symptoms (50/100) occurred most frequently. In addition, several neurological/neuropsychiatric symptoms were ranked among the most burdensome overall symptoms (**Table 3**).

Neurological Symptoms and QoL

The mean QoL (\pm SD) (NRS 0–10) of all patients was 3.7 (\pm 2.3). The only neurological non-pain symptom significantly correlated to QoL was difficulty concentrating (restrictions in everyday life: r = -0.36, p = 0.009; symptom-specific burden: r = -0.32; p = 0.04). In addition, the sum scores (restrictions in everyday life and symptom-specific burden) comprising the three most frequent neurological/neuropsychological symptoms (sleeping problems, difficulty concentrating and sensory symptoms) were significantly correlated with QoL (r = -0.348, p = 0.0004; r = -0.322, p = 0.001).

Pain

52 patients reported having only one pain localization, 27 patients reported having two, and 5 reported having three pain localizations. The most frequent type of pain was predominantly nociceptive (45 patients), followed by mixed pain (29 patients), and predominantly neuropathic pain (10 patients). Actual pain intensity—as measured by a VAS—correlated significantly with

TABLE 2 | Prevalence of symptoms, restrictions in everyday life and burden due to specific symptoms (NRS 0-10).

Neurological symptoms	<i>n</i> = 100	Restrictions in everyday life Mean (±SD)	Burden due to a specific symptom Mean (<u>+</u> SD)
Pain	84	6.52 (±3.04)	6.48 (±3.08)
Sensory symptoms (numbness,	50	4.67 (±3.27)	4.21 (±3.34
tightness, tingling, burning)			
Taste abnormalities	32	3.62 (±2.79)	5.62 (±2.83)
Hearing impairment	28	3.69 (±3.28)	3.85 (±3.16
Muscular symptoms other than	28	NA	NA
paresis (cramps, fasciculation)			
Vertigo/dizziness	19	7.57 (±2.17)	7.14 (<u>+</u> 2.51
Paresis	16	6.08 (±3.36)	6.06 (±3.2)
Coordination difficulties	12	6.58 (±3.26)	5.75 (±3.08
Double images	10	6.00 (±3.2)	5.90 (±3.38
Seizures	6	4.75 (±4.43)	5.00 (±4.08
Speech disorders	4	4.00 (±3.65)	6.50 (±3.11)
Neuropsychiatric symptoms			
Sleeping problems	63	5.70 (±2.93)	5.64 (±3.34)
Difficulty concentrating	55	3.85 (±3.18)	4.44 (±3.12
Impaired memory	44	3.36 (±3.21)	4.29 (±3.11
Symptoms with possible neuro	ological cau	ses	
Bladder or bowel disorder	30	2.56 (±3.00)	3.90 (±3.56
Dysarthria and/or dysphagia	22	6.27 (±3.10)	6.45 (±2.96

TABLE 3 | Most distressing symptoms at the time of the interview named by 100 palliative care patients.

Frequency of mention	Symptoms
43×	General weakness, pain
20×	Dyspnea
13x	Nausea, fatigue, loss of appetite
9×	Being worried/rumination
5×	Paresis
4×	Loss of autonomy, social isolation, bleeding, concentration problems, dysphagia
3×	Sensory symptoms, vertigo/dizziness, diarrhea
2x	Problems with stoma care, dysarthria, unsteady gait, anxiety, vision disturbances fever
1x	Restlessness, cough, sleep disturbances , ascites, edema

Neurological and neuropsychiatric symptoms as assessed in the questionnaire study are printed in bold.

QoL (r = -0.327, p = 0.003). Restrictions in everyday life and subjective burden due to pain did not correlate significantly with patients' QoL (r = -0.135, p = 0.21; r = -0.07, p = 0.517).

Depression and Anxiety (PHQ-4)

Normal scores (0–2) were found in 28 patients, mild distress (3–5) in 28 patients, moderate (6–8) in 23, and severe distress (9–12) in 21 patients. PHQ-4 showed a moderate correlation with QoL (r = 0.271, p = 0.007). The PHQ-4 depression subscore was significantly correlated with the neuropsychological symptom "difficulty concentrating" (r = 0.361 p = 0.003) and moderately, but significantly correlated with QoL (r = -0.271, p = 0.007).

Delirium

"Confusion" was documented in 47 patient charts (18.4%), 12 were able to give their informed consent to study enrollment and underwent a screening test for delirium (CAM). The test-specific criteria for the diagnosis of "delirium" were fulfilled in 11 patients. No significant correlation with regard to age or gender was found in our study group.

DISCUSSION

Several studies investigated the presence of burdensome symptoms in patients with advanced cancer and palliative care patients [for a review, see Ref. (11, 15)]. Isolated neurological symptoms such as agitation/delirium or vertigo/dizziness have been assessed in this context. However, a systematic and detailed analysis of neurological symptoms in palliative care patients has not been carried out before. We found that almost half of the palliative care patients without a primary neurological disease had neurological symptoms documented in their charts, and 98% of patients in the prospective study reported at least one burdensome neurological/ neuropsychological symptom. This is considerably higher than previously described (11). These findings have an immediate clinical relevance in that significant suffering arises from symptoms, which are underdiagnosed and therefore insufficiently treated. Our data suggest that this may be the case for a variety of neurological symptoms, which come with a high subjective burden and/or restrictions in everyday life, e.g., vertigo/dizziness, coordination difficulties, or double vision (Table 2).

Sensory Symptoms

The prevalence of sensory symptoms (numbness, tightness, tingling, and burning) reported in patients with advanced cancer and in palliative care patients varies widely from 6 to 36% (16–19). These variations may be caused by the different characteristics of the populations investigated, but also by the differing assessment methods used. Not surprisingly, it has been found that the prevalence of many symptoms is considerably lower when assessed using medical records as compared with studies using questionnaires or structured interviews (11). Correspondingly, the prevalence of sensory symptoms in our questionnaire study (50%) was markedly higher than the results from the chart reviews (9%).

Dysgeusia

Similar results were obtained for the prevalence of "taste abnormalities" (dysgeusia) in palliative care patients: in our study, the occurrence of dysgeusia in the patients' charts was 0%, while 32% of patients in the questionnaire study reported taste abnormalities. Similarly, a previous interview study found that 86% of palliative care patients had taste abnormalities (20), while dysgeusia was documented in only 1–2% of patients' charts (17, 18).

Dizziness/Vertigo

Interestingly, our questionnaire study revealed "dizziness/vertigo" as the most burdensome symptom with the greatest impact on everyday life. "Vertigo"—defined as an erroneous sense of motion

and unsteadiness—is a relatively common condition, which also occurs in the general population: a survey in Germany reported a 12-month prevalence of 22.9% (21), while the point prevalence in palliative care patients with cancer was 10% (18). "Dizziness" is a term mostly used in a wider sense, which includes symptoms that range from a vague feeling of unsteadiness to severe vertigo. Pooled prevalence of dizziness in patients with incurable cancer was 17% in a previous study (11) and is similar to the occurrence found in our study (19%). Our questionnaire allowed only an initial screening for dizziness/vertigo without providing an accurate diagnosis. A detailed analysis of dizziness/vertigo in palliative care patients is urgently warranted, since effective treatment is available for many forms of this symptom (22).

Pain

Pain had a prevalence of 84% in our palliative care population with a high symptom-specific burden and relevance for everyday life. Actual pain intensity correlated significantly with QoL, while symptom-related burden and restrictions in everyday life due to pain did not. An association between pain and QoL has been described previously, using the "brief pain inventory" (23, 24), but also an NRS (25). In contrast to the VAS assessing actual pain intensity, our items asking for a "symptom-specific burden" or "restrictions in everyday life" implicate significant elements of personal judgment and/or coping and may therefore provide different results when correlated with QoL. 39% of ourpredominantly oncologic-patients suffered from neuropathic pain. This matches the prevalence of neuropathic pain in cancer patients assessed in palliative care (43%) and hospice settings (35%) (26). A recent review revealed that neuropathic pain in cancer patients is often insufficiently treated because of "incorrect use of co-analgesics" (27).

Delirium

In 47 (19%) patient charts from our cohort, "confusion" was documented. This percentage matches previous observations in a palliative care population (28). Since patients had to give informed consent to participate in the prospective study, only 12 patients underwent CAM testing in the context of our study, which was positive in 11 patients. Prevalence, diagnosis, treatment, and prognosis of confusion/delirium in palliative care patients have been widely studied (29). Recently, a randomized controlled trial showed that palliative care patients treated with standard neuroleptic medication had more delirium-specific symptoms, more side effects and a shorter survival rate than placebo-treated patients (30). This underscores the necessity of a careful diagnostic evaluation and individualized management of delirium in palliative care. Expertise in neuropharmacology and in the early detection of extra-pyramidal side effects of neuroleptic medication may be helpful to tailor treatment for these patients.

Anxiety and Depression

Anxiety and depression are common symptoms in palliative care patients (31) with an estimated prevalence ranging between 7 and 49% (32). Correspondingly, 21% of our patients scored 9–12/12 in the PHQ, indicating severe psychological distress.

Sleeping Problems

Similar to previous studies (33–35), sleeping problems were a frequent complaint among palliative care patients with a relatively high symptom-specific burden and impact on everyday activities. Sleep problems are multifactorial in many patients, although the moderate correlation with subjective burden due to pain suggests that inappropriate pain therapy may contribute to sleep disturbances in our patient population.

Cognitive Symptoms

A frequent occurrence of mild-to-moderate self-reported cognitive symptoms, such as difficulty concentrating or memory disturbances, has been described previously in palliative care and cancer patients (16, 17). In addition, in a previous study, cancer outpatients named "difficulty concentrating" as one of the 13 topranked symptoms (36). Correspondingly, difficulty concentrating was the only symptom (except pain) significantly correlated with QoL in our study. A previous report showed that complaints of difficulty concentrating did not correlate with objective measurements of cognitive function in palliative care patients (37). In our study group "difficulty concentrating" correlated significantly with the PHQ-4 depression subscore. It has been shown previously that the prevalence of depression in palliative care patients and patients with advanced cancer is greater than in the general population (38). Since difficulty concentrating is a complaint which is frequently associated with depression (39), this symptom may be part of a coexisting depressive syndrome. However, cognitive impairment and difficulty concentrating may also be accompanying symptoms of CNS processes or side effects of radiation therapy [for review, see Ref. (40)]. Expertise in organic forms of cognitive impairment may be helpful for the diagnostic classification of these symptoms in order to initiate appropriate treatment.

Neurological/Neuropsychological Symptoms and QoL

The significant correlations between the sum scores of the three most frequently reported neurological/neuropsychiatric symptoms (sleeping problems, difficulty concentrating, and sensory symptoms) and QoL, as well as the frequency at which neurological problems are reported to be one of the most distressing overall symptoms (**Table 3**), underscore the extent to which these symptoms may compromise the patients' well-being. Many neurological symptoms that turned out to be burdensome in the questionnaire study had not been assessed prior to the referral to the palliative care team. This underlines previous findings that physicians frequently tend to focus on their specialized scope of practice rather than giving sufficient attention to burdensome (e.g., neurological) symptoms in severely ill patients (41).

Patients With Primary Neurological Diagnoses

The percentage of patients with a primary neurological diagnosis (16%) in our retrospective cohort is higher than the proportions found in previous studies (9.2 and 8.8%) (5, 6); one of which however excluded patients with primary brain

tumors (5). In our study, the overwhelming majority (91%) of decisions regarding termination of life-sustaining measures (e.g., terminal extubation, termination of artificial hydration, and nutrition) were taken in patients with primary neurological diseases. This is in line with the findings of Liu et al. (6), who showed that "eliciting goals of care" was the most frequent reason for palliative care consultations among neurological patients. In-depth knowledge of the course and prognosis of neurological diseases is indispensable when discussing treatment options with the patients' families. Generally, there is an increasing awareness that many patients suffering from neurological diseases have palliative care needs (7, 8) and efforts have been made to improve the education of neurologists in this context (42).

Neurological Expertise in Palliative Care

Given the high prevalence and the considerable burden of neurological symptoms in palliative care patients, as well as the relatively high percentage of patients with primary neurological disorders, it becomes evident that neurological expertise is crucial in palliative care. It can be fostered by increased neurological training in postgraduate palliative care education, as well as by recruiting neurologists in specialized palliative care centers. However, relatively few neurologists choose to abandon their primary specialty to concentrate on palliative medicine full-time. Clinical rotations of neurologists in palliative care teams may not only help to integrate neurological knowledge into palliative care, but also open up career options for young neurologists (2).

Limitations

The single center design may limit the generalizability of the study. However, referral of patients from nine different departments of our university hospital resulted in a highly heterogeneous study population with a wide range of diagnoses. Our study was conducted in a tertiary medical center that has departments of neurology and neurosurgery. Therefore, the number of patients with primary neurological disorders may be higher than in less specialized hospitals. In the prospective cohort, 98% of patients suffered from cancer. The significance of the results from the questionnaire study may therefore apply primarily to oncological palliative care patients. Unfortunately, this also reflects the disproportionate prevalence of tumor patients in most specialized palliative care centers worldwide.

REFERENCES

- German Society for Palliative Care. *Member Structure (in German)* (2011). Available from: http://www.dgpalliativmedizin.de/images/intern/mitgliedschaft/MItgliederstruktur_der_DGP_Mai_2011.pdf (Accessed: June 30, 2017).
- Dallara A, Tolchin DW. Emerging subspecialties in neurology: palliative care. Neurology (2014) 82:640–2. doi:10.1212/WNL.00000000000121
- Morita T, Oyama Y, Cheng SY, Suh SY, Koh SJ, Kim HS, et al. Palliative care physicians' attitudes toward patient autonomy and a good death in east Asian countries. *J Pain Symptom Manage* (2015) 50(2):190–9.e1. doi:10.1016/j. jpainsymman.2015.02.020

Similar to other centers (43, 44) patients with non-malignant diseases including primary neurological disorders were referred to our palliative care consult service only at a very late stage. These patients were unable to consent and could not recruited for the prospective study. Similarly, patients of all disease stages and neurological symptoms that affected their ability to consent (e.g., delirium) were excluded from the study. Hence, the prevalence of neurologic symptoms in a general palliative care population may be even higher and the symptoms more burdensome than found in our prospective study group.

Finally, the NRSs for the assessment of symptom-specific burden and for restrictions in everyday life used in our study had not been validated previously. However, NRSs allow for a direct comparison between specific neurological symptoms and help reducing the study burden for the severely ill patients to a minimum.

CONCLUSION

A majority of palliative care patients in our study suffered from neurological symptoms in varying degrees, frequently causing considerable symptom burden and restrictions in everyday life. Some of these symptoms are not well documented in patient charts and may remain undiagnosed and untreated. In addition, the question of withdrawal of life-sustaining treatment is most frequently posed in patients with primary neurological diseases. In consequence, palliative care teams are confronted on a daily basis with complex neurological questions and burdensome neurologic symptoms. This underscores the importance of the neurological expertise in palliative care teams.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JA was involved in the conception and design of the study, the statistical analysis and interpretation of data, and drafted the manuscript. VA was involved in the design of the study, in the acquisition of data, and approved the final manuscript. GB was involved in the conception of the study, and critically reviewed, revised, and approved the manuscript.

FUNDING

The study has been supported by a grant no. H420 7218 9999 22190 from the "Stifterverband für die Deutsche Wissenschaft."

- 4. Canadian Society of Palliative Care Physicians Human Resources Committee. *National Palliative Medicine Survey Data Report* (2015). Available from: https://www.cma.ca/Assets/assets-library/document/en/advocacy/pmsurvey-data-report-may2015-e.pdf (Accessed: February 6, 2018).
- Chahine LM, Malik B, Davis M. Palliative care needs of patients with neurologic or neurosurgical conditions. *Eur J Neurol* (2008) 15:1265–72. doi:10.1111/j.1468-1331.2008.02319.x
- Liu Y, Kline D, Aerts S, Youngwerth JM, Kutner JS, Silau S, et al. Inpatient palliative care for neurological disorders: lessons from a large retrospective series. J Palliat Med (2017) 20:59–64. doi:10.1089/jpm.2016.0240
- Borasio GD. The role of palliative care in patients with neurological diseases. *Nature Rev Neurol* (2013) 9:292–5. doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2013.49

- Boersma I, Miyasaki J, Kutner J, Kluger B. Palliative care and neurology. Time for a paradigm shift. *Neurology* (2014) 83:561–7. doi:10.1212/WNL. 00000000000674
- Provinciali L, Carlini G, Tarquini D, Defanti CA, Veronese S, Pucci E. Need for palliative care for neurological diseases. *Neurol Sci* (2016) 37: 1581–7. doi:10.1007/s10072-016-2614-x
- Robinson MT, Holloway RG. Palliative care in neurology. Mayo Clin Proc (2017) 92(10):1592–601. doi:10.1016/j.mayocp.2017.08.003
- Teunissen SC, Wesker W, Kruitwagen C, de Haes HC, Voest EE, de Graeff A. Symptom prevalence in patients with incurable cancer. A systematic review. *J Pain Symptom Manage* (2007) 34:94–104. doi:10.1016/j.jpainsymman. 2006.10.015
- Chiò A, Gauthier A, Montuschi A, Calvo A, Di Vito N, Ghiglione P, et al. A cross sectional study on determinants of quality of life in ALS. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry (2004) 75(11):1597–601. doi:10.1136/jnnp.2003.033100
- Inouye S, van Dyck C, Alessi C, Balkin S, Siegal A, Horwitz R. Clarifying confusion: the confusion assessment method. *Ann Intern Med* (1990) 113(12):941–8. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-113-12-941
- Shi Q, Warren L, Saposnik G, Macdermid JC. Confusion assessment method: a systematic review and meta-analysis of diagnostic accuracy. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat* (2013) 9:1359–70. doi:10.2147/NDT.S49520
- Van Lancker A, Velghe A, Van Hecke A, Verbrugghe M, Van Den Noortgate N, Grypdonck M, et al. Prevalence of symptoms in older cancer patients receiving palliative care: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Pain Symptom Manage* (2014) 47(1):90–104. doi:10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2013.02.016
- Portenoy RK, Thaler HT, Kornblith AB, Lepore JM, Friedlander-Klar H, Coyle N, et al. Symptom prevalence, characteristics and distress in a cancer population. *Qual Life Res* (1994) 3:183–9. doi:10.1007/BF00435383
- Srömgren AS, Groenvold M, Pedersen L, Olsen AK, Sjogren P. Symptomatology of cancer patients in palliative care: content validation of self-assessment questionnaires against medical records. *Eur J Cancer* (2002) 38:788–94. doi:10.1016/S0959-8049(01)00470-1
- Potter J, Hami F, Bryan T, Quigley C. Symptoms in 400 patients referred to palliative care services: prevalence and patterns. *Palliat Med* (2003) 17:310–4. doi:10.1191/0269216303pm760oa
- Zhou T, Yang K, Thapa S, Liu H, Wang B, Yu S. Differences in symptom burden among cancer patients with different stages of cachexia. *J Pain Symptom Manage* (2017) 53(5):919–26. doi:10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2016.12.325
- Heckel M, Stiel S, Ostgathe C. Smell and taste in palliative care: a systematic analysis of literature. *Europ Arch Otorhinolaryngol* (2015) 272:279–88. doi:10.1007/s00405-014-3016-4
- Neuhauser HK. Epidemiology of vertigo. Curr Opin Neurol (2007) 20:40–6. doi:10.1097/WCO.0b013e328013f432
- Strupp M, Dieterich M, Brandt T. The treatment and natural course of peripheral and central vertigo. *Dtsch Ärztebl Int* (2013) 110:505–15. doi:10.3238/arztebl.2013.0505
- Park KU. Assessment of change of quality of life in terminally ill patients under cancer pain management using the EORTC Core Quality of Life Questionnaire (QLQ-C30) in a Korean sample. Oncology (2008) 74(Suppl 1): 7–12. doi:10.1159/000143212
- 24. Deng D, Fu L, Zhao YX, Wu X, Zhang G, Liang C, et al. The relationship between cancer pain and quality of life in patients newly admitted to Wuhan Hospice Center of China. *Am J Hosp Palliat Care* (2012) 29:53–9. doi:10.1177/1049909111418636
- Mikan F, Wada M, Yamada M, Takahashi A, Onishi H, Ishida M, et al. The association between pain and quality of life for patients with cancer in an outpatient clinic, an inpatient oncology ward, and inpatient palliative care units. *Am J Hosp Palliat Care* (2016) 33:782–90. doi:10.1177/1049909116630266
- 26. Roberto A, Deandrea S, Greco MT, Corli O, Negri E, Pizzuto M, et al. Prevalence of neuropathic pain in cancer patients: pooled estimates from a systematic review of published literature and results from a survey conducted in 50 Italian palliative care centers. *J Pain Symptom Manage* (2016) 51:1091–102. doi:10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2015.12.336
- Haumann J, Joosten EBA, Everdingen MHJVDB. Pain prevalence in cancer patients: status quo or opportunities for improvement? *Curr Opin Suppirt Palliat Care* (2017) 11:99–104. doi:10.1097/SPC.00000000000261
- Barnes J, Kite S, Kumar M. The recognition and documentation of delirium in hospital palliative care inpatients. *Palliat Supp Care* (2010) 8:133–6. doi:10.1017/S1478951509990873

- Leonard MM, Agar M, Spiller JA, Davis B, Mohamad MM, Meagher DJ, et al. Delirium diagnostic and classification challenges in palliative care: subsyndromal delirium, comorbid delirium-dementia, and psychomotor subtypes. *J Pain Symptom Manage* (2014) 48:199–214. doi:10.1016/j. jpainsymman.2014.03.012
- Agar MR, Lawlor PG, Quinn S, Draper B, Caplan GA, Rowett D, et al. Efficacy of oral risperidone, haloperidol, or placebo for symptoms of delirium among patients in palliative care: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA Intern Med* (2017) 177:34–42. doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2016.7491
- Teunissen SC, de Graeff A, Voest EE, de Haes JC. Are anxiety and depressed mood related to physical symptom burden? A study in hospitalized advanced cancer patients. *Palliat Med* (2007) 21:341–6. doi:10.1177/0269216307079067
- Walker J, Holm Hansen C, Martin P, Sawhney A, Thekkumpurath P, Beale C, et al. Prevalence of depression in adults with cancer: a systematic review. *Ann Oncol* (2013) 24:895–900. doi:10.1093/annonc/mds575
- Conill C, Verger E, Henríquez I, Saiz N, Espier M, Lugo F, et al. Symptom prevalence in the last week of life. *J Pain Symptom Manage* (1997) 14:328–31. doi:10.1016/S0885-3924(97)00263-7
- Mercadante S, Aielli F, Adile C, Ferrara P, Valle A, Cartoni C, et al. Sleep disturbances in patients with advanced cancer in different palliative care settings. J Pain Symptom Manage (2015) 50:786–92. doi:10.1016/j.jpainsymman. 2015.06.018
- Mercadante S, Adile C, Ferrera P, Masedu F, Valenti M, Aielli F. Sleep disturbances in advanced cancer patients admitted to a supportive/palliative care unit. Support Care Cancer (2017) 25:1301–6. doi:10.1007/s00520-016-3524-4
- Williams AR, Mowlazadeh B, Sisler L, Williams PD. Self-reported assessment of symptoms and self-care within a cohort of U.S. veterans during outpatient care for cancer. *Clin J Oncol Nurs* (2015) 19:595–602. doi:10.1188/15. CJON.595-602
- 37. Klepstad P, Hilton P, Moen J, Fougner B, Borchgrevink PC, Kaasa S. Selfreports are not related to objective assessments of cognitive function and sedation in patients with cancer pain admitted to a palliative care unit. *Palliat Med* (2002) 16:513–9. doi:10.1191/0269216302pm587oa
- Mitchell AJ, Chan M, Bhatti H, Halton M, Grassi L, Johansen C, et al. Prevalence of depression, anxiety, and adjustment disorder in oncological, haematological, and palliative-care settings: a meta-analysis of 94 interview-based studies. *Lancet Oncol* (2011) 12(2):160–74. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(11)70002-X
- Papakostas GI, Culpepper L. Understanding and managing cognition in the depressed patient. J Clin Psychiatry (2015) 76(4):418–25. doi:10.4088/ JCP.13086ah1c
- Armstrong CL, Gyato K, Awadalla AW, Lustig R, Tochner ZA. A critical review of the clinical effects of therapeutic irradiation damage to the brain: the roots of controversy. *Neuropsychol Rev* (2004) 14:65–86. doi:10.1023/B: NERV.0000026649.68781.8e
- Bainbridge D, Seow H, Sussman J, Pond G, Martelli-Reid L, Herbert C, et al. Multidisciplinary health care professionals' perceptions of the use and utility of a symptom assessment system for oncology patients. *J Oncol Pract* (2011) 7(1):19–23. doi:10.1200/JOP.2010.000015
- The Lancet Neurology. Integrating palliative care into neurological practice. Editorial. *Lancet Neurol* (2017) 16:489. doi:10.1016/S1474-4422 (17)30176-X
- Wallace EM, Tiernan E. Referral patterns of nonmalignant patients to an Irish specialist palliative medicine service: a retrospective review. *Am J Hosp Palliat Care* (2013) 30(4):399–402. doi:10.1177/1049909112453080
- Yohannes AM. Palliative care provision for patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Health Qual Life Outcomes* (2007) 5:17. doi:10.1186/1477-7525-5-17

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Anneser, Arenz and Borasio. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Role of Palliative Care in Chronic Progressive Neurological Diseases—A Survey Amongst Neurologists in the Netherlands

Hannah A. W. Walter^{1†}, Antje A. Seeber^{1*†}, Dick L. Willems² and Marianne de Visser¹

¹ Department of Neurology, Amsterdam University Medical Center, Academic Medical Center, University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam, Netherlands, ² Section of Medical Ethics, Department of General Practice, Amsterdam University Medical Center, Academic Medical Center, University of Amsterdam, Amsterdam, Netherlands

Background: Chronic progressive neurological diseases like high grade glioma (HGG), Parkinson's disease (PD), and multiple sclerosis (MS) are incurable, and associated with increasing disability including cognitive impairment, and reduced life expectancy. Patients with these diseases have complex care needs. Therefore, timely advance care planning (ACP) is required. Our aim was to investigate timing and content of discussions on treatment restrictions, i.e., to initiate, withhold, or withdraw treatment in patients with HGG, PD, and MS, from the neurologists' perspective.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Barak Bar, Loyola University Medical Center, United States

Reviewed by:

Jeanne Teitelbaum, McGill University, Canada RajaNandini Muralidharan, Winthrop University Hospital, United States

> *Correspondence: Antje A. Seeber a.a.seeber@amc.uva.nl

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurocritical and Neurohospitalist Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 08 September 2018 Accepted: 14 December 2018 Published: 14 January 2019

Citation:

Walter HAW, Seeber AA, Willems DL and de Visser M (2019) The Role of Palliative Care in Chronic Progressive Neurological Diseases – A Survey Amongst Neurologists in the Netherlands. Front. Neurol. 9:1157. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.01157 **Methods:** We performed a national online survey amongst consultants in neurology and residents in The Netherlands. The questionnaire focused on their daily practice concerning timing and content of discussions on treatment restrictions with patients suffering from HGG, PD or MS. We also inquired about education and training in discussing these issues.

Results: A total of 125 respondents [89 neurologists (71%), 62% male, with a median age of 44 years, and 36 residents (29%), 31% male with a median age of 29 years] responded. Initial discussions on treatment restrictions were said to take place during the first year after diagnosis in 28% of patients with HGG, and commonly no earlier than in the terminal phase in patients with PD and MS. In all conditions, significant cognitive decline was the most important trigger to advance discussions, followed by physical decline, and initiation of the terminal phase. Most discussed issues included ventilation, resuscitation, and admission to the intensive care unit. More than half of the consultants in neurology and residents felt that they needed (more) education and training in having discussions on treatment restrictions.

Conclusion: In patients with HGG discussions on treatment restrictions are initiated earlier than in patients with PD or MS. However, in all three diseases these discussions usually take place when significant physical and cognitive decline has become apparent and commonly mark the initiation of end-of-life care. More than half of the responding consultants in neurology and residents feel the need for improvement of their skills in performing these discussions.

Keywords: palliative care, advance care planning, nervous system diseases, decision making, Parkinson's disease, multiple sclerosis, glioma

INTRODUCTION

Chronic progressive neurological diseases like amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), high grade glioma (HGG), Parkinson's disease (PD), and multiple sclerosis (MS) are incurable and often associated with a shortened life expectancy. Patients with these diseases have a host of unmet physical, cognitive, psychosocial, and spiritual needs and experience problems in coordination and continuity of care (1, 2). There is growing evidence that early integration of palliative care improves the quality of life of these patients and their significant others. However, realization of this integration appears to be challenging in every day practice (3–8). The presence of communication barriers, e.g., speech impairment frequently observed in ALS and PD, and cognitive or behavioral disturbances as are found in HGG, PD, and MS complicate matters even more.

Misconceptions about palliative care are common, amongst health care professionals and patients. First, palliative care is often considered to be synonymous with hospice care or end-of-life care (9). Second, illness trajectories of progressive neurological diseases vary from rapidly progressive (ALS, HGG) to prolonged and fluctuating (PD, MS). Patients with these diseases have significantly different symptom profiles, psychosocial issues, and spiritual needs (1, 10, 11). Consequently, their caregivers' burden is equally variable. Third, knowledge about palliative care needs in chronic progressive neurological diseases is just emerging (3, 12, 13). Fourth, health care professionals in general are found to not be familiar with communication skills needed to deliver bad news and to discuss advance care planning (ACP) (14–19).

ACP is a communication process in which patients' wishes, preferences, and goals with regard to future (palliative) care, including end-of-life care, are discussed in a timely, and iterative manner (20, 21). ACP includes considerations about diseaseand symptom-specific treatment, resuscitation and other lifeprolonging modalities, treatment restrictions, end-of-life wishes and appointment of surrogate decision-makers. There is an increasing body of evidence, mostly from research in patients with cancer and other non-neurological chronic progressive diseases, that ACP improves both the quality of end-of-life care, as well as patient and family satisfaction, and may reduce stress, anxiety, and depression in surviving relatives (22, 23). In ALS, the paradigmatic disease for palliative care in neurodegenerative disorders, it is common knowledge that discussions about future care should be done in an ongoing, iterative way (2, 24, 25). There is sparse evidence that in patients who are severely ill after stroke or with dementia, ACP is restricted to discussions about the care in the last phase of life (26). The same applies to ACP in patients with HGG (12, 27). Whether and how ACP takes place in long-term follow-up of patients with PD and MS has not been investigated so far.

The objective of our study was 2-folded. First, we aimed to investigate timing and content of discussions on treatment restrictions, i.e., to initiate, withhold, or withdraw treatment in the course of HGG, PD, and MS, from the neurologist's perspective. The focus was on these three conditions because in the Netherlands neurologists generally are involved in the follow-up of patients with HGG, PD, and MS, whereas specialists of other disciplines take care of patients with ALS, dementia, and post-stroke sequelae. Second, we compared our results with international data about ACP in patients with ALS.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design and Population

We conducted a national cross-sectional survey amongst consultants in neurology and residents in The Netherlands. For reasons of privacy, we approached the potential participants via the secretariat of the neurology departments with the request to provide the physicians with the link to the online questionnaire. In order to maximize the response rate, two reminders were sent within the following 3 months. Data collection started in February 2016 and ended in August 2016. The questionnaire focused on three progressive neurological diseases, i.e., HGG, PD, and MS.

Ethics Approval

Dutch law specifies that ethics approval is only needed when 'participants are subject to procedures or are required to follow rules of behavior' (http://www.ccmo.nl/en/your-research-does-it-fall-under-the-wmo). As this was not the case, written informed consent was not required from the participants, as confirmed in a letter from the AMC local research ethics committee (REC) from 11th October 2018. Participants knew that the received data would be treated confidentially and used anonymized only, and that they could withdraw from the study at any moment, without explanation.

Survey Questionnaire

The questionnaire was designed by the authors, partly based on the literature and partly based on the results of in-depths interviews with neurologists by one of the authors (AAS) (28). The online tool Survey Monkey (www.surveymonkey.com) was used. The questionnaire consisted of 57 questions, subdivided into three different sections. In the first section, questions were raised about the experiences of neurologists and residents with timing and content of discussions on potential treatment restrictions held with patients suffering from HGG, PD, and MS. Actually, we used the terms "considerations," "initiating," "withholding," and/or "withdrawing," and "common/accepted treatment option." In the second section, neurologists were asked to elaborate on a recent case of HGG, PD, or MS in which such discussions took place. In the third section, there were questions on education and training in communicating treatment restrictions with patients and families. The questions were either pre-structured or open-ended. Two pilots were done amongst 10 neurologists and the questionnaire was adjusted according to their feedback.

Analysis

Data analysis was conducted by SPSS (IBM Corp. Released 2016. IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 24.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp). Frequencies and proportions were calculated by descriptive statistics for categorical variables. Mean and standard deviation and median and range were calculated for continuous variables. Open-ended questions were analyzed and coded by three authors (HAWW, AAS, MdV).

RESULTS

There were 991 consultants and 341 residents who were contacted via their medical secretariats. One hundred twenty-five of them responded to the online survey, 89 (71%) consultants and 36 (29%) residents, from 63 hospitals (out of 79), yielding an overall response rate of 15% participants, but a response rate of 80% neurology practices. A total of 72 (58%) respondents (58 neurologists and 14 residents) filled in the survey completely. Therefore, the data was analyzed with a varying number of missing values.

Profile of Respondents

Table 1 shows the demographics of the respondents. Amongst consultants in neurology, 48 (54%) worked as general neurologist, 35 (39%) also had a subspecialty area, and 41 (46%) worked in a subspecialty area only. Twenty (22%) neurologists had specific expertise in movement disorders, 18 (20%) in neuro-oncology and 19 (19%) in MS. Within the group of residents, 25 (75%) worked in general neurology, and 15 (44%) also worked in a subspecialty area. Nine residents (26%) worked in a subspecialty niche only. Eight (22%) residents had specific expertise in neuromuscular diseases, 4 (12%) in movement disorders, 3 (9%) in neuro-oncology, 1 (3%) in MS, and 6 (18%) in vascular neurology.

The demographics of the respondents of our survey were consistent with those of the general population of neurologists in the Netherlands ("Nivel survey") (29). The median age of neurologists in our survey was 44 years (range 39–56.5), compared to 49 years in the Nivel survey. Sixty-two percent was male compared to 72% in the Nivel survey. **Figure 1** shows that the distribution of our respondents across the 13 Dutch provinces was similar to that of specialists in general¹.

		Consultant n (%)		Resident n (%)
n (% male/ % female)		89 (62/38)		36 (31/69)
Age in years (median, range) $(n=61)$		44 (33–64)		29 (25–40)
Number of working years	0–5	21 (24)	0–2	15 (42)
	5–10	23 (26)	2–4	9 (25)
	10–15	17 (19)	4–6*	12 (33)
	>15	28 (31)		

*In The Netherlands, the duration of neurological training is 6 years.

¹Available online at: https://capaciteitsorgaan.nl/app/uploads/2017/04/2017_04_ 24-DEF-Regionale-spreiding-medisch-specialisten.pdf

Discussions on Treatment Restrictions: Frequency and Participants

Most consultants in neurology (n = 74, 85%) and residents (n = 32, 91%) reported to have had discussions on treatment restrictions more than once per 6 months. Thirteen percent (n = 14) of the consultants had had one or more discussions per week. Thirty-four (40%) of the neurologists reported that they had had a discussion on treatment restrictions with more than 5 patients over the past 12 months. Of the residents 37% (n = 13) had had one or two of these conversations over the past 12 months. Ninety-two percent (n = 75) of the consultants in neurology and 65% (n = 22) of the residents reported that most of the time these discussions had taken place with the patient and a caregiver, in 8% (n = 7) and 35% (n = 12), respectively, only with a caregiver, and not once with the patient only. Fiftyfive percent (n = 44) of the consultants and 53% (n = 17) of the residents reported to have had two-tiered discussions on treatment restrictions.

Discussions on Treatment Restrictions: Timing

Eighty-seven percent (n = 59) of the consultants in neurology and 92% (n = 23) of the residents were of the opinion that a doctor should initiate the discussions. Twenty-four to 33% of our respondents replied that they initiated the discussion "when the patient brings up the subject" and 16-26% "when the patient's family brings up the subject." In PD and MS, discussions on treatment restrictions took rarely place at diagnosis, and not once within the first year of diagnosis (Figure 2). Seventy-one percent (n = 56) of the neurologists and 70% (n = 77) of the residents, respectively, discussed treatment considerations in the terminal stages of PD and MS. In HGG, 28% (n = 18) of the respondents discussed treatment restrictions within the first year of diagnosis, 68% (n = 60) "when physical decline started" and 61% (n = 54) in the terminal phase. "The start of cognitive decline" triggered a discussion in 8, 5, and 4% in HGG, PD, and MS, respectively, whereas "when clear cognitive decline had started" led to discussions in 56, 47, and 44% in HGG, PD and MS, respectively (Figure 2).

Reflections on Discussions on Treatment Restrictions in Recent Cases

Respondents were asked to recall the most recent patient with HGG, PD, or MS with whom they had discussed a treatment restriction. Demographics and diagnosis of respondents' cases are summarized in **Table 2**. The median time since the discussion had taken place was 1 month (range 1 week–60 months). Sixty percent (n = 38) of the patients had cognitive decline and 23% (n = 15) were incompetent, of whom 13 (87%) had HGG and 2 (13%) PD. Eighty percent (n = 53) of the respondents reported that both patients and caregivers had been present during the discussions. In two instances (3%) the patient was alone, and in 4 (6%) only the caregiver was present. The mean duration of conversations was 29 (SD 13.3) min for neurologists, and 31 min (SD 14.1) for residents.





There was no consensus on the treatment policy between physician and patient or caregiver/family in 23% (n = 15) of the cases for the following reasons: "The patient was not ready to discuss the subject," "Patients' caregivers were not ready to discuss the subject," "The patient did not understand why a treatment should be stopped" or "The patient's relatives did not understand why a treatment should be stopped". In 12 cases (80%) a follow-up appointment was planned, and in 7 cases (47%) the respondent said to have complied with the patient's or relatives' wishes.

		Respondents' cases n (%)
Diagnosis	PD	16(24)
Blaghoolo	HGG	43 (65)
	MS	7 (11)
Time since diagn	osis, in months (median, range)	12 (1 day–20 years)
Age, in years (mean, SD)		65 (15)
Gender (male)		43 (68)

PD, Parkinson's disease; HGG, high grade glioma; MS, multiple sclerosis.

TABLE 3 | Considered treatment options per disease (percentages).

	PD $n = 16$ (n (%) initiate n (%) withhold/withdraw)	HGG <i>n</i> = 43 (<i>n</i> (%) initiate <i>n</i> (%) withhold/ withdraw)	MS <i>n</i> = 7 (<i>n</i> (%) initiate <i>n</i> (%) withhold/ withdraw)
Resuscitation	0 12 (75)	0 33 (77)	0 3 (43)
Ventilation	0 12 (75)	0 34 (79)	1 (14) 2 (29)
Feeding tube	0 10 (63)	5 (12) 18 (42)	1 (14) 1 (14)
Surgery	0 9 (56)	5 (12) 27 (63)	1 (14) 1 (14)
Antibiotics	3 (19) 6 (38)	6 (14) 19 (44)	2 (29) 1 (14)
Corticosteroids	1 (6) 7 (44)*	13 (30) 10 (23)	1 (14) 1 (14)
Admission to hospital	3 (19) 5 (31)	5 (12) 13 (30)	2 (29) 2 (29)
Admission to ICU	0 12 (75)	1 (2) 30 (70)	1 (14) 2 (29)
Disease specific medication	5 (31) 4 (25)	10 (23) 18 (42)	0 5 (71)
Non-disease specific medication	5 (31) 4 (25)	7 (16) 12 (28)	4 (57) 0

*In a small number of responses "corticosteroids" were mentioned as discussed treatment option in PD patients. Perhaps this should be considered an error, since this drug is very unusual in PD.

Discussing Treatment Initiation or Withdrawal

Reasons to discuss treatment restrictions varied. "Acceleration of the disease process" was the main reason in 37% (n = 22) of the respondents and "Unexpectedly severe functional decline" was mentioned in 10% (n = 6). Other reasons included "Exhaustion of the possibilities to favorably influence the disease process" in 28% (n = 11) and the "The patient brought up the issue" in 8% (n = 5) of the cases. When asked which treatment modalities were considered, respondents could choose "initiate" or "withhold/withdraw". For patients with PD, resuscitation (n = 12, 75%), ventilation (n = 12, 75%), admission to intensive care unit (n = 12, 75%), and feeding tube (n = 10, 63%)were the most discussed issues. In HGG, respondents discussed ventilation (n = 34, 79%), resuscitation (n = 33, 77%), surgery (n = 32, 74%), and admission to the intensive care unit (n = 31, 1)72%). In MS, disease-specific medication was discussed in five instances (71%), non-disease specific medication in four (57%) (i.e., medication for urine incontinence or anti-depressants) and admission to hospital in four (57%).

Table 3 shows the discussions of treatment modalities(initiate or withhold/withdraw) in the specific disease groups inpercentages.

When asked which terminal care options were discussed, pain alleviation was mentioned in 70% (n = 28) of the cases, alleviation of dyspnea in 55% (n = 22), and psychosocial support in 53% (n = 21) of the cases. Palliative sedation was discussed in 60% (n = 24) of the cases.

When asked if, in retrospect, the respondents would have discussed treatment restrictions earlier in the disease process, 27% (n = 17) agreed with this statement. Asked for reasons to postpone discussions the following statements were provided: "The patient could not handle it" (25%, n = 4), "I did not want to deprive hope" (19%, n = 3), "Lack of suffering of the patient" (19%, n = 3) and in one case the neurologist said it would have taken too much time.

Preferred location for terminal care was discussed by 88% (n = 36) of the respondents. The option "treatment at home" was mentioned in 42% (n = 15) of the cases, and the options "hospice" in 36% (n = 13).

Interpretation of the Meaning of Palliative Care

Respondents were asked "What does palliative care mean in your opinion?" Amongst the 77 neurologists and residents who responded to this question, 48% (n = 37) used the word "comfort," 29% (n = 22) considered palliative care as "relief of suffering" and in 17% (n = 13) it was coded as "quality of life." "Terminal phase," "end-of-life" or "no extension of life" was mentioned in 21% (n = 16). Thirteen percent (n = 10) of respondents used the description "no cure possible" and 12% (n = 9) "symptomatic treatment." The term "supportive care" was used by 9% (n = 7).

Education in Palliative Care

Sixty-four percent (n = 44) of the consultants in neurology and 75% (n = 18) of the residents reported that they were neither educated nor trained in discussions on treatment restrictions in chronic progressive neurological disease. Fifty-seven percent (n = 39) reported that they felt a need for education. Amongst the 25 consultants and 6 residents who were educated or trained, 14 consultants and 4 residents received this education as undergraduates, 18 consultants, and 3 residents during training, and 12 consultants on-the-job. Twenty-two consultants and 5 residents had had education via interactive lessons, for example a role-play, 13 consultants, and 2 residents had had education by supervision. Twenty one of the educated or trained consultants and 5 residents felt that their education/training had been sufficient for their work in clinical practice.

DISCUSSION

Our survey indicates that in The Netherlands the timing of discussions on treatment restrictions in patients with three chronic progressive neurological diseases (HGG, PD, and MS) varies considerably. The consultants in neurology and residents who responded to our online survey, reported that these discussions regularly took place in the first year of diagnosis in HGG, and mostly in the terminal phase of PD and MS. In all conditions, significant cognitive decline was the most important trigger for the respondents to advance discussions, followed by physical decline, and the terminal phase.

As the response rate was rather low and selection bias might have taken place the findings of our survey have to be interpreted with caution (see also "strengths and limitations"). Importantly, the results are in line with previously reported findings that discussions on treatment restrictions in chronic progressive neurological diseases most often take place after a sudden decline of patients' condition (12, 26, 30).

In ALS, which is considered a paradigmatic disease for palliative care, rapid motor deterioration often includes bulbar impairment leading to speech impairment (31). According to (best practice) guidelines the imminent communication barrier allows no delay in initiating discussions on patients' expectations, wishes and preferences regarding treatment options/restrictions and end-of-life issues (2). There is also a rapid decline in patients with HGG, and in addition the presence of significant cognitive impairment, delirium, communication difficulties, and loss of consciousness impairs their decision-making capacities (12). Up to 79% of patients with HGG have cognitive impairment before treatment, and more than 50% lack full decision-making capacity 4 months after diagnosis (32, 33). This percentage increases, especially in the last months of life (27). However, initiating ACP from diagnosis onwards is still a matter of debate in this patient group (34). In PD and MS, cognitive impairment is also common. In PD, 60% of patients have dementia after a disease duration of 12 years, preceded by a period of mild cognitive impairment, which can even be present at diagnosis (35, 36). Frequencies of cognitive impairment in patients with MS range from 40 to 75% and can become manifest at all stages and in all subtypes of the disease (37, 38) Importantly, cognitive impairment in MS at time of diagnosis is considered a marker of most aggressive pathology (39). In the first consensus review on the development of palliative care in neurology it is therefore recommended to initiate discussions on future care options and wishes early in the course of chronic progressive neurological diseases, especially when cognitive, and communication impairment are likely to occur (40).

Literature on optimal timing of ACP in chronic progressive neurological diseases is scarce. In ALS, ongoing communication of future (palliative) care from diagnosis onwards is strongly recommended, preferably by a multidisciplinary team (40, 41). However, in practice, even in the follow-up of patients with ALS ACP appears to be regularly delayed or triggered by the occurrence of life-threatening complications (30, 42). It is of note that there is a perceived lack of awareness of advance directives amongst health care professionals, in particular hospital staff, which obviously limits the effectiveness of such documents (43, 44). Advance directives are equally underutilized by patients since a study found that only 30% patients with ALS complete them (7). To support both physicians and ALS patients to be better prepared, the recently published NICE guideline recommends to offer patients with ALS the opportunity to discuss their treatment preferences and concerns about care at the end of life at trigger points such as "at diagnosis," "if there is a significant change in respiratory function," or "if interventions such as gastrostomy or non-invasive ventilation are needed" (2). Regarding the timing of the discussions, the guideline also advises to take into account the person's current communication ability, cognitive status, and mental capacity. These recommendations are partly based on interviews with patients or (bereaved) caregivers' views. They want sufficient information to be able to take well-considered decisions, as it gives them a feeling of having choice and control over their treatment (14, 45, 46). Timely discussions on end-of life care, options and preferences, have also been shown to lower anxiety, and distress in ALS patients and their caregivers (44).

In the first guideline of the European Association for Neuro-Oncology for palliative care in adults with glioma ACP is defined as a process which is 'concerned with [...] preferences related to non-treatment decisions or preferred place of death. The guideline stresses that ACP is most effective when it is started in a timely fashion, allowing patients, caregivers, and physicians to proactively address the challenges together during the course of the disease'(12). Indeed, there is growing awareness of the importance to openly communicate about patients' expectations, wishes, and preferences during the entire disease trajectory (34). However, in daily practice ACP in patients with HGG is still closely linked to the terminal phase, concerning both timing and content (47). Up to 40% of patients with HGG seem not to be involved in any end-oflife discussion, and the timing of end-of-life discussions may vary widely (1-140 days) (48). A retrospective study amongst physicians on end-of-life decision-making in patients with HGG showed that important topics were life-prolonging treatment (38%), admission to hospital (49%), palliative sedation (29%), and euthanasia (38%). Treatment was withheld in 29% of patients and concerned medication (antibiotics, dexamethasone), radiotherapy, placement of ventricular drain, and artificial administration of food or fluids (27). In our survey the most discussed topics were "resuscitation," "invasive ventilation," and "admission to ICU." One reason for these differences might be that we tried to avoid focusing on the last phase of life in our survey.

In contrast to both ALS and HGG, PD and MS are slowly progressive diseases with an often fluctuating course, unexpected declines, and gradual accumulation of impairments causing significant unmet needs (10, 49, 50). Recently, a study on preferences of patients with PD for communication about ACP showed that most (but not all) of them want prognosis and treatment information early, and that many expect their healthcare providers to bring up these issues (51). A qualitative study involving patients with PD underlined this: about half of the interviewees wanted their neurologist to raise the subject of ACP as an adjunct to usual care (49). And a survey amongst surrogates of patients in advanced stages of PD indicated that living wills might be completed by up to 94% of the patients, but shared with a physician by only 38% of them (52).

In a survey study on MS patients' palliative care needs the majority of respondents found it important to address the progression of disease and ACP. More than one-third wished to talk about end-of-life issues (53). One study addressing longterm care planning showed that on average only 11% healthcare providers discussed this issue, ranging from 10 to 26% for mildly affected and severely affected patients, respectively (54). Currently, there are efforts being made to incorporate palliative care principles in PD and MS patients' long-term follow-up (1, 7, 8, 40). In line with that, the use of triggers to identify significant deterioration has been suggested, and end-of-life care needs are being mapped (15, 55). Pertinent topics to discuss in advanced PD and MS should include tube feeding, the use of antibiotics in case of infection, non-invasive ventilation in case of respiratory failure, and resuscitation (56).

In our survey, the most discussed treatment options with PD patients or their caregivers were "resuscitation," "invasive ventilation," "admission to ICU," and "use of a feeding tube." In MS the issues of "disease-specific medication" and "non-disease specific medication" and "admission to hospital" were most frequently discussed. Due to the small sample size (PD = 16, MS = 7) it is not possible to draw any conclusions about this discrepancy.

The results of our survey suggest that in most cases the consultants in neurology decided on the timing of discussions on treatment restrictions, and indeed the respondents were of the opinion that a doctor should initiate these conversations. However, they also appeared to be sensitive to the wishes of the patient or the patient's family if they brought up the subject. Uncertainty about optimal timing often causes postponement of discussions on treatment restrictions (57). In our survey reasons to postpone discussions included "I did not want to deprive hope" and "The patient could not handle it." A "wait and see policy" concerning discussions about the appropriate amount of future care seems to be a quite common strategy of many healthcare professionals (58–63).

At the end of our survey, we asked via an open-ended question what "palliative care" meant to the participating consultants in neurology and residents. There was a great variety of responses of which the terms "comfort," "quality of life," "end-of-life care," and "terminal care" were mentioned most frequently. This is consistent with previous research amongst health care professionals, including neurologists (1). One common misconception is that discussions on future (palliative) care may signal the 'beginning of the end', despite the finding that usual neurological care during follow-up of patients with chronic progressive diseases can go hand in hand with palliative care, including ACP (9, 64). The term "palliative care" is not only confusing for neurologists, but also for patients who might not be interested in "palliative care," but willing to attend a team-based clinic providing intensive symptom management and psychosocial support (15). Therefore, some clinicians suggest to talk about "supportive care" (65). In our survey 7% of the consultants in neurology associated palliative care with supportive care.

In our study, most neurologists reported that they were experienced in having discussions on treatment restrictions, i.e., not initiating or withdrawing treatment. However, when asked about their education 66% of the respondents reported that they had not been educated or trained in having these conversations, and about half of them indicated that they felt a need for education on this topic. Those who were trained felt that it was sufficient for daily practice. Various authors have described a general lack of education in palliative care skills amongst physicians, residents, and students (15, 66–70). A recent study investigating the effectiveness of training in palliative and endof-life communication skills in medical students showed that nearly 80% indicated retention of communication skills after 1 year with regard to "giving bad news," followed by "talking about death and dying," and "end-of-life preferences/do not resuscitate" in 40–45% of the students (71). Overall, there is quite some evidence that communication training improves discussions on diagnosis, treatment options, and preferences including end-oflife care as experienced by both healthcare professionals and patients with progressive diseases and their caregivers (16, 72– 76). Interestingly, a lack of an empathic response was noted as a gap in the neurologists' skills by patients and caregivers (14).

Strengths and Limitations

To the best of our knowledge our survey is the first addressing the daily practice of consultants in neurology and residents in the Netherlands concerning discussions on treatment restrictions in patients with PD and MS. We found one study in which physicians and bereaved relatives were questioned about decision-making and end-of-life practices in patients with HGG (27).

The overall response rate to our survey was 15%, which is rather low. However, we assume that this still represents a fair proportion of the neurological practices since in most hospitals subspecialized neurologists care for patients with HGG, PD, or MS, respectively. Additionally, the relatively low response rate may be explained by the distribution of the questionnaire via the secretariat of the neurology department for privacy reasons. There are other limitations. First, there may have been "self-selection bias." The majority of respondents had a specialization area so we cannot exclude that consultants in neurology and residents with a special affinity with the topic filled in the questionnaire. Second, due to privacy reasons we do not have information about the non-respondents. Third, we might have influenced the respondents' views. As we aimed to study discussions on treatment restrictions during the whole disease process, we cautiously avoided to use the terms "palliative care" and "end-of-life care" in the questionnaire. Still, it may well be that the phrasing of our questionnaire has triggered certain associations given the responses suggesting that discussing treatment restrictions was closely linked to (starting) end-of-life care. Finally, our data concerning the content of discussions are more representative of HGG than PD and MS due to unequal response rates.

In conclusion, our study suggests that discussions on initiating, withholding, or withdrawing treatment in patients with HGG, PD, and MS are mainly determined by significant cognitive and physical deterioration or the imminent terminal phase. Thus, they usually take place at advanced stages of the disease. The reasons are multilayer and changing daily practice will be a complex challenge. However, education in palliative care skills and knowledge of the overall interest of patients to be involved may be an important step to improve daily clinical practice.

Concrete future research projects arising from our findings should specifically investigate patients' wishes and preferences

regarding timing and content of discussions about future care options.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

HAWW contributed in analyzing the data, interpretation of the data, writing, and revising of the manuscript, and accepts responsibility for the corresponding author. AAS contributed to the study design, data collection, interpretation of the data, and writing and revising of the manuscript. DLW contributed to the study design, interpretation of the data, and writing and revising of the manuscript. MdV contributed to the study design, interpretation of the data, and writing and revising of the manuscript. All authors are in agreement with the contents of the manuscript and provide approval for publication of the content.

REFERENCES

- Boersma I, Miyasaki J, Kutner J, Kluger B. Palliative care and neurology: time for a paradigm shift. *Neurology* (2014) 83:561–7. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000000674
- Oliver D, Radunovic A, Allen A, McDermott C. The development of the UK national institute of health and care excellence evidence-based clinical guidelines on motor neurone disease. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Frontotemporal Degener.* (2017) 18:313–23. doi: 10.1080/21678421.2017.1304558
- Chaudhuri KR, Bhidayasiri R, van Laar T. Unmet needs in Parkinson's disease: new horizons in a changing landscape. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord*. (2016) 33(Suppl. 1):S2–8. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2016.11.018
- Golla H, Galushko M, Pfaff H, Voltz R. Multiple sclerosis and palliative care - perceptions of severely affected multiple sclerosis patients and their health professionals: a qualitative study. *BMC Palliat Care* (2014)13:11. doi: 10.1186/1472-684X-13-11
- Strupp J, Voltz R, Golla H. Opening locked doors: Integrating a palliative care approach into the management of patients with severe multiple sclerosis. *Mult Scler.* (2016)22:13–8. doi: 10.1177/1352458515608262
- Traynor BJ, Alexander M, Corr B, Frost E, Hardiman O. Effect of a multidisciplinary amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) clinic on ALS survival: a population based study, 1996-2000. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatr. (2003)74:1258–61. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.74.9.1258
- Veronese S, Gallo G, Valle A, Cugno C, Chiò A, Calvo A, et al. Specialist palliative care improves the quality of life in advanced neurodegenerative disorders: NE-PAL, a pilot randomised controlled study. *BMJ Support Palliat Care* (2017) 7:164–72. doi: 10.1136/bmjspcare-2014-000788
- Edmonds P, Hart S, Wei G, Vivat B, Burman R, Silber E, et al. Palliative care for people severely affected by multiple sclerosis: evaluation of a novel palliative care service. *Mult Scler.* (2010)16:627–36. doi: 10.1177/1352458510364632
- Strand JJ, Kamdar MM, Carey EC. Top 10 things palliative care clinicians wished everyone knew about palliative care. *Mayo Clin Proc.* (2013) 88:859–65. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2013.05.020
- Dallara A, Tolchin DW. Emerging subspecialties in neurology: palliative care. Neurology (2014) 82:640–2. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000000121
- Robinson MT, Holloway RG. Palliative care in neurology. Mayo Clin Proc. (2017) 92:1592–601. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2017.08.003
- Pace A, Dirven L, Koekkoek JAF, Golla H, Fleming J, Rudà R, et al. European association for neuro-oncology (EANO) guidelines for palliative care in adults with glioma. *Lancet Oncol.* (2017)18:e330–40. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(17)30345-5
- Lou S, Carstensen K, Jorgensen CR, Nielsen CP. Stroke patients' and informal carers' experiences with life after stroke: an overview of qualitative systematic reviews. *Disabil Rehabil.* (2017) 39:301–13. doi: 10.3109/09638288.2016.1140836

FUNDING

This study was funded by the Netherlands Organization for Health Research and Development (ZonMw project sj.152.005) which was not involved in any part of the study itself.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Albert Hijdra for his important role in conceptualizing this study, and Alice Karsten from the Department of General Practice, Amsterdam University Medical Center, location Academic Medical Center, University of Amsterdam, for building the online version of the survey, circulating the survey and collecting respondents' data. We are very grateful for the time the participating consultants in neurology and residents devoted on filling in the survey.

- Aoun SM, Breen LJ, Howting D, Edis R, Oliver D, Henderson R, et al. Receiving the news of a diagnosis of motor neuron disease: what does it take to make it better? *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Frontotemporal Degener*. (2016) 17:168–78. doi: 10.3109/21678421.2015.1111907
- Kluger BM, Fox S, Timmons S, Katz M, Galifianakis NB, Subramanian I, et al. Palliative care and Parkinson's disease: meeting summary and recommendations for clinical research. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord*. (2017)37:19–26. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2017. 01.008
- Walbert T, Chasteen K. Palliative and supportive care for glioma patients. Cancer Treat Res. (2015) 163:171–84. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-12048-5_11
- Mullick A, Martin J, Sallnow L. An introduction to advance care planning in practice. *BMJ* (2013) 347:f6064. doi: 10.1136/bmj.f6064
- Heyland DK, Cook DJ, Rocker GM, Dodek PM, Kutsogiannis DJ, Skrobik Y, et al. Defining priorities for improving end-of-life care in Canada. *CMAJ* (2010) 182:E747–52. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.100131
- O'Brien T, Kelly M, Saunders C. Motor neurone disease: a hospice perspective. BMJ (1992) 304:471–3. doi: 10.1136/bmj.304.6825.471
- Andreassen P, Neergaard MA, Brogaard T, Skorstengaard MH, Jensen AB. The diverse impact of advance care planning: a long-term follow-up study on patients' and relatives' experiences. *BMJ Support Palliat Care* (2017) 7:335–40. doi: 10.1136/bmjspcare-2015-000886
- Sudore RL, Lum HD, You JJ, Hanson LC, Meier DE, Pantilat SZ, et al. Defining advance care planning for adults: a consensus definition from a multidisciplinary delphi panel. *J Pain Symptom Manage* (2017) 53:821–32.e821. doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2016.12.331
- 22. Detering KM, Hancock AD, Reade MC, Silvester W. The impact of advance care planning on end of life care in elderly patients: randomised controlled trial. *BMJ* (2010) 340:c1345. doi: 10.1136/bmj.c1345
- Kirchhoff KT, Hammes BJ, Kehl KA, Briggs LA, Brown RL. Effect of a disease-specific advance care planning intervention on end-of-life care. J Am Geriatr Soc. (2012) 60:946–950. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2012. 03917.x
- Benditt JO, Smith TS, Tonelli MR. Empowering the individual with ALS at the end-of-life: disease-specific advance care planning. *Muscle Nerve* (2001) 24:1706–9. doi: 10.1002/mus.1208
- Munroe CA, Sirdofsky MD, Kuru T, Anderson ED. End-of-life decision making in 42 patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Respir Care* (2007) 52:996–9.
- Seeber AA, Hijdra A, Vermeulen M, Willems DL. Discussions about treatment restrictions in chronic neurologic diseases: a structured review. *Neurology* (2012) 78:590–7. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e318247cc56
- Sizoo EM, Pasman HR, Buttolo J, Heimans JJ, Klein M, Deliens L, et al. Decision-making in the end-of-life phase of high-grade glioma patients. *Eur J Cancer* (2012) 48:226–32. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2011.11.010

- Seeber AA, Pols AJ, Hijdra A, Willems DL. How Dutch neurologists involve families of critically ill patients in end-of-life care and decision-making. *Neurology Clin Pract.* (2015) 5:50–57. doi: 10.1212/CPJ.000000000000091
- 29. Schepman SM, Hansen J, van der Velden LFJ. Behoefteraming Neurologen 2009–2027. Utrecht: NIVEL (2010).
- Connolly S, Galvin M, Hardiman O. End-of-life management in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Lancet Neurol.* (2015)14:435–42. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(14)70221-2
- Borasio GD, Shaw PJ, Hardiman O, Ludolph AC, Sales Luis ML, Silani V, et al. Standards of palliative care for patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: results of a European survey. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Other Motor Neuron Disord*. (2001) 2:159–64. doi: 10.1080/146608201753275517
- Habets EJ, Kloet A, Walchenbach R, Vecht CJ, Klein M, Taphoorn MJ. Tumour and surgery effects on cognitive functioning in high-grade glioma patients. *Acta Neurochir.* (2014) 156:1451–9. doi: 10.1007/s00701-014-2115-8
- Triebel KL, Martin RC, Nabors LB, Marson DC. Medical decision-making capacity in patients with malignant glioma. *Neurology* (2009) 73:2086–92. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181c67bce
- Fritz L, Dirven L, Reijneveld JC, Koekkoek JA, Stiggelbout AM, Pasman HR, et al. Advance care planning in glioblastoma patients. *Cancers* (2016) 8:E102. doi: 10.3390/cancers8110102
- Buter TC, van den Hout A, Matthews FE, Larsen JP, Brayne C, Aarsland D. Dementia and survival in Parkinson disease: a 12-year population study. *Neurology* (2008) 70:1017–22. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000306632.43729.24
- Muslimovic D, Post B, Speelman JD, Schmand B. Cognitive profile of patients with newly diagnosed Parkinson disease. *Neurology* (2005) 65:1239–45. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000180516.69442.95
- Bobholz JA, Rao SM. Cognitive dysfunction in multiple sclerosis: a review of recent developments. *Curr Opin Neurol.* (2003) 16:283–8. doi: 10.1097/00019052-200306000-00006
- Langdon DW. Cognition in multiple sclerosis. Curr Opin Neurol. (2011) 24:244–9. doi: 10.1097/WCO.0b013e328346a43b
- Pitteri M, Romualdi C, Magliozzi R, Monaco S, Calabrese M. Cognitive impairment predicts disability progression and cortical thinning in MS: an 8-year study. *Mult Scler*. (2017) 23:848–54. doi: 10.1177/1352458516665496
- Oliver DJ, Borasio GD, Caraceni A, de Visser M, Grisold W, Lorenzl S, et al. A consensus review on the development of palliative care for patients with chronic and progressive neurological disease. *Eur J Neurol.* (2016) 23:30–8. doi: 10.1111/ene.12889
- Andersen PM, Abrahams S, Borasio GD, de Carvalho M, Chio A. EFNS guidelines on the clinical management of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Eur J Neurol.* (2012) 19:360–75. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2011.03501.x
- Bede P, Oliver D, Stodart J, van den Berg L, Simmons Z, Brannagáin D, et al. Palliative care in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a review of current international guidelines and initiatives. *BMJ Support Palliat Care* (2011) 1:343–8. doi: 10.1136/bmjspcare.2010.232637.rep
- 43. Preston H, Fineberg IC, Callagher P, Mitchell DJ. The preferred priorities for care document in motor neurone disease: views of bereaved relatives and carers. *Palliat Med.* (2012) 26:132–8. doi: 10.1177/0269216311399664
- Whitehead B, O'Brien MR, Jack BA, Mitchell D. Experiences of dying, death and bereavement in motor neurone disease: a qualitative study. *Palliat Med.* (2012)26:368–78. doi: 10.1177/0269216311410900
- 45. Seeber AA, Pols AJ, Hijdra A, Grupstra HF, Willems DL, de Visser M. Experiences and reflections of patients with motor neuron disease on breaking the news in a two-tiered appointment: a qualitative study. *BMJ Support Palliat Care* (2016) doi: 10.1136/bmjspcare-2015-000977. [Epub ahead of print].
- Ray RA, Brown J, Street AF. Dying with motor neurone disease, what can we learn from family caregivers? *Health Exp.* (2014) 17:466–76. doi: 10.1111/j.1369-7625.2012.00773.x
- Song K, Amatya B, Voutier C, Khan F. Advance care planning in patients with primary malignant brain tumors: a systematic review. *Front Oncol.* (2016) 6:223. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2016.00223
- Gofton TE, Chum M, Schulz V, Gofton BT, Sarpal A, Watling C. Challenges facing palliative neurology practice: a qualitative analysis. *J Neurol Sci.* (2018) 385:225–31. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2017.12.008
- Boersma I, Jones J, Carter J, Bekelman D, Miyasaki J, Kutner J, et al. Parkinson disease patients' perspectives on palliative care needs: what are they telling us? *Neurol Clin Pract.* (2016) 6:209–19. doi: 10.1212/CPJ.00000000000233

- Galushko M, Golla H, Strupp J, Karbach U, Kaiser C, Ernstmann N, et al. Unmet needs of patients feeling severely affected by multiple sclerosis in Germany: a qualitative study. J Palliat Med. (2014) 17:274–81. doi: 10.1089/jpm.2013.0497
- Tuck KK, Brod L, Nutt J, Fromme EK. Preferences of patients with Parkinson's disease for communication about advanced care planning. *Am J Hosp Palliat Care* (2015) 32:68–77. doi: 10.1177/1049909113504241
- Kwak J, Wallendal MS, Fritsch T, Leo G, Hyde T. Advance care planning and proxy decision making for patients with advanced Parkinson disease. *South Med J.* (2014) 107:178–85. doi: 10.1097/SMJ.000000000000075
- Buecken R, Galushko M, Golla H, Strupp J, Hahn M, Ernstmann N, et al. Patients feeling severely affected by multiple sclerosis: how do patients want to communicate about end-of-life issues? *Patient Educ Couns.* (2012) 88:318–24. doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2012.03.010
- Putnam M, Tang F. Long-term care planning and preparation among persons with multiple sclerosis. *Home Health Care Serv Q.* (2008) 27:143–65. doi: 10.1080/01621420802022613
- Hussain J, Allgar V, Oliver D. Palliative care triggers in progressive neurodegenerative conditions: an evaluation using a multi-centre retrospective case record review and principal component analysis. *Palliat Med.* (2018) 32:716–25. doi: 10.1177/0269216318755884
- Campbell CW, Jones EJ, Merrills J. Palliative and end-of-life care in advanced Parkinson's disease and multiple sclerosis. *Clin Med.* (2010)10:290–2. doi: 10.7861/clinmedicine.10-3-290
- Buiting HM, Rurup ML, Wijsbek H, van Zuylen L, den Hartogh G. Understanding provision of chemotherapy to patients with end stage cancer: qualitative interview study. *BMJ* (2011) 342:d1933. doi: 10.1136/bmj.d1933
- Burchardi N, Rauprich O, Hecht M, Beck M, Vollmann J. Discussing living wills. A qualitative study of a German sample of neurologists and ALS patients. *J Neurol Sci.* (2005) 237:67–74. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2005.05.013
- Slort W, Blankenstein AH, Deliens L, van der Horst HE. Facilitators and barriers for GP-patient communication in palliative care: a qualitative study among GPs, patients, and end-of-life consultants. Br J Gen Pract. (2011) 61:167–72. doi: 10.3399/bjgp11X567081
- Baile WF, Buckman R, Lenzi R, Glober G, Beale EA, Kudelka AP. SPIKES-A six-step protocol for delivering bad news: application to the patient with cancer. *Oncologist* (2000) 5:302–11. doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.5-4-302
- De Vleminck A, Houttekier D, Pardon K, Deschepper R, Van Audenhove C, Vander Stichele R, et al. Barriers and facilitators for general practitioners to engage in advance care planning: a systematic review. *Scand J Prim Health Care* (2013) 31:215–26. doi: 10.3109/02813432.2013.854590
- Kelley AT, Turner J, Doolittle B. Barriers to advance care planning in endstage renal disease: who is to blame, and what can be done? *New Bioeth*. (2018) 24:150–7. doi: 10.1080/20502877.2018.1438772
- Vermylen JH, Szmuilowicz E, Kalhan R. Palliative care in COPD: an unmet area for quality improvement. *Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis.* (2015) 10:1543–51. doi: 10.2147/COPD.S74641
- Ben-Zacharia AB, Lublin FD. Palliative care in patients with multiple sclerosis. Neurol Clin. (2001) 19:801–27. doi: 10.1016/S0733-8619(05)70048-7
- 65. Oliver D. Improving patient outcomes through palliative care integration in other specialised health services: what we have learned so far and how can we improve? *Ann Palliat Med.* (2018) 7:S219–S230. doi: 10.21037/apm.2018.05.05
- 66. Aoun SM, Breen LJ, Edis R, Henderson RD, Oliver D, Harris R, et al. Breaking the news of a diagnosis of motor neurone disease: a national survey of neurologists' perspectives. J Neurol Sci. (2016) 367:368–74. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2016.06.033
- Berns SH, Camargo M, Meier DE, Yuen JK. Goals of care ambulatory resident education: training residents in advance care planning conversations in the outpatient setting. J Palliat Med. (2017) 20:1345–51. doi: 10.1089/jpm.2016.0273
- Brezis M, Lahat Y, Frankel M, Rubinov A, Bohm D, Cohen MJ, et al. What can we learn from simulation-based training to improve skills for end-of-life care? Insights from a national project in Israel. *Isr J Health Policy Res.* (2017) 6:48. doi: 10.1186/s13584-017-0169-9
- Spicer D, Paul S, Tang T, Chen C, Chase J. Canadian medical education journal survey evaluations of University of British Columbia residents' education and attitudes regarding palliative care and physician assisted death. *Can Med Educ* J. (2017) 8:e6–21.

- Rosenbaum ME, Ferguson KJ, Lobas JG. Teaching medical students and residents skills for delivering bad news: a review of strategies. *Acad Med.* (2004) 79:107–17. doi: 10.1097/00001888-200402000-00002
- Parikh PP, White MT, Buckingham L, Tchorz KM. Evaluation of palliative care training and skills retention by medical students. *J Surg Res.* (2017) 211:172–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jss.2016.11.006
- 72. Liénard A, Merckaert I, Libert Y, Bragard I, Delvaux N, Etienne AM, et al. Is it possible to improve residents breaking bad news skills? A randomised study assessing the efficacy of a communication skills training program. Br J Cancer (2010) 103:171–7. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.66 05749
- 73. Merckaert I, Liénard A, Libert Y, Bragard I, Delvaux N, Etienne AM, et al. Is it possible to improve the breaking bad news skills of residents when a relative is present? A randomised study. *Br J Cancer* (2013)109:2507–14. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2013.615
- 74. Romotzky V, Galushko M, Dusterdiek A, Obliers R, Albus C, Ostgathe CV, et al. "It's Not that Easy"-medical students' fears and barriers in end-of-life communication. *J Cancer Educ.* (2015) 30:333–9. doi: 10.1007/s13187-014-0712-0

- Back AL, Arnold RM, Baile WF, Tulsky JA, Barley GE, Pea RD, et al. Faculty development to change the paradigm of communication skills teaching in oncology. J Clin Oncol. (2009) 27:1137–41. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2008.20.2408
- Wright AA, Zhang B, Ray A, Mack JW, Trice E, Balboni T, et al. Associations between end-of-life discussions, patient mental health, medical care near death, and caregiver bereavement adjustment. *JAMA* (2008) 300:1665–73. doi: 10.1001/jama.300.14.1665

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Walter, Seeber, Willems and de Visser. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Impaired Quality of Life and Need for Palliative Care in a German Cohort of Advanced Parkinson's Disease Patients

Martin Klietz^{*†}, Amelie Tulke[†], Lars H. Müschen, Lejla Paracka, Christoph Schrader, Dirk W. Dressler and Florian Wegner

Department of Neurology, Hannover Medical School, Hannover, Germany

Background: Parkinson's disease (PD) is the second most frequent neurodegenerative disease of the elderly. Patients suffer from various motor and non-motor symptoms leading to reduced health-related quality of life (HRQOL) and an increased mortality. Their loss of autonomy due to dementia, psychosis, depression, motor impairments, falls, and swallowing deficits defines a phase when palliative care interventions might help to sustain or even improve quality of life.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Giuseppe De Michele, University of Naples Federico II, Italy

Reviewed by:

Miguel Coelho, Universidade de Lisboa, Portugal Alessandro Tessitore, Università degli Studi della Campania "Luigi Vanvitelli" Caserta, Italy Silvio Peluso, Azienda Ospedaliera Universitaria Federico II, Italy

> ***Correspondence:** Martin Klietz

klietz.martin@mh-hannover.de

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Movement Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 30 September 2017 Accepted: 19 February 2018 Published: 06 March 2018

Citation:

Klietz M, Tulke A, Müschen LH, Paracka L, Schrader C, Dressler DW and Wegner F (2018) Impaired Quality of Life and Need for Palliative Care in a German Cohort of Advanced Parkinson's Disease Patients. Front. Neurol. 9:120. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00120 **Objective:** The aim of this study was to investigate the current status of palliative care implementation and quality of life in a local cohort of advanced PD patients in order to frame and improve future care.

Methods: 76 geriatric patients with advanced idiopathic PD meeting the inclusion criteria for palliative care interventions were clinically evaluated by neurological examination using Movement Disorders Society Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale, Barthel Index, Montreal Cognitive Assessment Test, and a structured interview concerning palliative care implementation.

Results: HRQOL is severely reduced in our cohort of geriatric advanced PD patients. We found motor deficits, impairment of activities of daily living, depression, and cognitive decline as most relevant factors determining decreased HRQOL. Only 2.6% of our patients reported present implementation of palliative care. By contrast, 72% of the patients indicated an unmet need for palliative care.

Conclusion: Quality of life is dramatically affected in advanced PD patients. However, we found palliative care to be implemented extremely rare in their treatment concept. Therefore, geriatric patients suffering from advanced PD should be enrolled for palliative care to provide adequate and holistic treatment which may improve or sustain their quality of life.

Keywords: advanced Parkinson's disease, palliative care, end-of-life care, quality of life, non-motor symptoms

INTRODUCTION

Parkinson's disease (PD) is the second most frequent neurodegenerative disease of the elderly (1). Despite good treatment options in early disease with fair sustainment of quality of life, in advanced stages of PD therapy can be challenging and quality of life is dramatically reduced (2–4). Additional to motor symptoms such as rigidity, tremor, bradykinesia, and postural instability, patients are affected

25

Palliative Care in Advanced PD

by non-motor symptoms such as depression, obstipation, urinary incontinence, psychiatric disease, and cognitive deficits (5). This symptom burden markedly affects quality of life measured as health-related quality of life (HRQOL) of PD patients and induces caregiver burden as well (6–11). HRQOL and influencing factors are well characterized in early PD, especially dementia is related to poor quality of life and shortened survival (12). Comparatively little is known about determining factors of HRQOL in patients with advanced PD suitable for palliative care interventions (13). Advanced PD patients live with a high symptom burden and an increased risk of mortality, thus, meeting criteria for palliative care. Caregivers of these patients have a high caregiver burden showing a high incidence of depressive symptoms in a small cohort in Germany (caregivers of 20 advanced PD patients) (10).

For advanced PD patients, early implementation of palliative care (e.g., hospice and nursing service, advanced care planning, like feeding in the case of swallowing deficits, airway management, and symptom focused therapy) and end-of-life planning may be the key to adequate treatment and sustainment of quality of life (14). Still, palliative care is offered rarely to these patients (15). Geriatric PD patients are seldomly admitted to a hospice and often die in a hospital because adequate palliative care settings are not provided at home (16). In geriatric patients with advanced PD, drug therapy is often limited by side effects and contraindications due comorbidity. Thus, sufficient symptomatic therapy provided by palliative care concepts can be crucial.

In contrast to the emerging acknowledgment and integration of palliative care in other medical fields, the implementation of palliative care remains uncommon in the treatment of advanced PD in Germany (17). Currently, there are no data available on palliative care implementation in advanced PD treatment and its effects on HRQOL in Germany. Miyasaki et al. report good relief of symptoms in a Canadian study using the Edmonton Symptom Assessment System for PD for palliative care interventions in advanced PD patients (14). Another study reports clinical palliative care interventions for patients with atypical parkinsonisms (18).

To specify the needs of geriatric PD patients in advanced stages of disease, we performed a clinical study investigating HRQOL, its influencing factors, and the extent of palliative care implementation in a local cohort. The aim of this study was to investigate the current status of palliative care implementation in the German health system and to evaluate HRQOL and its influencing factors in this particular group of patients, in order to frame and improve future interventions.

PATIENTS AND METHODS

We obtained approval from the local Ethics Committee of Hannover Medical School (No. 3123-2016), and patients or their caregivers gave written informed consent. 76 patients with idiopathic PD were recruited from (1) our movement disorder outpatient clinic, (2) our neurological wards, (3) local PD patient support groups, and (4) outpatient neurologists in the region of Hannover, Germany. PD patients who had been admitted *via* the emergency department to our neurological wards were not included in our study until successful treatment had led to a stable condition again. Inclusion criteria for geriatric advanced PD were

defined as Hoehn and Yahr stage (H&Y) 3 or more (scored during the on period), 65 years of age or older, disease duration of at least 5 years, and loss of autonomy due to PD (19) because these patients are most likely suitable for palliative care interventions. Patients with atypical parkinsonism and those suffering from much more troublesome comorbidities were excluded from this study.

Participants were examined using MDS-UPDRS (assessment of PD symptoms in the clinical on), MoCA test [cognitive screening test, range from 0 to 30 points, 30-26 points were considered as normal cognitive function, 25-21 points as mild cognitive impairment, and below 21 points as suspicious for dementia (20, 21)], Barthel Index (general performance, activities of daily living), and PDQ-39 (HRQOL specifically constructed and validated for PD). To avoid anosognosia affecting HRQOL measurement, we included demented PD patients only after involvement of the corresponding caregivers who were able to exclude anosognosia as relevant confounder. Furthermore, a structured interview was performed to define the need for and evaluate the frequency of palliative care in these patients. In detail, we evaluated patients' current accommodation and care, such as living at their own home either with or without help by professional caregivers or residing in a nursing home or in a hospice. Participants were asked if they had an advance directive including specific restrictions of therapy and whether they had determined a health-care proxy or someone granted general power of attorney. Patients were interviewed on current implementation of palliative care, such as an outpatient palliative care or hospice service. They also stated if palliative care matters had been addressed by their physicians in the past and whether they had discussed palliative care matters within their family. Finally, they were asked if and with whom-their doctors, family, and friends or others-they wished to discuss palliative care matters and where they would wish to die. Deep brain stimulation, duodopa treatment, and subcutaneous apomorphine therapy as well as oral PD medication was noted for each patient and the equivalence dosage of levodopa was calculated according to Tomlinson et al. (22). A full medical history of all participants was taken, if available, comorbidities and medication were noted from the most updated physician's letter.

Statistical analysis was performed using Graphpad Prism 5.00 (San Diego, CA, USA). Data were analyzed by calculating mean, SD, and range. Comparison between two groups was performed by unpaired Student's *t*-test. Comparison between more than two groups was performed by one-way ANOVA and Newman–Keuls post-test. Correlations were calculated by linear regression analysis ($r^2 = 1 - SS_{reg}/SS_{tot}$, where SS_{reg} is the variance (sum of squares) of the data of the linear regression model and SS_{tot} is the total variance of the *Y* values) and using the sample Pearson correlation coefficient. A *p*-value lower than 0.05 was considered as significant.

RESULTS

Quality of Life in Patients with Advanced Parkinson's Disease

In our study, we included 76 patients with advanced PD, 53.9% were female. Our patients presented with a mean H&Y of 4.0 (SD

0.7; range 3-5), and the mean age was 76 years (SD 6.1; range 65-89 years). Mean disease duration was 17.3 years (SD 7.3; range 5-38 years). Participants suffered from severe restrictions in the activities of daily living measured by the Barthel Index (mean 61.8 points; SD 25.4; range 10-100) and by the MDS-UPDRS part II (mean 31.4; SD 8.1; range 16-48).

68 out of 76 PD patients (89.5%) presented with cognitive deficits estimated by a MoCA test score below 26 points and a mean score of 18.4 points (SD 7.8; range 0-30). 50.0% of patients scored below 21 points in the MoCA test which is considered to be highly suggestive for dementia (20, 21). Before study participation, some of our patients (22.4%) had already been diagnosed with dementia according to the S3 guideline for dementia of the German Society of Neurology based on (23). To our surprise, antidementive drugs had been prescribed to only two patients (2.6%). Psychiatric symptoms, measured by the MDS-UPDRS part I item 1.1 "hallucinations and psychosis" (score equal to 2 or more), were reported by 34 patients (44.7%). Almost the same proportion of patients (38.2%) was prescribed neuroleptic drugs (e.g., clozapine or quetiapine).

Depressive mood was present in 52.6% of our patients (40/76) measured by the MDS-UPDRS part I item 1.3 "depressed mood" (score equal to 2 or more). However, a diagnosis of depression in the patients' previous medical documents had been established in only 10.5%, whereas antidepressive medication was prescribed to 15.8% of patients. More extensive and time consuming additional assessments of specific depression and anxiety symptoms could not be performed in this study due to the limited general condition of the patients.

Our patients presented with severe motor impairment determined by the MDS-UPDRS III (60.8 points; SD 16; range 24–96) in the clinical examination. In the MDS-UPDRS part IV, 64.5% of patients reported dyskinesias and 48.7% complained about functional impairments due to dyskinesias. Off-phases were present in 75% of the patients with functional impairment of daily activities. Dystonia in the off-phase was reported by 26.3% of the patients.

The PDQ-39 scale HRQOL was drastically reduced (mean 50.8%; SD 12.4%; range 16.7-75%). Patient characteristics are summarized in Table 1.

We found highly significant correlations between HRQOL and the activities of daily living measured by the Barthel Index $(p < 0.0001; r = -0.6946; r^2 = 0.4825;$ Figure 1A), the MDS-UPDRS part II (p < 0.0001; r = 0.6586; $r^2 = 0.4338$; Figure 1B), and motor impairment evaluated by MDS-UPDRS part III $(p < 0.0001; r = 0.4562; r^2 = 0.2081;$ Figure 1C). MDS-UPDRS part I did not correlate in total score with HRQOL (p = 0.12; r = 0.2049; $r^2 = 0.0420$); however, the items "depressed mood" $(p < 0.0001; r = 0.4862; r^2 = 0.2364;$ Figure 1E), "hallucinations and psychosis" (p = 0.0018; r = 0.4841; $r^2 = 0.2344$; Figure 1F), and "anxious mood" (p = 0.0431; r = 0.2689; $r^2 = 0.0723$; Figure 1G) correlated significantly with the PDQ-39. HRQOL correlated significantly with cognitive deficits measured by MoCA test $(p = 0.0002; r = -0.4136; r^2 = 0.1711;$ Figure 1D) and the item "cognitive impairment" of MDS-UPDRS part I (p < 0.0001; $r = -0.5833; r^2 = 0.3402).$

We also correlated the Barthel Index and MoCA scale with the MDS-UPDRS scores to check for co-correlations. Scores from the Barthel Index correlated significantly with MDS-UPDRS part I $(p < 0.0001; r = 0.5177; r^2 = 0.2680)$, part II (p < 0.0001; r = 0.7601;r = 0.5778) and part III (p < 0.0001; r = 0.6920; $r^2 = 0.4789$), interestingly, they did not correlate with motor complications in the MDS-UPDRS part IV (p = 0.9910; r = 0.0013; $r^2 < 0.0001$). Concerning the MoCA score of the patients we found significant correlations with the MDS UPDRS part I (p < 0.0001; r = -0.4843; $r^2 = 0.2345$), part II (p < 0.0001; r = -0.5160; $r^2 = 0.2663$) and

	Mean	SD	Min	Max
Age	75.5	6.1	65	89
Sex			Male 46.1%	Female 53.9%
Barthel Index	61.8	25.4	10	100
H&Y	4.0	0.7	3	5
Disease duration in years	17.3	7.3	5	38
MDS-UPDRS I	20.5	6.3	9	37
MDS-UPDRS I "cognitive impairment"	1.5	1.3	0	4
MDS-UPDRS I "depressed mood"	1.8	1.0	0	4
MDS-UPDRS I "hallucinations and psychosis"	1.3	1.4	0	4
MDS-UPDRS II	31.4	8.1	16	48
MDS-UPDRS III	60.8	16	24	96
MDS-UPDRS IV	8.5	5.1	0	17
MDS-UPDRS IV dyskinesia duration	1.1 (25–50% of the day)	1.1	0	4
MDS-UPDRS IV dyskinesia functional impairment	1.1	1.4	0	4
MDS-UPDRS IV off-phase duration	1.2 (25–50% of the day)	1.9	0	4
MDS-UPDRS IV functional impairment of off-phases	2.3	1.6	0	4
MDS-UPDRS IV off-dystonia	0.6	1.2	0	4
MoCA	18.4	7.8	0	30
PDQ-39 (%)	50.8	12.4	16.7	75
LED (mg)	1,103	541	275	2,552

H&Y, Hoehn and Yahr stage; MDS-UPDRS, Movement Disorders Society Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale part I-IV; MoCA, Montreal Cognitive Assessment test; PDQ-39, Parkinson's Disease Quality of life form 39; LED, calculated L-DOPA equivalence dosage.

Frontiers in Neurology | www.frontiersin.org



FIGURE 1 | Significant correlations of health-related quality of life (HRQOL) with different scales und symptoms. (A) Negative correlation of HRQOL and Barthel Index (p < 0.0001; r = -0.6946; $r^2 = 0.4825$). (B) Correlation of HRQOL with Movement Disorders Unified Parkinson's Disease Rating Scale (MDS-UPDRS) part II (p < 0.0001; r = 0.6586; $r^2 = 0.4338$) and (C) MDS-UPDRS part III (p < 0.0001; r = 0.4562; $r^2 = 0.2081$). (D) Negative correlation of HRQOL and Montreal Cognitive Assessment test (MoCA) (p = 0.0002; r = -0.4136; $r^2 = 0.1711$). (E) Correlations of HRQOL with MDS-UPDRS part I item "depressed mood" (p < 0.0001; r = 0.4862; $r^2 = 0.2364$) and (F) MDS-UPDRS part I item hallucinations and psychosis (p = 0.0018; r = 0.4841; $r^2 = 0.2344$) and (G) MDS-UPDRS item "anxious mood" (p = 0.0431; r = 0.2689; $r^2 = 0.0723$). (H) Non-significant correlation of HRQOL and levodopa equivalence dosage (LED) (p = 0.5035; r = 0.0825; $r^2 = 0.0068$).

III (p < 0.0001; r = -0.7163; $r^2 = 0.5131$) but not with part IV (p = 0.2849; r = -0.1241; $r^2 = 0.0154$). Additionally, we found a significant correlation of MoCA scores and the MDS-UPDRS part I items "anxious mood" (p = 0.0063; r = -0.3108; $r^2 = 0.0966$)

and "hallucinations and psychosis" (p = 0.0011; r = -0.3667; $r^2 = 0.1345$).

Regarding motor complications measured by the MDS-UPDRS part IV and their impact on HRQOL, we found no correlation of dyskinesias and HRQOL (MDS-UPDRS IV item 1, p = 0.9342; r = 0.0096; $r^2 < 0.0001$ and 2, p = 0.3794; r = 0.1029; $r^2 = 0.0106$). The frequency of off-time correlated significantly with HRQOL (p = 0.0339; r = 0.2454; $r^2 = 0.0602$); however, the functional impairment of off-time (item 4, p = 0.1267; r = 0.1779; $r^2 = 0.0316$) and the complexity of off-phases (MDS-UPDRS IV item 5, p = 0.1480; r = 0.1686; $r^2 = 0.0284$) did not correlate with HRQOL. Off-dystonia correlated significantly with HRQOL (p = 0.0490; r = 0.2280; $r^2 = 0.0520$).

Treatment regimens markedly differed between individual patients. The number of prescribed PD drugs ranged from one to six groups of medication [levodopa + decarboxylase inhibitor; dopamine agonist; MAO_B inhibitor (14.5%); safinamide (8.7%); amantadine (17.6%); COMT inhibitor (40.1%)]. The vast majority received levodopa therapy (98.5%). More than one-third was treated with additional dopamine agonists (41.2%). Interestingly, the calculated equivalence dosage of levodopa did not correlate with HRQOL at all (p = 0.5035; r = 0.0825; $r^2 = 0.0068$; Figure 1H). We included 14 patients with DBS (18.4%), 9 patients with duodopa intrajejunal therapy (11.8%) and 3 patients with apomorphine subcutaneous pump (3.9%). No significant differences in HRQOL and motor impairment were found in patients with DBS or duodopa therapy compared to each other and to the cohort with oral medication only (p > 0.05, one-way ANOVA and Newman-Keuls post-test). Due to the low number of patients, we did not calculate any data for the apomorphine group.

In the medical documents of our PD patients, we screened for systemic diseases. Note, we excluded patients predominantly suffering from another severe disease than PD. We found 30.3% of patients to be diagnosed with arterial hypertension. Cardiovascular disease, excluding arterial hypertension, was present in 27.6% of the cohort. Diabetes type 1 or 2 was diagnosed in 7.9%; other endocrine diseases, such as hypothyreosis, were present in 13.2% of the patients.

Palliative Care in Advanced Parkinson's Disease

Approximately half of our patients managed to schedule regular appointments with an outpatient neurologist. Most neurological consultations of the other patients had to be done *via* the emergency department.

We found 70% of our patients to have an advance directive and a health-care proxy. However, hardly any patient was provided with additional palliative care at their home or had ever consulted their treating physicians on palliative care matters (Table 2). Overall, we found palliative care to be provided to only 2 out of 76 severely diseased PD patients (2.6%). 72% of the patients expressed an unmet need for information concerning palliative care, especially about advance care planning concerning endof-life care (EoLC). In more than 40% of the patients, there had been no discussion about EoLC in the family. Almost half of the patients preferred to consult with their general physician or outpatient neurologist about palliative care matters (Figure 2). The majority of patients wishes to die at home. However, it remains challenging to simultaneously receive professional palliative and neurological care guaranteeing fair symptom control in order to honor this wish in dignity (Figure 2).

DISCUSSION

By applying the following inclusion criteria, we defined a palliative care intervention phase of advanced PD according to Saleem et al. (15): H&Y 3 or more, 65 years of age or older, disease duration of at least 5 years, and loss of autonomy due to PD. Patients' parameters such as treatment plans and equivalence dosage of levodopa were in line with earlier reports of long-term surviving PD cohorts from Australia (24) and the US (13). However, patients recruited in our study were older (75.5 years) compared to the Sidney cohort (71 years) (24) and the US cohort (69.5 years) (13). Our patients presented with a higher mean H&Y and a mean disease duration of 17 years, which was 2 years longer than in the study of Hely et al. from 2005 (24). We specifically aimed to measure a geriatric population and, thus, set the inclusion criteria for age at 65 years or older to recruit a more homogeneous group as PD patients seem to reach the palliative care intervention phase of PD in the age of 65 and older (25).

Cognitive deficits were prominent in all comparable cohorts and were impacting HRQOL, nevertheless the prevalence of cognitive deficits and dementia measured by the MoCA Test was dramatically increased in our group of patients compared to the other cohorts. Hely et al. (24) found 48% of the long time PD patients to be demented, measured by the Mini-Mental State Test, whereas Hassan et al. (13) reported a mean MoCA score of 22.6 in their cohort. In our cohort, the MoCA score was markedly lower with a mean value of 18.4 points. We measured HRQOL with the well-established and validated PDQ-39 form (26). In all comparable cohorts, quality of life is decreased significantly and the reduction is related to the duration of disease (2, 13, 24, 27). Hassan et al. (13) described

TABLE 2 | Palliative care implementation in geriatric advanced Parkinson's disease patients (n = 76).

	Yes (%)	No (%)
Advance directive	69.7	30.3
Health-care proxy	68.4	31.6
Actual palliative care	2.6	97.4
Need of information concerning palliative care	72	28
Discussion about end-of-life care in the family	57.9	42.1



FIGURE 2 | Patients: wisnes in regard to palliative care concerning communication partner and place of death. N = 76 Parkinson's disease patients.

Palliative Care in Advanced PD

a decrease of 35.8% in quality of life measured in the PDQ-39, which was less prominent than in our cohort (50.8% and SD 12.4%). Considering the higher mean age, comparably long disease duration and extraordinary high prevalence of cognitive decline, it seems likely for our patients to have markedly decreased HRQOL. In our collective of advanced PD patients, we identified motor symptoms, cognitive decline, depression, hallucinations, anxiety, and impairment in the activities of daily living as main factors significantly correlating with decreased HRQOL. In accordance to other studies motor symptoms, cognitive deficits, depression, and psychiatric symptoms showed the strongest correlation with decreased HROOL (2, 3, 6, 11, 12, 27). In regard to motor complications of advanced PD patients, the most dominant factor in our study appears to be the amount of off-time per day. We also found off-dystonia to negatively impact HRQOL. Interestingly, dyskinesias did not show a significant correlation with HRQOL in our study. It seems that dyskinesias did not or only mildly impact HRQOL in advanced PD (28-30). Therefore, treatment of motor complications should specially aim to reduce off-time of PD patients in advanced stages.

Former studies in advanced PD did not investigate possible benefits of invasive therapies such as DBS or duodopa pump therapy in a palliative setting, which is why we compared HRQOL in patients receiving DBS or duodopa to patients treated with oral medication only. Despite a previously reported positive effect on quality of life of DBS (31) and duodopa treatment (32) for individual patients, we were not able to show a higher HRQOL in our small DBS and duodopa groups compared to patients receiving oral PD medication only. By considering comorbidities of advanced PD patients, we found cardiovascular disease and hypertension to be the most frequent systemic diseases in their medical history. Generally, PD patients suffer less often from cardiovascular disease and hypertension (33). PD patients may have a special cardiovascular profile of comorbidities compared to the general population possibly caused by peripheral autonomic disturbances. In the context of palliative care, it is important to notice that the cause of death in PD patients is pneumonia to a huge proportion (34), whereas the frequency of cardiovascular and cerebrovascular causes of death is reduced to values of control populations (33, 35, 36). Therefore, we would expect only a limited effect of cardiovascular disease and hypertension on the HRQOL of our PD cohort.

As shown in our data and by others, HRQOL is dramatically decreased in the palliative intervention phase of PD (13, 24). Palliative care may help to sustain or even improve quality of life in these patients by targeting specific symptoms, especially those determining poor HRQOL (14, 17). Only 2 of our 76 patients received palliative care at all, which is in line with observations of Saleem et al. (15) who also found rare implementation of palliative care in advanced PD patients in the UK. Reason for that might be a lack of awareness of clinical criteria when and how to initiate palliative care in PD (19, 37). In our study, a high number of patients reported the wish to die at home, which is in accordance with previous publications (16, 38). However, neurologists and general physicians may not be fully aware of the increased mortality of PD patients and consequently fail to duly address advance care planning during their consultations (39). It is necessary to encourage patients and their caregivers to discuss EoLC and note life-sustaining treatment orders for



dependent on others help. In this phase, palliative care interventions should be initiated. These interventions may be the implementation of outpatient services, an interdisciplinary management of complex symptoms, clinical interventions (e.g., i.v. antibiotics for infections, feeding tubes, airway management, palliative sedation), and discharge to a hospice. Even in the palliative intervention phase, the end-of-life care (EoLC) represents only a small proportion of palliative therapies. better care planning according to their individual wishes (40, 41). In regard to the high prevalence of cognitive decline in our cohort, an early advance care planning is of fundamental importance. Additionally, health care by proxy should be discussed in early course of the disease. In later disease stages, decision-making related to goal of care could be compromised by cognitive impairments (42). For excellent reports of advance directives in patients with dementia in the context of ethical and law issues, see Ref. (43, 44). Clearly, defined clinical criteria indicating a time point for palliative care implementation might help to improve future treatment for advanced PD patients. Richfield et al. have defined possible mile stones for initiation of EoLC such as swallowing problems, recurrent infections, marked decline in physical function, first aspiration pneumonia, cognitive difficulties, weight loss, and significant complex symptoms (37, 45). With occurrence of these symptoms, palliative care interventions are helpful and initiation of EoLC should be evaluated.

Especially in Germany, we are just at the beginning of properly providing palliative care for neurological patients in general. To serve that purpose, it seems constructive to form interdisciplinary teams (e.g., neurologist, palliative care specialist, PD nurse, and social worker) following the model of Miyasaki et al. in Canada (14). Thereby, the awareness of neurologists concerning palliative care in advanced PD could be improved. Considering our data and recent literature (15, 16), we suggest the following model for palliative care in PD (**Figure 3**).

Possible limitations of our study are the monocentric approach with a moderately high number of patients (n = 76) as well as the restrictive inclusion criteria defining a severely burdened subgroup of PD patients. Due to the evaluation of numerous patient characteristics and extensive neurological examination, it did not seem feasible to apply additional and more specific questionnaires for depression and anxiety. However, for a general

REFERENCES

- von Campenhausen S, Bornschein B, Wick R, Bötzel K, Sampaio C, Poewe W, et al. Prevalence and incidence of Parkinson's disease in Europe. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol* (2005) 15:473–90. doi:10.1016/j.euroneuro.2005.04.007
- Hirayama MS, Gobbi S, Gobbi LTB, Stella F. Quality of life (QoL) in relation to disease severity in Brazilian Parkinson's patients as measured using the WHOQOL-BREF. Arch Gerontol Geriatr (2008) 46:147–60. doi:10.1016/j. archger.2007.03.007
- Chrischilles EA, Rubenstein LM, Voelker MD, Wallace RB, Rodnitzky RL. The health burdens of Parkinson's disease. *Mov Disord* (1998) 13:406–13. doi:10.1002/mds.870130306
- Qin Z, Zhang L, Sun F, Fang X, Meng C, Tanner C, et al. Health related quality of life in early Parkinson's disease: impact of motor and non-motor symptoms, results from Chinese levodopa exposed cohort. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord* (2009) 15:767–71. doi:10.1016/j.parkreldis.2009.05.011
- Martinez-Martin P, Schapira AHV, Stocchi F, Sethi K, Odin P, MacPhee G, et al. Prevalence of nonmotor symptoms in Parkinson's disease in an international setting; Study using nonmotor symptoms questionnaire in 545 patients. *Mov Disord* (2007) 22:1623–9. doi:10.1002/mds.21586
- Soh S-E, Morris ME, McGinley JL. Determinants of health-related quality of life in Parkinson's disease: a systematic review. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord* (2011) 17:1–9. doi:10.1016/j.parkreldis.2010.08.012
- 7. Valkovic P, Harsany J, Hanakova M, Martinkova J, Benetin J. Nonmotor symptoms in early- and advanced-stage Parkinson's disease patients on

and fast assessment of anxiety and depression, the items of the MDS-UPDRS part I can be used in clinical practice (46). We plan the detailed investigation of this issue in a future study explicitly focusing on depression and anxiety symptoms based on our recent results.

In our study, we found that palliative care is not yet a fixed component of PD treatment which is in line with general observations in German PD patients, although implementation of palliative care in advanced PD can be crucial and is often called for. This characterization of severely diseased PD patients contributes novel clinical data and forms the basis for further trials aiming to improve palliative care implementation in advanced PD patients in order to establish optimal symptom control, sustain quality of life, reduce caregiver burden, and prevent caregiver burnout (10). Our data emphasize the urgent need of palliative care in geriatric advanced PD patients.

ETHICS STATEMENT

We obtained approval from the local Ethics Committee of Hannover Medical School (No. 3123-2016), and patients or their caregivers gave written informed consent.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MK and FW planed the study. AT, MK, LM, LP, and DD recruited the patients. MK, AT, LP, and FW analyzed the data. MK, AT, LM, LP, CS, DD, and FW wrote and corrected the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was supported by a Grant of Hilde-Ulrichs foundation Frankfurt am Main, Germany, to MK. The authors thank N. Ziegler, L. Diekstall, and H. Gorzolla for excellent assistance.

dopaminergic therapy: how do they correlate with quality of life? *ISRN Neurol* (2014) 2014:1-4. doi:10.1155/2014/587302

- Martinez-Martin P, Rodriguez-Blazquez C, Forjaz MJ, Frades-Payo B, Agüera-Ortiz L, Weintraub D, et al. Neuropsychiatric symptoms and caregiver's burden in Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord* (2015) 21:629–34. doi:10.1016/j.parkreldis.2015.03.024
- Morley D, Dummett S, Peters M, Kelly L, Hewitson P, Dawson J, et al. Factors influencing quality of life in caregivers of people with Parkinson's disease and implications for clinical guidelines. *Parkinson Dis* (2012) 2012:1–6. doi:10.1155/ 2012/190901
- Schmotz C, Richinger C, Lorenzl S. High burden and depression among late-stage idiopathic Parkinson disease and progressive supranuclear palsy caregivers. *J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol* (2017) 30:267–72. doi:10.1177/0891988717720300
- Kadastik-Eerme L, Rosenthal M, Paju T, Muldmaa M, Taba P. Health-related quality of life in Parkinson's disease: a cross-sectional study focusing on non-motor symptoms. *Health Qual Life Outcomes* (2015) 13:83. doi:10.1186/ s12955-015-0281-x
- Buter TC, van den Hout A, Matthews FE, Larsen JP, Brayne C, Aarsland D. Dementia and survival in Parkinson disease: a 12-year population study. *Neurology* (2008) 70:1017–22. doi:10.1212/01.wnl.0000306632.43729.24
- Hassan A, Wu SS, Schmidt P, Simuni T, Giladi N, Miyasaki JM, et al. The profile of long-term Parkinson's disease survivors with 20 years of disease duration and beyond. *J Parkinsons Dis* (2015) 5:313–9. doi:10.3233/JPD-140515
- 14. Miyasaki JM, Long J, Mancini D, Moro E, Fox SH, Lang AE, et al. Palliative care for advanced Parkinson disease: an interdisciplinary clinic and new

scale, the ESAS-PD. Parkinsonism Relat Disord (2012) 18:S6–9. doi:10.1016/j. parkreldis.2012.06.013

- Saleem TZ, Higginson IJ, Chaudhuri KR, Martin A, Burman R, Leigh PN. Symptom prevalence, severity and palliative care needs assessment using the Palliative Outcome Scale: a cross-sectional study of patients with Parkinson's disease and related neurological conditions. *Palliat Med* (2013) 27:722–31. doi:10.1177/0269216312465783
- Miyasaki JM, Kluger B. Palliative care for Parkinson's disease: has the time come? Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep (2015) 15:26–7. doi:10.1007/s11910-015-0542-4
- Oliver DJ, Borasio GD, Caraceni A, de Visser M, Grisold W, Lorenzl S, et al. A consensus review on the development of palliative care for patients with chronic and progressive neurological disease. *Eur J Neurol* (2015) 23:30–8. doi:10.1111/ene.12889
- Bukki J, Nubling G, Lorenzl S. Managing advanced progressive supranuclear palsy and corticobasal degeneration in a palliative care unit: admission triggers and outcomes. *Am J Hosp Palliat Care* (2016) 33:477–82. doi:10.1177/ 1049909114565110
- Miyasaki JM. Palliative care in Parkinson's disease. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep (2013) 13:367–364. doi:10.1007/s11910-013-0367-y
- Hu MTM, Szewczyk-Królikowski K, Tomlinson P, Nithi K, Rolinski M, Murray C, et al. Predictors of cognitive impairment in an early stage Parkinson's disease cohort. *Mov Disord* (2014) 29:351–9. doi:10.1002/mds.25748
- Dalrymple-Alford JC, MacAskill MR, Nakas CT, Livingston L, Graham C, Crucian GP, et al. The MoCA: well-suited screen for cognitive impairment in Parkinson disease. *Neurology* (2010) 75:1717–25. doi:10.1212/WNL. 0b013e3181fc29c9
- 22. Tomlinson CL, Stowe R, Patel S, Rick C, Gray R, Clarke CE. Systematic review of levodopa dose equivalency reporting in Parkinson's disease. *Mov Disord* (2010) 25:2649–53. doi:10.1002/mds.23429
- Goetz CG, Emre M, Dubois B. Parkinson's disease dementia: definitions, guidelines, and research perspectives in diagnosis. *Ann Neurol* (2009) 64:S81–92. doi:10.1002/ana.21455
- Hely MA, Morris JGL, Reid WGJ, Trafficante R. Sydney multicenter study of Parkinson's disease: non-L-DOPA-responsive problems dominate at 15 years. *Mov Disord* (2005) 20:190–9. doi:10.1002/mds.20324
- Kempster PA, O'Sullivan SS, Holton JL, Revesz T, Lees AJ. Relationships between age and late progression of Parkinson's disease: a clinico-pathological study. *Brain* (2010) 133:1755–62. doi:10.1093/brain/awq059
- Martinez-Martin P, Jeukens-Visser M, Lyons KE, Rodriguez-Blazquez C, Selai C, Siderowf A, et al. Health-related quality-of-life scales in Parkinson's disease: critique and recommendations. *Mov Disord* (2011) 26:2371–80. doi:10.1002/ mds.23834
- Winter Y, von Campenhausen S, Popov G, Reese JP, Balzer-Geldsetzer M, Kukshina A, et al. Social and clinical determinants of quality of life in Parkinson's disease in a Russian cohort study. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord* (2010) 16:243–8. doi:10.1016/j.parkreldis.2009.11.012
- Marras C, Lang A, Krahn M, Tomlinson G, Naglie G, Parkinson Study Group. Quality of life in early Parkinson's disease: impact of dyskinesias and motor fluctuations. *Mov Disord* (2004) 19:22–8. doi:10.1002/mds.10642
- Hechtner MC, Vogt T, Zöllner Y, Schröder S, Sauer JB, Binder H, et al. Quality of life in Parkinson's disease patients with motor fluctuations and dyskinesias in five European countries. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord* (2014) 20:969–74. doi:10.1016/j.parkreldis.2014.06.001
- Péchevis M, Clarke CE, Vieregge P, Khoshnood B, Deschaseaux-Voinet C, Berdeaux G, et al. Effects of dyskinesias in Parkinson's disease on quality of life and health-related costs: a prospective European study. *Eur J Neurol* (2005) 12:956–63. doi:10.1111/j.1468-1331.2005.01096.x
- Just H, Østergaard K. Health-related quality of life in patients with advanced Parkinson's disease treated with deep brain stimulation of the subthalamic nuclei. *Mov Disord* (2002) 17:539–45. doi:10.1002/mds.10111

- Devos D, French DUODOPA Study Group. Patient profile, indications, efficacy and safety of duodenal levodopa infusion in advanced Parkinson's disease. *Mov Disord* (2009) 24:993–1000. doi:10.1002/mds.22450
- Lethbridge L, Johnston GM, Turnbull G. Co-morbidities of persons dying of Parkinson's disease. Prog Palliat Care (2013) 21:140–5. doi:10.1179/1743291 X12Y.0000000037
- Fall P-A, Saleh A, Fredrickson M, Olsson J-E, Granerus A-K. Survival time, mortality, and cause of death in elderly patients with Parkinson's disease: a 9-year follow-up. *Mov Disord* (2003) 18:1312–6. doi:10.1002/mds.10537
- Beyer MK, Herlofson K, Arsland D, Larsen JP. Causes of death in a community-based study of Parkinson's disease. *Acta Neurol Scand* (2001) 103:7–11. doi:10.1034/j.1600-0404.2001.00191.x
- Pennington S, Snell K, Lee M, Walker R. The cause of death in idiopathic Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord* (2010) 16:434–7. doi:10.1016/j. parkreldis.2010.04.010
- Richfield EW, Jones EJ, Alty JE. Palliative care for Parkinson's disease: a summary of the evidence and future directions. *Palliat Med* (2013) 27:805–10. doi:10.1177/0269216313495287
- Tuck KK, Zive DM, Schmidt TA, Carter J, Nutt J, Fromme EK. Life-sustaining treatment orders, location of death and co-morbid conditions in decedents with Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord* (2015) 21:1205–9. doi:10.1016/j.parkreldis.2015.08.021
- Macleod AD, Taylor KSM, Counsell CE. Mortality in Parkinson's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Mov Disord* (2014) 29:1615–22. doi:10.1002/mds.25898
- Walker RW. Palliative care and end-of-life planning in Parkinson's disease. J Neural Transm (Vienna) (2013) 120:635-8. doi:10.1007/s00702-013-0967-3
- Tuck KK, Brod L, Nutt J, Fromme EK. Preferences of patients with Parkinson's disease for communication about advanced care planning. *Am J Hosp Palliat Care* (2015) 32:68–77. doi:10.1177/1049909113504241
- 42. Abu Snineh M, Camicioli R, Miyasaki JM. Decisional capacity for advanced care directives in Parkinson's disease with cognitive concerns. *Parkinsonism Relat Disord* (2017) 39:77–9. doi:10.1016/j.parkreldis.2017.03.006
- 43. Gaster B, Larson EB, Curtis JR. Advance directives for dementia: meeting a unique challenge. *JAMA* (2017) 318:2175–6. doi:10.1001/jama.2017.16473
- Auckland C. Protecting Me from my directive: ensuring appropriate safeguards for advance directives in dementia. *Med Law Rev* (2018) 26:73–97. doi:10.1093/medlaw/fwx037
- Zheng KS, Dorfman BJ, Christos PJ, Khadem NR, Henchcliffe C, Piboolnurak P, et al. Clinical characteristics of exacerbations in Parkinson disease. *Neurologist* (2012) 18:120–4. doi:10.1097/NRL.0b013e318251e6f2
- 46. de Roos P, Bloem BR, Kelley TA, Antonini A, Dodel R, Hagell P, et al. A consensus set of outcomes for Parkinson's disease from the International Consortium for Health Outcomes Measurement. J Parkinsons Dis (2017) 7:533–43. doi:10.3233/JPD-161055

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer SP and handling Editor declared their shared affiliation.

Copyright © 2018 Klietz, Tulke, Müschen, Paracka, Schrader, Dressler and Wegner. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Alleviation of Psychological Distress and the Improvement of Quality of Life in Patients With Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis: Adaptation of a Short-Term Psychotherapeutic Intervention

Moritz Caspar Franz Oberstadt1*, Peter Esser2, Joseph Classen1 and Anja Mehnert2

¹ Department of Neurology, University Medical Center Leipzig, Leipzig, Germany, ² Department of Medical Psychology and Medical Sociology, University Medical Center Leipzig, Leipzig, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Raymond Voltz, Uniklinik Köln, Germany

Reviewed by:

Elizabeth Ann Mauricio, Mayo Clinic, United States Fiore Manganelli, Azienda Ospedaliera Universitaria Federico II, Italy

*Correspondence:

Moritz Caspar Franz Oberstadt moritz.oberstadt@medizin.uni-leipzig.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neuromuscular Diseases, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 17 January 2018 Accepted: 26 March 2018 Published: 16 April 2018

Citation:

Oberstadt MCF, Esser P, Classen J and Mehnert A (2018) Alleviation of Psychological Distress and the Improvement of Quality of Life in Patients With Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis: Adaptation of a Short-Term Psychotherapeutic Intervention. Front. Neurol. 9:231. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00231 Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) is a progressive neurodegenerative disease that is inevitably fatal. To be diagnosed with a terminal illness such as ALS deeply affects one's personal existence and goes along with significant changes regarding the physical, emotional, and social domains of the patients' life. ALS patients have to face a rapidly debilitating physical decline which restrains mobility and impairs all activities of daily living. This progressive loss of autonomy may lead to a sense of hopelessness and loss of quality of life, which in turn may even result in thoughts about physician-assisted suicide. Here, we would like to propose a psychotherapeutic manualized, individual, semi-structured intervention to relieve distress and promote psychological well-being in ALS patients. This short-term intervention was originally developed for advanced cancer patients. "Managing Cancer and Living Meaningfully (CALM)" focuses on the four dimensions: (i) symptom management and communication with healthcare providers, (ii) changes in self and relations with close others, (iii) spirituality, sense of meaning and purpose and (iv) thinking of the future, hope, and mortality. We suggest to supplement the concept by two additional dimensions which take into account specific issues of ALS patients: (v) communication skills, and (vi) emotional expression and control. This therapeutic concept named "Managing Burden in ALS and Living Meaningfully (mi-BALM)" may be a further treatment option to help improving quality of life of ALS patients.

Keywords: amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, psychotherapeutic intervention, calm, quality of life, distress

AMYOTROPHIC LATERAL SCLEROSIS (ALS)

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis represents a rapidly progressing neurodegenerative disease and is characterized by a degeneration of motor neurons (1). ALS affects the upper motor neurons projecting from the cortex to the brainstem and the spinal cord as well as the lower motor neurons projecting from the brainstem or spinal cord to the muscles (1). The initial presentation of ALS varies considerably between patients: while some patients first experience muscle weakness in the limbs, referred to as spinal onset, others initially suffer from dysarthria and dysphagia, characterized as bulbar onset. Bulbar onset appears in about one-third of patients with ALS and is often associated with emotional lability, which may arise from disconnection of brainstem structures from cortical inhibition (2, 3). Limb-onset weakness accounts for 60% of cases, presents usually asymmetrically and may first develop in either the upper or lower limbs. Apart from weakness, additional symptoms may include spasticity as a sign for upper motor neuron loss, and fasciculations, cramps and muscle atrophy as signs for lower motor neuron loss. Death usually results from respiratory failure which is caused by the loss of nerve supply of the respiratory muscles (3). The average life expectancy of patients with ALS is 2-3 years from the onset of symptoms, while a minority (4%) survive for 10 years or even longer (4, 5). The incidence of ALS is about two cases per 100,000 individuals and the age of onset peaks at 70-74 years (6).

In most cases, ALS appears to develop sporadically, although some patients have a familial disease which is associated with mutations in genes that have a wide range of functions (3). The primary symptoms of ALS are associated with motor dysfunction, such as muscle weakness or dysphagia, but more than 40% of ALS patients additionally develop cognitive or behavioral symptoms in advanced stage of the disease and about 14% of patients present with accompanying frontotemporal dementia (7).

MENTAL BURDEN AND CHALLENGES IN THE PROGRESSION OF THE DISEASE

To be diagnosed with a life-threatening illness, such as ALS, deeply affects one's personal existence and involves a variety of changes in the physical, emotional, and mental-cognitive aspects of a patients' life. At first, ALS patients realize the debilitating physical symptoms due to muscle weakness impairing mobility and autonomy in all activities of daily living (8). A characteristic of ALS is the impairment to communicate verbally due to dysarthria, which means a motor disorder of speech characterized by abnormalities of the articulation and reduced intelligibility of speech. Dysarthria appears in 25-30% of ALS patients as a first or predominant sign in early stage (9) and the potential loss of speech has been rated as one of the three worst aspects of the disease by ALS patients (10). Furthermore, patients suffer from numerous symptoms, including pain, spasticity, difficulty in swallowing, weight loss, and respiratory insufficiency that require intensive treatment by a multidisciplinary care team (11). Among the wide range of symptoms, pain seems to be particularly frequent and to play a major role in affecting the quality of life in ALS patients (12, 13). Moreover, progressive muscle weakness leads to dependence on others like familial caregivers and/or a multiprofessional care team because of immobility (8). Patients have to face mental-cognitive challenges, to adapt to the new life situation and to decide about permanent and invasive medical measures including gastrostomy tube placement and assisted ventilation during disease progress (14). With the respect to the progredient loss of the ability to speak, patients and their related persons have to find new ways of communication,

such as computer-based communication devices, such as eyetracking systems (15). Progressive loss of autonomy and control may lead to severe emotional reactions, including of help- and hopelessness and a complete loss of motivation (16). Regarding potential risk factors for emotional impairments caused by the disease, hopelessness in ALS patients is predicted by the belief that life is determined by forces beyond his or her own control (external locus of control) and a lack of meaning of life, but not by socioeconomic or demographic factors, length or severity of illness, social support satisfaction or spiritual belief (17). Just as hopelessness, depressive symptoms are not related to time since diagnosis, the degree of disability or the progression of the illness (18), but slightly increase with speed of disease progression (19). Depression scores vary considerably between studies and range from 35 to 57% (20-24). Compared to other somatic patient groups including patients with cancer or heart failure, ALS patients most frequently ask for physician-assisted suicide (25, 26). Emotion in ALS patients may be difficult to recognize because emotional expression is frequently altered by the disease. Up to 49% of ALS patients show uncontrollable outbursts of laughter or crying without any appropriate environmental trigger and may be either more pronounced or even incongruent with the underlying emotional state (27, 28). This emotional expression disorder is named "pseudobulbar affect" and poses a problem in correct recognition and interpretation of emotional signs, not only for related persons, but also in therapeutic settings (29).

Taken together, previous research indicates a broad spectrum of physical, emotional, and mental-cognitive challenges for ALS patients (**Table 1**), which all have to be addressed by a multimodal (psycho-)therapy.

FUNDAMENTALS OF PSYCHOLOGICAL INTERVENTIONS IN PALLIATIVE CARE

The high prevalence of mental burden like anxiety and depression, including hopelessness, despair, and demoralization in palliative patients demonstrate the need for effective psychological interventions integrated in palliative care concepts (30). Psychological

 $\label{eq:table_$

Specific aspects of	ALS for (psycho-)therapeutic settings
Physical symptoms	– Muscle weakness – Dysarthria
Emotional symptoms, alterations	 / – Depression – Hopelessness – Feelings of helplessness – Pseudobulbar affect
Mental-cognitive challenges	 Confrontation with a fatal disease and own end of life Adaptation to and acceptance of the new life situation Computer-based means of communication Decisions about permanent medical measures, including percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy tube placement and assisted ventilation during disease progress

interventions can address a wide spectrum of objectives in palliative care and together aim to reduce psychosocial distress and maintain quality of life in patients and their caregivers (31). These interventions intend to help the patient and family in coping with the fear of death and dying, managing anxiety, and reducing feelings of isolation, sadness, despair, and depression (32). Other psychological approaches address problems associated with changes of social roles and relationships, increasing dependence on others, the need to adjust to impaired functional status, and existential concerns, such as the search for meaning in life, hope, sense of dignity, grief, and spirituality (32). Clinical psychotherapeutic care for patients with progressing diseases comprises a variety of interventions and techniques, all of which have to be integrated into a multidisciplinary care plan. These include cognitive behavioral therapy, psychodynamic therapy, narrative interventions, relaxation and guided imagery, mindfulness-based interventions, meaning-focused interventions, art therapy, and dignity therapy (33).

Psychotherapeutic Topics and Psychological Needs in Palliative Settings

The "psychotherapeutic work and goals in palliative care settings generally differ in several aspects from psychological interventions for patients with early or curative diseases or physically healthy individuals" (32).

In palliative settings, psychotherapeutic support starts with the diagnosis of the incurable disease. After communication of the diagnosis, patients often need time for reflection and room in which they can express their emotions. Because the delivery and communication of the diagnosis and its consequences is a crucial and emotionally relevant moment for the patient and his/ her relatives, a psychologist in the medical team provides the patients with an additional opportunity to express their feelings and fears (34).

Furthermore, the time frame for psychotherapeutic interventions may be limited, especially in the case of ALS patients. Usually, "patients can be see" by the psychotherapist "only a few times, depending on their physical condition, the course of the disease," and the setting (inpatient vs. outpatient). "The limited time has several implications for the development of a trustful and sustainable therapeutic relationship and psychotherapeutic treatment planning" (32). Treatment planning often depends on the stage and course of the disease and always has to be flexible enough to take into account spontaneous changes in the supportive care needs of patients or their caregivers. These and rapid changes in the course of the disease may place high demands on the clinical psychologist with regards to flexibility, empathy, and understanding of the patient's situation (32).

"Treatment planning for patients with serious illnesses must also consider that communication with the patient and caregiver can be hampered by severe health conditions" (32). In ALS patients, poor articulation or even the inability to speak, and, in some cases, cognitive impairment and behavioral changes may significantly affect communication (35).

In addition, communication with the patient and caregiver can be compromised by unclear or divergent perceptions and prognostic awareness about the goals of treatment and the curability of the disease. Prognostic awareness contains multifactorial components, such as awareness of (i) the terminal nature of one's illness, (ii) the purpose of treatment, or (iii) a shortened life expectancy (36). Palliative care patients show a wide range of prognostic awareness, reaching from 0 to 75% (37).

There are multiple reasons why patients report limited or inaccurate prognostic awareness including the lack of information given by physicians, such as incomplete understanding of the information, intentional or unintentional denial to accept the prognosis, and the phenomenon of "double awareness": mixed states of awareness, hope for cure or hope for longer survival, despair or (partly) denial (36, 37).

Having this phenomenon of *double awareness* in mind, "the clinical psychologist is often faced with the difficult task of encouraging patients and caregivers to cope adaptively while promoting acceptance" (32). "Support for coping may focus on maintaining hope and quality of life, and reducing psychological stress. Acceptance may require that patients and caregivers face realistic treatment goals and treatment decisions, which themselves may negatively affect the psychosocial well-being of the patient and the family" caregivers. "The psychologist must be prepared to manage the emotional responses of the patient and the caregiver" and, finally, "clinical psychologists working in palliative care settings must be prepared to deal with" their own emotional reactions caused "by the closeness to death and dying," helplessness, and existential or spiritual questions about the meaning of life and death (32).

INTRODUCTION OF THE PSYCHOTHERAPEUTIC SHORT-TERM INTERVENTION BASED ON CALM IN ALS PATIENTS

A psychotherapeutic short-term intervention has to face the above-mentioned characteristics in treatment of patients with advanced disease. Although psychological interventions are effective in reducing depression and anxiety and improving quality of life, the majority of randomized-controlled trials in physically ill patients are conducted in early stage cancer populations. Thus, data on psychological interventions in palliative care populations including life-threatening diseases other than cancer is scarce. Previous psychological studies in ALS patients have been mostly descriptive (38–40) and a cognitive behavioral therapy study failed because of slow recruitment and low demand for joint patient-caregiver therapy sessions (41).

"Managing Cancer and Living Meaningfully (CALM)" is a manualized, semi-structured, individual psycho-oncological short-term treatment to relieve distress and promote psychological well-being, which has been established by Rodin and colleagues (42, 43). It aims to reduce depression and fears about death and dying, to strengthen communication with the medical treatment team, and to improve the patients' hope and meaning of life. It was developed based on empirical data, clinical observations, and leads back to different theoretical traditions, including relational theory (44), binding theory (45), and existential theory (46). Depending on the individual needs of the patient, CALM is
built up by 3–8 sessions (duration about 45–60 min) over a period of 6 months. The sessions address four dimensions:

- 1. Symptom management and communication with healthcare providers
- 2. Changes in self and relations with each others
- 3. Spirituality, sense of meaning, and purpose
- 4. Thinking of the future, hope, and mortality

All dimensions are explored with every patient, but the order and extent of each dimension are adapted to the individual needs of the patient.

For ALS patients, we consider it necessary to supplement the concept by two further dimensions based on the specific symptoms and challenges (**Figure 1**):

- 5. Communication skills
- 6. Emotional expression and control

Each participant's primary caregiver (e.g., partner, adult son, or daughter) is offered the opportunity to participate in one or more of the therapy sessions, as deemed appropriate by the therapist and with the patient's permission (43). During the course of treatment, different psychotherapeutic principles build the fundament of the therapy (47). One major aspect concerns the authenticity of the therapist and the development of a supportive relationship between therapist and patient. The capacity for mentalization/ self reflection of the patient is supported by entertaining the possibility of multiple and complex psychological responses by the therapist to the expression of the patient. This strategy allows



of the short-term psychotherapy managing cancer and living meaningfully. Dimensions (1–4) of the short-term psychotherapy managing cancer and living meaningfully with the addition of the dimensions "Communication skills" (5) and "Emotional expression and control" (6) based on the specific symptoms and challenges of ALS patients.

the patients to keep hope and accept the reality of their disease in parallel, so that they are able to plan future care and focus on new tasks. Crises due to disease progress and increased burden of symptoms may call for spontaneous changes of therapeutic aims. Therefore, content and timing of the psychotherapeutic sessions have to be adapted to the medical condition of the patient (48).

The therapist focuses on the emotional attachment of the patient. In detail, the changes in relationships to others as well as the resulting fears and sadness are explored. A dysbalance of relations is mostly seen in advanced stages of the disease, which results from high levels of dependence and the loss of autonomy (48).

During CALM therapy, the psychotherapist and the patient explore the meanings of the patient's life history, including achievements and failures, as well as the disease itself. Thereby, the whole life trajectory of the patient, his/her aims, experience of suffering, and death/dying play important roles in the therapy. In the therapeutic contact, the therapist can explore how the patient makes sense of his or her situation and may help to facilitate meaning making as an adaptive way to cope with a situation beyond one's control (48).

A pivotal element of the therapy is the willingness of the therapist to reflect his or her own philosophy and sense of meaning, and to face frightening topics such as mortality and suffering in order to encourage the patient to do the same. The therapeutic aim here is to allow the expression of sadness and fear regarding the progress of the disease and the confrontation with mortality, but to simultaneously support hope, courage, and engagement in the current moment (48). The therapist needs to be comfortable with the "non-expert" role and the "unsolvable" existential problems faced by patients with advanced disease.

For ALS patients, we identified the specific additional needs for training of communication skills, because many ALS patients develop a severe dysarthria and need to establish new forms of communication. We suggest a logopedic treatment included in the multimodal therapy of ALS patients to learn new communication strategies, e.g., with communication devices or eye-tracking systems.

In addition, we suggest a specific psychotherapeutic focus on emotional expression and control because of a significant number of ALS patients suffer from depression and/or pseudobulbar affect.

Feasibility and effectiveness of CALM to reduce emotional distress and promote psychological well-being and growth have been tested in qualitative studies and in a Phase 2 trial in patients with advanced cancer (42, 43, 48). In the qualitative studies, no patient-reported risks or concerns have been found (42). Rather, participants described five main benefits of the intervention, which are (i) "a safe place to process the experience of advanced cancer, (ii) permission to talk about death and dying, (iii) assistance in managing the illness and navigating the healthcare system, (iv) resolution of relational strain and (v) an opportunity" to be seen as a whole person "within the healthcare system" (42).

The qualitative results were also supported by quantitative findings: results of the phase 2 trial showed that depressive symptoms and death anxiety decreased significantly under CALM treatment and that spiritual well-being increased in the 3- and 6-month follow-up assessments (43).

Given empirical data on the effectiveness of CALM among cancer patients, this concept might also be useful in patients with other advanced diseases. This might be especially true for patients with ALS, who are, similar to advanced cancer patients, confronted with a mostly fast progressing disease, mortality, and finiteness of life.

Based on the above considerations, we posit that CALM might be an effective psychotherapeutic treatment in ALS patients with the addition of the dimensions "Communication skills" and "Emotional expression and control". To prove applicability and efficacy of this therapeutic concept "mi-BALM" (ManagIng Burden in ALS and Living Meaningfully) for ALS patients, we propose a trial on this semi-structured, individual psychotherapeutic short-term intervention in ALS patients. Demonstration of efficacy of mi-BALM in ALS would fulfill a strong need for improving the physical and psychological quality of life in this patient group and may be beneficially implemented in the interdisciplinary therapy of ALS patients. Having established this

REFERENCES

- Brown RH, Al-Chalabi A. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. N Engl J Med (2017) 377(2):162–72. doi:10.1056/NEJMra1603471
- Tortelli R, Copetti M, Arcuti S, Tursi M, Iurillo A, Barulli MR, et al. Pseudobulbar affect (PBA) in an incident ALS cohort: results from the Apulia registry (SLAP). *J Neurol* (2016) 263(2):316–21. doi:10.1007/s00415-015-7981-3
- Hardiman O, Al-Chalabi A, Chio A, Corr EM, Logroscino G, Robberecht W, et al. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Nat Rev Dis Primers* (2017) 3:17085. doi:10.1038/nrdp.2017.85
- Turner MR, Parton MJ, Shaw CE, Leigh PN, Al-Chalabi A. Prolonged survival in motor neuron disease: a descriptive study of the King's database 1990–2002. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry (2003) 74(7):995–7. doi:10.1136/ jnnp.74.7.995
- Radunovic A, Annane D, Rafiq MK, Brassington R, Mustfa N. Mechanical ventilation for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis/motor neuron disease. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* (2017) 10:CD004427. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD004427. pub4
- Logroscino G, Traynor BJ, Hardiman O, Chio A, Mitchell D, Swingler RJ, et al. Incidence of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis in Europe. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2010) 81(4):385–90. doi:10.1136/jnnp.2009.183525
- Phukan J, Elamin M, Bede P, Jordan N, Gallagher L, Byrne S, et al. The syndrome of cognitive impairment in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a population-based study. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2012) 83(1):102–8. doi:10.1136/jnnp-2011-300188
- Hughes RA, Sinha A, Higginson I, Down K, Leigh PN. Living with motor neurone disease: lives, experiences of services and suggestions for change. *Health Soc Care Community* (2005) 13(1):64–74. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2524. 2005.00530.x
- Tomik B, Guiloff RJ. Dysarthria in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a review. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler* (2010) 11(1–2):4–15. doi:10.3109/17482960802379004
- Hecht M, Hillemacher T, Grasel E, Tigges S, Winterholler M, Heuss D, et al. Subjective experience and coping in ALS. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Other Motor Neuron Disord* (2002) 3(4):225–31. doi:10.1080/146608202760839009
- Karam CY, Paganoni S, Joyce N, Carter GT, Bedlack R. Palliative care issues in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: an evidenced-based review. *Am J Hosp Palliat Care* (2016) 33(1):84–92. doi:10.1177/1049909114548719
- Ganzini L, Johnston WS, Hoffman WF. Correlates of suffering in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Neurology* (1999) 52(7):1434–40. doi:10.1212/WNL.52.7.1434
- Pizzimenti A, Aragona M, Onesti E, Inghilleri M. Depression, pain and quality of life in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a cross-sectional study. *Funct Neurol* (2013) 28(2):115–9. doi:10.11138/FNeur/2013.28.2.115
- Oliver DJ, Turner MR. Some difficult decisions in ALS/MND. Amyotroph Lateral Scler (2010) 11(4):339–43. doi:10.3109/17482968.2010.487532

therapy, web- or telephone-based forms of this treatment could be developed in order to ensure dissemination of this therapy in patients with advanced stages of diseases or patients from rural areas.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MO, AM, and JC participated in the design of the perspective concept. MO, PE, JC, and AM participated in writing process. MO, PE, and AM participated in the creation of figures and tables. All authors have reviewed the manuscript.

FUNDING

We acknowledge support from the German Research Foundation (DFG) and Universität Leipzig within the program of Open Access Publishing.

- Beukelman D, Fager S, Nordness A. Communication support for people with ALS. Neurol Res Int (2011) 2011:714693. doi:10.1155/2011/714693
- Farran CJ, Herth KA, Popovich JM. Hope and Hopelessness: Critical Clinical Constructs. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE (1995).
- Plahuta JM, McCulloch BJ, Kasarskis EJ, Ross MA, Walter RA, McDonald ER. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and hopelessness: psychosocial factors. Soc Sci Med (2002) 55(12):2131–40. doi:10.1016/S0277-9536(01)00356-2
- Rabkin JG, Wagner GJ, Del Bene M. Resilience and distress among amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients and caregivers. *Psychosom Med* (2000) 62(2):271–9. doi:10.1097/00006842-200003000-00020
- Lule D, Ehlich B, Lang D, Sorg S, Heimrath J, Kubler A, et al. Quality of life in fatal disease: the flawed judgement of the social environment. *J Neurol* (2013) 260(11):2836–43. doi:10.1007/s00415-013-7068-y
- Huey ED, Koppel J, Armstrong N, Grafman J, Floeter MK. A pilot study of the prevalence of psychiatric disorders in PLS and ALS. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler* (2010) 11(3):293–7. doi:10.3109/17482960903544576
- Atassi N, Cook A, Pineda CM, Yerramilli-Rao P, Pulley D, Cudkowicz M. Depression in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler* (2011) 12(2):109–12. doi:10.3109/17482968.2010.536839
- Lule D, Pauli S, Altintas E, Singer U, Merk T, Uttner I, et al. Emotional adjustment in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS). J Neurol (2012) 259(2): 334–41. doi:10.1007/s00415-011-6191-x
- Chen D, Guo X, Zheng Z, Wei Q, Song W, Cao B, et al. Depression and anxiety in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: correlations between the distress of patients and caregivers. *Muscle Nerve* (2015) 51(3):353–7. doi:10.1002/mus.24325
- Carvalho TL, de Almeida LM, Lorega CM, Barata MF, Ferreira ML, de Brito-Marques PR, et al. Depression and anxiety in individuals with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a systematic review. *Trends Psychiatry Psychother* (2016) 38(1):1–5. doi:10.1590/2237-6089-2015-0030
- Ganzini L, Johnston WS, McFarland BH, Tolle SW, Lee MA. Attitudes of patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and their care givers toward assisted suicide. N Engl J Med (1998) 339(14):967–73. doi:10.1056/ NEJM199810013391406
- Maessen M, Veldink JH, van den Berg LH, Schouten HJ, van der Wal G, Onwuteaka-Philipsen BD. Requests for euthanasia: origin of suffering in ALS, heart failure, and cancer patients. *J Neurol* (2010) 257(7):1192–8. doi:10.1007/ s00415-010-5474-y
- Gallagher JP. Pathologic laughter and crying in ALS: a search for their origin. Acta Neurol Scand (1989) 80(2):114–7. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0404.1989. tb03851.x
- Miller A, Pratt H, Schiffer RB. Pseudobulbar affect: the spectrum of clinical presentations, etiologies and treatments. *Expert Rev Neurother* (2011) 11(7):1077–88. doi:10.1586/ern.11.68
- 29. Ahmed A, Simmons Z. Pseudobulbar affect: prevalence and management. *Ther Clin Risk Manag* (2013) 9:483–9. doi:10.2147/TCRM.S53906

- Oechsle K, Goerth K, Bokemeyer C, Mehnert A. Symptom burden in palliative care patients: perspectives of patients, their family caregivers, and their attending physicians. *Support Care Cancer* (2013) 21(7):1955–62. doi:10.1007/ s00520-013-1747-1
- Faller H, Schuler M, Richard M, Heckl U, Weis J, Kuffner R. Effects of psycho-oncologic interventions on emotional distress and quality of life in adult patients with cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Clin Oncol* (2013) 31(6):782–93. doi:10.1200/JCO.2011.40.8922
- Mehnert A. Clinical psychology in palliative care. 5th ed. Oxford Textbook of Palliative Medicine. (2015). p. 221–7. doi:10.1093/med/ 9780199656097.003.0413
- 33. Watson M, Kissane D. *Handbook of Psychotherapy in Cancer Care*. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons (2011).
- Pagnini F, Rossi G, Lunetta C, Banfi P, Corbo M. Clinical psychology and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Front Psychol* (2010) 1:33. doi:10.3389/fpsyg. 2010.00033
- Rabkin J, Goetz R, Murphy JM, Factor-Litvak P, Mitsumoto H; ALS COSMOS Study Group. Cognitive impairment, behavioral impairment, depression, and wish to die in an ALS cohort. *Neurology* (2016) 87(13):1320–8. doi:10.1212/ WNL.000000000003035
- Applebaum AJ, Kolva EA, Kulikowski JR, Jacobs JD, DeRosa A, Lichtenthal WG, et al. Conceptualizing prognostic awareness in advanced cancer: a systematic review. J Health Psychol (2014) 19(9):1103–19. doi:10.1177/ 1359105313484782
- Fisher K, Seow H, Cohen J, Declercq A, Freeman S, Guthrie DM. Patient characteristics associated with prognostic awareness: a study of a Canadian palliative care population using the InterRAI palliative care instrument. *J Pain Symptom Manage* (2015) 49(4):716–25. doi:10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2014. 08.008
- van Groenestijn AC, Kruitwagen-van Reenen ET, Visser-Meily JM, van den Berg LH, Schroder CD. Associations between psychological factors and health-related quality of life and global quality of life in patients with ALS: a systematic review. *Health Qual Life Outcomes* (2016) 14(1):107. doi:10.1186/ s12955-016-0507-6
- Oh J, Kim JA. Supportive care needs of patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis/motor neuron disease and their caregivers: a scoping review. J Clin Nurs (2017) 26(23–24):4129–52. doi:10.1111/jocn.13945
- Paganoni S, McDonnell E, Schoenfeld D, Yu H, Deng J, Atassi H, et al. Functional decline is associated with hopelessness in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS). J Neurol Neurophysiol (2017) 8(2):423. doi:10.4172/2155-9562.1000423

- 41. van Groenestijn AC, Schroder CD, Visser-Meily JM, Reenen ET, Veldink JH, van den Berg LH. Cognitive behavioural therapy and quality of life in psychologically distressed patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and their caregivers: results of a prematurely stopped randomized controlled trial. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Frontotemporal Degener* (2015) 16(5–6):309–15. doi:10.3109/21678421.2015.1038276
- Nissim R, Freeman E, Lo C, Zimmermann C, Gagliese L, Rydall A, et al. Managing cancer and living meaningfully (CALM): a qualitative study of a brief individual psychotherapy for individuals with advanced cancer. *Palliat Med* (2012) 26(5):713–21. doi:10.1177/0269216311425096
- Lo C, Hales S, Jung J, Chiu A, Panday T, Rydall A, et al. Managing cancer and living meaningfully (CALM): phase 2 trial of a brief individual psychotherapy for patients with advanced cancer. *Palliat Med* (2014) 28(3):234–42. doi:10.1177/0269216313507757
- Mitchell SA. Relational Concepts in Psychoanalysis: An Integration. Cambridge: Harvard University Press (1988).
- Bowlby J. Attachment and loss: retrospect and prospect. Am J Orthopsychiatry (1982) 52(4):664–78. doi:10.1111/j.1939-0025.1982.tb01456.x
- 46. Yalom ID. Existential Psychotherapy. New York: Basic Books (1980).
- Hales S, Lo C, Rodin G. Managing Cancer and Living Meaningfully (CALM) Treatment Manual: An Individual Psychotherapy for Patients with Advanced Cancer. Toronto, ON: Princess Margaret Hospital, University Health Network, Department of Psychosocial Oncology and Palliative Care (2010).
- Scheffold K, Engelmann D, Schulz-Kindermann F, Rosenberger C, Krüger A, Rodin G, et al. "Managing cancer and living meaniningfully" qualitative Pilotergebnisse einer sinnbasierten Kurzzeittherapie für fortgeschritten erkrankte Krebspatienten (CALM). *Psychotherapeut* (2017) 62:243–8. doi:10.1007/s00278-017-0179-7

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Oberstadt, Esser, Classen and Mehnert. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Associative Increases in Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Survival Duration With Non-invasive Ventilation Initiation and Usage Protocols

Nishad Khamankar¹, Grant Coan², Barry Weaver¹ and Cassie S. Mitchell^{1*}

¹ Laboratory for Pathology Dynamics, Biomedical Engineering, Georgia Institute of Technology and Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, GA, United States, ² School of Medicine, University of Texas Health Science Center at San Antonio, San Antonio, TX, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

David John Oliver, University of Kent, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Christopher J. McDermott, Sheffield Medical School, United Kingdom Raghav Govindarajan, University of Missouri, United States

*Correspondence: Cassie S. Mitchell cassie.mitchell@bme.gatech.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neuromuscular Diseases, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 30 April 2018 Accepted: 26 June 2018 Published: 12 July 2018

Citation:

Khamankar N, Coan G, Weaver B and Mitchell CS (2018) Associative Increases in Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Survival Duration With Non-invasive Ventilation Initiation and Usage Protocols. Front. Neurol. 9:578. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00578 **Objective:** It is hypothesized earlier non-invasive (NIV) ventilation benefits Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS) patients. NIV typically consists of the removable bi-level positive airway pressure (Bi-PAP) for adjunctive respiratory support and/or the cough assist intervention for secretion clearance. Historical international standards and current USA insurance standards often delay NIV until percent predicted forced vital capacity (FVC %predict) is <50. We identify the optimal point for Bi-PAP initiation and the synergistic benefit of daily Bi-PAP and cough assist on associative increases in survival duration.

Methods: Study population consisted of a retrospective ALS cohort (Emory University, Atlanta, GA, USA). Primary analysis included 474 patients (403 Bi-PAP users, 71 nonusers). Survival duration (time elapsed from baseline onset until death) is compared on the basis of Bi-PAP initiation threshold (FVC %predict); daily Bi-PAP usage protocol (hours/day); daily cough assist usage (users or non-users); ALS onset type; ALSFRS-R score; and time elapsed from baseline onset until Bi-PAP initiation, using Kruskal-Wallis one-way analysis of variance and Kaplan Meier.

Results: Bi-PAP users' median survival (21.03 months, IQR = 23.97, N = 403) is significantly longer (p < 0.001) than non-users (13.84 months, IQR = 11.97, N = 71). Survival consistently increases (p < 0.01) with FVC %predict Bi-PAP initiation threshold: <50% (20.3 months); \geq 50% (23.60 months); \geq 80% (25.36 months). Bi-PAP usage >8 hours/day (23.20 months) or any daily Bi-PAP usage with cough assist (25.73 months) significantly (p < 0.001) extends survival compared to Bi-PAP alone (15.0 months). Cough assist without Bi-PAP has insignificant impact (14.17 months) over no intervention (13.68 months). Except for bulbar onset Bi-PAP users, higher ALSFRS-R total scores at Bi-PAP initiation significantly correlate with higher initiation FVC %predict and longer survival duration. Time elapsed since ALS onset is not a good predictor of when NIV should be initiated.

39

Conclusions: The "optimized" NIV protocol (Bi-PAP initiation while FVC % predict \geq 80, Bi-PAP usage >8 h/day, daily cough assist usage) has a 30. 8 month survival median, which is double that of a "standard" NIV protocol (initiation FVC % predict <50, usage >4 h/day, no cough assist). Earlier access to Bi-PAP and cough assist, prior to precipitous respiratory decline, is needed to maximize NIV synergy and associative survival benefit.

Keywords: non-invasive ventilation, palliative care, neuromuscular disease, respiratory intervention, survival duration

INTRODUCTION

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) is a progressive neurodegenerative disorder, characterized by loss of motor neurons (1-4) in the spinal cord and brain (5, 6). The median age of ALS onset is 50–60 years (7–10), and half of ALS patients die within 2–3 years of symptom onset (8, 9, 11). The two most common onset modes are limb onset, characterized by extremity weakness or paralysis, and bulbar onset, characterized by speech difficulty and facial weakness; only a small fraction of patients first present with impaired respiration (1, 11–13). Currently, there exists no cure for ALS (12); and the primary marketed ALS etiology-targeted treatment, Riluzole, only extends survival by 1–4 months (14, 15).

Regardless of onset type, patients eventually lose innervation to diaphragm and intercostal muscles, resulting in impaired respiration. In fact, respiratory complications secondary to progressive muscle atrophy are responsible for the majority of ALS patient deaths (11, 13). Assistive interventions, including non-invasive ventilation like bi-level positive airway pressure (Bi-PAP), are commonly prescribed to ALS patients (11, 13, 16–19). In contrast with invasive measures, non-invasive ventilation does not further inhibit swallowing in patients with mild to moderate dysphagia, where at least partial nutrition by mouth is deemed appropriate (20). Moreover, because Bi-PAP is removable, it interferes less with activities, enabling a higher quality of life without the increased risk of pneumonia, a common drawback of invasive ventilation (21). Nonetheless, the impact of Bi-PAP on ALS survival duration has not been examined in a large study population (16), nor is there broad consensus on Bi-PAP usage protocols.

The standard respiratory metrics of forced vital capacity (FVC) and namely percent predicted FVC (FVC %predict), which considers patient age, gender, and height, are the primary metrics used to assess respiratory function in ALS (1). In fact, a recent study found that over 92% of USA and international clinics still use FVC %predict as their primary metric to determine NIV initiation (22). The current USA standard of care dictates a FVC %predict of 50 (i.e., half of the expected FVC value) as the threshold below which Bi-PAP should be initiated in ALS patients (11); this is largely due to USA medical insurances, including Medicare, which require a FVC %predict <50 in order to cover [or pay] for NIV (22). In contrast, internationally, the NIV initiation threshold is highly variable. Many clinics in Europe and Asia begin NIV much earlier, as shown in a recent study examining differences in international standards of care

for ALS NIV (22), but over 20% of international clinics actually begin NIV later, well after functional symptoms commence (23). Irrespective, it has long been hypothesized that starting NIV earlier than the <50 FVC %predict threshold could be associated with additional benefits (24, 25), but there has been a lack of data to illustrate this effect in a large-scale study.

While previous work has shown that NIV intervention prolongs life in ALS patients, existent studies are extremely limited by sample size, including well-known studies [e.g., (11, 24, 26, 27)]. The present study has an included sample size four times greater than previous studies. Such a large cohort enables statistically relevant analysis of the ideal FVC %predict threshold for initiating Bi-PAP, the optimal daily Bi-PAP usage time (hours/day), and the evaluation of the adjunctive usage of cough assist for secretion clearance. In fact, cough assist in particular has been highly litigated, particularly in bulbar ALS populations (27–29) where it could carry a higher risk. The goal is to make recommendations regarding NIV (including Bi-PAP and cough assist) initiation and usage that maximize associative survival benefit.

METHODS

A retrospective analysis was performed of a previously collected de-identified data set (30–32) consisting of 1,585 patients seen at a tertiary ALS specialty clinic (Emory University, Atlanta, GA, USA). Metrics for the present study include: baseline visit date (date of first ALS clinic visit); date of patient-reported first ALS symptom onset; onset type (e.g., bulbar, limb, other); existence of co-morbid respiratory conditions; date of initial Bi-PAP prescription; daily Bi-PAP usage time reported at each visit; measured forced vital capacity (FVC) and percent predicted FVC (%predict) at each visit; date of cough assist prescription; cough assist usage at reported at each visit; recorded date of death. Transcription of the original data from the medical records included a quality control check to insure >99% accuracy (30). Internal Review Board approvals were obtained from Georgia Institute of Technology and Emory University.

Patient Inclusion Criteria

Strict data completeness and inclusion criteria were utilized to insure analytical veracity. Only deceased ALS patients with complete clinic and Bi-PAP treatment records for all visits were included. "Non-users" never used Bi-PAP at any point during their disease duration and "users" consistently used Bi-PAP on a daily basis for > 3 months prior to death. Of the 1585 ALS patient

TABLE 1 | Overall cohort characteristics.

	N = 1,585 Patients
Gender	N (%)
Male	945 (59.62)
Female	640 (40.38)
RACE	
Caucasian	923 (58.23)
African American	196 (12.37)
Hispanic/Latino	19 (1.20)
Asian	17 (1.07)
Native American	1 (0.06)
Mixed/Other	12 (0.76)
Unspecified	417 (26.31)
ALS ONSET TYPE	
Limb	1098 (69.27)
Bulbar	428 (27.00)
Other/unclassifiable	59 (3.72)
ALS ONSET AGE	
<55 years	509 (32.11)
55–65 years	474 (29.91)
>65 years	602 (37.98)

charts reviewed (see **Table 1**), 935 patients had a recorded date of death at the time of study data transcription. Of the 935 deceased patients, 461 were excluded because their Bi-PAP usage did not meet the "consistent" usage definition or because they lacked complete records for all clinic visits. The final cohort consisted of a total of 474 patients comprised of 403 Bi-PAP users and 71 non-users (see **Table 2A**). Retrospective enrollment began in 1999 and concluded in 2015. None of the included patients in this study were transitioned to invasive ventilation, Trilogy, or supplemental oxygen.

Bi-PAP Prescription Criteria

Upright FVC %predict was <50; patient-reported new breathlessness or dyspnea regularly impacting sleep or activity; an in-clinic sleep study revealed depressed respiratory function; a pronounced dip (\sim 20%) in FVC compared to previous clinic visit; the presence of depressed negative inspiratory force (NIF).

Co-morbid respiratory illness (defined below) was not an explicit criterion for Bi-PAP prescription. No distinction was made for this study based on Bi-PAP machine brand name or machine type (e.g., standard Bi-PAP vs. Bi-PAP with Average Volume Assured Pressure Support (AVAPS), the latter which maintains consistent tidal volume).

Threshold for Bi-PAP Initiation

Bi-PAP user group (N = 403) was sub-divided based on recorded FVC %predict at the initiation of Bi-PAP prescription. Groups were defined in 10% intervals to ensure adequate sample sizes (**Table 2B**).

TABLE 2A | Comparing Bi-PAP users and non-users as a function of onset type.

Usage class	N (%)	Median survival months, (IQR)	
Bi-PAP Users (all)	403 (85.02)	21.03 (23.97)	
Bi-PAP Non-Users (all)	71 (14.98)	13.84 (11.97)	
Bi-PAP Users (limb)	252 (53.16)	24.13 (24.47)	
Bi-PAP Non-Users (limb)	48 (10.13)	13.5 (11.47)	
Bi-PAP Users (bulbar)	139 (29.32)	17.97 (17.93)	
Bi-PAP Non-Users (bulbar)	21 (4.43)	14.17 (16.43)	

TABLE 2B | Comparing Bi-PAP initiation FVC %predict threshold.

Bi-PAP initiation FVC %predict	N (%)	Median survival months, (IQR)
<50%	201 (49.90)	20.30 (22.06)
≥50%	202 (50.10)	23.60 (24.40)
≥60%	141 (34.99)	24.10 (21.80)
≥70%	87 (21.59)	24.13 (22.83)
≥80%	44 (10.92)	25.36 (20.40)
≥90%	23 (5.71)	27.70 (27.43)

TABLE 2C | Comparing Bi-PAP daily usage protocols (hours/day).

Daily Bi-PAP usage protocol	N (%)	Median survival months, (IQR)	
<4 h/day	29 (7.20)	15.07 (22.97)	
4–8 h/day	57 (14.14)	21.17 (18.97)	
>8 h/day	123 (30.52)	23.20 (29.90)	

Bi-PAP Daily Usage Protocol

Bi-PAP users were divided into the following daily usage time classifications: did not use Bi-PAP; used Bi-PAP <4 h/day; used Bi-PAP \geq 4 but \leq 8 h/day, and used Bi-PAP >8 h/day. Analyzed patients had a consistent usage classification constant from Bi-PAP initiation until death (N = 210, **Table 2C**).

Cough Assist Usage

Cough assist is an intervention that helps with secretion clearance by placing positive pressure and then quickly switching to negative pressure to induce a natural cough. Patients were classified on the basis of whether they consistently used prescribed cough assist on a daily basis (**Table 2D**), which was defined as at least one cough assist session per day.

Survival Duration Calculation

Survival duration was calculated and compared using two different definitions: (1) time elapsed from the patient's first or "baseline" tertiary ALS clinic visit until death—a definition that has proven to be most reliable for clinical analysis (33, 34); and (2) time elapsed from the patient's first reported symptom or "true onset" until death, a definition preferred for its ease of intuitive understanding but confounded by patient recall

TABLE 2D | Comparison of Bi-PAP and cough assist usage.

Cough assist usage groups	N (%)	Median survival months, (IQR)	
Bi-Pap (+), Cough Assist (+)	183 (38.61)	25.73 (21.27)	
Bi-PAP (+), Cough Assist (-)	218 (45.99)	15.00 (20.77)	
Bi-Pap (–), Cough Assist (+)	17 (3.59)	14.17 (10.73)	
Bi-PAP (–), Cough Assist (–)	56 (11.81)	13.68 (13.09)	
Bi-PAP (±), Cough Assist (+)	200 (42.19)	24.38 (22.32)	
Bi-PAP (±), Cough Assist (–)	274 (57.81)	14.87 (18.53)	
Bi-PAP (+), Cough Assist (±)	403 (85.02)	21.03 (23.97)	

bias or lack of normalization (33, 34). Unless otherwise noted, survival durations (in months) are presented as a median with interquartile range (IQR). While calculations were performed and compared using both definitions of survival onset, the first or "baseline" definition is used for consistency within the text and presented tables and figures, except where otherwise noted.

Temporal Comparisons and Disease Quartiles

In order to better assess how time elapsed since disease start (using both the "true onset" and "baseline" definitions) until Bi-PAP initiation could be associated with survival benefit, the time(s) from from true onset and baseline until Bi-PAP initiation was calculated and compared between different Bi-PAP user groups. Disease quartile comparisons, where a quartile represents each 25% increment from true onset or baseline until death, were calculated. The first quartile represents the first 25%, the second quartile 26–50%, the third quartile 51–75%, and the fourth quartile 76–100% of time elapsed [since true onset or baseline] until death. Bi-PAP initiation within each quartile was compared to determine if time since onset or baseline is a predictor of associative survival benefit.

Antecedent or Co-morbid Respiratory Disease

Patients with confirmed antecedent or co-morbid respiratory conditions, such as COPD, lung cancer, and severe asthma were identified using previously published protocols (31, 32) and separately compared to ALS patients without such disease to identify any possible result-influencing confounds.

ALS Onset Type

ALS patients were classified as either "limb onset," "bulbar onset," or "other/unclassifiable" based on reported first symptoms according to standard published definitions (35). Patients with recorded mixed initial onset symptoms or those that did not clearly or definitively meet the limb or bulbar definition were classified as "other/unclassifiable."

Statistical Analysis

The distribution type was found to be non-normal using a Shapiro-Wilks test. Thus, median survival durations were compared via a Kruskal-Wallis one-way analysis of variance with a significance *p*-value threshold of 0.05. Additionally, a Kaplan Meier analysis was used to assess probability of survival over time. The present Kaplan Meier plots to visualize survival probability trends from baseline (0 months) to 60 months, a time period where survival differences and samples sizes are largest. Note that the sample sizes of surviving patients beyond 60 months is small.

RESULTS

Cohort Characteristics

Overall selection cohort (N = 1,585, **Table 1**) characteristics are similar to literature-cited ratios for gender, ethnicity, onset type, and onset age (5, 8, 19, 35). Based on inclusion criteria (see section Methods), 403 Bi-PAP users and 71 non-users were included for analysis. The onset type and onset age distributions of the included patients (N = 474) were similar to the overall cohort. Bi-PAP users are further classified by FVC %predict value at Bi-PAP initiation (N = 403) and consistent daily Bi-PAP usage time classification (hours/day) from Bi-PAP initiation until death (N = 210). Sub-analyses (N = 474) were also performed to explicitly examine Bi-PAP users and Bi-PAP non-users on the basis of whether they used cough assist.

Both the "true onset" and "baseline" onset definitions (see section Methods) were initially used to calculate survival duration and other temporal metrics of disease progression. There was no statistical difference in the two definitions when comparing measured differences between sub-populations. Because of the indistinguishable difference on calculated statistical results, the "baseline" definition is used in the presented results and figures given its prior determination as the preferred literature standard for comparing disease progression (33, 34, 36).

Bi-PAP Users vs. Non-users by Onset Type

Table 2A illustrates the breakdown of major classes of Bi-PAP users strictly on the basis of their using Bi-PAP consistently from the time Bi-PAP was initiated until death. The median survival duration for all Bi-PAP users (N = 403) was found to be 21.03 months (IQR = 23.97 months), while all non-users was 13.84 months (IQR = 11.97 months). The Bi-PAP users survived significantly longer than non-users ($p \ll 0.001$), resulting in an average associative survival benefit of 8.19 months, a 52% increase in survival duration. Limb onset Bi-PAP users have a median survival of 24.13 months and bulbar onset Bi-PAP users 17.97 months compared to 13.5 and 14.17 months for limb and bulbar onset non-users, respectively. Thus, the limb onset Bi-PAP users had a 79% associative increase in survival duration whereas bulbar onset Bi-PAP had a 26.8% associative increase in survival duration. 12 Bi-PAP users and 2 Bi-PAP non-users were unable to be classified by onset type (see section Methods).

Forced Vital Capacity Threshold for Bi-PAP Initiation

Table 2B compares survival duration among Bi-PAP users on the basis of percent predicted forced vital capacity (FVC %predict) at Bi-PAP initiation. Historically in the non-invasive ventilation

ALS literature (11, 22), and presently for the sake of Bi-PAP financial coverage by private and/or government medical insurance in the United States, an FVC %predict < 50 is employed as the standard threshold value to initiate Bi-PAP intervention in ALS. The FVC %predict is calculated using expected FVC values for a given patient age, gender, and height (1). A FVC %predict of 50 equates to respiratory function that is only half of the expected value in an equivalent non-diseased patient. An examination of the 50% threshold in ALS Bi-PAP users reveals a significant difference in survival duration between patients initiating Bi-PAP below the FVC %predict threshold of 50 (N = 201, median = 20.30 months) and those at or above the 50 % predict threshold (N = 202, median = 24.10 months) at the time of Bi-PAP initiation, with the latter group having a significant 18.7% associative increase in survival duration (p < 0.01).

Analyses using higher Bi-PAP initiation FVC %predict threshold values (60, 70, 80, and 90) were explored to determine if earlier Bi-PAP initiation is associated with longer survival duration (**Table 2B**). Increasing the FVC %predict threshold to ≥ 60 (N = 250, median = 24.10 months) resulted in a significant 18.7% increase in survival duration compared to the standard < 50 FVC %predict threshold (p < 0.001). The ≥ 70 FVC %predict group was nearly identical to the ≥ 60 group. However, the ≥ 80 %predict Bi-PAP initiation group (N = 44) has a significant 25% associative increase in survival duration (p < 0.01) over the standard < 50 FVC %predict threshold group. Those with FVC %predict ≥ 90 at Bi-PAP initiation (N = 23) lived an astounding 36.5% longer (p < 0.01) than users in the standard threshold (FVC %predict < 50) group.

Assessment of Daily Bi-PAP Usage Protocol

Table 2C compares the daily usage protocols of Bi-PAP users, which includes classes of users that remained on the same daily usage protocol from Bi-PAP initiation until death. 210 of the 403 total Bi-PAP users were included in daily usage protocol analysis due the stipulation that users remain in the same usage protocol classification (hours/day) from Bi-PAP initiation until death. A Kruskal-Wallis comparison of survival duration between patients who consistently used Bi-PAP < 4 h/day (N = 30), 4-8 h/day (N = 57), and > 8 h/day(N = 123) was performed. Statistically significant differences in survival duration between the daily usage groups were only found between the < 4 h/day and > 8 h/day (p < 0.05). Overall, these results suggest that while associative survival benefit is present across every Bi-PAP daily usage protocol, maximal associative survival benefit requires > 8 h/day of Bi-PAP usage.

Comparing Bi-PAP and Cough Assist

Table 2D compares the impact of cough assist usage among Bi-PAP users and non-users. Irrespective of Bi-PAP usage, all cough assist users [cough assist (+), Bi-PAP (±); median = 24.38 months] lived significantly longer (p < 0.0001) than all patients that did not use cough assist [cough assist (-), Bi-PAP (±); median = 14.87 months]. Among patients that consistently used

both Bi-PAP and cough assist [Bi-PAP (+), Cough Assist (+); median = 25.73 months], there is a significant 88% associative increase (p < 0.0001) over those that used neither intervention [Bi-PAP (-), Cough Assist (-); median = 13.68 months]. Interestingly, there is a significant difference (p << 0.001) between Bi-PAP users who also used cough assist [Bi-PAP (+), cough assist (+); median = 25.73 months] compared to Bi-PAP users who did not use cough assist [Bi-PAP (+), cough assist (-); median = 15.0 months]. However, there was no significant difference (p > 0.05) between Bi-PAP non-users who used cough assist [Bi-PAP (-), cough assist (+); median = 14.17 months] vs. those who used neither intervention [Bi-PAP (-), cough assist (-); median = 13.68 months].

Comparing ALSFRS-R Score and Time Elapsed Since Bi-PAP Initiation

Table 3 illustrates the median revised Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Functional Rating Scale (ALSFRS-R) score at Bi-PAP initiation and the time elapsed (in months) from baseline until Bi-PAP initiation. The ALSFRS-R (33) is series of 12 survey questions with a degree of impairment scale ranging from (4 = normal) to (0 = unable to perform task). The questions predominantly cover activities of daily living that take into account skeletal muscle function, respiratory function, and swallowing ability, where a "normal" total score in a person with no impairment equates to 48 (e.g., $12 \ge 4 = 48$). Bulbar onset Bi-PAP users have a median ALSFRS-R score of 31 at the time of Bi-PAP initiation compared to limb onset Bi-PAP users, which have a median ALSFRS-R score of 25. Bi-PAP bulbar onset patients started Bi-PAP much earlier than limb patients. Time from ALS baseline to Bi-PAP initiation in bulbar onset Bi-PAP users is 5.4 months compared to 10.77 months in limb onset Bi-PAP users. Bi-PAP users in the longer Bi-PAP daily usage (hours/day) categories tend to start Bi-PAP later from ALS onset, although there is no significant difference in daily usage group ALSFRS-R scores at Bi-PAP initiation. Not surprisingly, those patients with better FVC %predict thresholds tend to begin Bi-PAP sooner and have higher ALSFRS-R scores at Bi-PAP initiation compared to patients with lower FVC %predict thresholds at Bi-PAP initiation. There were significant differences (p < 0.001) in ALSFRS-R scores between all FVC %predict Bi-PAP initiation threshold subgroups. There was no significant difference in total ALSFRS-R score at Bi-PAP initiation based on whether Bi-PAP users did or did not use cough assist.

In addition to examining time elapsed from baseline until Bi-PAP initiation, we also examined how normalized disease duration quartiles may be associated with Bi-PAP sub-population survival duration. Interestingly, there was no associative difference in survival duration as a function of what disease quartile the patient was in when Bi-PAP was initiated. That is, there was no significant difference (p >> 0.05) in survival duration simply based on starting Bi-PAP in the first, second, third, or fourth quartile of the patient's overall disease duration. Thus, neither time since true onset nor baseline onset is a good predictor of when Bi-PAP should be started or a predictor of its overall associative survival benefit. The lack of a correlation with

TABLE 3 | Comparing ALSFRS-R score and time from onset until Bi-PAP intiation.

Bi-PAP user sub-group	Median ALSFRS-R Score, (IQR)	Median time months, (IQR)
Bulbar onset	31 (13)	5.40 (9.79)
Limb onset	25 (12)	10.77 (15.73)
<4 h/day	26 (12)	5.47 (7.89)
4–8 h/day	27 (14)	7.57 (10.25)
>8 h/day	27 (14)	8.68 (12.93)
FVC %predict < 50	22 (13)	9.90 (17.27)
FVC %predict \geq 50	29 (10)	7.23 (12.34)
FVC %predict \geq 60	31 (11)	7 (12.29)
FVC %predict \geq 70	32 (11)	5.57 (10.99)
FVC %predict \geq 80	34 (13)	5.57 (10.33)

temporal metrics is likely explained by the highly heterogeneous disease courses among patients.

Comparing Bi-PAP Protocol Parameter Combinations

The results discussed above individually evaluated the impact of Bi-PAP protocol parameters (e.g., Bi-PAP FVC %predict threshold, Bi-PAP daily usage threshold (hours/day), and concurrent use of cough assist). Additionally, key combinations of relevant parameters were also assessed based on significance identified upon evaluation of the individual parameters. For the combination assessment, the FVC %predict thresholds included > 80, > 60, and < 50; the daily usage (hours/day) included > 8 and > 0 h/day (e.g., < 4 OR 4-8 h/day); and whether cough assist was used [cough assist (+)] or not [cough assist (-)]. The results, including the sample size of patients using each combination (N), the medians ALSFRS-R score at Bi-PAP initiation, and the medians survival (months) is illustrated for each combination in Table 4. The concurrent consistent usage of cough assist has a significant impact irrespective of the other Bi-PAP parameters. In the absence of cough assist [cough assist (-)], the significant differences in median survival durations among the Bi-PAP protocol parameters of initiation FVC %predict and daily usage (hours/day) become even more pronounced. Moreover, there are significant (p < 0.001) differences between all > 60 FVC %predict combinations as well as all < 50FVC %predict combinations. Significant differences in Bi-PAP initiation ALSFRS-R score correlated with the FVC %predict at Bi-PAP initiation; additionally there were significant differences in ALSFRS-R score for all three of the sub-groups who began Bi-PAP at the \geq 80 FVC %predict threshold.

Based on prior literature (28, 37), we also examined the bulbar patients separately as cough assist was previously questioned as perhaps "not a good idea" in bulbar ALS patients, largely due to potential laryngeal issues. However, in this study cohort, bulbar patients did have an increase in survival duration with cough assist. Bulbar patients who only used cough assist [bulbar, Bi-PAP (-), cough assist (+)] had a median survival duration of 18.14 months, bulbar patients who used both Bi-PAP and cough assist [bulbar, Bi-PAP (+), cough assist (+)] had a median survival duration of 18.6 months, and bulbar patients that had no intervention had a median survival duration of 9.43 months [bulbar, Bi-PAP (-), cough assist (-)]. Thus, cough assist significantly associated with a positive increase in survival duration over no intervention at all. However, the synergistic gains of using Bi-PAP and cough assist in combination were not nearly as pronounced in the bulbar onset group as the limb onset group.

Figure 1 summarizes and compares the significant difference in median survival durations among the optimized Bi-PAP usage + cough assist protocol, standard Bi-PAP + cough assist protocol, standard Bi-PAP without cough assist protocol, and the no intervention protocols. Median survival durations range from 30.8 months (optimized Bi-PAP with cough assist) to just 13.7 months (no intervention).

Comparing Temporal Survival Probability Using Kaplan Meier

Examining median changes, such as median survival, gives a straightforward and meaningful metric to compare different protocols. However, the median, alone, does not always present the whole picture, especially in very heterogeneous populations where the variance, particularly in survival duration, is high. Kaplan Meier analysis is a statistical method that examines survival probability over time. Figure 2 examines survival probability curves generated from Kaplan Meier analysis for key pairings for the first 60-months (5-years) from baseline. With the exception of Figure 2F, each Bi-PAP cohort subgrouping includes both cough assist users and non-users [e.g., cough assist (\pm)]. All Bi-PAP users have a higher survival probability than Bi-PAP non-users throughout the 60-months from baseline (Figure 2A). The difference in survival among Bi-PAP users and non-users is more stark in limb onset patients (Figure 2C) than bulbar onset patients (Figure 2B). Bi-PAP initiation FVC %predict threshold (Figure 2D) shows a clear trend of associated prolonged increase in survival with higher FVC %predict thresholds, although differences in survival probability are most pronounced between 12 to 36 months from baseline. The difference in using Bi-PAP <4 h/day and >8 h/day are quite stark throughout (Figure 2E). Finally, the difference in survival probability among Bi-PAP users who also used cough assist was greatly improved throughout compared to Bi-PAP users who did not use cough assist (Figure 2F).

Figure 3 presents a Kaplan Meier survival analysis summary for each individual major sub-group protocol parameter. Again, survival probability is compared from 0 to 60 months from baseline. The two sub-groups that fared comparatively the best were the Bi-PAP users that also used cough assist and the Bi-PAP users who initiated Bi-PAP at an FVC %predict \geq 80.

Comparing Benefits of Bi-PAP and Riluzole

For the sake of comparison, we calculated the associative survival benefit of riluzole, the first prescribed ALS-specific treatment, for all included patients with a known date of death. Note that because of the retrospective enrollment end date of this study, the newer ALS drug, edaravone, had not yet been FDA approved for ALS for this United States study population. [Edaravone was not

TABLE 4 | Comparing Bi-PAP usage protocol parameter combinations.

Bi-PAP user sub-group	N	Median ALSFRS-R at Bi-PAP initiation Score, (IQR)	Median survival months, (IQR)
≥80 %predict, >8 h/day, cough assist (+)	6	37 (3)	30.8 (22.38)
\geq 80 %predict, >0 h/day, cough assist (+)	22	37 (12)	24.17 (19.50)
\geq 80 %predict, >0 h/day, cough assist (-)	30	31 (10)	21.12 (22.46)
≥60 %predict, >8 h/day, cough assist (+)	26	33 (11)	25.85 (32.78)
≥60 %predict, >8 h/day, cough assist (+)	72	33 (10)	25.55 (22.92)
\geq 60 %predict, >0 h/day, cough assist (-)	69	29 (10)	19.53 (23.50)
<50 %predict, >8 h/day, cough assist (+)	22	20 (8)	29.77 (17.20)
<50 %predict, >0 h/day, cough assist (+)	73	25 (10)	26.03 (15.20)
<50 %predict, >0 h/day, cough assist (–)	116	19 (13)	14.03 (18.34)

Start FVC, ≥80% Use >8 hrs/day		assist protocol AP + cough assis Standard Bi-PAF	
Use cough assist Live 30.8 months	Use >4 hrs/day Use cough assist Live 26.3 months	Start FVC, <50% Use >4 hrs/day No cough assist	*No intervention *patient choice or no insurance access No Bi-PAP usage
		Live 15.3 months	No cough assist <i>Live 13.7 months</i>

FDA approved in the USA until 2017.]. Thus, comparison data for this cohort was only available for riluzole.

Just under 60% of the 935 patients with a recorded date of death used riluzole at some point during their disease, resulting in a +1.5-month associative increase in survival duration. A +2.4-month associative increase in duration was seen for the 20% of patients who took riluzole throughout their disease course. These associative riluzole survival benefits are similar to previous studies [14, 15]. In contrast, the overall associative survival benefit was +7.4-months for all Bi-PAP users regardless of protocol parameters and +17.1-month for Bi-PAP users on the "optimized" Bi-PAP protocol (started Bi-PAP while FVC %predict \geq 80, Bi-PAP daily usage > 8h/day, used cough assist). Of course, the riluzole and Bi-PAP cohorts have overlap in that about half of the Bi-PAP patients took riluzole at some point during their disease. Nonetheless, the comparison highlights the additional value of Bi-PAP and cough assist.

Assessment of Possible Confounds

We separately analyzed patients with known antecedent/or comorbid respiratory illness. Interestingly, the respiratory illness group exhibited a slightly longer, albeit statistically insignificant (p >> 0.05), increase in survival duration, which is consistent with previous work (31, 32). Since no significant difference was detected, Bi-PAP usage analyses did not differentiate patients on the basis of antecedent and/or comorbid respiratory illness. Co-morbid or antecedent respiratory patients made up an insignificantly larger percent of Bi-PAP users (15%) compared to non-users (13%).

ALS patients with limb onset and/or a younger onset age tend to live longer, an assertion strongly supported in the literature (35). The impact of onset type in Bi-PAP usage has already been examined in **Table 2A**, **Figures 2**, **3** and in "Comparing Bi-PAP protocol parameter combinations"; these examinations illustrate that, regardless of NIV protocol, bulbar patients do have lesser survival duration although Bi-PAP and/or cough assist usage nonetheless is still associated with a significant increase in survival.

Overall, there was no significant difference in ALS onset age distribution between Bi-PAP users vs. non-users. However, the age distribution of the bulbar Bi-PAP users was significantly older (p < 0.01) with 19.42% having an onset age of <55 years, 39.57%



FIGURE 2 | Kaplan-Meier graphs comparing survival probability from 0 to 60 months from baseline for key sub-group pairings. (A) Bi-PAP users (U) and non-users (DNU). (B) Bulbar onset Bi-PAP users (U) and non-users (DNU). (C) Limb onset Bi-PAP users (U) and non-users (DNU). (D) BiPAP users classified by the FVC % predict at which they initiated Bi-PAP: <50, ≥50 , and ≥80 . (E) Bi-PAP users classified by their Bi-PAP daily usage time: <4 h/day and ≥8 h/day. (F) BiPAP users who also used cough assist (CA) or never used cough assist (NC).

with an onset of 55–65 years, and 40.29% having an onset age > 65 years. A previous study has hypothesized that NIV benefit is a function of patient age (38), with older patients benefitting more. However, in the present cohort, there was not a clear correlation of associative benefit solely as a function of patient age.

For additional confounding factors not assessed, please see the *Limitations* sub-section in the Discussion.

DISCUSSION

Our results demonstrate NIV usage, including Bi-PAP and/or cough assist, is associated with significant increases in survival duration. The present study has the advantage of a large sample size (403 Bi-PAP users, 71 non-users, total N = 474) compared to previous similar studies, such as that conducted by Kleopa et. al. (70 NIV users, 52 non-users, total N = 122) (11), the studies by Bourke et al. (26, 39), which had an enrollment of 15 and 92 subjects, respectively. All of the other NIV studies also had samples sizes of <100 [e.g.,(16, 28, 29, 40)]. The large sample size of the present study provides confidence in the associative survival benefit of NIV. Irrespective of initiation threshold or hours/day usage protocol, Bi-PAP users lived 7.35 months longer, and patients that used both Bi-PAP and cough assist lived 12.05 months longer. In fact, the associative survival benefit of NIV in the present cohort, was 3 to 7 times larger than that of the ALSspecific drug, riluzole. The degree of associative benefit varied as a function of Bi-PAP initiation threshold, hours/day of Bi-PAP



FIGURE 3 | Kaplan Meier survival analysis summary examining surival probability from 0 to 60 months from baseline for each major study sub-group: all Bi-PAP users (U), all Bi-PAP non-users (DNU), all limb onset Bi-PAP non-users (U limb), all bulbar onset Bi-PAP users (U bulbar), all limb onset Bi-PAP non-users (DNU limb), all bulbar onset Bi-PAP non-users (DNU bulbar), all Bi-PAP users who also used cough assist (CA), all Bi-PAP users who never used cough assist (NC), all Bi-PAP users with <4 h/day of usage, all Bi-PAP users with >8 h/day of usage, all Bi-PAP users who initiated Bi-PAP with a FVC %predict <50 (<50), all Bi-PAP users who initiated Bi-PAP with a FVC %predict \geq 50), all Bi-PAP users who initiated Bi-PAP with a FVC %predict \geq 50).

usage, and the daily usage of cough assist (Figure 1). Notably, we saw that even bulbar patients, where NIV has been more controversial, had significant increases in survival. Our results support another recent study (29), which also found that bulbar patients benefitted significantly from NIV despite the greater risks with bulbar dysfunction.

Analysis of the FVC %predict threshold reveals that associative survival benefit increases when patients begin Bi-PAP prior to precipitous respiratory decline. Historical literature and current USA medical insurance standards recommend Bi-PAP usage be prescribed to patients only once their FVC %predict falls below 50%, unless a precipitous decline is noted or dyspnea is observed (11, 41). However, other international ALS clinics have certainly promoted earlier non-invasive for several years based on their own clinical observations, which supported earlier non-invasive ventilation paradigms like Bi-PAP (42). The presented analyses showed significant (p < 0.01) increases in survival duration for those starting $\geq 60, \geq 70, \geq 80$, or \geq 90 FVC %predict when compared to those starting at \leq 50 FVC %predict. Based on the statistically definitive results of this analysis, we assert that the FVC %predict threshold value for Bi-PAP treatment initiation should be no less than 80%. Moving the Bi-PAP initiation threshold to \geq 80 FVC %predict results in an associative 25% longer survival duration than the historical standard of < 50 FVC %predict threshold. The sharp increase in survival duration in the \geq 90 FVC %predict group, a 36.5% longer survival than the standard 50 FVC %predict threshold, warrants further follow-up with a larger sample size.

There will always be discourse on the validity and accuracy of FVC %predict equations, irrespective of parameters used for the predicted calculation. For example, it has been found

that some "normal" or non-pathological patients may have a standard FVC %predict that is \pm 20% of the predicted [or expected] value with the standard FVC %predict equation (43). Nonetheless, the present study's analysis clearly shows that earlier intervention is associated with longer survival duration in ALS. Thus, even considering a possible \pm 20% range on FVC % predict, changing the threshold for Bi-PAP initiation to \geq 80% of the predicted value is reasonable. Interestingly, negative inspiratory force (NIF) [also known as maximal inspiratory pressure (MIP)] has previously been analyzed being possibly a better metric for determining NIV initiation as it picks up changes earlier, and enables earlier initiation of Bi-PAP in USA clinics where patients may not yet meet the < 50 FVC %predict threshold required for medical insurance to pay for Bi-PAP (44). As noted in the Methods, the adjunctive use of NIF was indeed one alternative way in which patients in the present study's cohort were able to acquire earlier access to Bi-PAP in terms of USA medical insurance coverage.

It is not clear as to why starting Bi-PAP earlier has such a dramatic effect. This study, alone, cannot distinguish between a causal effect vs. an associative effect of optimized NIV protocols with survival duration. One reason for what we refer to as an "associative increase in survival duration" could be a single FVC reading > 50% in the clinic is not indicative of the stress ALS puts on the system, especially during sleep. In fact, all the patients prescribed Bi-PAP with FVC %predict > 50 reported respiratory symptoms or had measurably impaired respiration by adjunctive metrics. Interestingly, only a handful of study patients had a sleep apnea diagnosis prior to their ALS diagnosis. Another possibility is that early Bi-PAP initiation could be prolonging respiratory innervation by insuring adequate oxygenation and taking some stress off of weakened respiratory muscles. Better respiration could also increase quality of life and will to live. Notably, survival was also strongly tied to ALSFRS-R score at Bi-PAP initiation with those with higher scores surviving longer. Additional studies are needed to better ascertain why optimized Bi-PAP protocols, which are typically considered as palliative only, are associated with such stark increases in survival duration. Interestingly, while we did see significant associative increases in survival duration, the use of NIV did not change the slope of respiratory disease decline (data not shown), which was also highlighted in a recent smaller NIV study (40).

While significant associative survival benefit was present across all Bi-PAP daily usage protocol treatment groups (< 4 h/day, 4–8 h/day, > 8 h/day), significant differences between usage protocols was only present between the < 4 h/day and > 8 h/day usage groups. These results compare favorably to the smaller Kleopa et al study (11). The present study supports a standard protocol of > 8 h/day of Bi-PAP usage, which typically translates to using Bi-PAP overnight or during times of sleep. Although it should be noted that the present study does not discriminate on daily or nightly usage but rather total usage in a 24-h period. Bi-PAP usage while sleeping assists in the additional respiratory challenges when laying horizontal and minimizes interference during wakeful activity.

The concurrent daily usage of cough assist (**Table 2D**, **Figures 1–3**) with Bi-PAP has a significant, associative increase in

survival duration, especially in limb onset users. The associative impact of isolated cough assist (without Bi-PAP) is not as profound in limb patients, although the impact of isolated cough assist was more profound in bulbar patients. In all patients, the combination of Bi-PAP and cough assist resulted in an associative increase in survival duration. Thus, there appears to be a highly synergistic effect in clearing secretions with daily cough assist usage combined with daily Bi-PAP usage to assist in respiration. The difference is seen not only in the median survival duration (**Table 2D**), but also in the temporal survival probability as illustrated in Kaplan Meier (**Figure 2, 3**).

Examining combinations of different Bi-PAP usage protocols reveals that initiation threshold of FVC %predict, daily usage (hours/day), and cough assist usage are all important parameters (Table 4). However, as FVC %predict drops, the impact of the other parameters become even more pronounced. While all parameters are important, the combination of median survival duration and temporal Kaplan Meier survival probability suggests that beyond simply consistently using Bi-PAP each day, the order of protocol parameter importance appears to be: cough assist usage, initiating Bi-PAP earlier when FVC %predict is higher (preferably >80), and using Bi-PAP for >8 h/day. The lack of a significant difference in survival duration and Bi-PAP initiation using temporal disease metrics (e.g., time elapsed since onset to determine Bi-PAP initiation) is interesting. In contrast, time since onset is a strong predictor of survival in populationlevel machine learning prediction and classification models of ALS survival (36).

Limitations and Future Work

Notably, the present study's examination of daily Bi-PAP usage time stipulated that each included patient utilize the same daily usage time protocol from Bi-PAP initiation until death, a criterion that ultimately sacrificed sample size to insure precise categorical comparison. In standard practice, many patients may fall into more than one usage category, as an individual's optimal Bi-PAP usage time is often determined through a trial-anderror process, or Bi-PAP duration is increased as ALS respiratory dysfunction progresses (45). Future work, such as informaticsbased analyses (46, 47), is necessary to determine what objective clinical criteria should be used to dynamically determine Bi-PAP usage time as a function of disease stage and patient profile.

FVC was not the only criteria used to prescribe Bi-PAP (see section Methods). However, for many USA medical insurance companies including government-based Medicare, FVC is the primary determining factor for coverage of Bi-PAP. In this USA population, several patients with FVC %predict >50 petitioned insurances via clinician-assisted prior authorizations based on reported symptoms; other respiratory metrics (like NIF) showing impaired function; or sleep studies illustrating respiratory impairment. However, it is possible that personal financial or insurance limitations prevented Bi-PAP access in some cases as not all insurances grant exceptions. A portion of uninsured or denied USA patients are able to personally pay for the Bi-PAP intervention. With the collected data, it was not possible to determine why patients declined to obtain and/or use Bi-PAP even if they met the Bi-PAP prescription criteria stated in the Methods. Other contributors to Bi-PAP patient compliance or refusal of the intervention could be related to depression, will to live, or perceived Bi-PAP side effects (e.g., mask claustrophobia or sleep interference), etc.

Other limitations to the study include the number and types of parameters assessed. In particular, additional assessments of respiratory function could be helpful to find the best metric or combination of metrics for determining NIV initiation. For example, a recent small retrospective study (N = 87)by Tilanus et al. found that NIF (also called MIP) and sniff inspiratory nasal pressure (SNIP) were better at identifying the need for earlier NIV (48). Another hotly debated topic is whether FVC %predict should be taken while upright or while laying (22), which should be investigated in greater detail; most USA clinics use the upright metric. Also, additional functional disease progression (e.g., ALSQ40, ALSQ10, bulbar scores, etc.) may be more sensitive than ALSFRS-R, although the ALSFRS-R is still the most widely utilized functional metric. The examination of how NIV impacts quality of life is also important; thus, other quality of life metrics (McGill quality of life scale, neurology quality of life measurement system, etc.) may provide additional insight. Collectively, all of the aforementioned metrics could shed additional light on potential causal or associative reasons why earlier NIV initiation has a significant associative correlation with increased survival duration.

Future work includes not only dynamic NIV assessment with disease progression, but also optimization of specific NIV machine settings, specific Bi-PAP or cough assist machine types, and combined assessment with newer interventional ALS medications like edaravone.

CONCLUSIONS

In summary, as shown in Figure 1, we propose that clinician prescriber and/or medical insurance carriers facilitate earlier NIV intervention. In particular, Bi-PAP should be initiated while ALS patients have a recorded FVC %predict \geq 80; Bi-PAP should be used at least 8 h/day; and cough assist should be used daily to assist with secretion clearance. The aforementioned "optimized" NIV protocol can extend life by a factor of up to 2 compared to the standard Bi-PAP protocol and a factor of 2.25 compared to no intervention. The overall conferred survival benefit of optimized NIV protocol is even more impressive than the ALS drug, riluzole. Finally, functional metrics of ALS disease progression (FVC %predict, ALSFRS-R score, etc.) are better predictors of when Bi-PAP should be initiated and of its overall survival benefit compared to temporal metrics of disease progression likely due to highly heterogeneous disease courses and durations in the ALS population.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

NK data acquisition, statistical analysis, interpretation, critical review of the manuscript. GC data acquisition, statistical

analysis, critical review of the manuscript. BW conception of study design, data acquisition. CM conception of study design, data acquisition, interpretation of results, drafting of the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Schiffman PL, Belsh JM. Pulmonary function at diagnosis of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Rate of deterioration. *Chest* (1993) 103:508–13. doi: 10.1378/chest.103.2.508
- Rowland LP, Shneider NA. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. N Engl J Med. (2001) 344:1688–700. doi: 10.1056/NEJM200105313442207
- Robberecht W, Philips T. The changing scene of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Nat Rev Neurosci. (2013) 14:248–64. doi: 10.1038/nrn3430
- Ingre C, Roos PM, Piehl F, Kamel F, Fang F. Risk factors for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Clin Epidemiol.* (2015) 7:181–93. doi: 10.2147/CLEP.S37505
- Caroscio J, Mulvihill M, Sterling R, Abrams B. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Its natural history. *Neurol Clin.* (1987) 5:1–8. doi: 10.1016/S0733-8619(18)30931-9
- Mancuso R, Navarro X. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: current perspectives from basic research to the clinic. *Prog Neurobiol.* (2015) 133:1–26. doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2015.07.004
- Cleveland DW, Rothstein JD. From charcot to lou gehrig: deciphering selective motor neuron death in als. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2001) 2, 806–19. doi: 10.1038/35097565
- Kiernan MC, Vucic S, Cheah BC, Turner MR, Eisen A, Hardiman O, et al. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Lancet* (2011) 377:942–55. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61156-7
- Georgoulopoulou E, Fini N, Vinceti M, Monelli M, Vacondio P, Bianconi G, et al. The impact of clinical factors, riluzole and therapeutic interventions on ALS survival: a population based study in Modena, Italy. *Amyotroph Lateral Sclerosis Frontotemp Degener*. (2013) 14:338–45. doi: 10.3109/21678421.2013.763281
- Donati S, Demory D, Arnal, J.-M. (2014). Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis In: Leone M, Martin C, Vincent, J-L, editors. Uncommon Diseases in the ICU. Cham: Springer International Publishing. p. 115–123.
- Kleopa KA, Sherman M, Neal B, Romano GJ, Heiman-Patterson T. Bipap improves survival and rate of pulmonary function decline in patients with ALS. J Neurol Sci. (1999) 164:82–8. doi: 10.1016/S0022-510X(99)00045-3
- Kaplan LM, Hollander D. Respiratory dysfunction in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Clin Chest Med.* (1994) 15:675–81.
- Sherman MS, Paz HL. Review of respiratory care of the patient with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Respiration* (1994) 61:61–7. doi: 10.1159/000196308
- Miller RG, Mitchell JD, Lyon M, Moore DH. Riluzole for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS)/motor neuron disease (MND). *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2007) Cd001447. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD001447.pub2
- Ludolph AC, Jesse S. Evidence-based drug treatment in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and upcoming clinical trials. *Ther Adv Neurol. Disord.* (2009) 2:319– 26. doi: 10.1177/1756285609336399
- Pinto AC, Evangelista T, Carvalho M, Alves MA, Sales Luis ML. Respiratory assistance with a non-invasive ventilator (Bipap) in MND/ALS patients: survival rates in a controlled trial. *J Neurol Sci.* (1995) 129(Suppl.):19–26. doi: 10.1016/0022-510X(95)00052-4
- Aboussouan LS, Khan SU, Meeker DP, Stelmach K, Mitsumoto H. Effect of noninvasive positive-pressure ventilation on survival in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Ann Intern Med.* (1997) 127:450–3. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-127-6-199709150-00006
- Cedarbaum JM, Stambler N. Disease status and use of ventilatory support by ALS patients. BDNF Study Group. Amyotroph Lateral Scler Other Motor Neuron Disord. (2001) 2:19–22. doi: 10.1080/146608201300079373
- Wijesekera LC, Leigh PN. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Orphanet J Rare Dis. (1997) 4:3. doi: 10.1186/1750-1172-4-3
- Hillberg RE, Johnson DC. Noninvasive Ventilation. N Engl J Med. (1997) 337:1746–52. doi: 10.1056/NEJM199712113372407

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Funding provided by the National Institute of Health Grants NS069616, NS098228, NS081426 to CM.

- Sorenson EJ, Crum B, Clarke Stevens J. Incidence of aspiration pneumonia in ALS in Olmsted County, MN. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler*. (2007) 8:87–9. doi: 10.1080/17482960601147461
- Heiman-Patterson TD, Cudkowicz ME, De Carvalho M, Genge A, Hardiman O, Jackson CE, et al. Understanding the use of NIV in ALS: results of an international ALS specialist survey. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Frontotemporal Degener*. (2018) 19:331–41. doi: 10.1080/21678421.2018.1457058
- Georges M, Golmard JL, Llontop C, Shoukri A, Salachas F, Similowski T, et al. Initiation of non-invasive ventilation in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and clinical practice guidelines: single-centre, retrospective, descriptive study in a national reference centre. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Frontotemporal Degener*. (2017) 18:46–52. doi: 10.1080/21678421.2016.1236817
- Lechtzin N, Scott Y, Busse AM, Clawson LL, Kimball R, Wiener CM. Early use of non-invasive ventilation prolongs survival in subjects with ALS. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler*. (2007) 8:185–8. doi: 10.1080/17482960701262392
- Mcclellan F, Washington M, Ruff R, Selkirk SM. Early and innovative symptomatic care to improve quality of life of ALS patients at Cleveland VA ALS Center. J Rehabil Res Dev. (2013) 50:vii–xvi. doi: 10.1682/JRRD.2013.05.0107
- Bourke SC, Tomlinson M, Williams TL, Bullock RE, Shaw PJ, Gibson GJ. Effects of non-invasive ventilation on survival and quality of life in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet Neurol.* (2006) 5:140–7. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(05)70326-4
- 27. Andersen PM, Borasio GD, Dengler R, Hardiman O, Kollewe K, Leigh PN, et al. Good practice in the management of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: clinical guidelines. An evidence-based review with good practice points. EALSC Working Group. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler.* (2007) 8:195–213. doi: 10.1080/17482960701262376
- Rafiq MK, Bradburn M, Proctor AR, Billings CG, Bianchi S, Mcdermott CJ, et al. A preliminary randomized trial of the mechanical insufflatorexsufflator versus breath-stacking technique in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Frontotemporal Degener*. (2015) 16:448–55. doi: 10.3109/21678421.2015.1051992
- Sancho J, Martinez D, Bures E, Diaz JL, Ponz A, Servera E. Bulbar impairment score and survival of stable amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients after noninvasive ventilation initiation. *ERJ Open Res.* (2018) 4:00159-2017. doi: 10.1183/23120541.00159-2017
- Mitchell CS, Cates A, Kim RB, Hollinger SK. Undergraduate Biocuration: developing tomorrow's researchers while mining today's data. J Undergrad Neurosci Educ. (2015) 14:A56–65.
- Mitchell CS, Hollinger SK, Goswami SD, Polak MA, Lee RH, Glass JD. Antecedent disease is less prevalent in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Neurodegener Dis.* (2015) 15:109–113. doi: 10.1159/000369812
- Hollinger SK, Okosun IS, Mitchell CS. Antecedent disease and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: what is protecting whom? *Front Neurol.* (2016) 7:47. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2016.00047
- Cedarbaum JM, Stambler N, Malta E, Fuller C, Hilt D, Thurmond B, et al. The ALSFRS-R: a revised ALS functional rating scale that incorporates assessments of respiratory function. BDNF ALS Study Group (Phase III). J Neurol Sci. (1999) 169:13–21. doi: 10.1016/S0022-510X(99)00210-5
- Fournier C, Glass JD. Modeling the course of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Nat Biotechnol. (2015) 33:45–47. doi: 10.1038/nbt.3118
- Coan G, Mitchell CS. An assessment of possible neuropathology and clinical relationships in 46 sporadic amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patient autopsies. *Neurodegener Dis.* (2015) 15:301–12. doi: 10.1159/0004 33581
- Pfohl SR, Kim RB, Coan GS, Mitchell CS. Unraveling the complexity of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis survival prediction. *Front Neuroinform.* (2018) 12:36. doi: 10.3389/fninf.2018. 00036

- Andersen TM, Sandnes A, Fondenes O, Nilsen RM, Tysnes OB, Heimdal JH, et al. Laryngeal responses to mechanically assisted cough in progressing amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Respir Care* (2018) 63:538–49. doi: 10.4187/respcare.05924
- Siirala W, Aantaa R, Olkkola KT, Saaresranta T, Vuori A. Is the effect of non-invasive ventilation on survival in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis agedependent? *BMC Palliat Care* (2013) 12:23. doi: 10.1186/1472-684X-12-23
- Bourke SC, Bullock RE, Williams TL, Shaw PJ, Gibson GJ. Noninvasive ventilation in ALS: indications and effect on quality of life. *Neurology* (2003) 61:171–7. doi: 10.1212/01.WNL.0000076182.13137.38
- Bertella E, Banfi P, Paneroni M, Grilli S, Bianchi L, Volpato E, et al. Early initiation of night-time NIV in an outpatient setting: a randomized noninferiority study in ALS patients. *Eur J Phys Rehabil Med.* (2017) 53:892–9. doi: 10.23736/S1973-9087.17.04511-7
- Hopkins LC, Tatarian GT, Pianta TF. Management of ALS: respiratory care. Neurology (1996) 47:S123–5. doi: 10.1212/WNL.47.4_Suppl_2.123S
- Andersen PM, Kuzma-Kozakiewicz M, Keller J, Aho-Oezhan HEA, Ciecwierska K, Szejko N, et al. Therapeutic decisions in ALS patients: crosscultural differences and clinical implications. *J Neurol.* (2018) 265:1600–6. doi: 10.1007/s00415-018-8861-4
- Quadrelli S, Roncoroni A, Montiel G. Assessment of respiratory function: influence of spirometry reference values and normality criteria selection. *Respir Med.* (1999) 93:523–35. doi: 10.1016/S0954-6111(99)90150-6
- 44. Mendoza M, Gelinas DF, Moore DH, Miller RG. A comparison of maximal inspiratory pressure and forced vital capacity as potential criteria for initiating non-invasive ventilation in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler.* (2007) 8:106–11. doi: 10.1080/17482960601030188

- Javaheri S, Goetting MG, Khayat R, Wylie PE, Goodwin JL, Parthasarathy S. The performance of two automatic servo-ventilation devices in the treatment of central sleep apnea. *Sleep* (2011) 34:1693–8. doi: 10.5665/sleep. 1438
- Mitchell CS, Lee RH. Dynamic meta-analysis as a therapeutic prediction tool for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. In: Mauer MH, editor. *Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis*, Rejeka: Intech (2012). p. 59–80. doi: 10.5772/32384
- Kim RB, Irvin CW, Tilva KR, Mitchell CS. (2015). State of the field: An informatics-based systematic review of the SOD1-G93A amyotrophic lateral sclerosis transgenic mouse model. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Frontotemporal Degener*. 17:1–14. doi: 10.3109/21678421.2015.1047455.
- Tilanus TBM, Groothuis JT, Tenbroek-Pastoor JMC, Feuth TB, Heijdra YF, Slenders JPL, et al. The predictive value of respiratory function tests for noninvasive ventilation in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Respir Res.* (2017) 18:144. doi: 10.1186/s12931-017-0624-8

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Khamankar, Coan, Weaver and Mitchell. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Communication Matters – Pitfalls and Promise of Hightech Communication Devices in Palliative Care of Severely Physically Disabled Patients With Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis

Katharina Linse^{1,2†}, Elisa Aust^{1†}, Markus Joos³ and Andreas Hermann^{1,2*}

¹ Department of Neurology, Technische Universität Dresden, Dresden, Germany, ² German Center for Neurodegenerative Diseases (DZNE) Dresden, Dresden, Germany, ³ Interactive Minds Dresden GmbH, Dresden, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

David John Oliver, University of Kent, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Gian Domenico Borasio, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire Vaudois (CHUV), Switzerland Valentina Pasian, Azienda Sanitaria Locale 'Città di Torino', Italy

*Correspondence:

Andreas Hermann andreas.hermann@ uniklinikum-dresden.de

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neuromuscular Diseases, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 29 March 2018 Accepted: 06 July 2018 Published: 27 July 2018

Citation:

Linse K, Aust E, Joos M and Hermann A (2018) Communication Matters — Pitfalls and Promise of Hightech Communication Devices in Palliative Care of Severely Physically Disabled Patients With Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis. Front. Neurol. 9:603. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00603

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) is the most common motor neuron disease, leading to progressive paralysis, dysarthria, dysphagia, and respiratory disabilities. Therapy is mostly focused on palliative interventions. During the course of the disease, verbal as well as nonverbal communicative abilities become more and more impaired. In this light, communication has been argued to be "the essence of human life" and crucial for patients' quality of life. High-tech augmentative and alternative communication (HT-AAC) technologies such as eyetracking based computer devices and brain-computer-interfaces provide the possibility to maintain caregiver-independent communication and environmental control even in the advanced disease state of ALS. Thus, they enable patients to preserve social participation and to independently communicate end-of-life-decisions. In accordance with these functions of HT-AAC, their use is reported to strengthen self-determination, increase patients' quality of life and reduce caregiver burden. Therefore, HT-AAC should be considered as standard of (palliative) care for people with ALS. On the other hand, the supply with individually tailored HT-AAC technologies is limited by external and patient-inherent variables. This review aims to provide an overview of the possibilities and limitations of HT-AAC technologies and discuss their role in the palliative care for patients with ALS.

Keywords: amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, augmentative and alternative communication technologies, eyetracking, brain-computer-interfaces, quality of life, end-of-life-decisions

INTRODUCTION

Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS) is the most common motor neuron disease. It is characterized by progressive degeneration of upper and lower motor neurons, leading to progressive paralysis, dysarthria, dysphagia and increasing respiratory disabilities. The average survival after diagnosis is 3–5 years and most common causes of death are respiratory failure or dysphagia. Therefore, life-prolonging measures and especially tracheostomy might significantly increase survival (1, 2). As there is still no curative therapy available the main focus is palliative care aiming to improve ALS-patients' individual quality of life (QoL) and support caregivers (3). Moreover, it is reported that multidisciplinary integrated palliative care not only improves QoL but even prolongs survival

(4, 5). On the one hand, physical symptoms such as pain, increasing swallowing and respiratory difficulties and restrictions in activities of daily living can at least be partially controlled by medication and support for everyday life, e.g., by the use of assistive devices. Potentially life-sustaining measures such as percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy (PEG), non-invasive ventilation (NIV) and tracheostomy with invasive ventilation (TIV) can also improve QoL by controlling feeding problems or dyspnea. However, their initiation needs careful discussion, individualized decisions and patients' explicit and fully informed consent (6–9).

Data is sparse for other countries than Japan, but TIV-rates among ALS-patients seem to increase up to 20% (10, 11). These numbers underpin the relevance of the complex and extremely difficult decision whether or not—and if yes, at which physical or psychological health status—life-prolonging measures should be terminated. The few studies on this subject describe that patients often decide to terminate TIV because of a subjective "loss of meaning in life" and poor QoL (12, 13). At best, this issue should be discussed and considered explicitly in patients' advance care planning after careful discussion (6).

On the other hand and in face of the fatal and progressive nature of the disease, palliative care for people with ALS needs to address not only control of somatic symptoms but also psychological, spiritual and existential aspects. Decision-making over medical care from the time of diagnosis until death is a cyclic process that should be guided by patients' autonomy and care has to be adapted to the changing needs of patients and their families. To meet these needs, intense communication between the affected persons and health professionals is essential (14–16). Communication is further described as crucial to sustain hope and reduce fear in palliative care (17).

Overall, dysarthria occurs in 80–95% of people with ALS at some point in their disease course, making them unable to meet their daily communication needs by means of natural speech (18, 19). We thus aim to provide an in-depth overview of the possibilities of HT-AAC technologies and their influence on, patient care, social life and QoL of severely disabled patients and caregivers, but also of their limitations. On this basis, we discuss the role HT-AAC use in palliative care for patients with ALS.

IMPORTANCE OF HIGH-TECH AUGMENTATIVE AND ALTERNATIVE COMMUNICATION (HT-AAC) TECHNOLOGIES IN ALS

In line with Janice Light's description of communication as "the essence of human life" (20), a qualitative study of McKelvey et al. (21) impressively described the frustration and sadness that patients and their partners experience as speech deteriorates: "That was probably the biggest hurt. She couldn't talk." Patients are often deprived of their ability to judge, experience a lack of control and a change of their social roles. The ability to communicate is strongly associated with patients QoL (22) and communication is seen as crucial for the adaption to terminal diseases such as ALS (23). Therefore, while verbal as well as nonverbal communication abilities deteriorate, augmentative and alternative communication (AAC) strategies and technologies become more and more important. AAC strategies in general are in place to support communication related to a large variety of issues, such as personal and medical care, social interaction and closeness, community involvement and employment, and to express personality and feelings (18, 21).

AAC might be no- or low-tech (gestures, facial expressions, handwriting, topic boards, alphabet boards, and eye-linking partner-supported systems) or high-tech with or without synthesized speech output (e.g., tablets, touchpads, head- or limb-movement-activated microswitch systems). High-tech augmentative and alternative communication (HT-AAC) technologies afford minimal or no head or limb movement and enable complex, caregiver-independent communication as motor abilities decrease (24, 25). Since the decision for TIV increases survival and therefore the length of HT-AAC-use (26) and considering the growing percentage of patients deciding for TIV, the need for HT-AAC will likely grow. The use of (HT-)AAC devices to support communication in different groups of severely disabled patients has been discussed since decades [e.g., (27)]. This review focuses on HT-AAC for severely disabled patients with ALS who depend on multimodal palliative care.

TECHNOLOGY OF HT-AAC EYETRACKING COMPUTER SYSTEMS

The most promising and best-studied HT-AAC devices are eyetracking computer systems (ETCS) which allow cursor control by eye movement. Eye movements are often the least fatiguing (28, 29) if not the only remaining volitional movements that allow communication in ALS (27).

Although the technology that drives eye operated speech generating systems has been modified over the course of the last 40 years, the underlying principles did not change much. All systems use infrared sensitive cameras, mostly based on complementary metal-oxide-semiconductor sensors nowadays and with an active infrared light source to illuminate the eyes. The systems primarily differ in the relative positioning of the infrared light source with respect to the camera lens axis. Systems with an infrared light source located very close to the camera lens axis make use of the bright pupil effect: the infrared light gets reflected on the eye's retina and produces a bright image of the pupil. Conversely, in systems with the infrared lights placed off axis the images received from the camera sensor generate dark pupils. In both systems the infrared light source produces additionally a bright reflection on the cornea (the glint), which is together with the pupil center used to calculate the pupil-glint vector (30, 31). This vector then serves to calculate the Point of Regard on a computer screen and thus can be used to type by

Abbreviations: (HT-)AAC, (high-tech) augmentative and alternative communication; ALS, Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis; BCI, brain-computerinterfaces; CA, classification accuracy; ETCS, eye-tracking computer systems; FTD, frontotemporal dementia; (T)LIS, (total) locked-in-state; NIV, non-invasive ventilation; PEG, percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy, QoL, quality of life; TIV, tracheostomy invasive ventilation.

means of a gaze sensitive on-screen keyboard or to drive other computer functions.

ADVANTAGES AND PROMISES OF HT-AAC IN PALLIATIVE CARE

Acceptance and Usability of HT-AAC to Restore Communication Ability

Several studies demonstrate the positive impact of ETCS-use for severely disabled people. First of all, acceptance and user satisfaction are reported to be high in ALS and traumatic brain injury (32, 33). Ball et al. (32) found in a study of 50 patients with ALS that 96% of those who were recommended AAC technology due to increasing communication disabilities accepted the device, either immediately or after some delay. The three main reasons for their decision for AAC were maintenance of communication, participation in community and employment. Patients who rejected AAC often suffered from frontotemporal dementia (FTD), which is in line with another study (18).

Patients use ETCS for a variety of activities such as face-toface-communication—even in groups—e-mail contact, internet access and other computer functions and programs as well as for environment control (24, 34, 35). Regarding the increasing importance of social media, their access by HT-AAC is an additional valuable mean of communication, link to the outside world and thereby supports patients' social networks (36). Thus, HT-AAC can enable social and intellectual stimulation, independent leisure activities and the patients to express even complex thoughts. As AAC allow even severely disabled patients to communicate with less familiar caregivers, they enrich patients' possibilities in choosing communication partners.

Evaluation studies of HT-AAC-use show that once a functioning ETCS could be established, patients use it for several hours each day and report a high user satisfaction, preservation of communicative abilities and subjective indispensability of the device (34, 37). Interestingly, the worse patients' clinical conditions, the higher seems to be their acceptance of HT-AAC (38).

Regain of Social Participation, Psychological Wellbeing and Quality of Life

In an interview study by McKelvey et al. (21) spouses reported that AAC technologies helped to maintain the emotional connection within families. What they additionally valued as a very precious function was that patients—with the help of their next of kin—could discuss philosophical ideas and author "last words" and thoughts to their families. The use of AAC devices even enables psychotherapy for severely disabled patients in order to reduce psychological distress and promote autonomy and self-esteem (39).

Several cross-sectional and two longitudinal studies found a positive association between higher psychosocial wellbeing or QoL and the use of ETCS (25, 34, 38, 40–42). The assumption of a positive effect on Qol is further supported by the findings that HT-AAC-use serves as an active coping mechanism, helps patients to express emotions and personality and to maintain

social roles, participation in family and community and even employment (21, 43). These results are confirmed by the first study evaluating the association between QoL and ETCS use in ALS-patients in the locked-in-state (LIS) in a fully caregiverindependent manner by using ETCS-based assessment (44). Patients reported on average a high QoL and the study suggests that ETCS preserve patient autonomy and therefore psychosocial wellbeing particularly by enabling social activities, which patients named as the most important area of life for their QoL. A generally high subjective QoL in ALS has been reported before for less severely affected patients as well as for LIS-patients (45–47). It is discussed that psychological wellbeing might even modify disease course in ALS (48, 49).

Consequently it can be assumed that by enabling patients to stay mentally autonomous and realize their needs in terms of social activities and participation, encouraging successful adaption to the disease and thereby increase psychological wellbeing, HT-AAC might even have disease-modifying effects. This remains to be clarified in longitudinal investigations.

Reduced Caregiver Burden

Caregivers of ALS-patients report low QoL and high burden (50-53), which is especially true for tracheotomized patients and those in LIS (8, 44). The use of ETCS though is associated with reduced caregiver burden, probably by improving patient autonomy and making patient-caregiver-communication more effective (40). An interview-study of 34 family caregivers of ALS-patients reports a very positive attitude toward HT-AAC devices, an increased perception of social closeness and fewer difficulties in providing care due to the AAC-use. These benefits are greater for those with higher AAC technology skill levels (35). Corallo et al. (42) could demonstrate in a longitudinal study of 15 LIS-patients and their caregivers that enabling patients to communicate via HT-AAC reduced caregivers' anxiety and increased their vitality as well as social activity and social role functioning; results that highlight the positive value of HT-AAC supply also for the caregiver themselves.

(Neuro)Psychological Assessment

Another important issue is the use of HT-AAC for neuropsychological assessment, since neuropsychological test procedures usually require at least some motor or verbal skills and therefore become invalid for severely disabled patients. It is known that cognitive deficits affect a great proportion of all-ALS-patients (54) and can compromise their ability to judge and decide over their medical care and life-prolonging measures (see chapter Cognitive and behavioral impairment and its consequences for HT-AAC-use). Promising attempts have been made to develop ETCS-based test procedures of cognitive functioning (55, 56).

IMPACT OF PATIENT AUTONOMY IN PALLIATIVE CARE

The reported findings make clear that enabling complex communication independent of a "translation" by caregivers/next-of-kin and thus patient autonomy is crucial for the preservation of psychological wellbeing of severely disabled patients. Furthermore, HT-AAC have high implications for end-of-life-issues: First, the possibility to communicate might directly change patients' attitude toward life-prolonging measures, as Fager and colleagues explicitly reported for one LIS-patient equipped with a computerized communication system controlled by minimal head movements: "He was so encouraged [by the regain of his communicative abilities] that, when he entered the hospital with pneumonia, he changed his medical code status from 'do not resuscitate' to 'full code" (57). In turn, we assume for two of the patients who were recruited for our study (44) but died before the assessment that an earlier supply with ETCS could have changed their decision against life-prolonging measures.

Second, caregiver-independent communication enabled through HT-AAC supply is crucial for assessing the patients' psychological condition and actual will and ensure selfdetermination of care. Advanced care planning and in general decisions over the medical care for severely disabled patients need a careful discussion of all relevant procedures, advantages and potential risks to ensure self-determination. This is specifically true for decisions to initiate or terminate life-prolonging measures such as PEG, NIV or TIV. It was mentioned above that the patients' self-rated QoL is often relatively high, moreover and importantly it is significantly underestimated by caregivers as well as the general population (52, 58, 59). This is in particular noteworthy for patients in LIS: the average QoL of the 11 LISpatients in our study, self-rated via ETCS, was 81% while next of kin estimated patients' QoL to be only 63% and thus similarly low as their own self-rated QoL of 54% (44). It is not clarified yet which factors contribute in which extend to this significant discrepancy. However, there has been reported a "response shift" in the evaluation of their QoL by patients toward a higher value of social activities and a lower value of financial aspects, mobility and leisure activities (47, 60, 61); a shift that patients' next of kin are apparently not aware of (44), maybe because it does not happen for them.

Furthermore, in the face of their shorter lifetime some patients gain a "deeper view" and a higher appreciation of life (62).

However, it must also be considered at this point that some patients may suffer a loss of awareness or insight in their situation or a reduced ability to judge it, as executive functioning (63–65) and social cognition including empathy are impaired in a proportion of non-demented patients (66–68); an issue that is further discussed in chapter Cognitive and behavioral impairment and its consequences for HT-AAC-use.

Irrespective of its causes, the contradictory assessment of patients' QoL by patients themselves and caregivers may have tremendous consequences on end-of-life-decisions and thus makes it essential to enable patients to communicate even complex utterances independently of their next-of kin or caregivers. Actually, LIS-ALS-patients themselves confirm that they are able to do so by means of their own ETCS but not without the device (37, 44). It is indispensable that patients' wishes concerning life-prolonging measures are not undermined. This is extremely difficult to assess and ensure, as communication structures in families and between health professionals and patients are hard to grasp anyway, all the more if one partner suffers from severe communication difficulties. We observed one case, in which the patients' wish for TIV probably was circumvented on hospital admission which caused her death (44).

Since the patients' will may change during disease course (12, 69, 70), communication must be enabled at every time point in the progression of the disease and thus even if no head or limbmovement or natural speech is possible. This is emphasized by the fact that a significant proportion or even clear majority of ALS-patients is tracheotomized unplanned, e.g., as an emergency measure, and in a relevant amount of cases without explicit informed consent of the patient (8, 71). As this can obviously be avoided by early, careful and detailed advanced care planning as recommended by Oliver et al. (15), the valid assessment of patients' will has to be striven for at each point of time. It was argued before that this approach will also disburden caregivers from vital decisions for their loved ones in the fear of making them against their actual will. Parallel to ensuring the patient's autonomy, the highly burdened caregivers need to be involved in medical decision making (6, 15) and to receive specialized practical and psychological support (72, 73).

LIMITATIONS AND PITFALLS OF HT-AAC-USE AND-SUPPLY

Nakayama et al. (74) suggested a definition of five stages of communicative abilities of TIV-ALS-patients that is of high value for the prediction of impaired communication: patients who can communicate without any high-tech devices are classified as stage I, patients with communication difficulties that can be overcome by use of HT-AAC technologies to a varying extent as stages II to IV and those who cannot communicate at all as stage V. Predictors identified for the progression from stage I to a higher one and therewith predictors of severely impaired communicative abilities are oculomotor dysfunctions, TIV and full quadriplegia.

This model indicates that despite the diverse possibilities and promising research results by far not all patients suffering from advanced ALS and other conditions that affect communication abilities are supplied with an HT-AAC device or respectively gain a successful restoration of their ability to communicate by means of HT-AAC. Beside the three important reasons for this lack identified by Nakayama et al. (74), there are several more which can be assigned to the three main components of the AACacceptance model by Lasker and Bedrosian (75): factors of the user, the environment and the device.

Factors of the User

Eye Pathologies and Eye Movement Dysfunctions

A number of ophthalmologic diseases and oculomotor dysfunctions can complicate ETCS-use. Although oculomotor function is typically spared from the effects of ALS, dysfunctions occur in a proportion of the patients and particularly ophthalmoparesis in those with prolonged survival (74, 76). Certain deficiencies like slowed down saccades or ptosis can be accommodated by some ETCS, but others like eye movement paralysis as well as further problems such as glaucoma, gaze tiredness or problems to keep the head still can make it difficult or even impossible to use ETCS (34).

While normal astigmatism can be usually very well compensated during the calibration process, more severe and irregular deformations of the cornea may pose a challenge for accurately determining the user's gaze, since this may affect the way the infrared is reflected from the eye. If only one eye is affected, some ETCS allow focusing only on the eye without cataract. Nystagmus, a condition characterized by repetitive, uncontrolled eve movements, is another factor that can make it impossible to use ETCS because nystagmus (a) can impede calibration as a user is not able to hold its gaze still for a prolonged time and (b) even if calibration is possible, users will have difficulties resting their gaze on a button for a long enough period of time. Another condition that can interfere with ETCS use is strabismus. While single eye strabismus can as well be compensated by focusing only on the non-affected eye and eventually applying an eye patch on the other one, alternating strabismus cannot be compensated for by ETCS as it is not possible to determine which eye is directed at any given point in time.

Another frequent obstacle in clinical practice are spurious reflections from glasses since they may, depending on the location of the reflections, interfere with the corneal reflection. Although contact lenses are usually no problem, for hard contact lenses the corneal reflection sometimes happens to lye partly on the circumference of the lense and thus only partly on the cornea.

Electrooculogram-based eye-computer interfaces might overcome a few of the limitations of ETCS since they are not influenced by lighting or the physical conditions of the eyes. However, this method also requires the users' abilities to control their eye-muscles and is moreover less precise than ETCS (77). Microswitch-activated systems that rely on any residual muscular activity can be another option (78).

Irrespective of which HT-AAC device is chosen, there is still the risk that patients progress to a total locked-in-state (TLIS) and thus to stage IV of communication abilities (74), since TLIS is defined as the complete loss of muscle control including the eye muscles and therefore any valid ability to communicate needs (79). This is obviously an extremely burdening situation for caregivers and health professionals. The overall prevalence of TLIS is difficult to determine, but Hayashi and Oppenheimer (80) reported a prevalence in ALS-patients on TIV of 11.4%.

Psychosocial Factors

Certain attitudes and needs are potential reasons for the refusal of HT-AAC by patients. In her qualitative study on the nonacceptance of HT-AAC Murphy (81) reported on this matter that some did not use their device because they desired using their own voice as long as possible. Communicating via a device was perceived as just "not the same." In line with another case study, patients preferred the higher social closeness and the direct interaction of face-to-face-communication (81, 82). Furthermore, patients reported a "shared understanding" in everyday communication with familiar partners that makes HT-AAC devices dispensable. However, referring to the stage model of Nakayama et al. (74), all of these patients were still in stage I, so still able to communicate via speech which often changes as the disease progresses (81). Low-tech and face-to-facecommunication—if (still) possible—might be more effective and comfortable for communicating quick needs and for interacting with familiar partners, while sharing detailed information and communication with less familiar partners requires HT-AAC (75, 83). In summary, advantages of different communication modes depend on individual abilities, aims of communication and familiarity of interlocutors.

An additional difficulty is the optimal timing of AACinterventions, thus the decision at which stage of communication ability or impairment HT-AAC devices are introduced and established. On the one hand, patients and caregivers often don't want to be confronted with predictable deficits before speech becomes intelligible and thus delay the decision about HT-AAC use (18, 84). On the other hand, timely referral not only ensures punctual delivery of the device but also better learning conditions for the patient (14, 18).

Age, education and computer experiences might also influence HT-AAC acceptance. Actually, samples of the reported investigations on ETCS-acceptance and impact on wellbeing (25, 40, 44) were relatively young and highly educated compared to average ALS-patients. However, Caligari et al. (25) found no influence of education and computer experience on ETCS acceptance or benefit. Considering age as a potential factor, Spataro et al. (34) reported regular users to have a younger age of disease onset compared to irregular and non-users.

Cognitive deficits are another important influence factor on the usability of ETCS. While the progression rate of cognitive deficits to a full blown dementia in late stage ALS is not known, up to 10% of ALS patients suffer from FTD at any specific time (54) and cases of the development of severe dementia under TIV are known. Apart from that, studies describe cognitive deficits to be relatively stable over the disease course and observed good cognitive functioning in patients with late-stage ALS (85, 86). Nevertheless, mild to moderate cognitive impairment is highly prevalent in ALS, which is described in depth in chapter Cognitive and behavioral impairment and its consequences for HT-AAC-use.

Factors of the Environment

Supply and Professional Support of HT-AAC-Use

The environmental conditions are probably the most vulnerable aspect of HT-AAC-provisioning for severely disabled people, regarding to begin with the supply of the devices and the continuous individual support to ensure their optimal usability. First, clinicians involved in the care need to be aware of HT-AAC devices and their possibilities and—concerning the mentioned issue of timing of supply—must support the patients' decision process on the use of such devices in an active but also sensitive and properly timed manner. This can be considered a difficult (84, 87) and important challenge, especially in view of the finding that lacking referrals by physicians are a frequent reason for delayed supply with HT-AAC devices (84).

Second, funding and availability of devices can be an issue as the health care system of many countries do not or only partially finance (HT-)AAC devices. The national health system in the United States started reimbursing AAC in 2001, but application is an exhausting and time consuming process (18). As Donegan et al. (88) report, the national health service of Italy started providing ETCS for ALS-patients several years ago because of increasing awareness brought by the research, but this is not consistent practice. For Germany, Funke et al. (89) found as a result of a cohort study on a case management program for ALSpatients that only 61% of AAC devices procured by the treating neurologists were finally delivered to the patients, which might be in fact an overestimation for the general population since the study was conducted in specialized ALS centers. The main cause of failed provision with a HT-AAC device was rejection by the health insurance, followed by rejection by the patient and patient's death. The mean latency of provision was 93 days, a long period of time for people not able to communicate without the device. The authors speculated that especially decisions over expensive assistive devices are guided by financial considerations at the expense of patients' wellbeing (89).

Moreover, provision of HT-AAC devices is not only costly but also difficult to install as they need to be adapted to each individual user. Service providers need to provide training of circa 5 h (24) and ongoing support, trouble-shooting and individual customizing over an extended time period (18, 33). Insufficient training is often reported to be a reason for helplessness and non-use of HT-AAC (33, 75, 81). Caregivers need detailed step-by-step-instructions and intense training too, because they serve as indispensable HT-AAC facilitators (90). AAC success is reported to depend on caregivers concerns, attitudes and awareness (81, 91) and caregivers with higher skills report higher reward (35).

To avoid unequal service provision and optimize the timing of AAC-interventions, regular assessments of patients' communication abilities by trained and independent AACexperts are recommended (84). At best, an assistive technology clinic as described by Casey (92) is created, combining expertise, time and material resources and the ability to test and individually customize devices. This might also offer a solution for the challenge of optimal timing of AAC-interventions, by allowing patients to get familiar with different technologies and to face upcoming communication problems step by step (14). It is recommended that the communicative abilities of patients suffering from diseases leading to foreseeable disabilities are regularly evaluated by trained health professionals such as speech language pathologists (93). Patients should be referred for AAC assessment when their speaking rate falls below 100 to 125 words per minute or when patient or listener perceive the communication effectiveness as decreasing (18, 94).

Influence of Family Caregivers or Next of Kin

An issue that has not been addressed systematically in the literature until now is that caregivers might experience negative aspects of patients' HT-AAC use. The ability to communicate detailed thoughts and wishes, also with third parties, might lead to increased feelings of burden–especially in combination with a decision pro NIV. This was possibly the case for one patient in a study by Linse et al. (44), in which the family returned

the ETCS without stating reasons and despite it was working well and the patient expressed the wish to use it. Evaluating the perceived usefulness of ETCS, next of kin also reported some critical issues, e.g., an increased burden since patients started to use the ETCS (37). Reasons for this higher burden need to be clarified. It is conceivable that it is related to patients' increasing duration and severity of ALS, to the social-communicative or technical requirements raised by the ETCS itself or to the fact that the patient is now able to communicate his wishes that she or he want to be satisfied by the next of kin.

However, family caregivers of severely disabled patients' are in general a highly burdened and overloaded population that has to be considered and supported in the palliative care (15) and in particular concerning patients' supply with HT-AAC. Beside and in connection with the discussed low quality of life and wellbeing of next of kin, it is known that severe diseases like ALS have far-reaching effects on a social system beyond the index patient; and it is therefore essential to study impacts on the caregivers and their perspectives separately from patients' perspectives (89). While HT-AAC technologies can help to prevent the patients' social networks, assuming the role of the caregiver often results in a loss of freedom and of time and energy for self-care as well as in a change of life plans. The size, quality and changes of their personal social network have to be investigated in future to minimize the negative consequences of the disease on family caregivers (95, 96) and in consequence to counteract unfavorable influences on patient's decision, e.g. for or against use of HT-AAC devices.

Factors of the Device

There are also several issues related to the HT-AAC device itself that can hinder its optimal use. Particularly for ETCS, accuracy of older devices can be insufficient and complex calibration and setup procedure can complicate the handling (24). The bad quality of the voice output is another issue occasionally regarded as problematic by patients as well as caregivers (21, 43, 81). Voice banking and voice conversion techniques lead to hope for more personalized speech synthesis in the future (97). However, we are not aware of a single study investigating the value of this voice banking technique. From own experience it can be reported that patients themselves experienced their recorded voice not as their own. In contrast, next of kin do so but have difficulties accepting that this technology device talks with the voice of the patient. Finally, independent of voice banking and concerning the authenticity of the voice, the speech output does not adapt to the content of the words in terms of emotion, thus e.g., joy and crying do not sound differently.

Another technical drawback of the currently used eyetracking technology, independent from individual factors of the patient (e.g., oculomotor dysfunction), is the sensitivity of the infrared light sensitive camera to ambient infrared light, because it immensely reduces the usefulness of the devices in outdoor settings. Only reliable and portable devices that can be adjusted e.g., to a variety of lightning conditions can ensure the use of HT-AAC in different settings (40, 43, 81). Another relevant difficulty in ETCS-use is the "Midas touch problem." It describes the frequent phenomena that the focus of attention is not in accordance with the users' direction of gaze, which results in nonintended commands like for example a wrong selection of letters (98).

Ideally, switching of access methods (e.g., from touch to joystick to eyegaze) with one device and one easy-to-learn "intuitive" software as well as the setup of different individually tailored features (e.g., internet and mobile phone access, environment control, leisure activities) should be possible with one HT-AAC device. These options would allow to adjust the device to the patients' changing needs and physical abilities and enable communication with different partners in different settings (18, 91). High quality products should be employed as technical problems and learning difficulties reduce the motivation to use HT-AAC even though it is generally wished and needed (38).

COGNITIVE AND BEHAVIORAL IMPAIRMENT AND ITS CONSEQUENCES FOR HT-AAC-USE

As suggested earlier, relevant behavioral and cognitive impairment under the threshold of (frontotemporal) dementia but also caused by frontotemporal dysfunction is a common and critical feature of ALS (99, 100). Guided by FTD-diagnosis though, there is a distinction between (non-dement) ALS with behavioral impairment (ALSbi), with cognitive impairment (ALSci) and with a combination of both (ALScbi) (99).

Cognitive impairment in general is reported to affect between 30 and 40% of the ALS-population (54, 64, 101), although estimations of prevalence vary considerably; an inconsistency that is probably partly explained by the considerable heterogeneity of first those deficits (63, 99) and second of the methods used for their assessment (65).

Nevertheless, impairment is consistently reported for the broad cognitive domains of executive functions, language and memory (54, 63, 64, 102, 103). Recent meta-analyses additionally confirmed deficits in social cognition as another prominent feature of ALS (54, 67). Furthermore, different behavioral changes can be observed in ALS-patients (104).

Concerning consequences for HT-AAC-use, Beukelman et al. (18) interestingly reported for patients with mild cognitive deficits that all who wanted and needed AAC for communication were able to use it. Anyway, in view of the cognitive, linguistic and social demands of communication, the cognitive and behavioral impairments due to ALS must be assumed to have important implications not only for communication ability in general (105) but also by (HT-AAC)-use in particular. This is most obviously for deficits in language comprehension and expression.

Language Impairment

Language function is a very broad domain, but Beeldman et al. (54) analyzed that studies reporting its impairment in ALS often operationalized it as the ability to name objects in Visual Naming Tests, which are used as an important diagnostic tool for aphasia (106, 107). Naming deficits probably based on a general impairment of basal word finding processes seem to

be a typical aspect of language dysfunction in ALS (108). The capability to communicate effectively and comprehensible by means of HT-AAC can be further critically aggravated by a lack of comprehension and thus errors concerning semantic, syntax or grammar of language. Such problems were found to affect almost 50% of all ALS-patients (109), already in early disease stages (110) and even when executive functioning is intact (110, 111). They with single word and in particular verb processing (109, 112) and also with continuous speech production in form of e.g., less produced words, shorter utterances, and incomplete sentences (110, 111).

A function especially often reported to be strongly impaired in ALS is (phonemic and semantic) verbal (letter and category) fluency (54, 109, 113). Deficits of fluency in comparison to healthy controls are even present when performance is controlled for patients' reduced motor speed (65, 114). Such deficits can indicate a limited access or principal limitation of the mental vocabulary (115) or a broad semantic deficit (108) and therefore a serious restriction of communication ability.

Although these language function impairments were determined in spoken or written/typed language, they should as well compromise language production by means of HT-AAC devices in terms of comprehensibility, effectiveness, completeness, subjective meaningfulness and value for the recipient. Patients' deficits of language or speech comprehension should hamper communication anyway, irrespective of the means they use for it.

Executive Dysfunctions

Impairments of language function in ALS are reported to be strongly associated with executive dysfunctions (64, 109), some experts even construed them as a pure consequence of the latter (114). Executive function is the most extensively researched cognitive domain in ALS (109) and a population-based study and a meta-analysis confirmed highly prevalent deficits for a variety of standard neuropsychological tests in non-dement ALSpatients (63, 64). A significant lower performance compared to healthy subjects was also found for a complex measure of executive functioning with high ecological validity, controlled for patients' reduced motor speed (65). Generally spoken, executive functions are a group of higher cognitive functions with a crucial role for controlling basal cognitive functions (116) like attention and memory. Hereby, they are necessary for sorted and goaldirected behavior (117) in situations when automated, intuitive or routine behavior is not possible or inadequate (118) and assumed to be of great importance for response initiation and motivation (108). They are therefore obviously important for social interaction and communication (via HT-AAC).

Specific executive functions that are repeatedly reported to be impaired are shifting (114, 119–121) and working memory (114, 122–124), while patients show deficits for explicit measures of inhibition control in some investigations (124) but not in others (121).The high prevalence of verbal fluency deficits is mentioned above, but important again at this point. This is because tasks of verbal fluency and shifting are considered as measures of the executive function of cognitive flexibility and therefore concern the essential interpersonal ability of perspective taking (117). Since working memory is a precondition of "making sense of written or spoken language whether it is a sentence, a paragraph or longer" [(152), p. 143], deficits of ALS-patients can be assumed to make communication difficult. This is especially true for communication slowed down by HT-AAC-use and for such dealing complex issues. The latter also applies to an impaired ability of (abstract) reasoning which is reported to be common in ALS-patients (65, 125) and a cause of severe language comprehension deficits (126). All these deficits can be suspected to interfere with the ability to judge, which Flaherty-Craig et al. (125) directly assessed through an established cognitive battery and found to be impaired in a clinical relevant extent in 35% of the non-bulbar and over 50% of bulbar-onset-ALS-patients.

Taken together, executive dysfunction common in ALSpatients can be presumed to limit or rule out a clear, stringent, reliable, valid, effective, empathic or purposeful communication that is satisfying for both the patient and interlocutor, even when the patient is cognitively able to operate the AAC device. This high impact is supported by the negative association between subjective executive dysfunction and wellbeing of ALS-patients' caregivers (127).

Social Cognition Deficits

Some of these aspects of successful communication should be importantly influenced by social cognition function as well. This domain includes the abilities to perceive, identify and understand, interpret or attribute social situations and other's cognitive and emotional states and to choose on that basis an appropriate reaction (67, 128, 129); abilities with an obvious importance for successful communication and social interaction and integration Deficits in this domain affect patients with ALSbi and ALSci (67, 99, 130), are associated with executive dysfunctions (67) but also occur in ALS-patients without those (130, 131). The results of a recent meta-analysis even suggests social cognition to be stronger compromised than executive functions (54).

Emotion recognition and Theory of Mind are most frequently studied in ALS-patients (67). Meta analyses report moderate deficits in facial emotion recognition for anger, sadness and disgust (132) and for disgust and surprise, respectively (67)-an inconsistency that can probably be explained amongst others reasons by the heterogeneity of the used measures and of the clinical and cognitive features of the mainly small study samples. A recent study confirmed deficits of correct emotion recognition in face as well as in voice even for ALS-patients with otherwise unimpaired cognitive abilities, but particularly for complex emotion expressions (133). Irrespective of the specific (negative) emotions though, a lacking ability of identifying and consequently attributing them correctly and responding to them adequately can be considered to be very dissatisfying for patient and interlocutor, causing frustration and interpersonal conflicts; all aspects possibly affecting HT-AAC use and validity of QoL measures of locked-in patients which has not yet been studied.

This is just as true for deficits in Theory of mind, a complex concept that includes the ability of perspective-taking (ToM-PT) according to understand other persons' behavior by representing their emotions and cognitions, e.g., thoughts and beliefs (134,

135). In accordance with findings for cognitive flexibility reported above, meta-analyses proved a lower performance of ALS-patients in different measures of ToM-PT compared to healthy controls (67, 132). This finding is confirmed by a recent study for early-stage ALS-patients (136) while again nothing is known yet in very advanced stages. Deficits are repeatedly reported to be more pronounced in ALS with bulbar onset (125, 132, 136, 137) and therefore in the subgroup of patients that is more frequently or earlier dependent of HT-AAC support for communication.

Considering that human behavior is crucially motivated and determined by emotional and social goals (128), the quantity, subjective quality and thereby value of communication can be assumed to suffer under discussed deficits. This is true for the ALS-patients themselves but especially for their next of kin, as the deficits potentially compromise the relationship, intimacy and their wellbeing and quality of life; like it is known to result from ALS-caused changes in behavior, cognition and communication in general (138).

This assumption is importantly supported by findings of changes in social behavior observed by primary caregivers: 70% showed an increased self-centeredness and a reduced interest for the feelings of others persons (139). A study by Fisher et al. (66) further suggests a lack of patients' insight into their social cognition and consequently social behavior impairment and therefore a lack of awareness of its effect on communication and interaction partners, which can be assumed to even increase the burden due to this impairment for the next of kin.

Additionally, the negative impacts of social cognition deficits can be presumed to be strengthened by general characteristics of the disease and of communication via HT-AAC: mimic and gestures are strictly limited, eye contact is not possible while speaking or to say writing, communication is slowed down immensely and the voice output does not transport any emotions.

Memory Impairment

Memory functions have been studied very frequently in ALS and deficits were found by a lot, although not by all studies (99). Focusing their importance for communication ability, immediate (54, 63) and delayed verbal memory are often severely impaired in ALS, also again when controlled for reduced motor speed (54). Recent findings suggest that such deficits are independent from executive dysfunctions (140). Immediate and delayed prose memory (saying recall of stories) as a special type of verbal memory was found to be affected in over 20% of high-functioning ALS-patients (141). In accordance with word-finding and naming-deficits, disturbances in sematic memory seem to affect more than the half of the ALS-population (142).

Behavioral Changes

Despite cognitive deficits-although not independent from them and often hard to distinguish (108)-frontal lobe dysfunction is associated with various significant behavioral changes and neuropsychiatric symptoms in ALS, frequently disinhibition, mood disturbances, and in particular apathy (104, 108, 133, 139, 143-147). Regarding the issue of patient's motivation to communicate, studies by Lillo et al. (124, 143) for example found

significant symptoms of apathy in ALS, particularly a crucially limited motivation in 80% and a significant apathy in about 40% of the 92 enrolled patients (143). These syndromes were reported by caregivers in the questionnaire CBI-R (148), which assesses motivation mainly according to social motivation, e.g., as the motivation to stay in contact with significant others, show affection to them and be interested in their issues and concerns. Therefore, this finding is in accordance and probably directly connected with deficits of social cognition and behavior illustrated before. For other measures, caregivers report a clinical relevant apathy for up 40-60% of the ALS-patients (139, 146, 147). The significance of apathy for communication and social interaction is in accordance with the finding that caregivers and next of kin report a reduced initiation of conversations by the ALS-patients compared to premorbid behavior (66, 146) to show a reduced initiation of conversations. It can be moreover assumed that a lack of motivation up to apathy might especially affect communication by means of HT-AAC, regarding the high effort that is required for training and use of such devices for communication purposes, e.g., choosing every letter of a message via eye movement. Not surprisingly, apathy is strongly associated with caregiver burden (133).

Depressive symptomatology is another factor that must be considered to compromise patients' motivation to communicate. A clinical relevant severity is reported for 30–60% of the ALS-patients (45, 51, 149, 150). Equivalent to dysexecutive syndrome, behavioral changes in ALS are negatively correlated with caregivers' psychological wellbeing (147).

Consequences of Cognitive and Behavioral Dysfunctions for HT-AAC

In summary it can be argued that frequent cognitive and behavioral deficits and impairments in ALS have a negative effect on communication in general and in particular by means of low and high tech AAC. Therefore, they form a mayor challenge for adapting those devices to the individual patient with the aim of maintaining and supporting subjective value of and motivation for communication in both patients and communication partners. Changes in cognitive function should thus be monitored continuously, on the one hand to support this continuous adaption process and on the other hand to prepare patients and next of kins for upcoming challenges and (further) limitations of communication possibilities (91).

In the case of LIS, this objective is particularly challenging and at the same time very important to be achieved. Challenging because it requires motor and speech free tests and thus emphasizes the significance of developing eyetracking-based neuropsychological tests. Important, first because a restriction of direct communication via HT-AAC due to cognitive or behavioral deficits cannot or hardly be compensated by indirect communication in form of, for example, gestures and mimic. Second, because tests suitable for LIS-patients are needed to understand the natural history of ALS; referring to the Braak staging system in particular (151–153), this means to understand whether the progressive pathological involvement of brain structures, including such responsible for cognitive functions especially in late ALS-stages, continues also in the stage of LIS until TLIS. Third, because of the relevance of cognitive impairment for the highly important conclusions from discrepancies between patient's and next of kin's opinion concerning QoL and life prolonging measures. Concerning possible adaptions of HT-AAC devices for communication purposes to cognitive limitations, language dysfunction is–at least for mild to moderate severity–most likely the easiest part to compensate by high-tech devices. (Individualized) word prediction and word and sentence templates can facilitate language production and comprehension. A possible adaption of HT-AAC devices e.g., for LIS-patients with aphasia is the use of a symbol-based interface, which allows patients to express at least basic needs and wants and to control technical devices like TV, radio or lights.

However, deterioration of cognition can make the use of HT-AAC impractical (18), in particular when patients progress into a FTD. It can be additionally assumed that frontal dysfunctions adversely interfere with the patient's motivation as well as the ability to judge the need for using HT-AAC devices for communication, based on a lack of insight e.g., in the non-comprehensibility of the own spoken language. This idea is indirectly supported by data suggesting an association between cognitive and behavioral impairment and low compliance with treatment in ALS (145).

Impaired cognitive and especially high cognitive functions like reasoning and social cognition that might crucially limit the ability to judge play moreover an especially critical or even devastating role when it comes to decisions over lifeprolonging measures (108), concerning reliability and validity of such decision in view of the discussed importance of HT-AAC for making them autonomously. This is particularly true when patients' and next of kin's opinions in this matter diverge, considering the consequences of such decisions also for the family and the patient's beloved ones.

The authors believe that it is therefore highly important to clearly diagnose cognitive and behavioral disturbances also in advanced disease stages including LIS. Having a clear diagnosis of dementia or cognitive or social impairment enables the responsible care takers or medical doctors to draw the right conclusions. On the side of the caretaker, this can mean to correctly interpret the patient's unsatisfying (e.g., diminished or non-empathic) communicative behavior, this is to say as a consequence of the disease, which can be relieving. Discussed findings of rejection of ETCS devices by family members and their higher burden after the patient's supply with the communication device (37, 44) support this idea. On side of the caretaker and the attending physicians, drawing the right conclusions might also mean to decide to limit lifeprolonging measures. Concerning such decisions with regard to the patient's will, cognitive diagnostic and an earliest possible psychoeducation for patients and next of kin/caregiver about the frequent cognitive and behavioral deficits of ALS is important: first, to emphasize the need to continuously clarify and record this will in written (e.g., in a patient decree), since cognitive impairment might inhibit a reliable or valid decision at some points; second to allow patients and their families to take in account possible severe cognitive decline in future as an explicit factor for such life-prolonging/ending decisions (e.g., the will to end life prolonging measures in case of FTD or when the patient is not able to communicate via HT-AAC anymore).

BRAIN-COMPUTER INTERFACES

Discussed limitations and shortfalls of ECTS systems as means for communication and environment control raise the question whether there are alternative technological HT-AAC approaches. Brain computer interfaces (BCI) could in theory be one answer, particularly for the mentioned subgroup of (long-surviving) ALS-patients in whom the usability of ETCS is compromised by oculomotor dysfunctions (76), gaze fatigue (154) or the loss of eye movement control in TLIS (155). BCI systems enable e.g., computer operation by voluntary modulation of one's own brain activity which is decoded into commands (e.g., selection of an item) without requiring any motor control (156-158). They are therefore considered a promising communication tool for advanced ALS or LIS-patients, respectively (159-162) and the only remaining option for TLIS-patients (163) or those with severe gaze dysfunction in general (82). It is another advantage over ETCS systems that BCI systems don't require still and strict frontal positioning to the screen (164).

While invasive BCI methods like intracortical electrodes have been primarily studied in animal research (165) and infrequently in tetraplegic patients (166), a number of noninvasive BCI systems has been evaluated in severely paralyzed patients including ALS-patients in (T)LIS (98, 160, 162). The majority of these systems have been developed for spelling or writing or texting (167) which is allowed by selection of letters, words or phrases presented on a screen (98).

In this context, reviews valuate non-invasive BCI based on EEG as a practicable, promising and the most widely used approach (98, 168). Also ALS-studies provide evidence for the principle feasibility of such systems for a relevant proportion of patients. Those BCI devices are based on shifting of particular brain responses measured as EEG-parameters: slow cortical potentials (169–171), sensimotor rhythms (SMR) (155, 172, 173) and the event related potential P3 (164, 173–181).

Communication is one of the BCI-functions that ALS-patients are mostly interested in (182) and with the focus of this review on the importance of communication in palliative care and thus on spelling BCI systems, P3 is the most frequently used and studied EEG parameter (98). The principle of most (P3-)BCIspelling protocols is the following (98): an e.g., 6×6 matrix of items, usually letters, is presented on a screen and the patient is instructed to concentrate on the target item. Different rows or columns flash rapidly in succession. The P3 can be measured about 300 ms after the item flashes and by averaging the P3amplitudes following each flash, the target item can be identified [e.g., (173, 175)].

Usual objective evaluation criteria for such BCI are the effectiveness, i.e., classification accuracy (CA) defined as the "percentage of correct target selection" (183) and the efficiency (spelling speed). People with ALS declare a CA-threshold of 90%

as satisfying (184). On this basis, all of the 20 ALS-patients in a recent study by Guy et al. (164) achieve a satisfying CA in the simpler task of copying a text ("copy spelling"), although it was lower that 90% for writing a text of their choice ("free spelling"). Anyway, patients reported an overall high user satisfaction (average 8.7 on a 10-point-scale). However and importantly, dysarthria was no inclusion criteria for the study, no subject was defined as (T)LIS and all showed unimpaired gaze control. This is in accordance with a mean CA of 92% reported by Pires et al. (179) for a classical spelling paradigm, whereby they included almost exclusively early-stage ALS-patients with even lower physical disability. A study of more severely motor impaired but also visually unimpaired ALS-patients (N = 14) only reported the maximum accuracy: it was circa 96% and did not differ significantly between patients and age-matched controls (175). In a previous study conducted by the same research group, 17 of the 25 enrolled patients achieved a high accuracy (average CA 92%), but an accuracy below 40% for the remaining 8 patients indicates no usability of the BCI for communication; importantly, the latter patients all suffered from some type of visual dysfunction (176).

Overall, however, most studies report for ALS-patients with varying disability-levels and without controlling for visual deficits accuracy-rates that fall significantly below the 90% threshold (155, 170, 172-174, 181, 185). This is in line with the average CA of 73.7 %, reported in a meta-analysis by Marchett and Priftis (183). Although higher spelling accuracy for able-bodied/healthy controls than for patients is reported (186), no evidence for a worse performance in ALS-patients with higher compared to those with lower physical disability is provided by very few studies with a sufficient sample size for analyzing this influence (172, 175, 176). For (T)LIS-patients in particular though, there are only few and only case studies; two of them actually found high and stable effectivity of and satisfaction with a P3-BCIsystem for spelling (180) and painting (187), while one reports several unsuccessful trials of implementing a BCI in one patient transferring from LIS to TLIS (163).

An efficacy-related problem that would crucially compromise the BCI-usability in the context of palliative care for patients with such a quickly progressing disease like ALS are the very long training sessions required for reaching outlined accuracies (179). Another practical issue would be the long time that is needed to set up an EEG-BCI (164).

With respect to efficacy in potential future everyday use of BCI arises another main problem: the consistently reported low efficiency of spelling, i.e., in real-life use the slow potential communication speed. While ALS-patients indicate a spelling rate of 15–19 words per minute as satisfying (184)–with a word is standardized to consist of five letters on average (188)–rates in recent P3-BCI-studies range between 2.1 words and 5.0 words (164, 175); and are even much lower (one letter, i.e., about 0.2 words per minute) for EEG-systems using SCR (171) and SMR-modulation (189). This problem is qualified by the patients mostly high satisfaction with BCI though (164, 171)–a finding which supports that speed is less relevant for (T)LIS-patients than the possibility to communicate at all and in a reliable manner (180, 184).

With regard to obligatory decision in palliative care and particularly those regarding life-ending-choices, even a BCI for yes/no-questions could be crucial for these patients without any other possibility to express their needs and decisionsbut a very high validity and reliability would be even more essential for this purpose Chaudhary et al. (162) were the first to evaluate a BCI for yes/no-answers in 4 TLIS- or patients transferring from LIS to TLIS, which relies on measuring change in frontocentral hemoglobin. The correct-response rate about 70% is still very unsatisfying although it could be valued as a promising base for further developments. In conclusion of this chapter it is important to note that a lot of the described pitfalls (see chapter Limitations and pitfalls of HT-AAC-use and -supply) and especially those due to cognitive impairment (see chapter Cognitive and behavioral impairment and its consequences for HT-AAC-use) account for BCI use as well.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS

From the reviewed literature it can be concluded that there is tremendous need for further research on the impact of HT-AAC, technical progress of the devices and for an increased awareness of upcoming opportunities and the importance of communication on wellbeing by professionals caring for severely disabled patients and by policy-makers.

Future Technological Developments

A main obstacle for mobile use of ETCS is that they are bound to be used in conjunction with a computer screen. Eyetracking devices are typically mounted at the bottom of the computer screen, on which the user interface, e.g., an on screen keyboard, is displayed. In the near future with advances in augmented and virtual reality, head mounted systems with built in eyetracking capabilities may be applied. In addition to the advantage of being more portable, a see-through display would have the benefit of allowing the user to look at its communication partner and vice versa during conversation. In nowadays systems the computer screen is blocking the line of sight between the two partners, leading to subjectively reduced closeness as described above [e.g., (190)]. In order to reduce the sensitivity of ETCS to adverse lightning conditions, non-infrared based camera approaches may be used in the future, although they have not yet provided the level of accuracy that is needed for good gaze control.

We conclude from the discussed reports that existing (P3-)BCI systems for spelling/communication purposes do not allow and are not suggested for use in standard palliative care of ALS-patients at this point of time, especially in light of patient's quite high expectations on BCI-use (182). Concerning on the one hand patients that are (still) able to use ETCS, this conclusion supports the statement of Marchetti and Priftis (183) that (P3-based) BCIs for spelling still have many disadvantages and no clear advantage that would feature them as an alternative communication tool in daily use. It is however important to note already existing modifications of visual stimuli presentation (174, 179, 185) and technical improvements for existing BCIs (177) that increase their accuracy significantly. Kaufmann and colleagues (185) for example could increase brain responses and

consequently CA by integrating well known faces in the matrix in addition to the letters.

Concerning on the other hand ALS-patients that can't use ETCS anymore, BCI systems need to be primarily more effective and secondarily more efficient than they are at the moment, but would be then highly significant for this patient subgroup. Moreover, concerning TLIS-patients as well as the evidence for lower spelling accuracy because of visual problems, there is an indication for non-visual BCIs. Auditory or tactile BCIs exist, but are less widely studied up to now (191, 192). A case study of a LISpatients found clear superiority of tactile modality (185), while a comparison between a visual and equivalent auditory P3-system indicates the latter as a still less accurate but still promising option for LIS- and TLIS-patients with visual deficits (155). In accordance with that, a LIS-patient with subjectively worsening gaze control expressed in a case study of Käthner et al. (82) his preference for an auditory BCI over ETCS, although the latter showed significantly higher accuracy rates and communication speed.

BCI are therefore an important field of research with regard to the objective to secure self-determination and QoL in every, including the terminal phase of life of patients with most severe disabilities. So far, very few case studies explored BCI usability outside an experimental setting (187, 193). One of these studies though even found evidence for a relevant positive impact of BCI-use for spelling on QoL of a single TLIS-patient (193). Future studies need to examine larger and more samples of (T)LIS-patients in their living environment and everyday life.

The development of inexpensive hard- and software that can be easily adapted to multiple access modes and customized to the patients' individual needs should be a general goal. In the COGAIN ("communication by gaze interaction"; www. COGAIN.org) European Network of Excellence professionals and researchers collaborate toward developing advanced gaze based communication technologies in order to enhance applicability and user satisfaction of the devices and ensure quality control in patient care and research (194).

Health Policy and Attitudes

In addition to ALS and other motor neuron diseases, there is a high potential for HT-AAC to improve care for patients with other acquired neurological conditions that lead to impaired communication abilities, e.g., traumatic brain injury, brainstem impairment, severe chronic aphasia and apraxia of speech, primary progressive aphasia, and dementia (18). Depending on the particular type and extent of communication and/or motor and/or cognitive impairment that are caused by these conditions, different kinds of AAC-systems and functions can be assumed the most useful ones for the patient (e.g., typing vs. eyetracking communication devices; auto-correction function for aphasia patients). Based on an epidemiological approach, Creer et al. (195) estimated the prevalence of people who could benefit from AAC technologies in the UK at 0.5%.

Enabling the individual's optimal communication capabilities should be the standard of care in order to maintain QoL and self-determination in the comprehensive and palliative care for all human beings including severely disabled

patients. The German treatment guidelines for ALS (https: (iii) Critical issues which can be solved more easily are such as www.dgn.org/leitlinien/3012-ll-18-ll-amyotrophe-lateralsklerosemotoneuronerkrankungen) contain the general information that in case of dysarthria, dynamic AAC technologies with speech output and environment control should be procured. However, the guidelines do not offer detailed recommendations for assessment of communicative abilities for AAC evaluation and supply and do not refer to their value for patients' QoL. Moreover, they are not legally binding.

Furthermore, advance care planning in ALS should explicitly consider the possibility that patients' can reach a disease state in which communication is not possible at all. Advance care planning and power of attorney for caregivers, also including the termination of life-sustaining measures in ALS and other severe neurological disorders, is however a complex issue and thus beyond the focus of this review.

CONCLUSIONS

Usually, the term "palliative care" is not associated with high-technologies, probably because they are supposed to contribute to the dehumanization of medicine and the superiority of survival over QoL. However, HT-AAC devices are not conceived to prolong survival, but to enhance QoL and autonomy for the remaining lifetime which is a core component of palliative care. These HT-AAC devices thus should play an exceptional role in palliative care compared to many other high-tech devices normally used to prolong survival.

HT-AAC have a high potential for improving palliative care for people with ALS and other severe diseases that lead to impaired communication abilities. Several studies convincingly demonstrated that complex and caregiverindependent communication is enabled by HT-AAC, which is crucial for addressing psychological, spiritual, and essential issues in palliative care. Within the current knowledge, the use of HT-AAC respectively the optimization of patients' ability to communicate leads to improved QoL and better wellbeing and enables the maintenance of social roles and intellectual stimulation. Moreover, communication is essential for the prevention of patient autonomy concerning end-of-life care and decisions. The use of HT-AAC can therefore lead additionally to reduced caregiver-burden and strengthen family cohesion, which however needs further independent investigations, also concerning critical issues like barriers of acceptance of the devices.

The technology does also still possess unresolved pitfalls. These can be grouped by different aspects:

- (i) Technically, limitations mainly arise from the infrared camera system with respect to distinct light conditions (mainly outside), wearing of glasses and body positioning.
- (ii) Disease conditions such as cognitive, e.g. executive or social cognition deficits up to advanced dementia, language impairments including aphasia, but also TLIS or other eyegaze alterations obviously raise difficulties.

barriers of acceptance amongst patients and caregivers, lack of awareness by both health care professionals and politicians/social system and the lack of clear and binding guidelines. The latter is also important to oblige HT-AAC providers to continually support the customer.

Healthcare professionals, technology providers as well as policy makers need a greater awareness of the possibilities but also of possible pitfalls of HT-AAC technologies. They are required to enable timely access to adequate, user-friendly and individually tailored equipment and provide ongoing training, customization and support (14), without letting quality of support suffer at the expense of cost effectiveness. This can be best achieved by individual evaluation of the patients' needs and concerns and by sufficient and continuous training in handling of the devices. It also includes the retraction of HT-AAC devices under certain circumstances, which might be severe dementia, development of significant gaze palsy or TLIS or also the patient's wish to return the device, which should optimally be properly assessed by means of the HT-AAC device.

On the basis of past and future research, detailed and binding guidelines that support patients' supply with AAC devices should be developed in order to ensure effective communication. Patients have to be enabled to make informed decisions for or against any communication support in order to allow the longest period of lifetime with the best possible QoL in accordance with their free will and their individual aims and wishes.

There is tremendous need for further research on the impact of HT-AAC, technical progress of the devices and for an increased awareness of upcoming opportunities and the importance of communication on wellbeing by professionals caring for severely disabled patients and by policy-makers. The consideration of HT-AAC interventions should be embedded as mandatory in multidisciplinary palliative care in order to enable autonomy by ensuring access to the best individually tailored communication strategies and their adjustment to changing needs of patients with ALS.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

The work was supported in part by a grant of the German ministry for education and research (BMBF, 16SV5843), the Roland Ernst Stiftung Sachsen and by the Innovationsausschuss des Gemeinsamen Bundesausschuss, Germany (FKZ 01VSF16026).

REFERENCES

- Andersen PM, Abrahams S, Borasio GD, de Carvalho M, Chio A, Van Damme P, et al. EFNS guidelines on the clinical management of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (MALS)—revised report of an EFNS task force. *Eur J Neurol.* (2012) 19:360–75. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2011.03501.x
- Spataro R, Bono V, Marchese S, La Bella V. Tracheostomy mechanical ventilation in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: clinical features and survival analysis. *J Neurol Sci.* (2012) 323:66–70. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2012.08.011
- Connolly S, Galvin M, Hardiman O. End-of-life management in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Lancet Neurol.* (2015) 14:435–42. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(14)70221-2
- Martin S, Trevor-Jones E, Khan S, Shaw K, Marchment D, Kulka A, et al. The benefit of evolving multidisciplinary care in ALS: a diagnostic cohort survival comparison. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Frontotemporal Degener*. (2017) 18:569–75. doi: 10.1080/21678421.2017.1349151
- Van den Berg JP, Kalmijn S, Lindeman E, Veldink JH, de Visser M, Van der Graaff MM, et al. Multidisciplinary ALS care improves quality of life in patients with ALS. *Neurology* (2005) 65:1264–7. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000180717.29273.12
- Danel-Brunaud V, Touzet L, Chevalier L, Moreau C, Devos D, Vandolaeghe S, et al. Ethical considerations and palliative care in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a review. *Rev Neurol.* (2017) 173:300–7. doi: 10.1016/j.neurol.2017.03.032
- Stavroulakis T, Baird WO, Baxter SK, Walsh T, Shaw PJ, McDermott CJ. The impact of gastrostomy in motor neurone disease: challenges and benefits from a patient and carer perspective. *BMJ Support Palliat Care* (2016) 6:52–9. doi: 10.1136/bmjspcare-2013-000609
- Kaub-Wittemer D, Steinbüchel Nv, Wasner M, Laier-Groeneveld G, Borasio GD. Quality of life and psychosocial issues in ventilated patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and their caregivers. J Pain Symptom Manage. (2003) 26:890–6. doi: 10.1016/S0885-3924(03)00323-3
- Hogden A. Optimizing patient autonomy in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: inclusive decision-making in multidisciplinary care. *Neurodegener Dis Manag.* (2014) 4:1–3. doi: 10.2217/nmt.13.71
- Rabkin J, Ogino M, Goetz R, McElhiney M, Hupf J, Heitzman D, et al. Japanese and American ALS patient preferences regarding TIV (tracheostomy with invasive ventilation): a cross-national survey. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Frontotemporal Degener*. (2014) 15:185–91. doi: 10.3109/21678421.2014.896928
- Tagami M, Kimura F, Nakajima H, Ishida S, Fujiwara S, Doi Y, et al. Tracheostomy and invasive ventilation in Japanese ALS patients: decisionmaking and survival analysis: 1990–2010. J Neurol Sci. (2014) 344:158–64. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2014.06.047
- Dreyer PS, Felding M, Klitnaes CS, Lorenzen CK. Withdrawal of invasive home mechanical ventilation in patients with advanced amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: ten years of Danish experience. *J Palliat Med.* (2012) 15:205–9. doi: 10.1089/jpm.2011.0133
- Holmoy T, Aarestad S, Engstrand P, Ottesen S, Syse A, Forde R. Termination of mechanical ventilation in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Tidsskrift Nor Laegeforen* (2009) 129:628–31. doi: 10.4045/tidsskr. 08.0006
- 14. Brownlee A, Palovcak M. The role of augmentative communication devices in the medical management of ALS. *NeuroRehabilitation* (2007) 22:445–50.
- Oliver DJ, Borasio GD, Caraceni A, de Visser M, Grisold W, Lorenzl S, et al. A consensus review on the development of palliative care for patients with chronic and progressive neurological disease. *Eur J Neurol.* (2016) 23:30–8. doi: 10.1111/ene.12889
- Cheng BHW, Chan KY, Chung YKJ, Choi CW, Chan CH, Ching Cheng S, et al. Supportive & palliative interventions in motor neuron disease: what we know from current literature? *Ann Palliat Med.* (2017). doi: 10.21037/apm.2017.10.01 [Epub ahead of print].
- Hawthorn M. The importance of communication in sustaining hope at the end of life. Br J Nurs. (2015) 24:702–5. doi: 10.12968/bjon.2015.24. 13.702
- Beukelman D, Fager S, Nordness A. Communication support for people with ALS. *Neurol Res Int.* (2011) 2011:714693. doi: 10.1155/2011/714693

- Tomik B, Guiloff RJ. Dysarthria in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a review. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler.* (2010) 11:4–15. doi: 10.3109/17482960802379004
- Light J. "Communication is the essence of human life": reflections on communicative competence. *Augment Altern Commun.* (1997) 13:61–70. doi: 10.1080/07434619712331277848
- McKelvey M, Evans DL, Kawai N, Beukelman D. Communication styles of persons with ALS as recounted by surviving partners. *Augment Altern Commun.* (2012) 28:232–42. doi: 10.3109/07434618.2012.737023
- Felgoise SH, Zaccheo V, Duff J, Simmons Z. Verbal communication impacts quality of life in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Frontotemporal Degener*. (2016) 17:179–83. doi: 10.3109/21678421.2015.1125499
- Caroll-Thomas S. Communication changes and challenges in ALS/MND. J Speech Lang Pathol Audiol. (1995) 19:281–82.
- Ball L, Nordness A, Fager S, Kersch K, Pattee G, Beukelmann D. Eye gaze access of AAC technology for persons with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. J Med Speech Lang Pathol. (2010) 18:11–23.
- Caligari M, Godi M, Guglielmetti S, Franchignoni F, Nardone A. Eye tracking communication devices in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis; impact on disability and quality of life. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Frontotemporal Degener*. (2013) 14:546–52. doi: 10.3109/21678421.2013. 803576
- Ball L, Beukelmann D, Bilyeu D, Robertson D, Anderson P, Pattee G. Duration of AAC technology use by persons with ALS. J Med Speech Lang Pathol. (2007) 15:371–81.
- Beukelman DR, Yorkston KM, Gorhoff SC, Mitsuda PM, Kenyon VT. Communication use by adults: a retrospective study. J Speech Hear Disord. (1981) 46:374–8. doi: 10.1044/jshd.4604.374
- Gibbons C, Beneteau E. Functional performance using eye control and singles witch scanning by people with ALS. *Perspect Augment Altern Commun.* (2010) 19:64–9. doi: 10.1044/aac 19.3.64
- Harris D, Goren M. The ERICA eye gaze system versus manual letter board to aid communication in ALS/MND. Br J Neurosci Nurs. (2009) 5:227–30. doi: 10.12968/bjnn.2009.5.5.42128
- Blignaut P. Mapping the Pupil-Glint vector to gaze coordinates in a simple video-based eye tracker. J Eye Mov Res. (2013) 7:1–11. doi: 10.16910/jemr.7.1.4
- Nguyen K, Wagner C, Koons D, Flickner M. Differences in the infrared bright pupil response of human eyes. In: *Proceedings of the 2002 Symposium* on Eye Tracking Research & Applications. New Orleans, LA: ACM (2002). p. 133–8.
- Ball LJ, Beukelman DR, Pattee GL. Acceptance of augmentative and alternative communication technology by persons with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Augment Altern Commun.* (2004) 20:113–22. doi: 10.1080/0743461042000216596
- 33. Fager S, Hux K, Beukelman DR, Karantounis R. Augmentative and alternative communication use and acceptance by adults with traumatic brain injury. *Augment Altern Commun.* (2006) 22:37–47. doi: 10.1080/07434610500243990
- Spataro R, Ciriacono M, Manno C, La Bella V. The eye-tracking computer device for communication in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Acta Neurol Scand.* (2014) 130:40–5. doi: 10.1111/ane.12214
- Fried-Oken M, Fox L, Rau MT, Tullman J, Baker G, Hindal M, et al. Purposes of AAC device use for persons with ALS as reported by caregivers. *Augment Altern Commun.* (2006) 22:209–21. doi: 10.1080/07434610600650276
- 36. Caron J, Light J. "My world has expanded even though I'm stuck at home": experiences of individuals with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis who use augmentative and alternative communication and social media. *Am J Speech Lang Pathol.* (2015) 24:680–95. doi: 10.1044/2015_AJSLP-15-0010
- Linse K, Rüger W, Joos M, Schmitz-Peiffer H, Storch A, Hermann A. Usability of eyetracking computer systems and impact on psychological wellbeing in patients with advanced amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Frontotemporal Degener*. (2018) 19:212–9. doi: 10.1080/21678421.2017.1392576
- Calvo A, Chiò A, Castellina E, Corno F, Farinetti L, Ghiglione P, et al. Eye tracking impact on quality-of-life of ALS patients. In: Miesenberger K, Klaus J, Zagler W, Karshmer A, editors. *Computers Helping People With Special*

Needs Proceedings of the 11th International Conference ICCHP 2008. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer (2008). p. 70–7.

- 39. Pérez AIG, Dapueto JJ. Case report of a computer-assisted psychotherapy of a patient with ALS. *Int J Psychiatry Med.* (2014) 48:229–33. doi: 10.2190/PM.48.3.g
- Hwang CS, Weng HH, Tsai CH, Chang HT. An eye-tracking assistive device improves quality of life for ALS patients and reduces caregivers' burden. J Mot Behav. (2014) 46:233–8. doi: 10.1080/00222895.2014.891970
- Londral A, Pinto A, Pinto S, Azevedo L, De Carvalho M. Quality of life in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients and caregivers: impact of assistive communication from early stages. *Muscle Nerve* (2015) 52:933–41. doi: 10.1002/mus.24659
- 42. Corallo F, Bonanno L, Lo Buono V, De Salvo S, Rifici C, Pollicino P, et al. Augmentative and alternative communication effects on quality of life in patients with locked-in syndrome and their caregivers. *J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis.* (2017) 26:1929–33. doi: 10.1016/j.jstrokecerebrovasdis.2017.06.026
- McNaughton D, Light J, Groszyk L. "Don't give up": employment experiences of individuals with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis who use augmentative and alternative communication. *Augment Altern Commun.* (2001) 17:179–95. doi: 10.1080/aac.17.3.179.195
- Linse K, Rüger W, Joos M, Schmitz-Peiffer H, Storch A, Hermann A. Eye-tracking-based assessment suggests preserved well-being in locked-in patients. *Ann Neurol.* (2017) 81:310–5. doi: 10.1002/ana.24871
- 45. Kübler A, Winter S, Ludolph AC, Hautzinger M, Birbaumer N. Severity of depressive symptoms and quality of life in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Neurorehabil Neural Repair* (2005) 19:182–93. doi: 10.1177/1545968305276583
- Chiò A, Gauthier A, Montuschi A, Calvo A, Di Vito N, Ghiglione P, et al. A cross sectional study on determinants of quality of life in ALS. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry (2004) 75:1597–601. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2003.033100
- Neudert C, Wasner M, Borasio GD. Individual quality of life is not correlated with health-related quality of life or physical function in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. J Palliat Med. (2004) 7:551–7. doi: 10.1089/jpm.2004.7.551
- McDonald ER, Wiedenfeld SA, Hillel A, Carpenter CL, Walter RA. Survival in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: the role of psychological factors. *Arch Neurol.* (1994) 51:17–23. doi: 10.1001/archneur.1994.00540130027010
- Johnston M, Earll L, Giles M, Mcclenahan R, Stevens D, Morrison V. Mood as a predictor of disability and survival in patients newly diagnosed with ALS/MND. Br J Health Psychol. (1999) 4:127–36. doi: 10.1348/135910799168524
- Chiò A, Gauthier A, Calvo A, Ghiglione P, Mutani R. Caregiver burden and patients' perception of being a burden in ALS. *Neurology* (2005) 64:1780–2. doi: 10.1212/01.WNL.0000162034.06268.37
- Gauthier A, Vignola A, Calvo A, Cavallo E, Moglia C, Sellitti L, et al. A longitudinal study on qality of life and depression in ALS patient-caregiver couples. *Neurology* (2007) 68:923–6. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000257093.53430.a8
- Lo Coco G, Lo Coco D, Cicero V, Oliveri A, Lo Verso G, Piccoli F, et al. Individual and health-related quality of life assessment in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients and their caregivers. *J Neurol Sci.* (2005) 238:11–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2005.05.018
- Creemers H, de Morée S, Veldink JH, Nollet F, van den Berg LH, Beelen A. Factors related to caregiver strain in ALS: a longitudinal study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry (2016) 87:775–81. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2015-311651
- Beeldman E, Raaphorst J, Klein Twennaar M, de Visser M, Schmand BA, de Haan RJ. The cognitive profile of ALS: a systematic review and meta-analysis update. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2016) 87:611–9. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2015-310734
- Keller J, Gorges M, Horn HT, Aho-Ozhan HE, Pinkhardt EH, Uttner I, et al. Eye-tracking controlled cognitive function tests in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a controlled proof-of-principle study. *J Neurol.* (2015) 262:1918–26. doi: 10.1007/s00415-015-7795-3
- Poletti B, Carelli L, Solca F, Lafronza A, Pedroli E, Faini A, et al. An eyetracker controlled cognitive battery: overcoming verbal-motor limitations in ALS. J Neurol. (2017) 264:1136–45. doi: 10.1007/s00415-017-8506-z
- 57. Fager S, Beukelman D, Karantounis R, Jakobs T. Use of safe-laser access technology to increase head movement in persons with severe motor

impairment: a series of case reports. Augment Altern Commun. (2006) 22:222-9. doi: 10.1080/07434610600650318

- Trail M, Nelson ND, Van JN, Appel SH, Lai EC. A study comparing patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and their caregivers on measures of quality of life, depression, and their attitudes toward treatment options. *J Neurol Sci.* (2003) 209:79–85. doi: 10.1016/S0022-510X(03)00003-0
- Lulé D, Ehlich B, Lang D, Sorg S, Heimrath J, Kübler A, et al. Quality of life in fatal disease: the flawed judgement of the social environment. *J Neurol.* (2013) 260:2836–43. doi: 10.1007/s00415-013-7068-y
- 60. van Groenestijn AC, Kruitwagen-van Reenen ET, Visser-Meily JMA, van den Berg LH, Schröder CD. Associations between psychological factors and health-related quality of life and global quality of life in patients with ALS: a systematic review. *Health Qual Life Outcomes* (2016) 14:107. doi: 10.1186/s12955-016-0507-6
- Lulé D, Hacker S, Ludolph A, Birbaumer N, Kubler A. Depression and quality of life in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Dtsch Arztebl Int*. (2008) 105:397–403. doi: 10.3238/arztebl.2008.0397
- Ozanne AO, Graneheim UH, Strang S. Finding meaning despite anxiety over life and death in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients. J Clin Nurs. (2013) 22:2141–9. doi: 10.1111/jocn.12071
- Raaphorst J, Visser Md, Linssen WHJP, Haan RJd, Schmand B. The cognitive profile of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a meta-analysis. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler*. (2010) 11:27–37. doi: 10.3109/17482960802645008
- 64. Phukan J, Elamin M, Bede P, Jordan N, Gallagher L, Byrne S, et al. The syndrome of cognitive impairment in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a population-based study. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2011) 83:102–8. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2011-300188
- 65. Stukovnik V, Zidar J, Podnar S, Repovs G. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients show executive impairments on standard neuropsychological measures and an ecologically valid motor-free test of executive functions. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol. (2010) 32:1095–109. doi: 10.1080/13803391003749236
- Fisher F, Philpott A, Andrews SC, Maule R, Douglas J. Characterizing social communication changes in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Int J Lang Commun Disord*. (2017) 52:137–42. doi: 10.1111/1460-6984.12267
- 67. Bora E. Meta-analysis of social cognition in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Cortex* (2017) 88:1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.cortex.2016.11.012
- van der Hulst E-J, Bak TH, Abrahams S. Impaired affective and cognitive theory of mind and behavioural change in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2015) 86:1208–15. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2014-309290
- Lulé D, Nonnenmacher S, Sorg S, Heimrath J, Hautzinger M, Meyer T, et al. Live and let die: existential decision processes in a fatal disease. J Neurol. (2014) 261:518–25. doi: 10.1007/s00415-013-7229-z
- Silverstein MD, Stocking CB, Antel JP, Beckwith J, Roos RP, Siegler M. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and life-sustaining therapy: patients' desires for information, participation in decision making, and life-sustaining therapy. *Mayo Clin Proc.* (1991) 66:906–13.
- Ceriana P, Surbone S, Segagni D, Schreiber A, Carlucci A. Decision-making for tracheostomy in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS): a retrospective study. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Frontotemporal Degener*. (2017) 18:492–7. doi: 10.1080/21678421.2017.1317812
- Qutub K, Lacomis D, Albert SM, Feingold E. Life factors affecting depression and burden in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis caregivers. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Frontotemporal Degener*. (2014) 15:292–7. doi: 10.3109/21678421.2014.886699
- Larsson BJ, Fröjd C, Nordin K, Nygren I. Relatives of patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: their experience of care and support. *Palliat Support Care* (2015) 13:1569–77. doi: 10.1017/S1478951515000188
- 74. Nakayama Y, Shimizu T, Mochizuki Y, Hayashi K, Matsuda C, Nagao M, et al. Predictors of impaired communication in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients with tracheostomy-invasive ventilation. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Frontotemporal Degener*. (2016) 17:38–46. doi: 10.3109/21678421.2015.1055276
- Lasker JP, Bedrosian JL. Acceptance of AAC by adults with acquired disorders. In: Beukelman D, Yorkston K, Reichle J, editors. *Augmentative Communication for Adults With Neurogenic and Neuromuscular Disabilities*. Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brooks (2000). p. 107–36.

- Sharma R, Hicks S, Berna CM, Kennard C, Talbot K, Turner MR. Oculomotor dysfunction in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a comprehensive review. Arch Neurol. (2011) 68:857–61. doi: 10.1001/archneurol.2011.130
- Chang WD, Cha HS, Kim DY, Kim SH, Im CH. Development of an electrooculogram-based eye-computer interface for communication of individuals with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. J Neuroeng Rehabil. (2017) 14:89. doi: 10.1186/s12984-017-0303-5
- Lancioni GE, Simone IL, De Caro MF, Singh NN, O'Reilly MF, Sigafoos J, et al. Assisting persons with advanced amyotrophic lateral sclerosis in their leisure engagement and communication needs with a basic technology-aided program. *NeuroRehabilitation* (2015) 36:355–65. doi: 10.3233/NRE-151224
- Smith E, Delargy M. Locked-in syndrome. BMJ (2005) 330:406–9. doi: 10.1136/bmj.330.7488.406
- Hayashi H, Oppenheimer EA. ALS patients on TPPV: totally locked-in state, neurologic findings and ethical implications. *Neurology* (2003) 61:135–7. doi: 10.1212/01.WNL.0000069925.02052.1F
- Murphy J. "I prefer contact this close": perceptions of AAC by people with motor neurone disease and their communication partners. *Augment Altern Commun.* (2009) 20:259–71. doi: 10.1080/07434610400005663
- Käthner I, Kübler A, Halder S. Comparison of eye tracking, electrooculography and an auditory brain-computer interface for binary communication: a case study with a participant in the lockedin state. J Neuroeng Rehabil. (2015) 12:76. doi: 10.1186/s12984-015-0071-z
- Mathy P, Yorkston K, Gutman ML. AAC for individuals with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. In: Beukelman D, Yorkston K, editors. *Augmentative and Alternative Communication for Adults With Acquired Neurologic Disorders*. Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brooks (2000). p. 183–229.
- Nordness AS, Ball LJ, Fager S, Beukelman DR, Pattee GL. Late AAC assessment for individuals with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. J Med Speech Lang Pathol. (2010) 18:48–54.
- Lakerveld J, Kotchoubey B, Kubler A. Cognitive function in patients with late stage amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry (2008) 79:25–9. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2007.116178
- Kasper E, Zydatiss K, Schuster C, Machts J, Bittner D, Kaufmann J, et al. No change in executive performance in ALS patients: a longitudinal neuropsychological study. *Neurodegener Dis.* (2016) 16:184–91. doi: 10.1159/000440957
- Mandler RN, Anderson FA Jr., Miller RG, Clawson L, Cudkowicz M, Bene MD. The ALS patient care database: insights into end-of-life care in ALS. Amyotroph Lateral Scler Other Motor Neuron Disord. (2001) 2:203–8. doi: 10.1080/14660820152882214
- Donegan M, Morris JD, Corno F, Signorile I, Chió A, Pasian V, et al. Understanding users and their needs. Univers Access Inform Soc. (2009) 8:259–75. doi: 10.1007/s10209-009-0148-1
- Funke A, Spittel S, Grehl T, Grosskreutz J, Kettemann D, Petri S, et al. Provision of assistive technology devices among people with ALS in Germany: a platform-case management approach. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Frontotemporal Degener*. (2018) 19:342–50. doi: 10.1080/21678421.2018.1431786
- Ball L, Schardt K, Beukelman D. Primary communication facilitators. Augment Commun News (2005) 17:6–7.
- Fried-Oken M, Mooney A, Peters B. Supporting communication for patients with neurodegenerative disease. *NeuroRehabilitation* (2015) 37:69– 87. doi: 10.3233/NRE-151241
- Casey KS. Creating an assistive technology clinic: the experience of the Johns Hopkins AT clinic for patients with ALS. *NeuroRehabilitation* (2011) 28:281–93. doi: 10.3233/NRE-2011-0656
- Rong P, Yunusova Y, Wang J, Zinman L, Pattee GL, Berry JD, et al. Predicting speech intelligibility decline in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis based on the deterioration of individual speech subsystems. *PLoS ONE* (2016) 11:e0154971. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0154971
- Ball LJ, Beukelman DR, Pattee GL. Communication effectiveness of individuals with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. J Commun Disord. (2004) 37:197–215. doi: 10.1016/j.jcomdis.2003.09.002
- 95. Renault S, Dhand A. Converse well-being of locked-in patients and caregivers. *Ann Neurol.* (2017) 82:490–1. doi: 10.1002/ana.25027

- Aust E, Linse K, Rüger W, Joos M, Schmitz-Peiffer H, Storch A, et al. Reply to "Converse well-being of locked-in patients and caregivers". *Ann Neurol.* (2017) 82:491–3. doi: 10.1002/ana.25025
- Mills T, Bunnell HT, Patel R. Towards personalized speech synthesis for augmentative and alternative communication. *Augment Altern Commun.* (2014) 30:226–36. doi: 10.3109/07434618.2014.924026
- Lazarou I, Nikolopoulos S, Petrantonakis PC, Kompatsiaris I, Tsolaki M. EEG-based brain-computer interfaces for communication and rehabilitation of people with motor impairment: a novel approach of the 21st century. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2018) 12:14. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2018. 00014
- 99. Strong MJ, Abrahams S, Goldstein LH, Woolley S, McLaughlin P, Snowden J, et al. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis—frontotemporal spectrum disorder (ALS-FTSD): revised diagnostic criteria. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Frontotemporal Degener*. (2017) 18:153–74. doi: 10.1080/21678421.2016.1267768
- Neumann M, Kwong LK, Sampathu DM, Trojanowski JQ, Lee VY. Tdp-43 proteinopathy in frontotemporal lobar degeneration and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: protein misfolding diseases without amyloidosis. *Arch Neurol.* (2007) 64:1388–94. doi: 10.1001/archneur.64.10.1388
- 101. Montuschi A, Iazzolino B, Calvo A, Moglia C, Lopiano L, Restagno G, et al. Cognitive correlates in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a populationbased study in Italy. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. (2015) 86:168–73. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2013-307223
- 102. Goldstein LH, Abrahams S. Changes in cognition and behaviour in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: nature of impairment and implications for assessment. *Lancet Neurol.* (2013) 12:368–80. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(13)70026-7
- 103. Murphy J, Factor-Litvak P, Goetz R, Lomen-Hoerth C, Nagy PL, Hupf J, et al. Cognitive-behavioral screening reveals prevalent impairment in a large multicenter ALS cohort. *Neurology* (2016) 86:813–20. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000002305
- 104. Mioshi E, Caga J, Lillo P, Hsieh S, Ramsey E, Devenney E, et al. Neuropsychiatric changes precede classic motor symptoms in ALS and do not affect survival. *Neurology* (2014) 82:149–55. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0000000000023
- 105. Ray J. Real-life challenges in using augmentative and alternative communication by persons with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Commun Disord Q.* (2015) 36:187–92. doi: 10.1177/1525740114 545359
- 106. Montembeault M, Brambati SM, Joubert S, Boukadi M, Chapleau M, Laforce R Jr., et al. Naming unique entities in the semantic variant of primary progressive aphasia and Alzheimer's disease: towards a better understanding of the semantic impairment. *Neuropsychologia* (2017) 95:11– 20. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2016.12.009
- 107. Oh SJ, Eom B, Park C, Sung JE. Treatment efficacy of semantic feature analyses for persons with aphasia: evidence from meta-analyses. *Commun Sci Disord.* (2016) 21:310–23. doi: 10.12963/csd.16312
- Phukan J, Pender NP, Hardiman O. Cognitive impairment in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Lancet Neurol.* (2007) 6:994–1003. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(07)70265-X
- 109. Taylor LJ, Brown RG, Tsermentseli S, Al-Chalabi A, Shaw CE, Ellis CM, et al. Is language impairment more common than executive dysfunction in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis? *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2013) 84:494–8. doi: 10.1136/jnnp-2012-303526
- 110. Tsermentseli S, Leigh PN, Taylor LJ, Radunovic A, Catani M, Goldstein LH. Syntactic processing as a marker for cognitive impairment in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Frontotemporal Degener*. (2016) 17:69–76. doi: 10.3109/21678421.2015.1071397
- 111. Ash S, Olm C, McMillan CT, Boller A, Irwin DJ, McCluskey L, et al. Deficits in sentence expression in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Frontotemporal Degener*. (2015) 16:31–9. doi: 10.3109/21678421.2014.974617
- 112. Leslie FVC, Hsieh S, Caga J, Savage SA, Mioshi E, Hornberger M, et al. Semantic deficits in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Frontotemporal Degener*. (2015) 16:46–53. doi: 10.3109/21678421.2014.987301

- Rakowicz WP, Hodges JR. Dementia and aphasia in motor neuron disease: an underrecognised association? J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry (1998) 65:881. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.65.6.881
- 114. Abrahams S, Leigh P, Harvey A, Vythelingum NG, Grisé D, Goldstein L. Verbal fluency and executive dysfunction in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS). *Neuropsychologia* (2000) 38:734–47. doi: 10.1016/S0028-3932(99)00146-3
- 115. Shao Z, Janse E, Visser K, Meyer AS. What do verbal fluency tasks measure? Predictors of verbal fluency performance in older adults. *Front Psychol.* (2014) 5:772. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00772
- Funahashi S. Neuronal mechanisms of executive control by the prefrontal cortex. *Neurosci Res.* (2001) 39:147–65. doi: 10.1016/S0168-0102(00)00224-8
- 117. Diamond A. Executive functions. Annu Rev Psychol. (2013) 64:135–68. doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-113011-143750
- Espy KA. Using developmental, cognitive, and neuroscience approaches to understand executive control in young children. *Dev Neuropsychol.* (2004) 26:379–84. doi: 10.1207/s15326942dn2601_1
- 119. Kilani M, Micallef J, Soubrouillard C, Rey-Lardiller D, Dematteï C, Dib M, et al. A longitudinal study of the evolution of cognitive function and affective state in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Other Motor Neuron Disord.* (2004) 5:46–54. doi: 10.1080/14660820310017560
- Wicks P, Abrahams S, Papps B, Al-Chalabi A, Shaw CE, Leigh PN, et al. SOD1 and cognitive dysfunction in familial amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *J Neurol.* (2009) 256:234–41. doi: 10.1007/s00415-009-0078-0
- 121. Kasper E, Schuster C, Machts J, Bittner D, Vielhaber S, Benecke R, et al. Dysexecutive functioning in ALS patients and its clinical implications. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Frontotemporal Degener*. (2015) 16:160–71. doi: 10.3109/21678421.2015.1026267
- 122. Pettit LD, Bastin ME, Smith C, Bak TH, Gillingwater TH, Abrahams S. Executive deficits, not processing speed relates to abnormalities in distinct prefrontal tracts in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Brain* (2013) 136:3290–304. doi: 10.1093/brain/awt243
- 123. Volpato C, Piccione F, Silvoni S, Cavinato M, Palmeri R, Meneghello F, et al. Working memory in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: auditory event-related potentials and neuropsychological evidence. J Clin Neurophysiol. (2010) 27:198–206. doi: 10.1097/WNP.0b013e3181e0aa14
- 124. Lillo P, Savage S, Mioshi E, Kiernan MC, Hodges JR. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and frontotemporal dementia: a behavioural and cognitive continuum. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler.* (2012) 13:102–9. doi: 10.3109/17482968.2011.639376
- Flaherty-Craig C, Eslinger P, Stephens B, Simmons Z. A rapid screening battery to identify frontal dysfunction in patients with ALS. *Neurology* (2006) 67:2070. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000247667.89251.43
- 126. Bak TH, Hodges JR. The effects of motor neurone disease on language: further evidence. *Brain Lang.* (2004) 89:354–61. doi: 10.1016/S0093-934X(03)00357-2
- 127. Chiò A, Calvo A, Ghiglione P, Mazzini L, Mutani R, Mora G, et al. Tracheostomy in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a 10-year populationbased study in Italy. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* (2010) 81:1141–3. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2009.175984
- Henry JD, von Hippel W, Molenberghs P, Lee T, Sachdev PS. Clinical assessment of social cognitive function in neurological disorders. *Nat Rev Neurol.* (2016) 12:28–39. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2015.229
- 129. Lough S. Kipps CM, Treise С, Watson Р. Blair IR, JR. reasoning, empathy Hodges Social emotion and in frontotemporal dementia. Neuropsychologia (2006)44:950-8. doi: 10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2005.08.009
- Consonni M, Catricalà E, Dalla Bella E, Gessa VC, Lauria G, Cappa SF. Beyond the consensus criteria: multiple cognitive profiles in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis? *Cortex* (2016) 81:162–7. doi: 10.1016/j.cortex.2016.04.014
- 131. Burke T, Elamin M, Bede P, Pinto-Grau M, Lonergan K, Hardiman O, et al. Discordant performance on the "Reading the Mind in the Eyes" test, based on disease onset in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Amyotroph Lateral Scler Frontotemporal Degener. (2016) 17:467–72. doi: 10.1080/21678421.2016.1177088
- Sedda A. Disorders of emotional processing in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Curr Opin Neurol. (2014) 27:659–65. doi: 10.1097/WCO.000000000000147

- Andrews SC, Staios M, Howe J, Reardon K, Fisher F. Multimodal emotion processing deficits are present in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Neuropsychology* (2017) 31:304–10. doi: 10.1037/neu0000323
- 134. Bora E, Köse S. Meta-analysis of theory of mind in anorexia nervosa and bulimia nervosa: a specific impairment of cognitive perspective taking in anorexia nervosa? *Int J Eat Disord*. (2016) 49:739–40. doi: 10.1002/eat. 22572
- Sabbagh MA. Understanding orbitofrontal contributions to theory-ofmind reasoning: implications for autism. *Brain Cogn.* (2004) 55:209–19. doi: 10.1016/j.bandc.2003.04.002
- 136. Trojsi F, Di Nardo F, Santangelo G, Siciliano M, Femiano C, Passaniti C, et al. Resting state fMRI correlates of theory of mind impairment in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Cortex* (2017) 97:1–16. doi: 10.1016/j.cortex.2017.09.016
- 137. Sterling LE, Jawaid A, Salamone AR, Murthy SB, Mosnik DM, McDowell E, et al. Association between dysarthria and cognitive impairment in ALS: a prospective study. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler.* (2010) 11:46–51. doi: 10.3109/17482960903207997
- Goldstein LH, Adamson M, Jeffrey L, Down K, Barby T, Wilson C, et al. The psychological impact of MND on patients and carers. J Neurol Sci. (1998) 160:S114–21. doi: 10.1016/S0022-510X(98)00209-3
- Gibbons ZC, Richardson A, Neary D, Snowden JS. Behaviour in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler.* (2008) 9:67–74. doi: 10.1080/17482960701642437
- 140. Abdulla S, Machts J, Kaufmann J, Patrick K, Kollewe K, Dengler R, et al. Hippocampal degeneration in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Neurobiol Aging* (2014) 35:2639–45. doi: 10.1016/j.neurobiolaging.2014.05.035
- 141. Raaphorst J, Tol MJ, Visser M, Kooi AJ, Majoie CB, Berg LH, et al. Prose memory impairment in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients is related to hippocampus. *Eur J Neurol.* (2015) 22:547–54. doi: 10.1111/ene.12615
- 142. Hervieu-Bègue M, Rouaud O, Graule Petot A, Catteau A, Giroud M. Semantic memory assessment in 15 patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Rev Neurol.* (2016) 172:307–12. doi: 10.1016/j.neurol.2015.10.009
- 143. Lillo P, Mioshi E, Zoing MC, Kiernan MC, Hodges JR. How common are behavioural changes in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis? *Amyotroph Lateral Scler*. (2011) 12:45–51. doi: 10.3109/17482968.2010.520718
- 144. Mioshi E, Lillo P, Yew B, Hsieh S, Savage S, Hodges JR, et al. Cortical atrophy in ALS is critically associated with neuropsychiatric and cognitive changes. *Neurology* (2013) 80:1117–23. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e31828869da
- 145. Woolley SC, Jonathan SK. Cognitive and behavioral impairment in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Phys Med Rehabil Clin N Am.* (2008) 19:607– 17. doi: 10.1016/j.pmr.2008.04.002
- 146. Grossman AB, Woolley-Levine S, Bradley WG, Miller RG. Detecting neurobehavioral changes in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler*. (2007) 8:56–61. doi: 10.1080/17482960601044106
- 147. Chiò A, Vignola A, Mastro E, Giudici AD, Iazzolino B, Calvo A, et al. Neurobehavioral symptoms in ALS are negatively related to caregivers' burden and quality of life. *Eur J Neurol.* (2010) 17:1298–303. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2010.03016.x
- 148. Wear HJ, Wedderburn CJ, Mioshi E, Williams-Gray CH, Mason SL, Barker RA, et al. The Cambridge behavioural inventory revised. *Dement Neuropsychol.* (2008) 2:102–7. doi: 10.1590/S1980-57642009DN20200005
- 149. Wei Q, Chen X, Cao B, Ou R, Zhao B, Wu Y, et al. Associations between neuropsychiatric symptoms and cognition in Chinese patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Frontotemporal Degener*. (2016) 17:358–65. doi: 10.3109/21678421.2016.1154574
- Kurt A, Nijboer F, Matuz T, Kübler A. Depression and anxiety in individuals with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. CNS Drugs (2007) 21:279–91. doi: 10.2165/00023210-200721040-00003
- Braak H, Brettschneider J, Ludolph AC, Lee VM, Trojanowski JQ, Del Tredici K. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis—a model of corticofugal axonal spread. *Nat Rev Neurol.* (2013) 9:708–14. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2013.221
- Brettschneider J, Del Tredici K, Toledo JB, Robinson JL, Irwin DJ, Grossman M, et al. Stages of pTDP-43 pathology in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Ann Neurol.* (2013) 74:20–38. doi: 10.1002/ana.23937
- 153. Prudlo J, König J, Schuster C, Kasper E, Büttner A, Teipel S, et al. TDP-43 pathology and cognition in ALS. *Neurology* (2016) 87:1019. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000003062

- 154. Leeb R, Sagha H, Chavarriaga R, Millán JdR. A hybrid braincomputer interface based on the fusion of electroencephalographic and electromyographic activities. J Neural Eng. (2011) 8:025011. doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/8/2/025011
- 155. Kübler A, Furdea A, Halder S, Hammer EM, Nijboer F, Kotchoubey B. A brain-computer interface controlled auditory event-related potential (p300) spelling system for locked-in patients. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* (2009) 1157:90–100. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2008.04122.x
- 156. Allison BZ, Wolpaw EW, Wolpaw JR. Brain-computer interface systems: progress and prospects. *Expert Rev Med Devices* (2007) 4:463–74. doi: 10.1586/17434440.4.463
- 157. Hochberg LR, Bacher D, Jarosiewicz B, Masse NY, Simeral JD, Vogel J, et al. Reach and grasp by people with tetraplegia using a neurally controlled robotic arm. *Nature* (2012) 485:372–5. doi: 10.1038/nature11076
- Wolpaw JR, Birbaumer N, Heetderks WJ, McFarland DJ, Peckham PH, Schalk G, et al. Brain-computer interface technology: a review of the first international meeting. *IEEE Trans Rehabil Eng.* (2000) 8:164–73. doi: 10.1109/TRE.2000.847807
- Birbaumer N, Cohen LG. Brain-computer interfaces: communication and restoration of movement in paralysis. J Physiol. (2007) 579:621–36. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2006.125633
- 160. Birbaumer N, Gallegos-Ayala G, Wildgruber M, Silvoni S, Soekadar SR. Direct brain control and communication in paralysis. *Brain Topogr.* (2014) 27:4–11. doi: 10.1007/s10548-013-0282-1
- Chaudhary U, Birbaumer N, Ramos-Murguialday A. Brain-computer interfaces for communication and rehabilitation. *Nat Rev Neurol.* (2016) 12:513–25. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2016.113
- Chaudhary U, Xia B, Silvoni S, Cohen LG, Birbaumer N. Brain-computer interface-based communication in the completely locked-in state. *PLoS Biol.* (2017) 15:e1002593. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.1002593
- 163. Murguialday AR, Hill J, Bensch M, Martens S, Halder S, Nijboer F, et al. Transition from the locked in to the completely lockedin state: a physiological analysis. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2011) 122:925–33. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2010.08.019
- 164. Guy V, Soriani MH, Bruno M, Papadopoulo T, Desnuelle C, Clerc M. Brain computer interface with the P300 speller: usability for disabled people with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Ann Phys Rehabil Med.* (2018) 61:5–11. doi: 10.1016/j.rehab.2017.09.004
- 165. Ortiz-Rosario A, Adeli H. Brain-computer interface technologies: from signal to action. *Rev Neurosci.* (2013) 24:537–52. doi: 10.1515/revneuro-2013-0032
- 166. Jarosiewicz B, Sarma AA, Bacher D, Masse NY, Simeral JD, Sorice B, et al. Virtual typing by people with tetraplegia using a self-calibrating intracortical brain-computer interface. *Sci Transl Med.* (2015) 7:313ra179. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aac7328
- 167. Spataro R, Chella A, Allison B, Giardina M, Sorbello R, Tramonte S, et al. Reaching and grasping a glass of water by locked-in ALS patients through a BCI-controlled humanoid robot. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2017) 11:68. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2017.00068
- Burns A, Adeli H, Buford JA. Brain-computer interface after nervous system injury. *Neuroscientist* (2014) 20:639–51. doi: 10.1177/1073858414549015
- 169. Hinterberger T, Kübler A, Kaiser J, Neumann N, Birbaumer N. A braincomputer interface (BCI) for the locked-in: comparison of different EEG classifications for the thought translation device. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2003) 114:416–25. doi: 10.1016/S1388-2457(02)00411-X
- Neumann N, Birbaumer N. Predictors of successful self control during braincomputer communication. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry (2003) 74:1117–21. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.74.8.1117
- 171. Neumann N, Kübler A, Kaiser J, Hinterberger T, Birbaumer N. Conscious perception of brain states: mental strategies for braincomputer communication. *Neuropsychologia* (2003) 41:1028–36. doi: 10.1016/S0028-3932(02)00298-1
- 172. Geronimo A, Simmons Z, Schiff SJ. Performance predictors of braincomputer interfaces in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. J Neural Eng. (2016) 13:026002. doi: 10.1088/1741-2560/13/2/026002
- 173. Nijboer F, Sellers EW, Mellinger J, Jordan MA, Matuz T, Furdea A, et al. A P300-based brain-computer interface for people with

amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Clin Neurophysiol. (2008) 119:1909-16. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2008.03.034

- 174. Ikegami S, Takano K, Kondo K, Saeki N, Kansaku K. A regionbased two-step P300-based brain-computer interface for patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2014) 125:2305–12. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2014.03.013
- 175. McCane LM, Heckman SM, McFarland DJ, Townsend G, Mak JN, Sellers EW, et al. P300-based brain-computer interface (BCI) eventrelated potentials (ERPs): people with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) vs. age-matched controls. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2015) 126:2124–31. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2015.01.013
- 176. McCane LM, Sellers EW, McFarland DJ, Mak JN, Carmack CS, Zeitlin D, et al. Brain-computer interface (BCI) evaluation in people with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Frontotemporal Degener*. (2014) 15:207–15. doi: 10.3109/21678421.2013.865750
- 177. Pires G, Nunes U, Castelo-Branco M. Statistical spatial filtering for a P300-based BCI: tests in able-bodied, and patients with cerebral palsy and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. J Neurosci Methods (2011) 195:270–81. doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2010.11.016
- 178. Pires G, Nunes U, Castelo-Branco M. Comparison of a row-column speller vs. a novel lateral single-character speller: assessment of BCI for severe motor disabled patients. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2012) 123:1168–81. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2011.10.040
- 179. Pires G, Nunes U, Castelo-Branco M. Evaluation of brain-computer interfaces in accessing computer and other devices by people with severe motor impairments. *Procedia Comput Sci.* (2012) 14:283–92. doi: 10.1016/j.procs.2012.10.032
- 180. Sellers EW, Kubler A, Donchin E. Brain-computer interface research at the university of south Florida cognitive psychophysiology laboratory: the P300 speller. *IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng.* (2006) 14:221–4. doi: 10.1109/TNSRE.2006.875580
- 181. Silvoni S, Cavinato M, Volpato C, Ruf CA, Birbaumer N, Piccione F. Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis progression and stability of brain-computer interface communication. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Frontotemporal Degener*. (2013) 14:390–6. doi: 10.3109/21678421.2013.770029
- 182. Kageyama Y, Hirata M, Yanagisawa T, Shimokawa T, Sawada J, Morris S, et al. Severely affected ALS patients have broad and high expectations for brainmachine interfaces. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Frontotemporal Degener*. (2014) 15:513–9. doi: 10.3109/21678421.2014.951943
- Marchetti M, Priftis K. Effectiveness of the P3-speller in brain-computer interfaces for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Front Neuroeng.* (2014) 7:12. doi: 10.3389/fneng.2014.00012
- 184. Huggins JE, Wren PA, Gruis KL. What would brain-computer interface users want? Opinions and priorities of potential users with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler*. (2011) 12:318–24. doi: 10.3109/17482968.2011.572978
- 185. Kaufmann T, Holz EM, Kübler A. Comparison of tactile, auditory, and visual modality for brain-computer interface use: a case study with a patient in the locked-in state. *Front Neurosci.* (2013) 7:129. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2013.00129
- Nam CS, Woo J, Bahn S. Severe motor disability affects functional cortical integration in the context of brain-computer interface (BCI) use. *Ergonomics* (2012) 55:581–91. doi: 10.1080/00140139.2011.647095
- 187. Holz EM, Botrel L, Kaufmann T, Kübler A. Long-term independent braincomputer interface home use improves quality of life of a patient in the locked-in state: a case study. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. (2015) 96:S16–26. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2014.03.035
- Soukoureff RW. Quantifying Text Entry Performance. Dissertation, Toronto, CA: York University (2010).
- 189. Neuper C, Müller GR, Kübler A, Birbaumer N, Pfurtscheller G. Clinical application of an EEG-based brain-computer interface: a case study in a patient with severe motor impairment. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2003) 114:399– 409. doi: 10.1016/S1388-2457(02)00387-5
- Herold R, Vogel U, Richter B. OLED-on-CMOS based single chip microdisplay and image sensor device. In: 17th International Display Workshops (IDW). Fukuoka (2010). p. 339–40.
- 191. Hill NJ, Ricci E, Haider S, McCane LM, Heckman S, Wolpaw JR, et al. A practical, intuitive brain-computer interface for communicating

"yes" or "no" by listening. J Neural Eng. (2014) 11:035003. doi:10.1088/1741-2560/11/3/035003

- 192. Severens M, Waal MVd, Farquhar J, Desain P. Comparing tactile and visual gaze-independent brain-computer interfaces in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and healthy users. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2014) 125:2297–304. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2014.03.005
- Sellers EW, Vaughan TM, Wolpaw JR. A brain-computer interface for longterm independent home use. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler*. (2010) 11:449–55. doi: 10.3109/17482961003777470
- 194. Bates R, Donegan M, Istance HO, Hansen JP, Räihä K-J. Introducing COGAIN: communication by gaze interaction. Univers Access Inform Soc. (2007) 6:159–66. doi: 10.1007/s10209-007-0077-9
- 195. Creer S, Enderby P, Judge S, John A. Prevalence of people who could benefit from augmentative and alternative communication (AAC) in the

UK: determining the need. Int J Lang Commun Disord. (2016) 51:639–53. doi: 10.1111/1460-6984.12235

Conflict of Interest Statement: KL, EA, and AH have nothing to report. MJ's affiliation "Interactive Minds Dresden GmbH" is a provider of ETCS in the region of Dresden.

Copyright © 2018 Linse, Aust, Joos and Hermann. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Death Anxiety and Depression in Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Patients and Their Primary Caregivers

Marvin R. Grabler¹, Ute Weyen², Georg Juckel^{1*}, Martin Tegenthoff² and Paraskevi Mavrogiorgou-Juckel¹

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Raymond Voltz, Zentrum für Palliativmedizin, Uniklinik Köln, Germany

Reviewed by:

Benjamin Aaron Emanuel, Keck School of Medicine of USC, University of Southern California, United States Stefan Lorenzl, Krankenhaus Agatharied GmbH, Germany

> *Correspondence: Georg Juckel juckelgwk@aol.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurocritical and Neurohospitalist Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 15 March 2018 Accepted: 16 November 2018 Published: 03 December 2018

Citation:

Grabler MR, Weyen U, Juckel G, Tegenthoff M and Mavrogiorgou-Juckel P (2018) Death Anxiety and Depression in Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Patients and Their Primary Caregivers. Front. Neurol. 9:1035. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.01035 ¹ Department of Psychiatry, Psychotherapy and Preventive Medicine, LWL-University Hospital of Ruhr-University Bochum, Bochum, Germany, ² Department of Neurology, Bergmannsheil University Hospital of Ruhr-University Bochum, Bochum, Germany

Background: Given the lethal severity of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), the aim of this study was to illuminate the coherence of depression and death anxiety in both ALS patients and caregivers and in how far patients and caregivers are influenced by the mindset of their respective counterpart.

Methods: 30 couples of patients (mean age 60.57; 13 women, 17 men) and primary caregivers (mean age 57.33; 16 women, 14 men) were included into the study. Death anxiety was assessed using the newly developed BOFRETTA scale, depression via Beck Depression Inventory, anxiety by means of State Trait Anxiety Inventory and caregivers' exertion using the Caregiver Strain Index. Patients' impairment was assessed with the ALS functional rating scale.

Results: We found that while death anxiety was related to depression in both patients and caregivers, death anxiety was related to anxiety only in patients. Caregiver strain correlated with both caregiver's depression and anxiety. Moreover, patients' and caregivers' depression, anxiety and death anxiety correlated to the ones of their counterpart.

Conclusion: These results suggest that despite little depressive symptoms in ALS patients the fatal prognosis of the disease takes into account, depression and death anxiety influence each other and might be addressed together in pharmacological and especially psychotherapeutic interventions to the benefit of the patient. Medical professionals should not forget to offer sufficient support to caregivers tending patients affected by depression and death anxiety as they are likely to mirror their patient's feelings.

Keywords: amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, motor neuron disease, ALS-FRS, death anxiety, BOFRETTA, caregivers

INTRODUCTION

Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) is the most common motor neuron disease with a prevalence of 6 cases per 100.000 persons, whereas the incidence is approximately 1-2 cases/100.000 persons (1). With rapidly progressive degeneration of both first and second motor neuron, ALS has a mean mortality rate of 50% in just 3 years (2). Despite this severe prognosis, clinical depression is less frequent than one might expect (3) with different studies suggesting rates of 9-12% (4–6).

Thus, depression is less common in ALS patients than in patients suffering from other diseases of comparable impact on patients' lives and agility like multiple sclerosis (7) or cancer (8), although death is mostly less imminent in these diseases. Anxiety, e.g., measured with the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI), amounts to likewise low levels albeit it is much less frequently studied (9). Furthermore, no consistent association between depression as well as other psychopathological impairments and wish to die in ALS patients were found (5, 6, 10). In how far defense mechanisms like denial come into effect here, is unknown. Some studies admit the conclusion that at least in the terminal phase such mechanisms play a role to make the situation endurable since the degree of death anxiety is related to the denial of one's own finiteness (11). The conversion of death anxiety into situational anxiety limits the perception of one's own finiteness and has therefore been stated as a coping strategy (12). Failure of such coping strategies may serve as a catalyst for the formation of mental disorders like depression as pathologic dimensions of death anxiety have been discussed to relate to other mental disorders, e.g., anxiety disorders (13). The few studies touching the subject of anxiety in ALS patients suggest that anxiety in general and thus presumably also death anxiety mostly occur in early stages of the disease and the diagnostic phase and to lesser extent in the course of the disease which is marked by progressive bodily impairment (14-17). It is yet left for speculation whether the little signs of depression and anxiety in the majority of ALS patients, that might appear like acceptance of the disease to outsiders, are a sign of a coping strategy of whatever nature, are caused by the cerebral alterations in cognition and emotion, which take place even in early stages of ALS (18), or have yet another explanation.

Taking into account the rapidly progressing impairment that makes patients dependent on assistance and thus exacts a close daily contact between patient and caregiver, it appears inevitable to evaluate on the one hand in how far and under which circumstances this relation acts protective or may lead to the exacerbation of the surveyed values of depression and anxiety in the patient and on the other hand the effect on the caregiver of the patient's state of mind and vice versa. Studies involving caregivers of ALS patients have shown that a sophisticated evaluation of quality of life, coping strategies, and anxiety are pivotal to develop suitable therapy and relief efforts (15). More than 30% of caregivers of ALS patients have been reported to indicate a marked worsening of their situation with a reduced quality of life (19). A somatic affection of caregivers has likewise been reported several times (18, 20), but this appears to be related more to levels of depression of the relative suffering from ALS (21), which underlines once more the interrelation between caregiver and patient.

Considering the hardly comprehensible reaction of ALS patients to their severe disease in the sense of few depressive symptoms and anxiety, the aim of this study was therefore to further illuminate the ties of depression, anxiety and death anxiety with respect to the setting of a close contact of ALS patient and caregiver.

We hope that our findings will further facilitate the establishment of adequate support measures and therapies for the coping of severe diseases like ALS for patients themselves and their caregivers in the interest of mental health.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

We interviewed a succession of 30 couples of patients and their primary caregivers seen in our outpatient clinic specializing in ALS. The patients, commonly accompanied by their caregiver, are seen at regular intervals of about 3–4 months on average for evaluation of disease development and assistive device need. Inclusion criteria consisted of ALS diagnosis in accordance with revised El Escorial criteria (22) and fluency in German.

Table 1 shows the socio-demographic and clinical data of the 30 patients and their caregivers being included in the study. Most patients were receiving a variety of constant medications including riluzole (80%) agent.

All participants gave written informed consent after the study purpose was explained in detail. The ethics committee of the Medical Faculty of the Ruhr-University Bochum, Germany, approved the study. It was carried out in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki of 1975.

Clinical Assessment

Severity of depressive symptoms was assessed using the Beck Depression Inventory [BDI; (23)], which generates a score from 0 to 63 with 0–12 indicating no depression, 13–19 mild, 20–28 medium, and \geq 29 severe depression.

State anxiety was examined using the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory. The score ranges from 20 to 80 with 20–39 indicating low, 40–59 medium, and \geq 60 high anxiety (24, 25).

The Caregiver Strain Index (CSI) by Robinson (26) on the other hand is a questionnaire with 13 items to be answered with either Yes or No, which depicts the caregivers strain (e.g., due to loss of sleep, changes in private life or bothering behavior). The CSI was only given to the caregivers.

For the evaluation of death anxiety in particular we utilized the BOFRETTA-Scale (27) for the first time, containing 25 statements about attitude toward (10 items) and anxiety for (15 items) death. The scale is based on or taking cue for its modification from Templer's death anxiety scale (28), Lester's death anxiety scale (29) and the question inventory for multidimensional evaluation of experience of dying and death [FIMEST; (30)]. To answer the semiquantitative BOFRETTAscale one can indicate one's accordance with the statements by choosing between "does not apply at all" (1 point), "applies slightly" (2 points), "applies predominantly" (3 points), or "applies mostly" (4 points), amounting to scores from 10 to 40

TABLE 1 Socio-demographic and clinical characteristics of patients (PAT) and	
caregivers (CG).	

	PAT (n = 30)	CG (n = 30)	t-Test
GENDER			
Female, n	13 (43.3%)	16 (53.3%)	
Male, n	17 (56.7%)	14 (46.7%)	
AGE			
Mean (SD)	60.57 (8.52)	57.33 (9.47)	
Range	44–78 years	38–75 years	
FAMILY STATUS			
Married/with partner, n	26 (86.7%)	29 (96.7%)	
Single, n	1 (3.3%)	0	
Divorced/widowed, n	3 (10%)	1 (3.3%)	
EDUCATIONAL BACKGROUND			
13 years of school, n	7 (23.3%)	10 (33.3%)	
10 years of school, n	13 (43.3%)	12 (40%)	
9 years of school, n	10 (33.3%)	6 (20%)	
Did not graduate, n	0	2 (6.7%)	
EMPLOYMENT STATUS			
Employed, n	8 (26.7%)	18 (60%)	
Retired, n	11 (43.7%)	9 (30%)	
Retired due to ALS, n	8 (26.7%)	-	
Unemployed/homemaker	3 (10%)	1 (3.3%)	
Other/did not answer	0	2 (6.6%)	
CLINICAL SCORES			
ALS-FRS mean (SD)	32.57 (9.51)	-	
Disease duration (SD), Years	2.48 (2.0)	-	
Hours/day spent with caring (SD)	-	3.37 (2.85)	
Affection of own health	-	10 (33.3%)	
BDI mean (<i>SD</i>)	11.93 (8.40)	8.07 (8.08)	ns
STAIs mean (SD)	40.67 (12.5)	45.67 (11.62)	ns
CSI, mean (SD)	-	4.67 (3.48)	
BOFRETTA anxiety (SD)	25.97 (9.85)	23.5 (8.33)	ns
BOFRETTA attitude (SD)	17.43 (3.78)	16.33 (4.05)	ns

ALS-FRS, ALS Functional Rating Scale; BDI, Beck Depression Inventory; STAIs, State-Trait Anxiety Inventory, state subscale; CSI, Caregiver Strain Index; BOFRETTA, Bochumer Fragebogen zur Einstellung zum Tod und zur Angst vor dem Tod (Bochum Questionnaire regarding Attitude toward and Anxiety for Death), subscales anxiety and attitude; ns, non-significant.

for the subscale "attitude toward death" (items number 2, 3, 10, 16, 17, 19, 21–23, 25, and 15–60 for the subscale "death anxiety" (items number 1, 4–9, 11–15, 18, 20, 24). As qualitative analysis, the participant may express personal thoughts or concerns, respectively toward death in two free text columns.

The patient's physical impairment due to the disease was assessed by the ALS functional rating scale [ALSFRS-R; (31)] which reaches from 48 (no impairment at all) to 0 (locked-in syndrome), which is routinely taken in the outpatient clinic.

Statistics

Further statistical analyses of the neuropsychological data were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 25.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). Statistical analyses were performed with appropriate parametric or non-parametric tests (*t*-test and Pearson or Spearman correlation coefficients). Statistical significance was defined as p < 0.05. A value of p < 0.10 was regarded as statistical tendency.

RESULTS

Patients

The socio-demographic characteristics as well as psychometric scores of the 30 patients interviewed (17 men and 13 women) are summarized in **Table 1**. The patients had a mean age of 60.57 years (*SD* 8.52) and suffered from ALS for 2.48 years (*SD* 2.0) on average. The mean ALSFRS-R was 32.57 (*SD* 9.51).

The mean BDI score amounted to 11.93 (*SD* 8.40), signifying a score which is just still within the non-depressive range. 18 (60%) of the patients interviewed were in the non-depressive range according to BDI, while 9 (30%) had mild, 2 (6.7%) medium, and just 1 (3.3%) patient severe depression.

As for the STAI, the average patient score was 40.67 (*SD* 12.5), lying just inside of the medium anxious range. Nevertheless, the biggest group of 15 patients (50%) showed low signs of anxiety, while 12 (40%) were in the medium range and 3 (10%) in the high range.

When assessed by means of the BOFRETTA death anxiety subscale the average patient score was 25.97 (*SD* 9.85). Taking into account the range from minimum 15 to maximum 60, this is a mean score within the lower third. Anyhow, the maximum score of any patient interviewed was 54. Similar patterns apply to the BOFRETTA attitudes toward death subscale with a possible range from 10 to 40, where we found a mean patient score of 17.43 (*SD* 3.78), thus not particularly negative.

Caregivers

The mean age of the 30 interviewed caregivers (16 women and 14 men) was 57.33 years (*SD* 9.47). For a summary of socio-demographic and psychometric parameters see **Table 1** again.

The average BDI score of caregivers was 8.07 (*SD* 8.08), which is more clearly within the non-depressive range compared to patients. Accordingly, 24 (80%) of caregivers achieved non-depressive scores, while 4 (13.3%) had mild, and each 1 caregiver (3.3%) had medium or severe depression.

45.67 (SD 11.62) was the mean STAI score, making it the only parameter caregivers scored higher than patients (though the difference is statistically non-significant). This is within the medium anxious range. 12 (40%) of caregivers showed low, 16 (53.3%) medium, and 2 (6.6%) high signs of anxiety.

BOFRETTA anxiety subscale amounted to 23.5 (SD 8.33) on average and BOFRETTA attitude subscale to 16.33 (SD 4.05)— both scores likewise within the lower third.

Finally, the CSI resulted in a mean 4.67 (*SD* 3.48), which can be classified on the verge of low to medium third of caregiver strain, given that the scale ranges from 1 to 13. The highest CSI score found in our study was 11. The caregivers spent 3.37 h a day (*SD* 2.85) on average caring for their relative. 10 (33.3%) of caregivers reported an affection of their own health due to caring. Most stated psychic symptoms (stress, difficulties to concentrate
or to sleep, feeling "burnt out," tension) and just two somatic symptoms were stated (dorsal pain, irritable bowel syndrome).

Comparison of Couple Scores

Sociodemographic parameters as well as psychometric scores did not differ significantly between patients and caregivers.

We found various correlations between scores of patients and caregivers (see **Table 2**): Patients' and Caregivers' depression related to the ones of their particular counterpart highly significantly, just like patients' and caregivers' anxiety. While patients' depression did not relate to caregivers' anxiety, patients' anxiety related to caregivers' depression, indicating a specific pattern of reaction on either side to the perceived emotions of one's relative.

While death anxiety of patients and caregivers correlated with each other, this was not the case for attitudes toward death. Besides, patients' death anxiety and caregivers' depression related to each other.

The years of patients has already lived with ALS has no relation to the caregiver's strain. The ALSFRS-R relates negatively to the CSI, thus meaning higher bodily impairment imposes more caregiver strain. Nevertheless, the ALSFRS-R does not relate to caregivers' depression, anxiety, death anxiety, or attitudes toward death.

Psychometric Correlations

Correlations of psychometric and clinical parameters are summarized in **Table 3**.

Anxiety and depression scores correlated highly significantly to each other for both patients and caregivers. Death

		_
Patient score	Caregiver	Correlation
	score	coefficient
BDI	BDI	0.590**
	STAIs	ns
	CSI	0.373*
STAIs	STAIs	0.516**
	BDI	0.708**
BOFRETTA anxiety	BOFRETTA	0.375*
	anxiety	
	BDI	0.466*
BOFRETTA attitude	BOFRETTA	ns
	attitude	
Years with ALS	CSI	ns
ALS-FRS	CSI	-0.629**
	BDI	ns
	STAIs	ns
	BOFRETTA	ns
	anxiety	
	BOFRETTA	ns
	attitude	

ALS-FRS, ALS Functional Rating Scale; BDI, Beck Depression Inventory; STAIs, State-Trait Anxiety Inventory, state subscale; CSI, Caregiver Strain Index; BOFRETTA, Bochumer Fragebogen zur Einstellung zum Tod und zur Angst vor dem Tod (Bochum Questionnaire regarding Attitude toward and Anxiety for Death), subscales anxiety and attitude; ns, non-significant; *Statistically significant; **Statistically highly significant. anxiety correlated with negative attitudes toward death and depression.

In patients, ALSFRS-R correlated negatively to BDI scores. As low ALSFRS-R scores reproduce high bodily impairment due to the disease, this indicates that patients in a worse physical condition are more prone to depression. Anxiety correlated to death anxiety and negative attitudes toward death; negative attitudes toward death correlated to depression.

Taking a closer look at the caregivers, we found that caregiver strain as screened by CSI correlated with depression, anxiety and the amount of hours spent caring per day. The amount of hours spent caring also correlates with depression, while the affection of the caregiver's own health correlates with anxiety.

DISCUSSION

Integrating our findings into the relevant literature, we found rates for depression of patients on similar low levels (4–6), even if only taking into account studies likewise using the BDI to assess depression (9) as different diagnostic tools sometimes lead to varying results. Patients also seem to be not particularly anxious mirroring findings of Vignola et al. (15) for patients a while after diagnosis.

Through ALSFRS-R, we were able to correlate more severe neurological impairment to higher rates of depression, which has also been shown before (5). We could not find a direct relation of neurological impairment to anxiety nor death anxiety in particular. As rates of death anxiety are not high in ALS patients in general according to our findings, one might ascribe it to the fact that views on death are very individual: Just because of increasing health issues, one does not have to become anxious about death as patients might have positive attitudes toward

TABLE 3	Psychometric	correlations.
INDER 0	1 Sychoniculo	0011010110110.

Sco	res	Patient ($n = 30$)	Caregiver ($n = 30$)
		Correlation coefficient	Correlation coefficient
ALS-FRS	BDI	-0.374**	-
STAI	BDI	0.652**	0.676**
STAI	BOFRETTA anxiety	0.510**	ns
STAI	BOFRETTA attitude	0.373*	ns
BOFRETTA anxiety	BDI	0.394*	0.432*
BOFRETTA anxiety	BOFRETTA attitude	0.577**	0.744**
BOFRETTA attitude	BDI	0.414*	ns
CSI	BDI	-	0.409*
CSI	STAI	-	0.412*
CSI	Hours/day caring	-	0.729**
Hours/day caring	BDI	-	0.444*
Own health affection	STAI	-	0.413*

ALS-FRS, ALS Functional Rating Scale; BDI, Beck Depression Inventory; STAIs, State-Trait Anxiety Inventory, state subscale; CSI, Caregiver Strain Index; BOFRETTA, Bochumer Fragebogen zur Einstellung zum Tod und zur Angst vor dem Tod (Bochum Questionnaire regarding Attitude toward and Anxiety for Death), subscales anxiety and attitude; ns, non-significant; *Statistically significant; *Statistically highly significant. death, may it be due to religious beliefs or even judging death as a kind of salvation—patients may become depressed due to the impact the disease has on their daily lives and activities. Many patients are able to find meaning in life despite their disease (14), which makes them able to cope with anxiety and death anxiety better.

We found noteworthy relations of depression, death anxiety and anxiety. While depression and anxiety correlates for both patients and caregivers, death anxiety relates to anxiety and negative attitudes toward death only in patients. This is easily explained taking into account that the own death is more imminent for patients, thus likely more often on their mind, making it a probable central aspect of anxiety. With respect to the fact that depression correlates with death anxiety in both patients and caregivers this circumstance, which may appear selfexplanatory at first, gets a therapeutic impact: If death anxiety is present, it forms a sort of continuum with depression and anxiety in patients. Fighting depression, professionals might benefit from broaching the issue of death and death anxiety with the patients affected and giving room to talk about the feelings associated. In the largely agnostic societies in Western Europe, persons so suddenly confronted with the finiteness of their own lives, may ask questions they yet never thought about or pushed away. If the patient is open to it, health care professionals might even think about establishing contact to spiritual counsellors-company which is almost standard in hospices but rather not in ambulant palliative care.

The low rates of depression and anxiety we found in patients also apply to caregivers though anxiety seems to be slightly more widespread in caregivers. Albeit the difference is non-significant, as similar findings occurred in another study (15) the question how to relieve the caregivers from their anxiety becomes ever more important. Since there is no relation to death anxiety according to our data, the anxiety might rather be focused on the current situation: e.g., on the development of the loved one's disease and whether the own person will be able to fulfill the caregiving role further onward. These concerns should thus be tackled with sufficient support in the form of auxiliary means for the patient and perhaps even the hiring of professional nursing services.

A low ALSFRS-R as a measure of disease severity does not relate to caregiver's depression or anxiety, signifying that there are caregivers and patients who cope well despite vast progression of the disease. Nevertheless, caregiver strain derives from the severity of ALS as such, own depression and anxiety and also patient's depression. Notwithstanding, higher caregiver strain does not result in more negative attitudes toward death as we hypothesized.

The striking, highly significant relation of depression, anxiety and death anxiety of patients, and caregivers in our study suggests that the patient-caregiver-relation is of huge importance for

REFERENCES

1. Talbott EO, Malek AM, Lacomis D. The epidemiology of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Handb Clin Neurol.* coping with ALS. As evident from our data and surely noticeable while conducting the interviews, there were couples of patient and caregivers who found ways to deal with the disease and live merely content despite the changes in their daily lives. Other couples were struggling more. If the patient was depressed, the caregiver was quite likely to mirror these feelings and vice versa. This further underlines the importance of keeping an eye on the patient's surroundings and potentially offering medical or psychotherapeutic assistance to the caregiver as well. Likewise, in psychotherapeutic interventions targeting at depression, the patient-caregiver relation possibly ought to be included into the therapeutic sessions and play a pivotal role.

Limitations of our study include a rather small sample size, though this seems to be universal for ALS research. Methodologically, one may criticize the use of questionnaires not entirely suitable for ALS patients with e.g., BDI asking for weight loss which most likely is not a sign of depression but muscle loss in ALS patients and thus overestimating depressive rates. BDI is a well-established device and ALS-specific questionnaires would have made the comparison to caregivers impossible. Apart from that, some patients were treated with antidepressants.

In conclusion, although depression, anxiety, and death anxiety are not particularly common in ALS patients, we found that they widely correlate with each other and should be addressed altogether. Furthermore, the relation of patient and caregiver and their respective mind-sets play a significant role in coping with the disease and therefore should be considered in medical and psychotherapeutic interventions. After all, even a devastating diagnosis like ALS does not inevitably lead to depression and anxiety—we met many resilient couples who positively deal with their situation and find meaning in life.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The ethical commission of Faculty of Medicine of RUB has approved this study under the correspondence number 15/5384 (23.3.17).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

PM-J, MT, and GJ designed this study. MG and UW have performed recruitment and assessment of patients and caregivers. MG and PM-J have analyzed the data and wrote the first draft. All authors have approved the final version. This manuscript is part of the doctoral thesis of MG.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We acknowledge support by the DFG Open Access Publication Funds of the Ruhr-University Bochum.

- (2016) 138:225-38. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-802973-2.00 013-6
- Hübers A, Ludolph AC, Rosenbohm A, Pinkhardt EH, Weishaupt JH, Dorst J. Amyotrophe Lateralsklerose. *Eine Multisystemdegeneration*

Nervenarzt (2016) 87:179-88. doi: 10.1007/s00115-015-0030-8

- Averill A, Kasarskis E, Segerstrom, S. Psychological health in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Amyotroph. Lateral Scler.* (2007) 8:243–54. doi: 10.1080/17482960701374643
- Kurt A, Nijboer F, Matuz T, Kübler A. Depression and anxiety in individuals with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: epidemiology and management. CNS Drugs (2007) 21:279–91. doi: 10.2165/00023210-200721040-00003
- Rabkin JG, Goetz R, Factor-Litvak P, Hupf J, McElhiney M, Singleton J, et al. Depression and wish to die in a multi-center cohort of ALS patients. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Frontotemporal Degener*. (2015) 16:265–73. doi: 10.3109/21678421.2014.980428
- Rabkin JG, Goetz R, Murphy JM, Factor-Litvak P, Mitsumoto H, ALSCOSMOS Study Group. Cognitive impairment, behavioral impairment, depression, and wish to die in an ALS cohort. *Neurology* (2016) 87:1320–8. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000003035
- Galeazzi GM, Ferrari S, Giaroli G, Mackinnon A, Merelli E, Motti L, et al. Psychiatric disorders and depression in multiple sclerosis outpatients: impact of disability and interferon beta therapy. *Neurol Sci.* (2005) 26:255–62. doi: 10.1007/s10072-005-0468-8
- Frick E, Tyroller M, Panzer M. Anxiety, depression and quality of life of cancer patients undergoing radiation therapy: a cross-sectional study in a community hospital outpatient centre. *Eur J Cancer Care* (2007) 16:130–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2354.2006.00720.x
- Wicks P, Abrahams S, Masi D, Hejda-Forde S, Leigh PN, Goldstein LH. Prevalence of depression in a 12-month consecutive sample of patients with ALS. *Eur J Neurol.* (2007) 14:933–1001. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2007.01843.x
- Albert SM, Rabkin JG, Del Bene ML, Tider T, O'Sullivan I, Rowland LP, et al. Wish to die in end-stage ALS. *Neurology* (2005) 65:68–74. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000168161.54833.bb
- Hayslip B, Luhr DD, Beyerlein MM. Levels of death anxiety in terminally ill men: a pilot study. *Omega: J Death and Dying* (1991) 24:13–9. doi: 10.2190/ENK8-UDN4-RB1Q-FTL9
- 12. Solomon S, Greenberg J, Pyszczynski T. Der Wurm in Unserem Herzen. München: Deutsche Verlags-Anstalt (2016).
- Strachan E, Schimel J, Arndt J, Williams T, Solomon S, Pyszczynski T, et al. Terror mismanagement: evidence that mortality salience exacerbates phobic and compulsive behaviors. *Pers Soc Psychol Bull.* (2007) 33:1137–51. doi: 10.1177/0146167207303018
- Ozanne AO, Graneheim UH, Strang S. Finding meaning despite anxiety over life and death in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients. *J Clin Nurs.* (2013) 22:2141–9. doi: 10.1111/jocn.12071
- Vignola A, Guzzo A, Calvo A, Moglia C, Pessia A, Cavallo E, et al. Anxiety undermines quality of life in ALS patients and caregivers. *Eur J Neurol.* (2008) 15:1231–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2008.02303.x
- Mandler RN, Anderson FA Jr, Miller RG, Clawson, L, Cudkowicz M, Del Bene M, et al. The ALS patient care database: insights into end-of life care in ALS. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler Other Motor Neuron Disord*. (2001) 2:203–8. doi: 10.1080/14660820152882214
- Neudert C, Oliver D, Wasner M, Borasio GD. The course of the terminal phase in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. J Neurol. (2001) 248:612–6. doi: 10.1007/s004150170140

- Goldstein LH, Abraham S. Changes in cognition and behavior in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: nature of impairment and implications for assessment. *Lancet Neurol.* (2013) 12:368–80. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(13)70 026-7
- Kaub-Wittemer D. Lebensqualität von Heimbeatmeten Patienten mit Amyotropher Lateralsklerose (ALS) und Ihren Angehörigen. Dissertation, der Ludwigs-Maximilian-Universität München (2006).
- Rabkin JG, Albert SM, Del Bene M, O'Sullivan I, Tider T, Rowland LP, et al. Prevalence of depressive disorders and change over time in late-stages ALS. *Neurology* (2005) 65:62–7. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000167187.14501.0c
- Chio A, Gauthier A, Calvo A, Ghiglione P, Mutani R. Caregiver burden and patients perception of being a burden in ALS. *Neurology* (2005) 64:1780–2. doi: 10.1212/01.WNL.0000162034.06268.37
- Ludolph A, Drory V, Hardiman O, Nakano I, Ravits J, Robberecht W, et al. A revision of the El Escorial Criteria 2015. Amyotroph Lateral Scler Frontotemporal Degener. (2015) 16:291–2. doi: 10.3109/21678421.2015.1049183
- Beck AR, Ward C, Mendelson M. Beck Depression Inventory (BDI). Arch Gen Psychiatry (1967) 4:561–71. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1961.01710120031004
- 24. Spielberger CD, Gorsuch RL, Lushene RE. *State-Trait-Anxiety-Inventory*. Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press (1970).
- 25. Laux L, Glanzmann P, Schaffner P, Spielberger CD. Das State-Trait-Angstinventar. Weinheim: Beltz Test GmbH (1981).
- Robinson B. Validation of a caregiver strain index. J Gerontol. (1983) 38:344–8. doi: 10.1093/geronj/38.3.344
- Juckel G, Mavrogiorgou P. [Death anxiety and its importance for psychiatry]. Fortschr Neurol Psychiatr. (2017) 86:226–32. doi: 10.1055/s-0043-122391
- Templer DI. The construction and validation of a Death Anxiety Scale. J Gen Psychol. (1970) 82:165–77. doi: 10.1080/00221309.1970.9920634
- Lester D. The collett-lester fear of death scale: the original version and a revision. *Death Stud.* (1990) 14:451–68. doi: 10.1080/074811890082 52385
- Wittkowski J. Fragebogeninventar zur Mehrdimensionalen Erfassung des Erlebens Gegenüber Sterben und Tod (FIMEST). Göttingen: Hogrefe Verlag (1996).
- Cedarbaum JM, Stambler N, Malta E, Fuller C, Hilt D, Thurmond B, et al. The ALSFRS-R: a revised ALS functional rating scale that incorporates assessments of respiratory function. BDNF ALS Study Group (Phase III). J Neurol Sci. (1999) 169:13–21. doi: 10.1016/S0022-510X(99)00 210-5

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Grabler, Weyen, Juckel, Tegenthoff and Mavrogiorgou-Juckel. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Access to End-of Life Parkinson's Disease Patients Through Patient-Centered Integrated Healthcare

Carsten Eggers^{1,2*}, Richard Dano¹, Juliane Schill¹, Gereon R. Fink^{1,3}, Lars Timmermann^{1,2}, Raymond Voltz^{4,5,6}, Heidrun Golla⁴ and Stefan Lorenzl^{7,8}

¹ Department of Neurology, University Hospital of Cologne, Cologne, Germany, ² Department of Neurology, Philipps-University Marburg, Marburg, Germany, ³ Cognitive Neurology Section, Research Center Juelich, Institute of Neuroscience and Medicine, Juelich, Germany, ⁴ Department of Palliative Medicine, University Hospital of Cologne, Cologne, Germany, ⁵ Center for Integrated Oncology, Cologne, Germany, ⁶ Center for Clinical Studies (ZKS), University Hospital Cologne, Cologne, Germany, ⁷ Endowed Professorship for Interdisciplinary Research in Palliative Care, Institute of Nursing Science and Practice, Paracelsus Medical University, Salzburg, Austria, ⁸ Department of Palliative Care, Klinikum der Universität München, Ludwig-Maximilians-University, Munich, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Joaquim Ferreira, Instituto de Medicina Molecular (IMM), Portugal

Reviewed by:

Matteo Bologna, Sapienza Università di Roma, Italy Victor Mannin McConvey, Parkinson's Victoria, Australia

> *Correspondence: Carsten Eggers carsten.eggers@uk-gm.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Movement Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 26 March 2018 Accepted: 11 July 2018 Published: 30 July 2018

Citation:

Eggers C, Dano R, Schill J, Fink GR, Timmermann L, Voltz R, Golla H and Lorenzl S (2018) Access to End-of Life Parkinson's Disease Patients Through Patient-Centered Integrated Healthcare. Front. Neurol. 9:627. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00627 **Background:** Palliative care in Parkinson's Disease (PD) patients considerably differs from palliative care in oncology patients. Integrated care models are a concept to support patients and improve management of PD symptoms. However, it is not known if the access to PD patients at the end of life can be achieved through integrated care models.

Aim: To analyze an integrated model of care for PD patients with the aim to identify if this integrated model of care has access to PD patients at the end of life.

Material and Methods: The Cologne Parkinson's network was designed as a randomized, controlled prospective clinical trial in order to increase quality of life of PD patients. This innovative model of care integrated a neurologist in private practice, a movement disorder specialist of the University Hospital and a PD nurse. Mortality rates of PD patients during the study period of 6 months were registered and compared with mortality rates of the general population of Germany according to the Federal Statistical Office of Germany. The retrospective *post-hoc* analysis was conducted after completion of the initial study at the University Hospital and neurologists' practices in the greater area of Cologne, Germany. Eligible patients had a diagnosis of idiopathic PD and were aged 25–85 years.

Results: Parkinson's Disease patients in this trial had an even slightly lower mortality rate as the general population (1.66 v. 2.1%). These results are contradictory and speak for a substantial proportion of late-stage disease patients, who have not been adequately included in this study or have been better treated within this trial. The mean disease duration of patients in this study was around 6 years which resembles the lower range of the mean disease duration at death of PD patients in general.

75

Conclusions: The results of our *post-hoc* analysis show, that accessing PD patients in the last phase of their disease is extremely difficult and nearly fails in spite of an integrated care approach. Reasons for poor access and loss of follow-up at the end of life have to be identified and care models for PD patients until the end of life should be developed urgently.

Keywords: Parkinson, palliative care, end-of-life, integrated care, late-stage, network

INTRODUCTION

Despite a significant progress in treatment strategies and modern therapy concepts neurodegenerative diseases like idiopathic Parkinson's disease (PD) or atypical Parkinsonian disorders inevitably lead to progressive motor, neuropsychiatric and nonmotor symptoms (1–5). Dementias develops in up to 80% of patients after 20 years (6), depressions in more than 40% of patients and psychotic experiences are frequent in PD patients (7). Reduced mobility implicates higher mortality as in the agerelated population, specifically due to infections (pneumonia, urinary tract infections) or falls with consecutive fractures (8). According to a recent meta-analysis, mortality in PD patients is increased in a range of 0.9–3.8. The mean duration until death ranges between 6.9 and 14.3 years, where increasing age and development of dementia were most commonly associated with increased mortality (9).

Palliative care in PD patients considerably differs from palliative care provision in oncology patients, in terms of the models of care, the provision and the duration. The beginning of the palliative phase in PD is still not well defined but according to a recent publication it lasts about 2.2 years for PD patients and 1.5 years for APS before death (10). Currently only occasionally palliative care structures are integrated selectively during the course of the disease. Patients with PD/APS die from infections as a consequence of swallowing difficulties or injuries and fractures as the consequences of falls (11), but hardly ever in hospices and more seldom at home than patients of other oncological diseases (12).

In the last years in the greater area of Cologne, Germany, the Cologne Parkinson's network was designed as a randomized, controlled prospective clinical trial in order to increase quality of life of PD patients. This innovative model of care integrated a neurologist in private practice, a movement disorder specialist and a PD nurse of the University Hospital. In consultation hours at the practices of the neurologists' patients met with the integrated care team and individual neurological treatment plans were designed. The PD nurse visited patients at home regularly every 3 months and could be contacted in between to follow and address patients' Parkinson-related problems. This integrated, multiprofessional, individual and personalized therapy meeting individual needs of patients improved their quality of life, motor functioning as well as non-motor symptoms (13).

This integrated care model included PD patients, who were able to visit a practice of a neurologist. Our retrospective *post-hoc* analysis of the trial's data aimed to detect whether this care model managed to access or follow, respectively, also PD patients at the end of life.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This study was set up as a randomized controlled prospective clinical study with two arms in the greater area of Cologne in Germany.

The Cologne Parkinson Network (CPN) was established together with movement disorders experts and a PD nurse from the University Hospital of Cologne, Department of Neurology (CE) together with 25 community neurologists.

The trial was conducted between February 2012 (first patient first visit) and July 2015 (last patient last visit) and was approved by the local ethics committee of the medical faculty of the University of Cologne (No. 11-233). For further details of this trial we refer to the published study (13). The study was registered in the German Register for Clinical studies (DRKS00003452).

Briefly, patients were screened for potential involvement [age 25-85 years, exclusion criteria were unstable medical condition as a co-morbidity, major depression (BDI-2 >30 points), severe cognitive decline (PANDA <14 points)] by community neurologists and presented in quarterly Parkinson's consultation hours together with the movement disorders expert and the PD nurse. The time of the consultation was set as needed (up to a maximum of 45 min). Patients were randomized to either a control group (CG) or an intervention group (IG). In the CG, patients were included in the study at the baseline visit in the Parkinson's consultation hour and continued regular German neurological treatment. This included visits at the community neurologists practice about every 3 months (baseline, 3 months, 6 months). Once included, the PD nurse obtained questionnaires and surveyed clinical parameters (e.g., UPDRS III) at baseline and every 3 months. Patients had access to regular physiotherapy, occupational or speech therapy. Access to different medications was the same for both treatment arms.

The IG-treatment additionally included the development of an individual treatment plan, regular home visits of a PD nurse (every 3 months or whenever necessary on short notice) and a telephone hotline. Individual treatment plans were reviewed every 4 weeks and adapted according to individual patients' needs. Furthermore, the PD nurse synchronized the therapeutic pharmacological intervention with the program of speech therapists or physiotherapists. Thus, whenever necessary, rapid therapeutic modifications could be achieved.

Primary outcome parameter was the PDQ-39 to assess quality of life of patients. Changes in mood, motor and

non-motor functioning and cognition (BDI-2, UPDRS III, NMS-Score, PANDA) were evaluated as secondary outcome parameters. Daily medication was converted to the Levodopa equivalence dose according to published conversion rates (14).

Mortality rates of patients during the study period of 6 months were registered and compared with mortality rates of the general population of Germany according to the Federal Statistical Office of Germany (www.destatis.de).

RESULTS

A total of 1,400 patients were screened for eligibility. 300 patients were eligible, included and randomized. Patients were equally randomly assigned to an intervention (IG) and control group (CG). Mean age at baseline was 69.8 ± 8.4 for the IG and 69.9 ± 7.8 years in the CG. 132 patients in the IG and 125 in the CG completed the study, 37 patients dropped out (see **Figure 1** for reasons). Overall, 5 patients deceased during the study period in the IG, which is 1.66% of the total study population (n = 300). Reasons for death were heart failure due to myocardial infarction (n = 3), hospitalization after femoral neck fracture, secondary aspiration pneumonia and sepsis (n = 1) and in consequence of pancreatic cancer (n = 1). None of the patients in the CG deceased.

PDQ-39 improved more in IG compared to CG (2.2 points (95% CI –4.4 to 0.1); p = 0.044). Likewise, change scores between IG and CG favored IG for UPDRS III (p < 0.001, mean change 3.3, 95% CI –4.9 to –1.7) and PD-NMS (p < 0.001, mean change 11.3, 95% CI –17.1 to –5.5).

The primary outcome parameter significantly improved in the IG compared to the CG over a 6-month period (2.2 points (95% CI -4.4 to 0.1); p = 0.044). The secondary outcome UPDRS improved in the IG after 6 months (p < 0.001, mean change 3.3, 95% CI -4.9 to -1.7). The scores of the PD-NMS improved likewise after 6 months in favor of the IG (p < 0.001, mean change 11.3, 95% CI -17.1 to -5.5). No changes were detected for the cognition (PANDA) or depressive symptoms (BDI-2). For an overview of baseline characteristics see **Table 1**.

According to the mortality tables of the general population the mean mortality rate for the years 2012–2014 is 2.1% (mean of yearly mortality rates for women/men) for citizen aged 60–80 years (as comparable to the set of the study patients: mean age of patients \pm standard deviation) https://www.destatis.de/DE/ZahlenFakten/GesellschaftStaat/ Bevoelkerung/Sterbefaelle/Sterbefaelle.html;jsessionid= CC24B4774EDE040EE924FA2B881F0EE9.cae4%22%20/l %20%22Tabellen%22). As such, the group of PD patients in this trial had an even lower mortality rate as the general population (1.66 v. 2.1%).



TABLE 1 | Baseline characteristics IG and CG.

Outcome parameter	Intervention group (IG) Mean and SD	IG n =	Control group (CG) Mean and SD	CG n =	p-value*
Age in years	69.8 ± 8.4	131	69.9 ± 7.8	132	0.924
Women/men		47/85		52/80	0.518
Disease duration/time since diagnosis in years	6.2 ± 6.2	126	5.5 ± 5.2	124	0.716
Hoehn and Yahr stage	2.5 ± 0.8	132	2.6 ± 0.8	125	0.687
Primary Outcome: PDQ-39 Total Score	26.0 ± 14.8	132	27.7 ± 15.6	125	0.407
Subscale mobility	32.1 ± 26.6	132	31.9 ± 24.3	125	0.882
Subscale activities of daily living	27.9 ± 23.6	132	28.9 ± 23.2	125	0.661
Subscale emotional well-being	27.3 ± 20.9	132	31.9 ± 19.6	125	0.072
Subscale stigma	17.4 ± 16.1	132	19.6 ± 20.2	125	0.815
Subscale social support	14.2 ± 19.6	132	14.5 ± 18.7	125	0.561
Subscale cognition	30.9 ± 19.6	132	33.3 ± 21.1	125	0.436
Subscale communication	22.0 ± 18.8	132	2.9 ± 21.1	125	0.927
Subscale bodily discomfort	36.0 ± 23.0	132	39.2 ± 23.4	125	0.266
SECONDARY OUTCOMES					
UPDRS III	28.3 ± 9.1	132	28.0 ± 8.7	125	0.938
PANDA	24.7 ± 3.8	131	24.7 ± 3.5	125	0.795
BDI-2	12.0 ± 8.2	132	12.6 ± 7.3	125	0.266
NMS	53.9 ± 29.6	132	62.3 ± 34.6	125	0.057
Daily LEDD	612.9 ± 431.3	132	612.4 ± 390.6	125	0.659
OTHER					
Medication use in %					
Levodopa	34%	132	34%	125	0.921
Dopamine agonist	30%	132	31%	125	0.885
COMT inhibitor	9%	132	9%	125	0.927
MAO B blocker	16%	132	15%	125	0.862
Amantadin	11%	132	11%	125	0.911
Anticholinergic	0%	132	0.71%	125	0.101
Deep brain stimulation	4%	132	2.8%	125	0.422

*The p-values are from Pearson's chi-square test (nominal data) or Kruskal-Wallis test (at least ordinal data), respectively.

DISCUSSION

This integrated care model was implemented including various modalities to sustain quality of life in PD patients. The primary and secondary outcome parameters were adequately achieved in this study. Furthermore, this approach may have the opportunity to improve access to PD patients also at the end of life. However, the results of our *post-hoc* analysis show, that accessing PD patients in the last phase of their disease is extremely difficult and nearly fails in spite of an integrated care approach. Reasons for loss of follow-up have to be identified and care models for PD patients until the end of life should be developed urgently. In this study, one major reason for poor access to and loss of follow-up was the missing access to immobile patients. Patients had to get access to neurologists' practices. If they could not turn up at the consultations as they were bed-bound at home or in a nursing home, they could not be included and/or further followed in the study. We are aware, that exclusion criteria like dementia or severe depression are a serious limitation for the inclusion of late stage PD patients. However, this ambitious trial addressed successfully with a highly elaborated integrated care program the various needs of PD patients. We are convinced that not the exclusion criteria were the most limiting factor but immobilization of late stage PD patients played a much more important role.

This cohort showed an even lower mortality than the general German population. Patients in the CG had an even lower mortality rate compared to the IG, albeit a lacking individualized therapy. These results are somewhat contradictory and speak for a substantial proportion of patients, who were not been adequately included in this study as we know that mortality normally increases in PD. Another option for the low mortality rates is an overall improved treatment within this study which lead to a better monitoring process in both treatment arms. Patients in both groups were closely monitored in terms of motor functioning, detection of cognitive decline, depression or further non-motor symptoms. It has been shown that a closer monitoring in clinical trials improves patients outcomes (15). The mean disease duration of patients in this study was around 6 years which resembles the lower range of the mean disease duration at death of PD patients (9). This argues for an overall representative group of PD patients in the late stage of the disease, albeit motor symptoms, daily dosage of levodopa or Hoehn and Yahr stage are moderately expressed.

The time of integrating palliative care is critical, especially as in PD/APS many obstacles and preconceptions have to be overcome. The concept of early integration as described by Shin and Temel for oncology patients (16) targets to routinely assess for pain and other symptoms and regularly inquire about a patient's understanding of his disease and his goals of care. This can provide an extra layer of support for patients and their families by helping with more challenging symptom management, psychosocial support, complex decisionmaking, advance care planning, and transitions in care (16). This concept can easily be adapted to PD patients in order to integrate specialist palliative care at a disease stage at which patients themselves can still decide on their affairs e.g., with respect to advanced care planning like tube feeding, emergency management, future care in a nursing home vs. staying at home etc

Specialist palliative care is typically accessible for patients with cancer, albeit a variety of measures to improve access to palliative care for people suffering from incurable non-cancer conditions have been implemented more recently. At least shown for Western Australia, in the last 10 years the proportion of patients with non-cancer conditions getting access to specialist palliative care was increasing about 6%. For PD patients this increase was even bigger with 7.5% (17).

There have been some uncertainties, how patients with noncancer progressive neurological long-term conditions get access to specialist palliative care. Van Vliet et al. reviewed this issue for the UK and found heterogeneity in service provision and integration between neurology and specialist palliative care services, which varied not only between sites but also between diseases (18). Especially PD patients, less APS, did not frequently benefit from specialist palliative care. This asks for integrated care models, e.g. specialist palliative care could be used as an "add-on" approach to the existing integrated care model of the Parkinson's network if needed. Palliative care, without taking over.

Overall, not only in the late phase, PD patients show an increased utilization of emergency departments. Gerlach et al. reported that 16-45% of PD patients visit the emergency department at least once per year. Additionally, patients were 1.5 fold more likely to be hospitalized and stayed 2-14 days longer than controls (19). Beside the higher rates of hospitalization, symptom burden increases with progressing disease. This leads to a changing role of spouses toward a full-time caregiver. Spouses and family members who form together with the patients the "unit of care," frequently report to feel isolated and discouraged, without guidance and coordination from healthcare providers and lacking information (20, 21). Finally, they are overstrained after years of supporting and caring for/about the patients. Due to this, a substantial proportion of PD patients dies in hospitals rather than at home or in hospices (12)-even if this is not the preferred place to die for PD patients (22). However, this depends from the symptom burden of patients.

All these findings support the urgent need for advanced care planning (ACP), one important aspect of palliative care. Most of PD patients have not expressed their decisions for proceedings at the end of life. This can include insertion of percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy (PEG) tube for nutrition as well as the preferred place of death. Overall, reduced (or non-existent) APC in PD patients may lead to an underrepresentation of PD patients in a model of care as presented here. However, APC was not surveyed in this study.

These findings ask for an intensive debate about ACP in PD, as currently it seems not to be adequately addressed during the course of PD. According to Walker, an ACP discussion might "include the individual's concerns, their important values or personal goals for care, their understanding about their illness and prognosis and their preferences for types of care or treatment that may be beneficial in the future and the availability of these" (23). Especially as written ACP are associated with less use of life sustaining treatment, greater use of hospice and less likelihood of hospitalization during end of life phase (24). Furthermore, it was shown, that at least half of PD patients wish to discuss APC early in the course of the disease (25). These findings encourage the implementation of thorough ACP within integrated care structures already at early disease stages.

All these different aspects ask for a further development of the integrated care model, which includes the following principles:

- a. Integration of specialist palliative care knowledge at a very early point in the course of the disease with respect on the acceptance of the diagnosis (e.g., once a year from the time of the diagnosis),
- b. Implementation of a *clinical liaison/case manager* (e.g., a PD nurse) as a patient advocate, who takes care of the patient during the course of the disease, especially in critical phases of the disease (e.g., high symptom burden, late stage, etc.)
- c. Integration of nursing homes, as PD patients in nursing homes are underrepresented in neurological care
- d. Integration of general practitioners/family doctors, as they have a closer contact to patients' families and know about changing situations of care,
- e. Dovetailing of neurological and specialist palliative care units and outpatient services in order to use knowledge and the best principles of both disciplines.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CE: conception, organization, and execution of the research project, data assessment and data analysis, conception and execution of the statistical analysis, writing and critical review of the manuscript drafts. RD: execution of the research project, data management. JS: execution of the research project, data management, statistical analysis. GF: critical review of the manuscript drafts. LT, RV, and HG: data assessment, critical review of the research project, data assessment, critical review of the manuscript drafts. SL: conception of the research project, data assessment, critical review of the manuscript drafts.

FUNDING

This study was funded by Abbott Pharma GmbH, Archimedes GmbH, Bayer Vital GmbH, Medtronic GmbH, Teva Pharma GmbH, UCB Pharma GmbH, Zur Rose Pharma GmbH.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The CPN study group included the following community neurologists: Susanne Adams, MD; Karl Assmann, MD; Angela Böhme, MD; Eckhard Bonmann, MD; Gisela Buchberger, MD; Birgit Cremer, MD; Christian Dortmann, MD; Johannes Faulhaber, MD; Mehran Ghaemi, MD; Martin

REFERENCES

- Litvan I, Mangone CA, Mckee A, Verny M, Parsa A, Jellinger K, et al. Natural history of progressive supranuclear palsy (Steele-Richardson-Olszewski syndrome) and clinical predictors of survival: a clinicopathological study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry (1996) 60:615–20. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.60.6.615
- Martinez-Martin P. An introduction to the concept of "quality of life in Parkinson's disease." J Neurol. (1998) 245(Suppl. 1):S2–6. doi: 10.1007/PL00007733
- Sjostrom AC, Holmberg B, Strang P. Parkinson-plus patients-an unknown group with severe symptoms. J Neurosci Nurs. (2002) 34:314–9. doi: 10.1097/01376517-200212000-00005
- Bhatia S, Gupta A. Impairments in activities of daily living in Parkinson's disease: implications for management. *NeuroRehabil.* (2003) 18:209–14.
- Calne SM. The psychosocial impact of late-stage Parkinson's disease. J Neurosci Nurs. (2003) 35:306–13. doi: 10.1097/01376517-200312000-00004
- Hely MA, Reid WG, Adena MA, Halliday GM, Morris JG. The Sydney multicenter study of Parkinson's disease: the inevitability of dementia at 20 years. *Mov Disord*. (2008) 23:837–44. doi: 10.1002/mds.21956
- Cooney JW, Stacy M. Neuropsychiatric issues in Parkinson's Disease. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep. (2016) 16:49. doi: 10.1007/s11910-016-0647-4
- Roos RA, Jongen JC, Van Der Velde EA. Clinical course of patients with idiopathic Parkinson's disease. *Mov Disord.* (1996) 11:236–42. doi: 10.1002/mds.870110304
- Macleod AD, Taylor KS, Counsell CE. Mortality in Parkinson's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Mov Disord*. (2014) 29:1615–22. doi: 10.1002/mds.25898
- Thomas S, Macmahon D. Parkinson's disease, palliative care and older people: Part 1. Nurs Older People (2004) 16:22–6. doi: 10.7748/nop2004.03.16.1.22.c2290
- Golla HVR, Lorenzl S, Borasio, GD. Palliativmedizin bei neurologischen Erkrankungen. Zeitschrift für Palliativmedizin (2008) 9:97–119. doi: 10.1055/s-2008-1067538
- Moens K, Houttekier D, Van Den Block L, Harding R, Morin L, Marchetti S, et al. Place of death of people living with Parkinson's disease: a population-level study in 11 countries. *BMC Palliat Care* (2015) 14:28. doi: 10.1186/s12904-015-0021-3
- Eggers C, Dano R, Schill J, Fink GR, Hellmich M, Timmermann L, et al. Patient-centered integrated healthcare improves quality of life in Parkinson's disease patients: a randomized controlled trial. J Neurol. (2018). doi: 10.1007/s00415-018-8761-7
- Tomlinson CL, Stowe R, Patel S, Rick C, Gray R, Clarke CE. Systematic review of levodopa dose equivalency reporting in Parkinson's disease. *Mov Disord.* (2010) 25:2649–53. doi: 10.1002/mds.23429

Hettmann, MD; Christine Hofmann, MD; Sabine Kersting, MD; Gereon Nelles, MD; Wei-Chi Liu, MD; Rainer Maelger, MD; Kyra Merzbach, MD; Oliver Scharwat, MD; Joachim Schläfer, MD; Christian Schmiegelt, MD; Dirk Schulze Zumloh, MD; Annette Semmroth, MD; David Svoboda, MD; Hans-Hermann Winter, MD; Sonja Wirtz, MD; Gilbert Wunderlich, MD.

- Mullins CD, Vandigo J, Zheng Z, Wicks P. Patient-centeredness in the design of clinical trials. *Value Health* (2014) 17:471–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jval.2014.02.012
 Shin L Tanuel L Interneting Physics and Physics
- Shin J, Temel J. Integrating palliative care: when and how? Curr Opin Pulm Med. (2013) 19:344–9. doi: 10.1097/MCP.0b013e3283620e76
- Rosenwax L, Spilsbury K, Mcnamara BA, Semmens JB. A retrospective population based cohort study of access to specialist palliative care in the last year of life: who is still missing out a decade on? *BMC Palliat Care* (2016) 15:46. doi: 10.1186/s12904-016-0119-2
- Van Vliet LM, Gao W, Difrancesco D, Crosby V, Wilcock A, Byrne A, et al. How integrated are neurology and palliative care services? Results of a multicentre mapping exercise *BMC Neurol.* (2016) 16:63. doi: 10.1186/s12883-016-0583-6
- Gerlach OH, Winogrodzka A, Weber WE. Clinical problems in the hospitalized Parkinson's disease patient: systematic review. *Mov Disord.* (2011) 26:197–208. doi: 10.1002/mds.23449
- Giles S, Miyasaki J. Palliative stage Parkinson's disease: patient and family experiences of health-care services. *Palliat Med.* (2009) 23:120–5. doi: 10.1177/0269216308100773
- Hasson F, Kernohan WG, Mclaughlin M, Waldron M, Mclaughlin D, Chambers H, et al. An exploration into the palliative and end-of-life experiences of carers of people with Parkinson's disease. *Palliat Med.* (2010) 24:731-6. doi: 10.1177/0269216310371414
- Gomes B, Calanzani N, Gysels M, Hall S, Higginson IJ. Heterogeneity and changes in preferences for dying at home: a systematic review. *BMC Palliat Care* (2013) 12:7. doi: 10.1186/1472-684X-12-7
- 23. Walker RW. Palliative care and end-of-life planning in Parkinson's disease. J Neural Transm. (2013) 120:635–8. doi: 10.1007/s00702-013-0967-3
- Teno JM, Gruneir A, Schwartz Z, Nanda A, Wetle T. Association between advance directives and quality of end-of-life care: a national study. J Am Geriatr Soc. (2007) 55:189–94. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2007.01045.x
- Tuck KK, Brod L, Nutt J, Fromme EK. Preferences of patients with Parkinson's disease for communication about advanced care planning. *Am J Hosp Palliat Care* (2015) 32:68–77. doi: 10.1177/1049909113504241

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Eggers, Dano, Schill, Fink, Timmermann, Voltz, Golla and Lorenzl. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





A Pilgrim's Journey—When Parkinson's Disease Comes to an End in Nursing Homes

Katharina Maria Lex^{1*}, Philip Larkin^{2,3}, Jürgen Osterbrink^{1,4} and Stefan Lorenzl^{1,5,6}

¹ Institute for Nursing Science and Practice, Paracelsus Medical University, Salzburg, Austria, ² UNIL - Université de Lausanne, CHUV - Centre hospitalier universitaire vaudois, Faculté de biologie et de médecine - FBM, Institut universitaire de formation et de recherche en soins - IUFRS, Lausanne, Switzerland, ³ European Association of Palliative Care (EAPC), Milan, Italy, ⁴ WHO Collaborating Centre for Nursing Research and Education, Salzburg, Austria, ⁵ Department of Neurology and Palliative Medicine, Hospital Agatharied GmbH, Hausham, Germany, ⁶ Department of Palliative Medicine, University Hospital of Munich, LMU, Munich, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Raymond Voltz, Zentrum für Palliativmedizin, Uniklinik Köln, Germany

Reviewed by:

Carlo Alberto Defanti, Fondazione Europea di Ricerca Biomedica (FERB Onlus), Italy Erwin Montgomery, University of Alabama at Birmingham, United States

*Correspondence:

Katharina Maria Lex katharina.lex@pmu.ac.at

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Movement Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 19 June 2018 Accepted: 23 November 2018 Published: 11 December 2018

Citation:

Lex KM, Larkin P, Osterbrink J and Lorenzl S (2018) A Pilgrim's Journey—When Parkinson's Disease Comes to an End in Nursing Homes. Front. Neurol. 9:1068. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.01068 Our interdisciplinary mixed-methods exploratory study was aimed at gaining empirical data on the medical and nursing demands of residents who are in a late stage of Parkinson Disease (PD) and are cared for in residential homes in Salzburg (Austria). In earlier studies it has been concluded that symptom burden of late stage PD patients is similar to or even higher compared with oncological patients. However, although all nine residents who took part in our study had severe limitations in performing their daily activities and experienced enormous restrictions in their mobility, they were quite content with their present living situations and did not show significant symptom burden. From the ethnographic family interviews that we conducted the following features emerged: a strong closeness in the family, an improved quality of life when the patients lived in the nursing home and fears about the future. Therefore, we concluded that living in a nursing home that provides for the needs of these patients is the best option for PD patients in the final stages of their disease as well as for their relatives.

Keywords: morbus Parkinson, nursing homes, palliative care needs, ethnographic interview, assessments

INTRODUCTION

Parkinson's Disease (PD) is the second most frequent neurodegenerative disease worldwide. It is estimated that between seven and 10 million people worldwide are living with PD (1). In Austria approximately 20 000 people live with PD (2). It has been estimated that the number of people who are older than 50 years and are diagnosed with PD will rise considerably from 4.1 to 4.6 million in 2005 to 8.7–9.3 million in 2030 (3). Bach et al. predicted that the number of people who will be affected by PD in 27 European countries, the US and Canada will increase by a factor of 1.6 between 2010 and 2035 (4). It is difficult to estimate the occurrence of PD in the population, as it varies considerably between different publications (5). Between one and two in 1,000 people are affected by PD (5). The average life expectancy of patients who are diagnosed with PD is around 15 years in Europe (6). In people who are 65 years or older the diagnosis of PD is a strong determining factor of long-term institutionalization, even when other chronic conditions and socio-demographic parameters are taken into account (7). Among male patients with PD 30% live in an institution and among female patients even 40 % (7).

The burden of symptoms of late stage PD patients has been described as similar or even higher than of those patients who suffer from oncological diseases (8). It has often been concluded that patients who suffer from advanced stages of PD have substantial unmet palliative care needs (8, 9). Families are often caring for their relatives over a long time period as well as round the clock with considerable personal, financial, social and health sacrifices (10). As the illness progresses and the abilities of the patients are increasingly reduced, the dependency on care rises significantly. At the same time health professionals often loose interest in patients and their families (9). Because medical options decrease and patients are not anymore eligible for pharmacological/medical studies.

Objectives

In the nursing and residential homes in the city of Salzburg and the Salzburg county 4,384 people were being cared for in 2016 (11). Of these, 1,959 were 85 years of age or older (11). The exact number of residents being cared for in the nursing homes in the city of Salzburg and Salzburg county and being diagnosed with PD cannot be given, as there are no valid statistics.

Patients who are in an advanced stage of PD rarely participate in empirical studies (12). In Germany a non-representative study that analyzed death certificates from two different regions, demonstrated a tendency for more and more people dying in nursing homes over recent years: the number of people who died in nursing homes had risen from 12% in 2001 to 19% in 2011 (13).Only few empirical data are available for the care and medical situation of patients in an advanced phase of PD (14). In Salzburg and Salzburg county no data existed about the experience of residents with PD in their last phase of life, nor about their nursing and medical palliative care needs. The experiences of caring relatives are also unknown and their wishes when they are in close contact with their family members who suffer from severe PD and are cared for in a nursing homes. To get answers to these questions, the authors conducted this mixed-methods interdisciplinary, exploratory study.

METHODS

This study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Salzburg county in November 2016 (415-E/2065/15-2016).

Residents were eligible to take part in our study if they matched our inclusion criteria. They had to be able to give written consent to their participation in the study or be able to instruct a legal attorney to give written consent on their behalf. This was the case for five participants. Another precondition for participation was the diagnosis of an advanced stage of PD (Hoehn and Yahr stage IV and V). At the time our visits and interviews took place, residents had to live in a nursing home either in Salzburg or in Salzburg county. The family member that was also interviewed in this study had to give written consent as well. Before we started with the first visit to a resident, the authors received a contract signed by the municipal authority of the city of Salzburg in which the city allowed the authors to conduct the study in the city's nursing homes. We conducted an exploarive, mixed-methods study.

Instruments

We characterized each patient's situation using established scores. The Hoehn and Yahr scale and the Schwab and England Activities of Daily Living Scale were utilized to check each patient's inclusion criterion: being in an advanced stage of PD (Hoehn and Yahr stage 4 or higher). To assess the resident's severity of symptoms, the authors used the Unified Rating Scale for Parkinsonism (UPDRS). To describe the resident's quality of life the PDQ (Parkinson Disease Questionnaire) and the EQ-5D were used. To test if typical symptoms of the disease were present and to monitor their severity, the authors examined residents with the Edmonton Symptom Assessment System Parkinson Disease (ESAS-PD). To estimate the resident's satisfaction with medical and nursing support we used the patient satisfaction questionnaire short form (PSQ-18). The Charlson-Comorbidity Index Score was used to predict the resident's 10 year mortality. The Supportive and Palliative Care Indicator Tool (SPICT) was employed to detect the resident's palliative care needs and the necessity to develop individual care plans. The resident's family member's psychological situation was appraised by the Zarit Caregiver Burden Inventory (ZBI-22). To gain an insight into the quality of life of the resident's family member insofar as it relates to the experience of dementia, the researchers used the DEMQOL-Proxy-questionnaire.

Furthermore, we used the so-called "surprise question" ("Would you be surprised if this patient died within the next 6 months?") as it is a simple tool which may help to judge estimates of the remaining life time. It is already part of clinical guidelines—e.g., the Gold Standard Framework in the UK.

TABLE 1 | Average and standard deviation of the assessment instruments.

	Average	Standard deviation	Number of residents, who participated $= n$
PDQ	2.54	1.89	8
EQ5D	0.26	0.44	6
GESZ	51.55	40.78	6
ESASPD	1.67	2.65	6
LISK 1	0.89	0.93	5
LISK 2	0.78	0.67	5
PSQ 18	0.36	1.1	1
DEMQOLP	1.24	1.58	5
ZBI	0.26	0.86	2
UPDRS	1.77	1.66	9
Hoehn and Yahr	4.66	0.5	9
Schwab and England	2.66	1.41	9
CCI	0.1	0.70	3
Surprise question			9

TABLE 2	Recruitment	of the	nursing	home	residents.

Participating nursing home	Number of residents	Selected residents who met the inclusion criteria	Number of residents, who were seen by the research team	Number of residents in whom PD Hoehn and Yahr stage 4 or higher could be verified
A (remote, rural area, Salzburg county, privately run)	121	8	8	2
B (remote, rural area, Salzburg county, run by the Austrian red cross)	52	2	2 (1 other resident died before the research team could visit the resident)	1
C (remote, rural area, Salzburg county, run by the local community)	36 (6 day care places)	1	0 (the resident died before the research team could visit the resident)	0
D (City of Salzburg, run by the City of Salzburg)	60	8	4 (4 residents family members were not reachable to ask for study consent/ did not want their resident to participate in the study)	3
E (City of Salzburg, run by the City of Salzburg)	96	6	3 (relatives of 2 residents were not reachable/did not give their consent to their residents participating in the study)	0
F (City of Salzburg, run by the City of Salzburg)	100	5	1 (relatives of 4 residents were not reachable/did not give their consent to their residents participating in the study)	0
G (remote, rural area, Salzburg county, run by the local community)	140	7	4 (2 proxies of attorneys needed more time to decide whether residents should participate in the study: in this time frame 2 residents died; 1 other family members did not give consent to participate in the study)	2
H (remote, rural area, Salzburg county, run by the "Salzburg Hilfswerk")	66	1	1	1
	671	37	23	9

Originally it was developed to provide help with the decision about referral of patients to specialist palliative care treatment. It has been refined to help with the decision about the level of specialist palliative care treatment a patient might need. However, the accuracy of the surprise question, when used as a single assessment tool, varies considerably (15). Therefore, more scientific work is needed to clarify the prognostic accuracy of the surprise question (15). Hence, we intended to find out whether the surprise question can be a helpful tool in identifying patients who might profit from "active total care." This term describes a combination of active treatment and, at the same time, the offer of medicine (and nursing care) which help -managing disabling symptoms and therefore make the time until death worth living (16). The results are shown in **Table 1**.

The authors are aware of the difficulties in exactly predicting death, even when using the "surprise question" (17). Only in fewer than 4% of patients dying in the subsequent year the predicted mortality was above 80% when patients were admitted to the hospital a recent study showed (17).

The authors did intentionally not ask direct questions concerning advanced directives or end-of-life care as the local ethics committee was extremely worried about the study team asking direct questions on death and dying. The big fear was that the authors asking specific question might enlarge residents and family members' worries about their present living situation.

Recruitment

Recruitment has been done in eight different nursing homes (four were located in the city of Salzburg and four in Salzburg county), see Table 2. Overall, 15 nursing homes with a total number of 1,478 residents are located in the city of Salzburg. Further 60 nursing homes (3,699 residents) are located in the Salzburg county (18). All nursing homes being either located in the City of Salzburg or in Salzburg county were contacted about the study either via telephone or by Mailing. The recruitment of the nursing home residents is shown in Figure 1. Recruitment has been supported by the chief doctor of the nursing homes in Salzburg who selected possible patients; we have distributed posters and flyers describing our study in the nursing homes. To gain extra attention (and possible study participation) of additional residents who were diagnosed with PD and who were not contacted by the chief doctor the flyers and posters were distributed. A message about the start of the study was announced via the electronic newsletter of the Institute



for Nursing Research and Practice at the Paracelsus Medical University at Salzburg.

A total of 23 residents have been seen by the research team. Our gatekeepers were nursing home doctors, nursing home directors and people who are in charge of the organization of nursing homes in Salzburg and Salzburg county. Nursing home directors tested the criteria for inclusion into the study through their personal and professional nursing experiences and by checking the medical records of the residents that were available at the nursing home. The doctors who are in charge of the nursing homes at the city of Salzburg checked whether the residents who were willing to participate matched our inclusion criteria. The residents were visited in the nursing homes, where they lived by a professor for neurology and palliative care (SL) and by a nursing scientist who is also a nurse (KL). With all nine residents the assessment and the interview took place in the resident's room.

In the second phase of the visit (after completion of the various assessments) the authors invited relatives to participate in ethnographic interviews. This procedure was taken because we first had to confirm the diagnosis of idiopathic PD.

RESULTS

Of the 23 patients reported as idiopathic PD in only nine the diagnosis of PD with a Hoehn and Yahr stage 4 or higher could be verified (see **Figure 1**). Out of these nine patients it was possible to conduct family interviews in the style of ethnographic interviews in five cases.

The median age of the residents suffering from PD was 79.8 years. The socio-demographic data are shown in **Table 3**.

All residents had several comorbidities including polyneuropathy (n = 2), high blood pressure (n = 3), cerebrovascular diseases (n = 2), dementia (n = 3), cardiac

insufficiency (n = 1), chronic lung disease (n = 1), gastritis (n = 2), spinal stenosis (n = 1), blindness (n = 1), type II diabetes (n = 1), and alcohol addiction (n = 1).

The averages and standard deviation of the assessment instruments we used can be seen in **Table 1**.

The research team was surprised by the fact that all residents included in the study were quite satisfied with their living situation, despite being severely impaired by their illness, especially in their overall autonomy. None of the residents had a feeding tube (PEG). Interestingly, one of them had had a PEG but due to intensive nursing care, he got rid of it and started to eat normally again. None of the residents had bothersome symptoms. All residents received a minimum dosage of anti-Parkinson medication (see **Table 4**). The illnesses of the not included residents can be seen in **Table 5**.

As a result of the surprise question, five nurses would be surprised if the residents would die within the next 6 months. Four nurses would not be surprised if the resident would die. All family members would be surprised if their relatives would die within the next 6 months.

We had to exclude 14 patients from our study for several reasons as shown in **Figure 1**. Surprisingly, the 10 residents, who did not match the PD diagnosis, had been treated with classical Parkinson medication. This has been in fact an ethically challenging result of our study. The authors reported this result to the residents, their family members and the nurses working in the residential homes. In four cases the doctor in charge was told about the result. In three cases the responsible doctor in the residential home was told. In several cases, SL gave some alternative treatment advice. Interfering in these cases is extremely difficult, as the researcher (SL) who could not verify the PD-diagnoses is not the doctor in charge, but acted in his role as a researcher.

Qualitative Data

We conducted semi-structured, ethnographic, half-guided family interviews. We performed five interviews with daughters (2), husbands (1), sons (1), and (step-) brothers (1). One planned interview could not be conducted, although the relative (wife) was willing due to a severe speech impairment of the wife. The interviews were recorded and in the following paraphrased. The following features emerged from the interview data

- Strong closeness in the family
- Improved quality of life by living in the nursing home
- Fear about the future
- Feeling of responsibility for the resident, although s/he is being cared for in a nursing home

A positive aspect which emerged through the assessments and the interviews was a remarkable sense of closeness: family members had the feeling of symbiotically belonging to the resident and having the role of advocates, in the sense of caring and protecting the resident's needs who is vulnerable. A resident's half-brother told us about his biggest concern: "I worry whether I visit her enough." Before the interview took place, he told the team that he visits his half-sister who is wheelchair bound and whose reactions and supposed understanding of verbal communication are extremely reduced, every other day.

In another interview situation the husband and his wife seemed to be very much one single person: the wife was enormously reduced in her physical and psychological expression, while the husband was extremely protective and very aware of his role as his "wife's advocate."

The improved quality of life that both parties enjoy when the patient relocated into a nursing home can be illustrated by the following interview quotes. In contrast to any burdens when the patient moved into the nursing home, his/her new living and caring situation in the nursing home has even some beneficial aspects as well. It emerged from the interviews that the main reasons for nursing home treatment were frequent falls at home. Sometimes these falls had severe physical consequences: a resident's wife told us about her husband: "At home, he always fell. One time my son and I could not pick him up. He was too heavy. We had to call the ambulance. At the fall, he lost a tooth.... At home he was on his own and felt lonely; I was still working part-time. I was so worried. Then we moved him to the nursing home. He is much better here. The nurses look after him and cope well with his diabetes. And furthermore, he has something to occupy himself. On this ward lives a lady who enjoys playing cards. So they play cards together. Every day. He enjoys himself."

A son was interviewed about his father's situation. He is completely bedridden and just able to use the words "yes" and "no" seemingly living in his own world: "Father enjoys eating. I think that is the only activity he still enjoys. Nurses care for him extremely well, so there is no burden for me that he lives in a nursing home." "If it were possible to take him in a wheelchair and take a stroll through the park, that would be something I would enjoy tremendously."

A husband used a very colorful picture to illustrate his fears concerning their future: "It all changes so quickly." When asked about his biggest wish he answered: "If my wife's health situation TABLE 3 | Sociodemographic variables of patients.

	Residents with PD
Total number of residents (n)	9
Man (n)	4
Woman (n)	5
Age (range) (median)	59–94 (79.8)
Hoehn and Yahr stage 4	3
Hoehn and Yahr stage 5	6
Disease duration, years (range) (median)	6–20 (9)
Stay in residential home, years (range)	1–7
Specific anti PD-treatments e.g., deep brain stimulation in the past	1
Regular treatment by a neurologist	2

could only improve to the situation it was in 2012, when we celebrated our golden wedding anniversary together."

Caring relatives have the impression that they continue to be "in charge of the elderly relative." Other family members and friends did not keep in contact with the residents. One daughter described this situation as the family was divided. None of the other family members kept in contact or visited her father. That is why she is the only person in her large family who feels that she is in charge of her father's social support and wellbeing. "That the other family members do not care about father's wellbeing has led to rifts within the family. I do not understand why the other family members do not care."

A son told us what annoyed him most was that he from a large family with four other siblings was the only family member who regularly visited his father and felt responsible, including dealing with his financial and legal affairs. He is his legal guardian.

Caring family members seemed to be in a conflicting situation: although they were informed about the actual medical situation and the fact that death was probably to be expected in the near future, all of them hoped that their frail relative might get better. None of the family members expressed the wish that the old and ill relative may have a "good death" and avoid disturbing symptoms as for example dyspnea, fear or pain in the dying phase. When asked about her most important wish, the daughter who told us about the family rifts answered: "When the good fairy comes, she should take Parkinson's Disease away. Without Parkinson's, father would only have the usual symptoms of old age and everything would be fine."

All the wishes about which the caring relatives spoke with the team were optimistic regarding the resident's future. One impressive wish was expressed by a resident's half-brother whose sister had been blind in one eye for the past 5 years and who was bed-bound. She needed complete help in all daily activities (ADLs). When he was asked what he would wish for his halfsister, he answered: "My largest wish is for her eyesight to improve."

A resident's (step-) brother said: "It is like being on a pilgrimage." With this statement he illustrated the ups and downs his sister and he experienced while living with PD, but finally she had reached a state where she wandered to the final destination.

TABLE 5	Illnesses	of the	not i	ncluded	residents.

Dementia (not specified)	5
Pseudo dementia	1
Late dyskinesia	1
Psychological tremor	1
Wernicke encephalopathie	1
Morbus Parkinson Hoehn and Yahr stage 3	2
Morbus Parkinson Hoehn and Yahr stage 2	1
Unclassified	2

DISCUSSION

The subject of residents who suffer from late stage PD and are cared for in nursing homes is internationally under researched. Only few empirical data are available on residents with PD Hoehn and Yahr stage 4 or higher who are cared for in residential homes [e.g., (19)]. That is why general knowledge on medical and nursing palliative care demands in these patients is limited.

The most important finding of our research has been that although patients who are in a progressive state of PD and are severely disabled, did not seem to have significant physical or emotional burden. Whilst residents were not satisfied with their overall health situation, they were not desperate. Relatives were still emotionally closely connected with the patients and expressed hope and confidence about the progression of the disease and the overall situation of the patients. Participation in our study was not a strain for patients with PD or for their family members. In contrast, we gained the impression that residents and carers, family members as well as nurses, enjoyed being able to contribute to our research.

The residents who participated in our study had been ill on average for 9 years. This is comparable with an earlier study of patients in a community setting in the United Kingdom (UK) (8). However, the residents in our study had a lower quality of life (EQ5D=0.26) compared with the patients who participated in the UK study (8). Although the objectively measured quality of life has been low in our study, the residents were content with their present living situation and seemed to have a much higher "subjectively" experienced quality of life which we could not measure with the instruments we were using. Although all residents in our study were severely limited in their mobility, as they were either bedridden or wheelchair-bound, they did not make a point of it. In another study by Veronese et al. the prevalence of residents experiencing severe mobility problems was 66.7%. Especially people suffering from neurodegenerative diseases have severe constraints on their daily life activities (9). As the illness progresses and mobility becomes even more limited, patients and their family members get used to these limitations (9). If patients are not able to move on their own they are severely affected in their activities and well-being (20). On the other side being bedridden might also be a survival strategy. By lying down patients may gather their strengths to do other things that may be more important to them (20). In this particular

ID- number			Medicat	Medication against PD				Pain medication	cation		Anticonvulsi	Anticonvulsive, antidepressive, and antipsychotic medication	sive, and antip	osychotic mec	dication	
	Levodopa E (mg)	Levodopa Entacapone Ropinirol Pramipexol Rasa; (mg) (mg) (mg) (mg)	Ropinirol (mg)	Pramipexol (mg)	Rasagilin I (mg)	Biperi- dine (mg)	Rivas- tigmine (mg)	Paracetamol (mg)	Tramadol (mg)	Clonazepam (mg)	Paracetamol Tramadol Clonazepam Levetiracetam Mitrazapin Lorazepan Milnacipran Quetiapin (mg) (mg) (mg) (mg) (mg) (mg) (mg) (Mitrazapin (mg)	Lorazepan (mg)	Milnacipran (mg)	Quetiapin (mg)	Trazodon- hydrochlorid (mg)
2 2	600			7,65				1,500	300	0	1,000					
6	300											15	t-			
10	500				-									25	25	150
11			12			4	18									
18	250			2,62	F											
19	300	400													25	
22	300	200						500				15			50	

Interestingly, the relatives seemed to have got used to the residents' situations. When we asked them about their wishes concerning the future they articulated a general wish for the patients to "get better again." The ability to move did not seem to be particularly important.

Only two relatives answered the Zarit Caregiver Burden Inventory (ZBI). The very low ZBI- average of 0.26 is due to the fact that the relatives' actual suffering is low because the patient is no longer cared for at home. It might also be an indicator that the nursing care quality in the residential homes in Salzburg and the Salzburg county is high. This result shows a clear contrast to the result of our earlier study where we have recently shown that the ZBI-average is high when PD patients in the advanced stages are cared for at home (14). We have not yet assessed the ZBI factor of nurses in residential homes who care for the PD patients.

The finding that being close to one's family plays an important role for nursing home residents as well as for family members is consistent with other empirical data (21). It has already been shown, how important it is for residents to have close relationships to family and friends. These relationships are the foundation for relational dignity which is an important part of residents' concepts of their dignity (21).

All interviewed family members were convinced that their family members would survive the next 6 months; at the same time relatives were aware of the palliative phase of their family members and seemed to know that they might die sometime in the near future. Relatives of nursing home residents with late stage PD seem to experience highly ambivalent emotions. On the one hand they are very aware of their relatives' health situation as the palliative care phase had already started or was imminent and on the other hand they have optimistic wishes for their relatives' future which are not associated with a wish for a "good death."

An important result was the strong feelings of uncertainty about the future. Many relatives expressed these worries in the interviews. In a qualitative study that explored PD patient's palliative needs (22). The main theme was the strong feeling of uncertainty and worry about the future (22). In this aspect our interviews are consistent with prior results (22).

The observation that family members "who are in charge of the resident" felt abandoned by the other family members or former friends of the resident has already been made in another study (9). Interestingly, being abandoned applies also to professionals: e.g., neurologists who do not care anymore about the elderly patients deteriorating (9).

Several residents had been diagnosed with PD years ago. However, this diagnosis could not be verified by the PD specialist (SL). All these residents had been treated with classical anti-Parkinson medication.

An idea to take some tension from not being able to verify a former PD-diagnosis and the n being stuck in the difficult situation of unclearness which doctor to confront with the "wrong" diagnosis—often having been diagnosed by a trusted GP- using the social constructivism method might help (23).

The research literature strongly suggests that people in advanced phases of PD should be looked after by a neurologist (12). As residents are no longer mobile enough, to travel and seek diagnosis and treatment by a neurologist, outreach neurologist services are strongly advised (12). Treatment by a neurologist leads to improved survival, fewer PD-related hospitalizations, lower health-care costs and greater patient satisfaction. Residents are also healthier, therefore it is extremely advisable to enable more PD-patients who are cared for in nursing homes, to have the benefits of getting medical treatment by neurologists as long as possible (24).

It is known that PD patients who are treated by a neurologist have an additional 6 years of survival compared with patients, who are looked after by family doctors or geriatricians (25). It has also been investigated that nursing home residents cared for by a neurologist are in better general health: they have lower rates of dementia, hip fracture, congestive heart failure, diabetes, ischemic heart disease, and stroke/TIA (25). To draw a reverse conclusion: residents who are not medically treated by a neurologist have a higher risk of suffering from comorbidities and the probability of an earlier death.

Taking the global shortage of neurologists (especially of those being experts in movement disorders) into account, specially qualified nurses might be a solution in ensuring a good medical and nursing care of residents having to live in nursing homes (26, 27). In some countries (e.g., Sweden) especially qualified PDnurses take over an expert position in continuing medical and nursing care throughout the disease trajectory and offering a high amount of professional competency (27). It might be possible to qualify nurses according to the Swedish model and let these nurses care medically—in specific aereas- for affected residents. With this model the care of PD-residents might improve as less residents with wrong PD-diagnosis might be medically treated as having PD.

The authors had the impression that a high proportion of the residents' present quality of life was due to the caring and responsible work of the nurses and other carers who work at the Salzburg residential homes. The researchers were deeply impressed by the dedication of the nurses and the positive atmosphere in the nursing homes. The nurses were calm, lively and devoted.

The most important result of our study was that good palliative care is based on considerate nursing care and on minor and timely medical supplementation. This result confirmed the result of the study by Masel et al. (28). One of the main results of this study was that attentiveness and symptom management are important for PD patients (28).

Furthermore, reliable and validated PD and palliative care assessment instruments could not be adequately used in patients' late stages. Therefore, it was not possible to use classical, advanced statistical tests for analyzing data.

Based on our results it seems to make sense to triangulate methods when exploring patients' needs who are in an

advanced phase of PD. With the validated assessment instruments experienced neurologists are able to verify the patients' illness stage. If one needs a more in- depth view of the experiences of patients and their relatives, qualitative methodology is essential. Combining interviews and observations with established assessment tools will lead to even more insights into the situations of the residents.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

KL: research project organization and execution, manuscript writing of the first draft; SL: research project conception and execution, statistical analysis design, manuscript review and critique; JO: funding; PL: manuscript review.

REFERENCES

- 1. *Parkinson's Association of the Carolinas*. Available online at: http://www. parkinsonassociation.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/11/PDF-Parkinsons-FAQ.pdf (Accessed May 9, 2018).
- Parkinson Selbsthilfe Österreich. Available online at: http://www.parkinsonsh.at/morbus_parkinson/morbus_parkinson.php (Accessed May 09, 2018)
- Dorsey ER, Constantinescu R, Thompson JP, Biglan KM, Holloway RG, Kieburtz K, et al. Projected number of people with Parkinson disease in the most populous nations, 2005 through 2030. *Neurology* (2007) 68:384–6. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000247740.47 667.03
- Bach JP, Ziegler U, Deutschl G, Dodel R, Doblhammer-Reiter G. Projected numbers of people with movement disorders in the years 2030 and 2050. *Mov Disord*. (2011) 26:2286–90. doi: 10.1002/mds. 23878
- Tysnes OB, Storstein A. Epidemiology of Parkinson's disease. J Neural Transm. (2017) 124:901–5. doi: 10.1007/s00702-017-1686-y
- Bower JH, Maraganore DM, McDonnell SK, Rocca WA. Incidence and distribution of Parkinsonism in Olmsted County, Minnesota, 1976-1990. *Neurology* (1999) 52:1214–20.
- Nihtilä EK, Martikainen PT, Koskinen SV, Reunanen AR, Noro AM, Häkkinen UT. Chronic conditions and the risk of long-term institutionalization among older people. *Eur J Public Health* (2008) 18:77–84.
- Higginson IJ, Gao W, Saleem TZ, Chaudhuri KR, Burman R, McCrone P et al. Symptoms and quality of life in late stage Parkinson syndromes: a longitudinal community study of predictive factors. *PLoS ONE* (2012) 7:e46327. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.00 46327
- Veronese S, Gallo G, Valle A, Cugno A, Chió A, Rivoiro C, et al. The palliative care needs of people severely affected by neurodegenerative disorders: a qualitative study. *Prog Pall Care* (2015) 23:331–41. doi: 10.1179/1743291X15Y.0000000007
- von Campenhausen S, Winter Y, Rodrigues e Silva A, Sampaio C, Ruzicka E, Barone P, et al. Costs of illness and care in Parkinson's Disease: an evaluation in six countries. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2011) 21:180–91. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2010. 08.002
- Bundesministerium für Arbeit, Soziales und Konsumentenschutz. Österreichischer Pflegevorsorgebericht 2016 (in German). Available online at: https://broschuerenservice.sozialministerium.at/Home/Download? publicationId=449 (Assessed May 9, 2018) (2017).
- Strupp J, Kunde A, Galushko M, Voltz R, Golla H. Severely affected by Parkinson disease: the patients view and implications for palliative care. *Am J Hosp Palliat Care* (2018) 35:579–85. doi: 10.1177/10499091177 22006

FUNDING

This study was funded by a grant from the Stifterverband der Deutschen Wissenschaft.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank all participating residents, families, and nurses. We like to thank especially Mrs. Angela Kirchgatterer (head of the residential home Abtenau, Salzburg county) and Dr. Randolf Messer (doctor in charge of Salzburg city's residential homes) for spending so much time and effort in supporting this study.

A sincere thank you to Dr. Charlotte Behr, Roehampton University London, UK for language revision of the manuscript.

- Dasch B, Blum K, Gude P, Bausewein C. Place of death: trends over the course of a decade – a population based study of death certificates from the years 2001 and 2011. *Dtsch Arztebl Int.* (2015) 112:496–504. doi: 10.3238/arztebl.2015.0496
- Schmotz C, Richinger C, Lorenzl S. High burden and depression among late-stage idiopathic Parkinson disease and progressive supranuclear palsy caregivers. J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol. (2017) 30:267–72. doi: 10.1177/0891988717720300
- White N, Kupeli N, Vickerstaff V, Stone P. How accurate is the "Surprise Question" at identifying patients at the end of life? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Med.* (2017) 15:139. doi: 10.1186/s12916-017-0907-4
- Murray SA, Boyed K, Sheihk A. Palliative care in chronic illness. We need to move from prognostic paralysis to active total care. *BMJ* (2005) 330:611–2. doi: 10.1136/bmj.330.7492.611
- Einav L, Finkelstein A, Mullainathan S, Obermeyer Z. Predictive modeling of U.S. health care spending in late life. *Science* (2018) 360:1462–5. doi: 10.1126/science.aar5045
- Salzburg County (Land Salzburg). Seniorenheime & Hausgemeinschaften. Informationen, Tipps, Adressen. Available online at: https://www. salzburg.gv.at/soziales_/Documents/Publikationen/Seniorenheime%20und %20Hausgemeinschaften.pdf (Assessed May 14, 2018) (2017).
- Weerkamp NJ, Tissingh G, Poels PJE, Zuvidema SU, Munnneke M, Koopmans RT, et al. Nonmotor symptoms in nursing home residents with Parkinson's disease: prevalence and effect on quality of life. *JAGS* (2013) 61:1714–21. doi: 10.1111/jgs.12458
- Zegelin A. Older people. "Tied down" the process of becoming bedridden through gradual local confinement. *Journ Clin Nursing* (2008) 17:2294–301. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2702.2007.02261.x
- 21. Pleschberger S. Dignity and the challenge of dying in nursing homes: the residents' view. *Age Ageing* (2007) 36:197–202. doi: 10.1093/ageing/ afl152
- Boersma I, Jones J, Carter J, Bekelman D, Miyasaki J, Kuttner J, et al. Parkinson disease patients' perspectives on palliative care needs: What are they telling us? *Neurol Clin Pract.* (2016) 6:209–19. doi: 10.1212/CPJ.00000000000 00233
- King ML. A social constructivism decision-making approach to managing incidental findings in neuroimaging research. *Ethics Behav.* (2018) 28:393–410. doi: 10.1080/10508422.2017.13 06445
- Safarpour D, Thibault DP, De Santo CL, Dorsey ER, Racette BA, Willis AW. Nursing home and end-of-life care in Parkinson disease. *Neurology* (2015) 85:413–9. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000001715
- Willis AW, Schootman M, Evanoff BA, Perlmutter JS, Racette BA. Neurologist care in Parkinson disease. A utilization, outcomes and survival study. *Neurology* (2011) 77:851–7. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e31822c9123
- 26. Burton A. How do we fix the shortage of neurologists? High-income countries have a shortage of neurologists. With continuing deficits predicted, the

problem can only worsen as populations age. So what is being done about this? And is anything working? Adrian Burton investigates. *Lancet* (2018) 17:502–3. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(18)30143-1

- Hellqvist C, Berterö C: Support supplied by Parkinson's disease specialist nurses to Parkinson's disease patients and their spouses. *Appl Nurs Res.* (2015) 28:86–91. doi: 10.1016/j.apnr.2014.12.008
- Masel EK, Kitta A, Huber P, Rumpold T, Unseld M, Schur S, et al. What makes a good palliative care physician? A qualitative study about the patient's expectations and needs when being admitted to a palliative care unit. *PLoS ONE* (2016) 11:e0158830. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0158830

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Lex, Larkin, Osterbrink and Lorenzl. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Dementia and Parkinson's Disease: Similar and Divergent Challenges in Providing Palliative Care

Jenny T. van der Steen^{1,2*}, Herma Lennaerts³, Danny Hommel^{4,5}, Bertie Augustijn⁶, Marieke Groot⁷, Jeroen Hasselaar⁷, Bastiaan R. Bloem⁴ and Raymond T. C. M. Koopmans^{2,8,9}

¹ Department of Public Health and Primary Care, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, Netherlands, ² Department of Primary and Community Care, Radboud university medical center, Nijmegen, Netherlands, ³ Departments of Neurology and Anesthesiology, Pain and Palliative Care, Radboud university medical center, Nijmegen, Netherlands, ⁴ Department of Neurology, Donders Institute for Brain, Cognition and Behaviour, Radboud university medical center, Nijmegen, Netherlands, ⁵ Groenhuysen Organisation, Roosendaal, Netherlands, ⁶ Dutch Parkinson's Disease Association, Bunnik, Netherlands, ⁷ Department of Anesthesiology, Pain and Palliative Care/Expertise Center for Palliative Care, Radboud university medical center, Nijmegen, Netherlands, ⁸ Radboudumc Alzheimer Center, Nijmegen, Netherlands, ⁹ De Waalboog "Joachim en Anna," Center for Specialized Geriatric Care, Nijmegen, Netherlands

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by: Marianne De Visser, University of Amsterdam, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Pratap Chand, Saint Louis University, United States Pedro Chana, Universidad de Santiago de Chile, Chile Mohamed Mosaad Salama, Mansoura University, Egypt

> *Correspondence: Jenny T. van der Steen jtvandersteen@lumc.nl

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Movement Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 22 July 2018 Accepted: 16 January 2019 Published: 11 March 2019

Citation:

van der Steen JT, Lennaerts H, Hommel D, Augustijn B, Groot M, Hasselaar J, Bloem BR and Koopmans RTCM (2019) Dementia and Parkinson's Disease: Similar and Divergent Challenges in Providing Palliative Care. Front. Neurol. 10:54. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00054 Dementia and Parkinson's disease are incurable neurological conditions. Patients often experience specific, complex, and varying needs along their disease trajectory. Current management typically employs a multidisciplinary team approach. Recognition is growing that this team approach should also address palliative care issues to optimize quality of life for patient and family caregivers, but it remains unclear how palliative care is best delivered. To inspire future service development and research, we compare the trajectories and conceptualization of palliative care between dementia and Parkinson's disease. Both Parkinson's disease and dementia are characterized by a protracted course, with progressive but fairly insidious development of disability. However, patients with Parkinson's disease may experience relatively stable periods initially but with time, a wide range of debilitating symptoms develops, many of which do not respond well to treatment. Eventually, dementia develops in most Parkinson patients, while motor disability develops in many dementia patients. In both diseases, symptoms such as pain, apathy, sleeping problems, falls, and a high caregiver burden are prevalent. Advance care planning has benefits in terms of being prepared before the disease progresses into a stage with communication problems or severe cognitive impairment. However, for both conditions, the protracted disease trajectories complicate conceptualization of palliative care through different stages of the disease, with pertinent questions such as when to offer what interventions pro-actively. Given the similarities and differences, we should develop palliative approaches that are partially generic and partially disease-specific. These should be integrated seamlessly with disease-specific care. Substantial research is already being performed on dementia palliative care. This may also inform the further development of palliative care for Parkinson's disease, including an evaluation of palliative interventions and services.

Keywords: end of life care, hospice care, palliative care, health services, nervous system diseases

INTRODUCTION

Palliative care has been developed to improve quality of life, mostly for patients with incurable cancer (1, 2). However, equity of access to palliative care involves access on the same footing for patients with other incurable diseases. This does not mean that palliative care is, or should be, the same across these diseases. On the contrary, to optimally tailor care to individuals, the contents of palliative care, and how, when and where it is delivered, can and in fact should differ between diseases.

Along the trajectory of chronic-progressive and incurable neurological diseases such as dementia or Parkinson's disease (PD), various complex needs arise, some of which are diseasespecific. Palliative care promotes quality of life in the face of *any* life-threatening, or progressive, incurable illness (3, 4). To optimize it for individuals, however, a good understanding of disease-specific aspects of palliative care is helpful, i.e., a conceptualization of what palliative care entails exactly for a specific disease.

Epidemiology of Dementia and Parkinson's Disease (PD)

Dementia and PD are both diagnosed frequently and increase mortality (5, 6). Perhaps dementia is perceived more so as a memory problem and a disease of old age, but the incidence of dementia and PD in younger age is similar. In the Netherlands, for dementia, the incidence per 1,000 person-years is 0.4 among those aged 60-64 (7), and for PD, it is 0.3 (ages 55-65) (8, 9). Dementia incidence patterns, however, show a much steeper increase with age; mounting to 27 per 1,000 person-years for those 85 and over, compared to 4 for PD over 85. In view of similar mortality (6), therefore, the prevalence of dementia in the general population is much higher than prevalence of PD (8-11). However, adjusted for age and other factors, 6-year mortality in PD is higher than in Alzheimer's dementia (6). Age adjustment is relevant also as it shows that comorbid disease may be equally prevalent for Alzheimer's-a main type of dementia-and PD across the same age groups (12).

Comparing Trajectories and Conceptualization of Palliative Care for Dementia and PD

The two disease trajectories may overlap partly as dementia is a frequent manifestation of PD. Mild cognitive impairment may already present upon diagnosis of PD (13). Importantly, it is independently associated with lower quality of life (14). Across studies, typically about a quarter of patients with PD have dementia (15, 16), but ultimately, most develop dementia (15–17).

A clear conceptualization of palliative care in chronicprogressive diseases is important for the development of healthcare systems that facilitate the integration of a palliative approach (18). Therefore, in this article we compare the disease trajectories of dementia and PD in as far as relevant for the conceptualizations of palliative care. We do not include atypical Parkinsonian disorders such as multiple system atrophy because these warrant a special approach with earlier palliative care (19). We first provide background on where we are by describing how palliative care for dementia and PD developed.

Palliative Care in Dementia

The first evaluated palliative care program specific to dementia was described in 1986 (20). The volume of research has grown exponential after 2000 (21, 22). There are few randomized controlled trials, and therefore, there is still little evidence on effectiveness (23, 24). However, many western countries have funded observational studies resulting in numerous publications describing patient, family and professional caregiver needs (25, 26).

Research specific to dementia is important because the course of the disease is highly variable and uncertain. Because of the progressive dementia, patients themselves often cannot remain involved in decision making. Also, health services and changes such as transfer to a hospice, do not necessarily represent optimal care for people with dementia (27). Palliative care in dementia needed a clear conceptualization, and the European Association for Palliative Care (EAPC) along with experts agreed to a distinct concept in terms of eleven domains, different from "usual" palliative care (28).

Palliative Care in Parkinson's Disease

Palliative care for people with PD and their caregivers has progressed over the last 10 years but it is still an upcoming field. Evidence of effects is limited (17, 29, 30) but trials are underway (31). Qualitative studies on palliative care needs (32– 34) and natural history studies (35–37) have indicated that the needs of people with advanced PD are complex. Awareness of the potential benefit of palliative care is growing, but we know little about useful components (17, 29). To the best of our knowledge, there is no clear conceptualization of the specifics of palliative care in PD.

DIFFERENCES AND SIMILARITIES

We highlight key similarities and differences between the trajectories and perceptions of the disease, and treatment and care for people with dementia and PD based on recent literature. The comparator is a population without the disease, sometimes matched or adjusted for differences such as age or co-morbidities.

The Disease Trajectories

With both diseases, the diagnosis may be delayed due to gradual onset with a-specific symptoms after which burdensome symptoms develop, while the disease duration is highly variable (**Table 1**, items a and b). Burdensome symptoms that decrease quality of life often include rather unspecific symptoms such as pain and depression. Clearly, PD is distinct from dementia as it is characterized by its motor symptoms, such as bradykinesia, rigidity, and tremor. Symptomatic treatments are available and with the right therapeutic approach, the course of PD typically includes an initially relatively stable phase.

For PD patients, loss of functional ability (item c) occurs with symptoms that are largely unresponsive to treatment speech TABLE 1 | The course of dementia and Parkinson's disease: items relevant to palliative care.

Course of the disease, items	Dementia	Parkinson's disease
a. Diagnosis, duration, and staging	Symptoms may occur long before diagnosis of dementia. Onset is usually after age 65, but when before, duration is usually longer, and the number of life years lost is greater (5). Survival of dementia patients is highly variable between individuals and across studies with median or mean survival generally being between 3 and 12 years from diagnosis (5, 38, 39) About half may die before reaching an advanced stage of dementia when decision making and ADL functioning are severely impaired (40) and the large majority does not reach a stage in which they are totally dependent in ADLs, incontinent, bedridden, and mute (41). Definitions of severe or advanced dementia generally comprise criteria for cognition combined with criteria for behavior and function including ADL (42–44)	Prodromal symptoms, such as depression, constipation and Rapid Eye Movement (REM) sleep behavior disorder may occur long before diagnosis (45–47). Progression and survival in Parkinson's disease is highly variable, and mean duration of the disease until death ranges between 7 and 14 years (48). Patient populations are heterogeneous and complex and therefore the clinical course is variable (49). Given enough time, the disease is suggested to progress through five phases: prodromal, stable, unstable, advanced, and late-stage disease (50). However, consensus on demarcation of later stages is lacking (51, 52)
b. Symptoms (physical, psychological, social, and spiritual) and caregiver issues	Pain, agitation and shortness of breath are highly prevalent and burdensome symptoms, and pain and shortness of breath increase toward the end of life (44, 53) while agitation and other symptoms such as apathy may increase during the course of the illness in community-dwelling people (54), but may stabilize or decrease at the end of life (in nursing home populations) (44, 53) Agitation and behavioral symptoms of dementia prevalence rates vary widely but develop at some point in most people with dementia (55, 56). They add greatly to caregiver burden (57). In particular depression often compromises quality of life (58). Regarding spirituality, recent studies show that people with dementia may understand through remembrance of early life experiences (59, 60)	Diagnosis is based on motor symptoms; bradykinesia, tremor, and rigidity (61). Parkinson's disease affects physical, emotional and psychosocial aspects of life (62, 63). Compared to motor symptoms, non-motor symptoms, such as pain, depression, fatigue, psychotic phenomena are more important in terms of quality of life (64, 65) and they may be under recognized (66, 67) Cognitive deficits in Parkinson's disease may be present already at diagnosis and affect quality of life (14). There is significant impairment in executive functions such as poor planning and problem solving capacities. Up to a majority may develop dementia ultimately (15–17) Caregiver burden increases when patients reach advanced stages due to increasing disability, and also with the appearance of symptoms such as hallucinations, depression and falls (68)
c. Functioning	Progressive impairment is related to a decline in cognitive and physical functioning. There is a continuous decline in functioning, e.g., first dependency in IADL occurs, followed by ADL dependency (69). There are also various personality changes with different types of dementia; for example, apathy more commonly develops with Lewy body dementia compared with Alzheimer's disease (70, 71)	The disabling nature of Parkinson's disease increasingly hinders daily activities and social participation (72). Disease progression leads to impairments at different levels of body functions, limitations in a wide variety of ADL and IADL functioning and in a severe stage, disability, and social embarrassment occurs
d. Cause of death	Dementia is often not mentioned as a cause of death in death certificate studies, in particular when patients are younger, have mild dementia and a non-Alzheimer type of dementia (73). Immediate causes of death are often pneumonia and cardiovascular problems (73, 74) also in autopsy studies [e.g., (75, 76)]; more often so compared to people with no dementia	Parkinson's disease was not reported as the underlying or contributory cause of death on more than 53% of death certificates (77). There is a significant increase in deaths from pneumonia, dementia and other infections (78, 79)
e. Prediction of mortality	Strong predictors of mortality are functioning (ADL dependency), nutritional status or intake (80) and male gender including in acutely ill patients (81, 82). Higher age and various co-morbid conditions also relate to increased mortality. Dementia stage, however, is not a strong predictor of mortality in nursing home residents with dementia (83, 84) as a fatal pneumonia or food and fluid intake problem also occur before the advanced stage. Similarly, a late stage on the Functional Assessment Staging (FAST) scale has no predictive value (85). Of note, the available prognostic scores do not identify many at risk of death within a particular timeframe, although they can identify a reasonably sizeable group of people at low risk of mortality, within, e.g., 6 months	Strong predictors of death in people with Parkinson's disease are age, dementia, pneumonia, infections and falls (6, 79, 86–89). Other studies also found male gender, comorbidity, axial features and motor and therapy-related complications to predict mortality (90, 91). Both motor complications and non-motor symptoms were associated with mortality at 4 years in a recent study in patients with Parkinson's disease and no dementia (91)

problems, postural imbalance and cognitive deterioration; (51, 92) or with symptoms that may worsen due to treatment (psychosis, orthostatic hypotension) (51). Other reasons for functional deterioration are age-related comorbid disease (92) and under-treatment of symptoms (93, 94), which also happen with dementia. With dementia, loss

of motor or functional ability often relates to progressive cognitive dysfunction.

Defining a severe or advanced stage of the disease (item a) has been recognized as important for palliative care in case of dementia (42–44). For PD, the most widely used measure to define disease stage is the Hoehn and Yahr scale (51, 52, 95).

However, it selectively focuses on motor function. A recent consensus study defined key factors for diagnosing advanced PD including, for example, ADL impairment, and dementia (96).

The stage of dementia is often being perceived as relevant for palliative care although there is no consensus how exactly (28). Also, it is not a particularly strong predictor of mortality among those with moderate or severe dementia, despite sensitive measures; this may be related to uncertainty as to in what stage acute problems such as pneumonia develop or different resilience among long-term survivors (**Table 1**, items d and e) (74, 83, 84). Similarly, a late stage on the Functional Assessment Staging (FAST) scale has shown no predictive value (85), but practice lags behind, still promoting it for prognostication in dementia (97). ADL dependency, on the other hand, is a strong predictor of mortality in dementia (44, 80, 81). In contrast, it may not predict mortality in PD well (98). In PD, dementia or cognitive impairment independently predicts mortality (6, 35, 99).

Pneumonia is a relatively frequent cause of death in dementia and in PD (74, 78, 81). However, well-known problems in coding practice include dementia being grossly underreported on the death certificate (73), also in those with PD (78). Similarly, PD often goes unreported (79).

The overlap between PD and dementia is significant as up to a majority of patients with PD eventually develop dementia (9, 16, 17), due to spreading of Lewy bodies. Because of initial stability and uncertainty as to whether patients develop severe cognitive problems or die before, PD may be perceived as an even more protracted disease course than the dementias.

Conceptualization of the Diseases, Needs, and Interventions

Both dementia and PD are incurable and progressive diseases with often complex problems and needs, for which tailored interventions are available (**Table 2**, items a–d). For dementia, experts agree that "recognizing its eventual terminal nature is the basis for anticipating future problems and an impetus to the provision of adequate palliative care" (28). Some advocate *advanced* dementia to be a terminal disease to support eligibility for palliative care. However, as about half of dementia patients never reach an advanced stage (**Table 1**); (40), it may be a late trigger to initiate palliative care. There is no consensus, however, at which stage palliative care in dementia should start (153, 154).

For PD there are no curative treatments either, but the success of dopaminergic replacement therapy and deep brain stimulation has enabled the majority of patients to live independently with a relatively low symptom burden for the first 10 years after diagnosis-when they live up to a decade (48). This may contribute to PD generally not being recognized as an illness for which a palliative approach may be helpful (155, 156). A US patient and caregivers council recommends palliative care to be available from diagnosis of PD (138). This is also the ideal of the European Parkinson's Disease Association (EPDA) (157) although they emphasize that when to start palliative care is an individual decision.

Patients with dementia may have a number of needs in the four domains of palliative care (physical, psychological, social and spiritual) in addition to specific needs for a peaceful, familiar environment, and practical support (104–106). Typically, complex, multifaceted interventions could address needs. Psychosocial needs may be pronounced in young-onset dementia (onset under age 65) (158, 159). Patient advocacy organizations recognize the importance of high-quality end-of-life and palliative care in the advanced stages (132–134).

To measure symptom burden, specific tools are available (**Table 2**, item e). For dementia, these typically involve proxy (caregiver) report. Quality of care and dying assessment tools specifically developed for dementia show the best psychometric properties (129). For PD, there are adapted versions of generic tools (118, 160). Regardless, effective use of tools and implementation of complex interventions requires multidisciplinary communication and team work (161).

Place of death varies by country (**Table 2**, item f). Patterns are similar for dementia (120, 121) and PD (124), with dying in nursing homes being common in many western countries except Southern European countries with more frequent home death, while hospital death is more common in Asian countries, France and Hungary. In the UK, a trend of decreasing hospital death and increasing nursing home death has been observed in dementia (162). However, continuity of care may be problematic across countries, with nursing home or hospital admissions at the end of life in people with dementia and PD (122–124, 163). Also, with PD, specific knowledge of the disease is often suboptimal among nursing staff in nursing homes, while upon admission, neurologists often stop seeing patients with PD, with communication of neurologists with primary care being suboptimal too (93, 94).

"Person-centered care, communication and shared decision making" was among the most important domains of palliative care in dementia according to experts around the world, and it was prioritized for research (28). Advance care planning (ACP) is a special form of ongoing communication about preferred future health care (Table 2, items g and h). Researchers and policy makers are increasingly interested in researching and implementing ACP, and some beneficial effects have been documented in dementia (23, 139, 140). However, there are numerous barriers such as patient and family expecting the physician to start it while physicians may not prioritize such anticipatory care. Also, while many appreciate discussions, not all would like to decide about future treatment (126, 164). Similar barriers might exist in PD (141). In a synthesis of studies, interview studies have shown physicians to be hesitant in discussing progression of the disease in early disease stages as they fear to diminish hope (17). Also patients indicate a conflicted need as they reported both a wish for more information on disease progression and death, and fear to receive the information ("an information tension") (17).

Family caregivers usually have information and support needs in regards to proxy decision making and how to best care for their loved one (28, 165) (**Table 2**, item i). They may experience a magnitude of stress in caregiving and pre-grief in dementia (145) and PD caregiving (150). In dementia, anticipatory grief in response to compounded serial losses is common, and stress in caregiving preceding physical death may be equal to or greater TABLE 2 | Conceptualization of the disease, needs of patients and family caregivers, and interventions.

Items about conceptualization, needs and care	Dementia	Parkinson's disease
a. Treatment of the disease	No curative treatment is available. Some drugs such as Donepezil may improve cognition and behavior of people with Alzheimer's disease. It may not deserve labeling it as disease modifying drugs; essentially this is palliative medication because they do not slow the progression of, nor cure the disease (100)	No curative or neuroprotective agents are available. A wide range of treatment strategies are available for symptom reduction, often requiring specific Parkinson's disease expertise. Available treatments are pharmacological (e.g., dopaminergic replacement), as well as rehabilitative (e.g., physiotherapy, occupational therapy) (101)
b. Conceptualization of the disease as a terminal disease	Recognizing dementia as a terminal disease may help providing adequate palliative care (28). However, about half of family caregivers and nursing staff do not perceive it as a terminal disease or a disease you can die from (102, 103)	To our best knowledge, there is no research that examines perceptions about Parkinson's disease as a terminal disease
c. Patient's needs in an advanced stage	In advanced dementia, needs may relate to the four domains of palliative care (4), additionally, to (practical) support, and important environmental needs such as a peaceful environment (104–106). Familiarity of environment, routines and people around who know the patient and can interpret the behavior is also important (27, 107)	Prizer et al. (108) add financial needs to needs in the four domains of palliative care and find that patients and families report fewer needs in the financial and spiritual domains; on average, as these needs are more variable between individuals than needs in the other domains. Patients preferred individualized care to address psychosocial issues, adjustment to illness (particularly at diagnosis and with progression), non-motor symptom control, and advance care planning as an adjunct to usual care (109) and it is also perceived as a social need (108). Patients and family caregivers in Canada found that they are not receiving enough information about diagnosis and prognosis (33)
d. Interventions to address needs in particular in an advanced stage	Non-pharmacological treatment of symptoms such as agitation is first choice (28, 100). Because symptoms are easily missed and causes are not always easily identified, systematic assessment and treatment (such as in the stepwise STA OP! or STI intervention) is needed (110). Also regular special programs (such as Namaste Care) (111) to connect with people in the advanced stage in a peaceful atmosphere are needed when they cannot participate anymore in regular activities such as those offered in nursing homes. Familiar rituals and music may be recognized until late stages of the dementia and therefore it is important to know religion or spiritual orientation (28, 59). Furthermore, spiritual, and faith practice may help cope with the disease, to find meaning in life, and they relate to wellbeing (59, 60)	Interventions are typically multifaceted and require specialist knowledge, therefore intervention programs have focused on enhancement of multidisciplinary collaboration and education of professionals (e.g., the expert network of ParkinsonNet). Evidence of effectiveness is becoming available, for example occupation therapy, physiotherapy and integrated multidisciplinary care (112–114). An international guideline in palliative care for people with PD includes recommendations for specific late-stage problems (115). However, no study has focused specifically on addressing palliative care needs
e. Assessment tools	Tools specific to dementia are needed for the assessment of pain, distress and behavior (116, 117). There are over 30 pain observation tools available (116) and there are also inventories for multiple symptoms that, in contrast, include pain as a single item such as the Integrated Palliative care Outcome Scale for Dementia (117)	There are symptom assessment tools adapted from generic tools that could identify specific palliative care needs in PD, such as the Palliative care Outcome Scale Parkinson disease (POS-PP) and the Edmonton Symptom Assessment System Parkinson's Disease (ESAS-PD) (49, 118, 119)
f. Place of death and continuity of care	In western countries, people with dementia in a moderate or severe stage are often admitted to a residential or nursing home which is also the most common site of death in most western countries. However, comparing several studies, home death was more common in Southern European countries and Mexico, and hospital death in (developed) Asian countries (120). Japan, for example, refers patients with dementia with behavioral problems to psychiatric inpatient care and people may die there (121). Continuity of care in the last year of life with dementia is problematic also in western countries including in the US and Finland (122, 123)	A substantial proportion of deaths with PD occur in a hospital although there is wide variation between countries. A study in 11 countries showed that hospital death was most prevalent in France, Hungary and South Korea, whereas nursing home death was most common in New Zealand, Belgium, USA, Canada and Czech Republic; and home death in Mexico, Italy and Spain (124). Patients with PD had more physician consultations and more emergency department visits per year compared to patients without PD (125)

(Continued)

TABLE 2 | Continued

Items about conceptualization, needs and care	Dementia	Parkinson's disease
g. Communication, decision making and the patient's perspective	Due to increasing cognitive problems, communication with people with dementia changes. Apprehension of risk changes and health numeracy decreases; patients are often not involved in treatment decisions (126, 127). Shared decision making models need an extended preparatory phase to first examine perceptions of the need for a decision (128) Palliative care or comfort care is often, but not always preferred for nursing home residents with dementia from the perspective of patient and family caregiver, in different countries (107, 129, 130). In a hypothetical situation of advanced dementia, most older people would opt for comfort care in a study in rural areas (131). Patient advocacy organizations have issued recommendations for end-of-life and palliative care in the advanced stages of dementia (132–134)	Dissatisfactory communication with professionals is one of the most common complaints of patients with PD (109, 135). Treatment of the disease is mainly driven by the clinician (136) In a hypothetical end-of-life situation the majority of proxies of patients with advanced PD would choose comfort care as the goal of treatment (137). A US patient and family caregiver council advocates palliative care to be available from diagnosis (138)
h. Advance care planning (ACP)	ACP often does not start until the late stage when the patient cannot be involved anymore. It is not always clear whose responsibility it is, there are multiple barriers including patients rather living by the day, and there may be discontinuity of information with a change of setting of care (126). However, in view of the cognitive decline, ACP is preferably started early (28). There is also evidence of effectiveness to increase advance decision making, family satisfaction with it, and other outcomes (23, 139, 140)	Many patients want information on prognosis early in the disease. Patients' preferences regarding communication and timing of end-of-life discussions vary (141). A full ACP process may be perceived as lowering mood in an early stage the disease, and should therefore be tailored to the stage of the disease and individual preferences (135). Only a few patients with PD who died in a UK hospital had had end-of-life care discussions which were documented (142)
i. Care for families	Family caregivers usually need support and care themselves including support in proxy decision making, long before the dying phase (28). Caring for a person with dementia is often highly burdensome especially when behavioral symptoms such as agitation and sleep disturbance develop (143). In addition to higher caregiver burden, there are fewer positive caregiving experiences, even at the end of life (144) Pre-grief often occurs with the decline of the patient, especially among spouses (145). Psychosocial interventions may decrease pre-grief (146)	Family dynamic change (30, 68, 147–149), loss of autonomy, economic strain and social isolation are part of the caregiver burden Pre-death grief was a significant finding in family caregivers of patients with advanced PD and was associated with a patient's cognitive decline (150). In a review (151) of 30 studies about interventions to support caregivers only one psychosocial intervention was shown to significantly decrease psychosocial problems and need for help (152). Interventions that embrace psycho-educational skills such as problem solving, goal setting and cognitive restructuring can bring benefit (29)

than stress in bereavement. Roland et al. (166) found caregiving experiences and stressors to be similar between caregivers care for a patient with dementia, PD, and PD and dementia.

Disease-Specific Palliative Care and Practice

Disease-specific palliative care is needed; services and tools taken uncritically from cancer palliative care have shown to not fit well with dementia and require adaptation or even redevelopment from scratch (27, 167, 168). Palliative care specialists, however, may not know enough about the specifics of dementia and PD. In addition to suboptimal access to palliative care (17) access *to disease-specific* multidisciplinary care for PD may be suboptimal (93, 169, 170).

Clearly, better integration of disease-specific and palliative care expertise is needed. To establish dementia-specific palliative care, the EAPC therefore recommends collaboration between disease-specific (dementia) and palliative care (28). In the UK there are initiatives for outreach with specialist dementia palliative care to support the familiar care team (27, 171, 172).

Regarding PD, the provision of palliative care is widely advocated (17, 29, 32, 173). A special task force of the International Parkinson & Movement Disease Society is dedicated to improving palliative care in PD (29, 174). A mapping exercise in the UK showed service provision to vary across regions, and services for PD were not well-integrated with palliative care (175). There are some patchy examples of integration of expertise from a palliative care department with a neurology department (176). Patients and family caregivers found they lacked knowledge about palliative care services. Only few patients received care from a palliative care services and coordination of care was poor (33, 147, 148). The need for palliative care, including early in the disease trajectory, has been emphasized by a collaborative statement from the EAPC and the European Academy of Neurology (EAN) (177).

Among dementia care specialists, providing palliative care early is controversial (154, 171). Soon after diagnosis, palliative care can start in the form of ACP if patient and family caregiver are willing to talk about the future (28). Waiting until an advanced stage means many will never receive palliative care, mortality having been predicted inaccurately so patients die well before palliative care issues could be addressed. Establishing criteria to restrict access to US hospice care to those closest to the end of life has been subject of considerable research [e.g., (82, 85)]. Prediction research consistently shows we can identify those likely to survive accurately, but not, or very few of those likely to die. Needs may differ with more advanced dementia though, and ideally, a needs-based approach is adopted (176). Similarly, for people with PD, triggers for palliative care (98) and access to US hospice care have been sought using a mortality prediction approach (178). For example, a BMI less than 18.5, accelerated weight loss and reduction of dopaminergic medications was suggested for referral to US hospice care (178).

There is a lack of awareness about palliative care being applicable to dementia both among the general public and health care professionals, and this is perceived as a major barrier to improve palliative care, for example by Dutch and British physicians (179). Nursing staff may feel that they lack competencies to deliver high-quality palliative dementia care (Bolt et al., under review). Also, in PD, professionals may feel uncertain about the palliative care they deliver and often experience a lack of education and competence in this field (155, 156, 180, 181).

CONCLUSION

Substantial research is being performed on dementia palliative care. Much has happened since early descriptive research in dementia compared symptoms and treatment with cancer [e.g., (182)], and introduced a hospice model of care (20). The research has culminated into a clearer definition of what palliative care

should entail with dementia and into some understanding of its effects. Comparisons with other diseases are now available regarding a variety of aspects (e.g., a higher caregiver burden compared with cancer (183), symptoms compared with various other chronic-progressive diseases (184), or specific problems described in subgroups with both dementia and cancer (185– 188). Nevertheless, it is still unclear what is important at what stage and how to best incorporate individual preferences, for example regarding discussions about future care.

PD follows an even more protracted course which complicates a clear definition and there is no agreed-upon, evidence-based, disease-specific conceptualization of palliative care. Even more varied multidisciplinary expertise may be needed including also dementia care expertise (in addition to PD disease-specific care, palliative care and generic long-term care for older people). More specific tools may also be needed, for example, application of pain observation tools in PD dementia should consider that facial expressions indicating pain are distinct [e.g., less eye narrowing but similar upper lip raising (189)], to avoid possible underreporting in Parkinson's disease compared with Alzheimer's disease (190).

The combining of various expertise requires clear roles and inter-professional collaboration which is challenging in the face of uncertain disease trajectories (191). However, integration of palliative care has shown to improve process outcomes and patient and caregiver outcomes in cancer and chronic-progressive disease (192). Integration should take place at the clinical (patient) level but also, for example, through relationships between professionals and between organizations and in the wider system (193). For this, multidisciplinary networking and teams sharing expertise

BOX 1 | Basic recommendations for practice of palliative care based on similarities and divergences between progressive neurological diseases and available evidence^{*}.

- 1) Do not wait with bringing palliative care to the table until a late or terminal stage of the disease. Although it seems an obvious and safe choice to limit to a late stage, it may be too late to involve the patient or to implement a palliative care treatment plan. With PD, there is often opportunity to speak about palliative care when cognitive problems are still mild or absent. With dementia, it is difficult to predict who will die already before the late stage, while many will, with unmet palliative care needs. Therefore, discussion of palliative care before a moderate stage is recommended.
- 2) Improving awareness, among all involved, of the progressive course of the disease supports a shared understanding of the disease, implications for death and dying and what it means for the individuals involved. This will be helpful in identifying and addressing palliative care needs.
- 3) Common causes of hospital admissions include pneumonia, sepsis, and falls. Physicians could discuss these scenarios as a starting point to establish patients' views and preferences regarding invasive therapies and the benefits of a palliative care approach.
- 4) Elicit preferences of patient and family and the preferred style with regard to talking about future care and end-of-life scenarios. Address any information needs, and a step-wise approach with discussions continued later on may avoid feelings of being overwhelmed.
- 5) The course of the disease is uncertain, whereas *change* is. All members of a care team should help identify and discuss subtle changes in symptom and caregiver burden early.
- 6) Palliative care is an approach in which intervening is still possible even if active treatment of the disease or its complications is not possible or when other treatment is being withheld. It can be a potent adjunct to usual care but it should be well-integrated, also at a system level. As opposed to being *uniform*, straightforward, hassle free fix, "*multi*" is the important term in this: *multifaceted interventions targeted to the individual in a context of multidisciplinary collaboration between generalists and disease and palliative care specialists.*
- 7) Tools to identify needs and a change in the patient's condition (physical, psychosocial, spiritual, caregiver needs) should be sufficiently *specific* to the disease while a context or setting *specific* system should be in place to support its continued use (for example, a systematic approach to managing pain, behavioral symptoms, autonomic dysfunction, sleep dysfunction or motor fluctuations/dyskinesias sustainably implemented in long-term or acute care).
- 8) Pre-grief with progressive decline of the patient and prolonged social isolation are common. Psychosocial support is needed in different phases to empower patients and family caregivers to cope with both chronic stressors and crises.

*We inferred this general and more disease-specific guidance from the items on course of the diseases and conceptualizations in **Tables 1**, **2**, acknowledging that these are only a couple of key recommendations and that evidence is limited. Also, this guidance should be refined and fit the local context when implemented. For more detailed guidance for clinical practice, we refer to the recommendations as part of the European Association for Palliative Care (EAPC) dementia white paper (28) and guidelines from the Irish Palliative Care in Parkinson's Disease Group (115).

is important, supported more formally by shared guidelines and pathways (194).

Sawatzky et al. (18) describe three reasons how a clear conceptualization of palliative care in chronic-progressive disease may be helpful: (1) earlier recognition ("upstream") of needs, (2) to promote adaptation of palliative care knowledge and expertise for unique disease profiles, (3) to operationalize a palliative approach through integration into systems and models of care that do not specialize in palliative care. Such conceptualization is promoted by looking at similarities with other diseases with more established palliative care models, but also taking a closer look at divergences, such as the initial stable phase in PD and how this should affect palliative care services. It raises the question whether ACP is an integral part of palliative care, or could precede it, also for dementia considering ambiguity around early palliative care. This resonates with recommendations of Temel et al. (195) for "early" palliative care to depend on the type of cancer; with low symptom burden, waiting until a change in health status or emergency room admission may be a reasonable approach.

For palliative dementia care, it has been helpful to also consider how it differs from "usual" dementia care, for example, by a highly proactive approach. Such understanding of what needs to be changed in practice facilitates the integration of a palliative approach in dementia care so that ultimately, the integrated care becomes the standard (196). With Kluger et al. (29), we believe that palliative care in PD will benefit from a clearer conceptualization.

Although probably not directly suitable as entry criteria for palliative care, research on prognostic factors in PD may be helpful. For example, ADL dependency strongly predicts mortality in older people and in dementia (80, 81, 85), probably

REFERENCES

- 1. Clark D. 'Total pain', disciplinary power and the body in the work of Cicely Saunders, 1958–1967. *Soc Sci Med.* (1999) 49:727–36.
- Saunders C. The evolution of palliative care. J R Soc Med. (2001) 94:430–2. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4471-3069-7_1
- 3. EAPC. White Paper on standards and norms for hospice and palliative care in Europe: part 1 Recommendations from the European Association for Palliative Care. *Eur J Palliat Care.* (2010) 17: 278–89.
- WHO Definition of Palliative Care. (2002). Available online at: http://www.who.int/cancer/palliative/definition/en/ (Accessed July 20, 2018).
- Brodaty H, Seeher K, Gibson L. Dementia time to death: a systematic literature review on survival time and years of life lost in people with dementia. *Int Psychogeriatr.* (2012) 24:1034–45. doi: 10.1017/S1041610211002924
- Willis AW, Schootman M, Kung N, Evanoff BA, Perlmutter JS, Racette BA. Predictors of survival in patients with Parkinson disease. *Arch Neurol.* (2012) 69:601–7. doi: 10.1001/archneurol.2011.2370
- van Bussel EF, Richard E, Arts DL, Nooyens AC, Coloma PM, de Waal MW, et al. Dementia incidence trend over 1992–2014 in the Netherlands: analysis of primary care data. *PLoS Med.* (2017) 14:e1002235. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1002235
- 8. de Lau LM, Giesbergen PC, de Rijk MC, Hofman A, Koudstaal PJ, Breteler MM. Incidence of parkinsonism and Parkinson disease in a

covering cognitive and physical impairments and other risk factors. In contrast, it may not predict mortality in PD well (98), perhaps because motor function declines early; some dependency therefore occurs earlier than in dementia. Further, we agree that more work is needed regarding assessment of needs-including spiritual needs, development of assessment and educational tools and interventions for patient and caregiver support (29, 108).

Although we could not compare directly, we hope that our review contributes to an emerging understanding as to what elements of palliative care with neurological conditions are disease-specific and which are more general. We acknowledge that the brevity of the review did not allow more depth regarding aspects of the disease and care in different types of the diseases or forms of parkinsonism which need further research. More could be written about possible implications such as how to organize disease-specific palliative care in a cost-effective manner. We recognize a need for basic guidance for clinical practice which we offer in **Box 1**, awaiting high-quality trials and other research we need to build refined evidence-based practices that optimally serve individuals with neurological disease.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JS, HL, and DH: manuscript development, manuscript writing, and manuscript authorization; BA, MG, JH, BB, RK: manuscript writing and manuscript authorization.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, The Netherlands, and Radboud university medical center, Nijmegen, The Netherlands.

general population: the Rotterdam Study. *Neurology.* (2004) 63:1240-4. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000140706.52798.be

- van de Vijver DA, Roos RA, Jansen PA, Porsius AJ, de Boer A. Estimation of incidence and prevalence of Parkinson's disease in the elderly using pharmacy records. *Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf.* (2001) 10:549–54. doi: 10.1002/pds.624
- 10. WHO. Dementia a Public Health Priority. Geneva: WHO (2012).
- Nussbaum RL. Alzheimer's disease and Parkinson's disease. N Engl J Med. (2003) 348:1356. doi: 10.1056/NEJM2003ra020003
- Santos García D, Suárez Castro E, Expósito I, de Deus T, Tuñas C, Aneiros A, et al. Comorbid conditions associated with Parkinson's disease: a longitudinal and comparative study with Alzheimer disease and control subjects. J Neurol Sci. (2017) 15:210–15. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2016.12.046
- Meireles J, Massano J. Cognitive impairment and dementia in Parkinson's disease: clinical features, diagnosis, and management. *Front Neurol.* (2012) 3:88. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2012.00088
- Lawson RA, Yarnall AJ, Duncan GW, Khoo TK, Breen DP, Barker RA, et al. Severity of mild cognitive impairment in early Parkinson's disease contributes to poorer quality of life. *Parkinson Relat Disord*. (2014) 20:1071– 5. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2014.07.004
- Aarsland D, Zaccai J, Brayne C. A systematic review of prevalence studies of dementia in Parkinson's disease. *Mov Disord*. (2005) 20:1255–63. doi: 10.1002/mds.20527
- Aarsland D, Kurz MW. The epidemiology of dementia associated with Parkinson's disease. *Brain Pathol.* (2010) 20:633–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-3639.2009.00369.x

- Richfield EW, Jones EJ, Alty JE. Palliative care for Parkinson's disease: a summary of the evidence and future directions. *Palliat Med.* (2013) 27:805– 10. doi: 10.1177/0269216313495287
- Sawatzky R, Porterfield P, Lee J, Dixon D, Lounsbury K, Pesut B, et al. Conceptual foundations of a palliative approach: a knowledge synthesis. *BMC Palliat Care.* (2016) 15:5. doi: 10.1186/s12904-016-0076-9
- Wiblin L, Lee M, Burn D. Palliative care and its emerging role in Multiple System Atrophy and Progressive Supranuclear Palsy. *Parkinson Relat Disord*. (2017) 34:7–14. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2016.10.013
- Volicer L, Rheaume Y, Brown J, Fabiszewski K, Brady R. Hospice approach to the treatment of patients with advanced dementia of the Alzheimer type. *JAMA*. (1986) 256:2210–3.
- van der Steen JT, Sternberg S, Volicer L. Palliative care in dementia 1986– 2016: progress and remaining challenges. J Am Med Dir Assoc. (2017) 18:190–1. doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2016.11.009
- 22. van der Steen JT. Dying with dementia: what we know after more than a decade of research. J Alzheimer Dis. (2010) 22:37–55. doi: 10.3233/JAD-2010-100744
- Murphy E, Froggatt K, Connolly S, O'Shea E, Sampson EL, Casey D, et al. Palliative care interventions in advanced dementia. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2016) 12:CD011513. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD011513.pub2
- Singer AE, Goebel JR, Kim YS, Dy SM, Ahluwalia SC, Clifford M, et al. Populations and interventions for palliative and end-of-life care: a systematic review. *J Palliat Med.* (2016) 19:995–1008. doi: 10.1089/jpm.2015. 0367
- Hughes JC, Volicer L, van der Steen JT. Complexity and gaps: the highhanging fruit of dementia and palliative care research. *Palliat Med.* (2018) 32:591–3. doi: 10.1177/0269216318755280
- 26. van der Steen JT, Goodman C. What research we no longer need in neurodegenerative disease at the end of life: the case of research in dementia. *Palliat Med.* (2015) 29:189–92. doi: 10.1177/02692163155 69998
- van der Steen JT, Lemos Dekker N, Gijsberts MHE, Vermeulen LH, Mahler MM, The BA. Palliative care for people with dementia in the terminal phase: a mixed-methods qualitative study to inform service development. *BMC Palliat Care.* (2017) 16:28. doi: 10.1186/s12904-017-0201-4
- van der Steen JT, Radbruch L, Hertogh CM, de Boer ME, Hughes JC, Larkin P, et al. White paper defining optimal palliative care in older people with dementia: a Delphi study and recommendations from the European Association for Palliative Care. *Palliat Med.* (2014) 28:197–209. doi: 10.1177/0269216313493685
- Kluger BM, Fox S, Timmons S, Katz M, Galifianakis NB, Subramanian I, et al. Palliative care and Parkinson's disease: meeting summary and recommendations for clinical research. *Parkinson Relat Disord.* (2017) 37:19–26. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2017.01.008
- Miyasaki JM, Kluger B. Palliative care for Parkinson's disease: has the time come? *Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep.* (2015) 15:26. doi: 10.1007/s11910-015-0542-4
- Does Outpatient Palliative Care Improve Patient-Centered Outcomes in Parkinson's Disease? ClinicalTrials.gov (2018). Available online at: https:// clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/study/NCT02533921 (Accessed July 20, 2018).
- Hudson PL, Toye C, Kristjanson LJ. Would people with Parkinson's disease benefit from palliative care? *Palliat Med.* (2006) 20:87–94. doi: 10.1191/0269216306pm11080a
- Giles S, Miyasaki J. Palliative stage Parkinson's disease: patient and family experiences of health-care services. *Palliat Med.* (2009) 23:120–5. doi: 10.1177/0269216308100773
- 34. Goy ER, Carter JH, Ganzini L. Parkinson disease at the end of life: caregiver perspectives. *Neurology*. (2007) 69:611–2. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000266665.82754.61
- Hely MA, Reid WG, Adena MA, Halliday GM, Morris JG. The Sydney multicenter study of Parkinson's disease: the inevitability of dementia at 20 years. *Mov Disord*. (2008) 23:837–44. doi: 10.1002/mds.21956
- Hoehn MM. The natural history of Parkinson's disease in the pre-levodopa and post-levodopa eras. *Neuro Clin.* (1992) 10:331–9.
- 37. Reid WG, Hely MA, Morris JG, Loy C, Halliday GM. Dementia in Parkinson's disease: a 20-year neuropsychological study (Sydney

Multicentre Study). J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. (2011) 82:1033-7. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2010.232678

- Kua EH, Ho E, Tan HH, Tsoi C, Thng C, Mahendran R. The natural history of dementia. *Psychogeriatrics*. (2014) 14:196–201. doi: 10.1111/psyg.12053
- Wolfson C, Wolfson DB, Asgharian M, M'Lan CE, Ostbye T, Rockwood K, et al. A reevaluation of the duration of survival after the onset of dementia. *N Engl J Med.* (2001) 344:1111–6. doi: 10.1056/NEJM200104123441501
- van der Steen JT, Ribbe MW, Deliens L, Gutschow G, Onwuteaka-Philipsen BD. Retrospective and prospective data collection compared in the Dutch End Of Life in Dementia (DEOLD) study. *Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord.* (2014) 28:88–94. doi: 10.1097/WAD.0b013e318293b380
- Koopmans RT, Ekkerink JL, van Weel C. Survival to late dementia in Dutch nursing home patients. J Am Geriatr Soc. (2003) 51:184–7. doi: 10.1046/j.1532-5415.2003.51056.x
- 42. Byrne EJ, Benoit M, Lopez Arrieta JM, Geraldi C, Koopmans R, Rolland Y, et al. For whom and for what the definition of severe dementia is useful: an EDCON consensus. *J Nutr Health Aging*. (2008) 12:714–9.
- van der Steen JT, Volicer L, Gerritsen DL, Kruse RL, Ribbe MW, Mehr DR. Defining severe dementia with the Minimum Data Set. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. (2006) 21:1099–106. doi: 10.1002/gps.1618
- Mitchell SL, Teno JM, Kiely DK, Shaffer ML, Jones RN, Prigerson HG, et al. The clinical course of advanced dementia. *N Engl J Med.* (2009) 361:1529–38. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa0902234
- Gaenslen A, Swid I, Liepelt-Scarfone I, Godau J, Berg D. The patients' perception of prodromal symptoms before the initial diagnosis of Parkinson's disease. *Mov Disord*. (2011) 26:653–8. doi: 10.1002/mds.23499
- Gonera EG, van't Hof M, Berger HJ, van Weel C, Horstink MW. Symptoms and duration of the prodromal phase in Parkinson's disease. *Mov Disord.* (1997) 12:871–6. doi: 10.1002/mds.870120607
- Oertel WH. Recent advances in treating Parkinson's disease. F1000 Res. (2017) 6:260. doi: 10.12688/f1000research.10100.1
- Macleod AD, Taylor KS, Counsell CE. Mortality in Parkinson's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Mov Disord*. (2014) 29:1615–22. doi: 10.1002/mds.25898
- Saleem TZ, Higginson IJ, Chaudhuri KR, Martin A, Burman R, Leigh PN. Symptom prevalence, severity and palliative care needs assessment using the Palliative Outcome Scale: a cross-sectional study of patients with Parkinson's disease and related neurological conditions. *Palliat Med.* (2013) 27:722–31. doi: 10.1177/0269216312465783
- Bouca-Machado R, Titova N, Chaudhuri KR, Bloem BR, Ferreira JJ. Palliative care for patients and families with Parkinson's Disease. *Int Rev Neurobiol.* (2017) 132:475–509. doi: 10.1016/bs.irn.2017.02.017
- Coelho M, Ferreira JJ. Late-stage Parkinson disease. Nat Rev Neurol. (2012) 8:435–42. doi: 10.1038/nrneurol.2012.126
- Titova N, Martinez-Martin P, Katunina E, Chaudhuri KR. Advanced Parkinson's or "complex phase" Parkinson's disease? Re-evaluation is needed. *J Neural Transm.* (2017) 124:1529–37. doi: 10.1007/s00702-017-1799-3
- 53. Hendriks SA, Smalbrugge M, Galindo-Garre F, Hertogh CM, van der Steen JT. From admission to death: prevalence and course of pain, agitation, and shortness of breath, and treatment of these symptoms in nursing home residents with dementia. J Am Med Dir Assoc. (2015) 16:475–81. doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2014.12.016
- 54. Borsje P, Wetzels RB, Lucassen PL, Pot AM, Koopmans RT. The course of neuropsychiatric symptoms in community-dwelling patients with dementia: a systematic review. *Int Psychogeriatr.* (2015) 27:385–405. doi: 10.1017/S1041610214002282
- 55. van der Linde RM, Dening T, Stephan BC, Prina AM, Evans E, Brayne C. Longitudinal course of behavioural and psychological symptoms of dementia: systematic review. *Br J Psychiatry*. (2016) 209:366–77. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.114.148403
- 56. Zhao QF, Tan L, Wang HF, Jiang T, Tan MS, Tan L, et al. The prevalence of neuropsychiatric symptoms in Alzheimer's disease: systematic review and meta-analysis. J Affect Disord. (2016) 190:264–71. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2015.09.069
- van der Lee J, Bakker TJ, Duivenvoorden HJ, Droes RM. Multivariate models of subjective caregiver burden in dementia: a systematic review. *Ageing Res Rev.* (2014) 15:76–93. doi: 10.1016/j.arr.2014.03.003

- 58. Banerjee S, Samsi K, Petrie CD, Alvir J, Treglia M, Schwam EM, et al. What do we know about quality of life in dementia? A review of the emerging evidence on the predictive and explanatory value of disease specific measures of health related quality of life in people with dementia. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry.* (2009) 24:15–24. doi: 10.1002/gps.2090
- 59. Daly L, Fahey-McCarthy E, Timmins F. The experience of spirituality from the perspective of people living with dementia: a systematic review and meta-synthesis. *Dementia.* (2016). doi: 10.1177/1471301216680425. [Epub ahead of print].
- 60. Agli O, Bailly N, Ferrand C. Spirituality and religion in older adults with dementia: a systematic review. *Int Psychogeriatr.* (2015) 27:715–25. doi: 10.1017/S1041610214001665
- Postuma RB, Berg D, Stern M, Poewe W, Olanow CW, Oertel W, et al. MDS clinical diagnostic criteria for Parkinson's disease. *Mov Disord.* (2015) 30:1591–601. doi: 10.1002/mds.26424
- 62. Schrag A, Jahanshahi M, Quinn N. How does Parkinson's disease affect quality of life? A comparison with quality of life in the general population. *Mov Disord.* (2000) 15:1112–8. doi: 10.1002/1531-8257(200011)15:6<1112::aid-mds1008>3.0.co;2-a
- Martinez- Martin P, Rodriguez-Blazquez C, João Forjaz M. Quality of life and burden in caregivers for patients with Parkinson's disease: concepts, assessment and related factors. *Rev Pharmacoecon Outcomes Res.* (2012) 12:221–30. doi: 10.1586/erp.11.106
- 64. Skorvanek M, Rosenberger J, Minar M, Grofik M, Han V, Groothoff JW, et al. Relationship between the non-motor items of the MDS-UPDRS and Quality of Life in patients with Parkinson's disease. J Neurol Sci. (2015) 353:87–91. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2015.04.013
- 65. Weerkamp NJ, Tissingh G, Poels PJ, Zuidema SU, Munneke M, Koopmans RT, et al. Nonmotor symptoms in nursing home residents with Parkinson's disease: prevalence and effect on quality of life. J Am Geriatr Soc. (2013) 61:1714–21. doi: 10.1111/jgs.12458
- 66. Chaudhuri KR, Prieto-Jurcynska C, Naidu Y, Mitra T, Frades-Payo B, Tluk S, et al. The nondeclaration of nonmotor symptoms of Parkinson's disease to health care professionals: an international study using the nonmotor symptoms questionnaire. *Mov Disord*. (2010) 25:704–9. doi: 10.1002/mds.22868
- Shulman LM, Taback RL, Rabinstein AA, Weiner WJ. Non-recognition of depression and other non-motor symptoms in Parkinson's disease. *Parkinson Relat Disord.* (2002) 8:193–7. doi: 10.1016/s1353-8020(01)00015-3
- Schrag A, Hovris A, Morley DQuinn N, Jahanshahi M. Caregiverburden in parkinson's disease is closely associated with psychiatric symptoms, falls, and disability. *Parkinson Relat Disord.* (2006) 12:35–41. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2005.06.011
- Laver K, Dyer S, Whitehead C, Clemson L, Crotty M. Interventions to delay functional decline in people with dementia: a systematic review of systematic reviews. *BMJ Open.* (2016) 6:e010767. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2015-010767
- Cipriani G, Borin G, Del Debbio A, Di Fiorino M. Personality and dementia. J Nerv Ment Dis. (2015) 203:210–4. doi: 10.1097/NMD.0000000000264
- Galvin JE, Malcom H, Johnson D, Morris JC. Personality traits distinguishing dementia with Lewy bodies from Alzheimer disease. *Neurology*. (2007) 68:1895–901. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000263131.80945.ad
- Shulman LM, Gruber-Baldini AL, Anderson KE, Vaughan CG, Reich SG, Fishman PS, et al. The evolution of disability in Parkinson disease. *Mov Disord.* (2008) 23:790–6. doi: 10.1002/mds.21879
- Romero JP, Benito-Leon J, Louis ED, Bermejo-Pareja F. Under reporting of dementia deaths on death certificates: a systematic review of population-based cohort studies. J Alzheimer Dis. (2014) 41:213–21. doi: 10.3233/JAD-132765
- Foley NC, Affoo RH, Martin RE. A systematic review and meta-analysis examining pneumonia-associated mortality in dementia. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord.* (2015) 39:52–67. doi: 10.1159/000367783
- Keene J, Hope T, Fairburn CG, Jacoby R. Death and dementia. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. (2001) 16:969–74. doi: 10.1002/gps.474
- Attems J, Konig C, Huber M, Lintner F, Jellinger KA. Cause of death in demented and non-demented elderly inpatients; An autopsy study of 308 cases. J Alzheimers Dis. (2005) 8:57–62. doi: 10.3233/jad-2005-8107

- Fall PA, Saleh A, Fredrickson M, Olsson JE, Granerus AK. Survival time, mortality, and cause of death in elderly patients with Parkinson's disease: a 9-year follow-up. *Mov Disord.* (2003) 18:1312–6. doi: 10.1002/mds.10537
- Hobson P, Meara J. Mortality and quality of death certification in a cohort of patients with Parkinson's disease and matched controls in North Wales, UK at 18 years: a community-based cohort study. *BMJ Open.* (2018) 8:e018969. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-018969
- Beyer MK, Herlofson K, Arsland D, Larsen JP. Causes of death in a community-based study of Parkinson's disease. *Acta Neurol Scand.* (2001) 103:7–11. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0404.2001.00191.x
- Brown MA, Sampson EL, Jones L, Barron AM. Prognostic indicators of 6month mortality in elderly people with advanced dementia: a systematic review. *Palliat Med.* (2013) 27:389–400. doi: 10.1177/0269216312465649
- van der Steen JT, Mehr DR, Kruse RL, Sherman AK, Madsen RW, D'Agostino RB, et al. Predictors of mortality for lower respiratory infections in nursing home residents with dementia were validated transnationally. J Clin Epidemiol. (2006) 59:970–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2005.12.005
- Mitchell SL, Miller SC, Teno JM, Kiely DK, Davis RB, Shaffer ML. Prediction of 6-month survival of nursing home residents with advanced dementia using ADEPT vs hospice eligibility guidelines. *JAMA*. (2010) 304:1929–35. doi: 10.1001/jama.2010.1572
- 83. Hendriks SA, Smalbrugge M, van Gageldonk-Lafeber AB, Galindo-Garre F, Schipper M, Hertogh C, et al. Pneumonia, intake problems, and survival among nursing home residents with variable stages of dementia in the Netherlands: results from a prospective observational study. *Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord*. (2017) 31:200–8. doi: 10.1097/WAD.000000000000171
- van der Steen JT, Ooms ME, Mehr DR, van der Wal G, Ribbe MW. Severe dementia and adverse outcomes of nursing home-acquired pneumonia: evidence for mediation by functional and pathophysiological decline. J Am Geriatr Soc. (2002) 50:439–48. doi: 10.1046/j.1532-5415.2002.50108.x
- Mitchell SL, Miller SC, Teno JM, Davis RB, Shaffer ML. The advanced dementia prognostic tool: a risk score to estimate survival in nursing home residents with advanced dementia. *J Pain Symptom Manage*. (2010) 40:639– 51. doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2010.02.014
- Lethbridge L, Johnston GM, Turnbull G. Co-morbidities of persons dying of Parkinson's disease. *Prog Palliat Care.* (2013) 21:140–5. doi: 10.1179/1743291X12Y.0000000037
- Huang YF, Cherng YG, Hsu SP, Yeh CC, Chou YC, Wu CH, et al. Risk and adverse outcomes of fractures in patients with Parkinson's disease: two nationwide studies. *Osteoporos Int.* (2015) 26:1723–32. doi: 10.1007/s00198-015-3052-y
- Hussain J, Adams D, Campbell C. End-of-life care in neurodegenerative conditions: outcomes of a specialist palliative neurology service. *Int J Palliat Nurs.* (2013) 19:162–9. doi: 10.12968/ijpn.2013.19.4.162
- de Lau LM, Breteler MM. Epidemiology of Parkinson's disease. Lancet Neurol. (2006) 5:525–35. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(06)70471-9
- Macleod AD, Dalen I, Tysnes OB, Larsen JP, Counsell CE. Development and validation of prognostic survival models in newly diagnosed Parkinson's disease. *Mov Disord.* (2018) 33:108–16. doi: 10.1002/mds.27177
- Santos-Garcia D, Suarez-Castro E, Ernandez J, Exposito-Ruiz I, Tunas-Gesto C, Aneiros-Diaz M, et al. Predictors of mortality in nondemented patients with Parkinson Disease: motor symptoms versus nonmotor symptoms. J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol. (2018) 31:19–26. doi: 10.1177/0891988717743589
- Muslimovic D, Post B, Speelman JD, Schmand B, de Haan RJ. Determinants of disability and quality of life in mild to moderate Parkinson disease. *Neurology*. (2008) 70:2241–7. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000313835.33830.80
- 93. van Rumund A, Weerkamp N, Tissingh G, Zuidema SU, Koopmans RT, Munneke M, et al. Perspectives on Parkinson disease care in Dutch nursing homes. J Am Med Dir Assoc. (2014) 15:732–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2014.05.009
- 94. Weerkamp NJ, Zuidema SU, Tissingh G, Poels PJ, Munneke M, Koopmans RT, et al. Motor profile and drug treatment of nursing home residents with Parkinson's disease. J Am Geriatr Soc. (2012) 60:2277–82. doi: 10.1111/jgs.12027
- Hoehn MM, Yahr MD. Parkinsonism: onset, progression, and mortality. Neurology. (1967) 50:318.

- Luquin MR, Kulisevsky J, Martinez-Martin P, Mir P, Tolosa ES. Consensus on the definition of advanced Parkinson's Disease: a neurologistsbased Delphi study (CEPA Study). *Parkinson Dis.* (2017) 2017:4047392. doi: 10.1155/2017/4047392
- Healthcare Improvement Scotland. Palliative care identification tools comparator Scotland: Ihub living well communities (2018). Available online at: https://livingwellincommunities.com/2018/04/11/comparing-tools-thatcan-help-to-identify-people-who-could-benefit-from-a-palliative-careapproach/
- Hussain J, Allgar V, Oliver D. Palliative care triggers in progressive neurodegenerative conditions: an evaluation using a multicentre retrospective case record review and principal component analysis. *Palliat Med.* (2018) 32:716–25. doi: 10.1177/02692163187 55884
- 99. Hughes TA, Ross HF, Mindham RH, Spokes EG. Mortality in Parkinson's disease and its association with dementia and depression. *Acta Neurol Scand.* (2004) 110:118–23. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0404.2004. 00292.x
- Livingston G, Sommerlad A, Orgeta V, Costafreda SG, Huntley J, Ames D, et al. Dementia prevention, intervention, and care. *Lancet.* (2017) 390:2673– 734. doi: 10.1016/S0140-673631363-6
- 101. Bloem BR, van Laar T, Keus SHJ, De Beer H, Poot E, Buskens E, et al. Multidisciplinaire richtlijn Parkinson 2006–2010. *Multidisciplinaire richtlijn Ziekte van Parkinson*. Alphen aan den Rijn: Van Zuiden Communications (2010).
- 102. Robinson A, Eccleston C, Annear M, Elliott KE, Andrews S, Stirling C, et al. Who knows, who cares? Dementia knowledge among nurses, care workers, and family members of people living with dementia. *J Palliat Care.* (2014) 30:158–65. doi: 10.1177/082585971403000305
- 103. van der Steen JT, Onwuteaka-Philipsen BD, Knol DL, Ribbe MW, Deliens L. Caregivers' understanding of dementia predicts patients' comfort at death: a prospective observational study. *BMC Med.* (2013) 11:105. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-11-105
- Perrar KM, Schmidt H, Eisenmann Y, Cremer B, Voltz R. Needs of people with severe dementia at the end-of-life: a systematic review. J Alzheimer Dis. (2015) 43:397–413. doi: 10.3233/JAD-140435
- 105. Fleming R, Kelly F, Stillfried G. 'I want to feel at home': establishing what aspects of environmental design are important to people with dementia nearing the end of life. *BMC Palliat Care.* (2015) 14:26. doi: 10.1186/s12904-015-0026-y
- 106. Schmidt H, Eisenmann Y, Golla H, Voltz R, Perrar KM. Needs of people with advanced dementia in their final phase of life: a multiperspective qualitative study in nursing homes. *Palliat Med.* (2018) 32:657– 67. doi: 10.1177/0269216317746571
- Mulqueen K, Coffey A. Preferences of residents with dementia for end of life care. Nurs Older People. (2017) 29:26–30. doi: 10.7748/nop.2017.e862
- 108. Prizer LP, Gay JL, Wilson MG, Emerson KG, Glass AP, Miyasaki JM, et al. A mixed-methods approach to understanding the palliative needs of Parkinson's patients. J Appl Gerontol. (2018). doi: 10.1177/0733464818776794. [Epub ahead of print].
- 109. Boersma I, Jones J, Carter J, Bekelman D, Miyasaki J, Kutner J, et al. Parkinson disease patients' perspectives on palliative care needs: what are they telling us? *Neurol Clin Pract.* (2016) 6:209–19. doi: 10.1212/CPJ.0000000000 000233
- 110. Pieper MJ, van der Steen JT, Francke AL, Scherder EJ, Twisk JW, Achterberg WP. Effects on pain of a stepwise multidisciplinary intervention (STA OP!) that targets pain and behavior in advanced dementia: a cluster randomized controlled trial. *Palliat Med.* (2018) 32:682–92. doi: 10.1177/0269216316689237
- 111. McNiel P, Westphal J. Namaste Care: a person-centered care approach for Alzheimer's and advanced dementia. West J Nurs Res. (2018) 40:37–51. doi: 10.1177/0193945916679631
- 112. Sturkenboom IH, Graff MJ, Hendriks JC, Veenhuizen Y, Munneke M, Bloem BR, et al. Efficacy of occupational therapy for patients with Parkinson's disease: a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet Neurol.* (2014) 13:557–66. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(14)70055-9
- 113. van der Marck MA, Munneke M, Mulleners W, Hoogerwaard EM, Borm GF, Overeem S, et al. Integrated multidisciplinary care in Parkinson's disease: a

non-randomised, controlled trial (IMPACT). Lancet Neurol. (2013) 12:947-56. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(13)70196-0

- 114. Ypinga JHL, de Vries NM, Boonen L, Koolman X, Munneke M, Zwinderman AH, et al. Effectiveness and costs of specialised physiotherapy given via ParkinsonNet: a retrospective analysis of medical claims data. *Lancet Neurol.* (2018) 17:153–61. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(17)30406-4
- 115. The Irish Palliative Care in Parkinson's Disease Group. Palliative Care in People with Parkinson's Disease: Guidelines for Professional Healthcare Workers on the Assessment and Management of Palliative Care Needs in Parkinson's Disease and Related Parkinsonian Syndromes. Cork: University College Cork (2016).
- 116. Lichtner V, Dowding D, Esterhuizen P, Closs SJ, Long AF, Corbett A, et al. Pain assessment for people with dementia: a systematic review of systematic reviews of pain assessment tools. *BMC Geriatr.* (2014) 14:138. doi: 10.1186/1471-2318-14-138
- 117. Ellis-Smith C, Evans CJ, Murtagh FE, Henson LA, Firth AM, Higginson IJ, et al. Development of a caregiver-reported measure to support systematic assessment of people with dementia in long-term care: the integrated palliative care outcome scale for dementia. *Palliat Med.* (2017) 31:651–60. doi: 10.1177/0269216316675096
- 118. Miyasaki JM, Long J, Mancini D, Moro E, Fox SH, Lang AE, et al. Palliative care for advanced Parkinson disease: an interdisciplinary clinic and new scale, the ESAS-PD. *Parkinson Relat Disord.* (2012) 18 (Suppl. 3):S6–9. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2012.06.013
- 119. Hearn J, Higginson IJ. Development and validation of a core outcome measure for palliative care: the palliative care outcome scale. Palliative Care Core Audit Project Advisory Group. Qual Health Care. (1999) 8:219–27.
- 120. Reyniers T, Deliens L, Pasman HR, Morin L, Addington-Hall J, Frova L, et al. International variation in place of death of older people who died from dementia in 14 European and non-European countries. *J Am Med Dir Assoc.* (2015) 16:165–71. doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2014.11.003
- 121. Nakanishi M, Niimura J, Yamasaki S, Nishida A. Death of dementia patients in psychiatric hospitals and regional supply of psychiatric services: study of the national data from 1996 to 2014 in Japan. *J Alzheimer Dis.* (2017) 56:817–24. doi: 10.3233/JAD-160935
- 122. Amjad H, Carmichael D, Austin AM, Chang CH, Bynum JP. Continuity of care and health care utilization in older adults with dementia in fee-for-service Medicare. *JAMA Intern Med.* (2016) 176:1371–8. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2016.3553
- 123. Aaltonen M, Raitanen J, Forma L, Pulkki J, Rissanen P, Jylha M. Burdensome transitions at the end of life among long-term care residents with dementia. *J Am Med Direct Assoc.* (2014) 15:643–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2014.04.018
- 124. Moens K, Houttekier D, Van den Block L, Harding R, Morin L, Marchetti S, et al. Place of death of people living with Parkinson's disease: a population-level study in 11 countries. *BMC Palliat Care.* (2015) 14:28. doi: 10.1186/s12904-015-0021-3
- Parashos SA, Maraganore DM, O'Brien PC, Rocca WA. Medical services utilization and prognosis in Parkinson disease: a population-based study. *Mayo Clin Proc.* (2002) 77:918–25. doi: 10.4065/77.9.918
- 126. van der Steen JT, van Soest-Poortvliet MC, Hallie-Heierman M, Onwuteaka-Philipsen BD, Deliens L, de Boer ME, et al. Factors associated with initiation of advance care planning in dementia: a systematic review. *J Alzheimers Dis.* (2014) 40:743–57. doi: 10.3233/JAD-131967
- 127. Stevenson M, McDowell ME, Taylor BJ. Concepts for communication about risk in dementia care: a review of the literature. *Dementia*. (2018) 17:359–90. doi: 10.1177/1471301216647542
- 128. Groen-van de Ven L, Smits C, de Graaff F, Span M, Eefsting J, Jukema J, et al. Involvement of people with dementia in making decisions about their lives: a qualitative study that appraises shared decision-making concerning daycare. *BMJ Open.* (2017) 7:e018337. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-018337
- 129. van Soest-Poortvliet MC, van der Steen JT, de Vet HC, Hertogh CM, Onwuteaka-Philipsen BD, Deliens LH. Factors related to establishing a comfort care goal in nursing home patients with dementia: a cohort study among family and professional caregivers. *J Palliat Med.* (2014) 17:1317–27. doi: 10.1089/jpm.2014.0205
- 130. Mitchell SL, Palmer JA, Volandes AE, Hanson LC, Habtemariam D, Shaffer ML. Level of Care preferences among nursing home residents

with advanced dementia. J Pain Symptom Manage. (2017) 54:340-5. doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2017.04.020

- 131. Volandes AE, Ferguson LA, Davis AD, Hull NC, Green MJ, Chang Y, et al. Assessing end-of-life preferences for advanced dementia in rural patients using an educational video: a randomized controlled trial. *J Palliat Med.* (2011) 14:169–77. doi: 10.1089/jpm.2010.0299
- 132. Gove D, Diaz-Ponce A, Georges J. Palliative care covers more than end-of-life issues: why is this not common practice in dementia care and what are the implications? *Ann Palliat Med.* (2017) 6:390–2. doi: 10.21037/apm.2017.06.25
- 133. Gove D, Sparr S, Dos Santos Bernardo AM, Cosgrave MP, Jansen S, Martensson B, et al. Recommendations on end-of-life care for people with dementia. *J Nutr Health Aging.* (2010) 14:136–9.
- 134. Tilly J, Fok A. Quality End of Life Care for Individuals with Dementia in Assisted Living and Nursing Homes and Public Policy Barriers to Delivering this Care. US Alzheimer's Association (2006).
- 135. Fox S, Cashell A, Kernohan WG, Lynch M, McGlade C, O'Brien T, et al. Palliative care for Parkinson's disease: patient and carer's perspectives explored through qualitative interview. *Palliat Med.* (2017) 31:634–41. doi: 10.1177/0269216316669922
- Bloem BR, Stocchi F. Move for Change Part III: a European survey evaluating the impact of the EPDA Charter for People with Parkinson's Disease. *Eur J Neurol.* (2015) 22:133–41.e8–9. doi: 10.1111/ene.12544
- 137. Kwak J, Wallendal MS, Fritsch T, Leo G, Hyde T. Advance care planning and proxy decision making for patients with advanced Parkinson disease. *South Med J.* (2014) 107:178–85. doi: 10.1097/smj.000000000000075
- 138. Hall K, Sumrall M, Thelen G, Kluger BM, Parkinson's Disease Foundation sponsored "Palliative C, Parkinson's Disease" Patient Advisory C. Palliative care for Parkinson's disease: suggestions from a council of patient and carepartners. NPJ Parkinson Dis. (2017) 3:16. doi: 10.1038/s41531-017-0016-2
- 139. Dixon J, Karagiannidou M, Knapp M. The effectiveness of advance care planning in improving end-of-life outcomes for people with dementia and their carers: a systematic review and critical discussion. *J Pain Symptom Manage*. (2018) 55:132–50.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2017.04.009
- 140. Brazil K, Carter G, Cardwell C, Clarke M, Hudson P, Froggatt K, et al. Effectiveness of advance care planning with family carers in dementia nursing homes: a paired cluster randomized controlled trial. *Palliat Med.* (2018) 32:603–12. doi: 10.1177/0269216317722413
- 141. Tuck KK, Brod L, Nutt J, Fromme EK. Preferences of patients with Parkinson's disease for communication about advanced care planning. *Am J Hosp Palliat Care*. (2015) 32:68–77. doi: 10.1177/1049909113504241
- 142. Walker RW, Churm D, Dewhurst F, Samuel M, Ramsell A, Lawrie C. Palliative care in people with idiopathic Parkinson's disease who die in hospital. *BMJ Support Palliat Care.* (2014) 4:412. doi: 10.1136/bmjspcare-2012-000412
- 143. Terum TM, Andersen JR, Rongve A, Aarsland D, Svendsboe EJ, Testad I. The relationship of specific items on the Neuropsychiatric Inventory to caregiver burden in dementia: a systematic review. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry.* (2017) 32:703–17. doi: 10.1002/gps.4704
- 144. Boogaard JA, van der Steen JT, de Boer AH, Hertogh CMPM, Broese van Groenou MI. Informal end-of-life care for community-dwelling older persons with or without dementia: caregiver burden and positive experiences. In: *European Journal of Palliative Care 2017. 15th World Congress of the European Association for Palliative Care (EAPC)* (Madrid) (2017). p. 114. Available online at: http://www.eapc-2017.org/finalprogramme.html
- 145. Blandin K, Pepin R. Dementia grief: a theoretical model of a unique grief experience. *Dementia*. (2015) 16:67–78. doi: 10.1177/1471301215581081
- 146. Wilson S, Toye C, Aoun S, Slatyer S, Moyle W, Beattie E. Effectiveness of psychosocial interventions in reducing grief experienced by family carers of people with dementia: a systematic review. *JBI Database System Rev Implement Rep.* (2017) 15:809–39. doi: 10.11124/JBISRIR-2016-003017
- 147. Hasson F, Kernohan WG, McLaughlin M, Waldron M, McLaughlin D, Chambers H, et al. An exploration into the palliative and end-of-life experiences of carers of people with Parkinson's disease. *Palliat Med.* (2010) 24:731–6. doi: 10.1177/0269216310371414

- Goy ER, Carter JH, Ganzini L. Needs and experiences of caregivers for family members dying with Parkinson disease. J Palliat Care. (2008) 24: 69–75.
- 149. McLaughlin D, Hasson F, Kernohan WG, Waldron M, McLaughlin M, Cochrane B, et al. Living and coping with Parkinson's disease: perceptions of informal carers. *Palliat Med.* (2011) 25:177–82. doi: 10.1177/0269216310385604
- Carter JH, Lyons KS, Lindauer A, Malcom J. Pre-death grief in Parkinson's caregivers: a pilot survey-based study. *Parkinson Relat Disord.* (2012) 18 (Suppl. 3):S15–8. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2012.06.015
- 151. Hempel S, Norman G, Golder S, Aguiar-Ibanez R, Eastwood A. Psychosocial interventions for non-professional carers of people with Parkinson's disease: a systematic scoping review. J Adv Nurs. (2008) 64:214–28. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2008.04806.x
- 152. A'Campo LE, Wekking EM, Spliethoff-Kamminga NG, Le Cessie S, Roos RA. The benefits of a standardized patient education program for patients with Parkinson's disease and their caregivers. *Parkinson Relat Disord.* (2010) 16:89–95. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2009.07.009
- 153. van Riet Paap J, Mariani E, Chattat R, Koopmans R, Kerherve H, Leppert W, et al. Identification of the palliative phase in people with dementia: a variety of opinions between healthcare professionals. *BMC Palliat Care.* (2015) 14:56. doi: 10.1186/s12904-015-0053-8
- 154. van der Steen JT, Radbruch L, de Boer ME, Junger S, Hughes JC, Larkin P, et al. Achieving consensus and controversy around applicability of palliative care to dementia. *Int Psychogeriatr.* (2016) 28:133–45. doi: 10.1017/S1041610215000824
- 155. Waldron M, Kernohan WG, Hasson F, Foster S, Cochrane B, Payne C. Allied health professional's views on palliative care for people with advanced Parkinson's disease. *Int J Ther Rehabil.* (2011) 18:48–57. doi: 10.12968/ijtr.2011.18.1.48
- 156. Fox S, Cashell A, Kernohan WG, Lynch M, McGlade C, O'Brien T, et al. Interviews with Irish healthcare workers from different disciplines about palliative care for people with Parkinson's disease: a definite role but uncertainty around terminology and timing. *BMC Palliat Care*. (2016) 15:1– 9. doi: 10.1186/s12904-016-0087-6
- 157. EPDA, European Parkinson's Disease Association. (2018). What is Palliative Care and When Should It Start? Available online at: http://www.epda.eu. com/about-parkinsons/later-in-life/what-is-palliative-care-and-whenshould-it-start/ (Accessed July 20, 2018).
- 158. Richardson A, Pedley G, Pelone F, Akhtar F, Chang J, Muleya W, et al. Psychosocial interventions for people with young onset dementia and their carers: a systematic review. *Int Psychogeriatr.* (2016) 28:1441–54. doi: 10.1017/S1041610216000132
- 159. Koopmans RT, van der Steen JT, Bakker C. Palliative care in people with Young-Onset Dementia (YOD): an undiscovered area! J Am Med Dir Assoc. (2015) 16:1008–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2015.07.001
- 160. Higginson IJ, Gao W, Saleem TZ, Chaudhuri KR, Burman R, McCrone P, et al. Symptoms and quality of life in late stage Parkinson syndromes: a longitudinal community study of predictive factors. *PLoS ONE.* (2012) 7:e46327. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0046327
- 161. Goodman C. Dying in care homes, when advance care planning requires wraparound care. *Palliat Med.* (2018) 32:312–3. doi: 10.1177/0269216317751799
- 162. Sleeman KE, Ho YK, Verne J, Gao W, Higginson IJ, project GUC. Reversal of English trend towards hospital death in dementia: a populationbased study of place of death and associated individual and regional factors, 2001–2010. BMC Neurol. (2014) 14:59. doi: 10.1186/1471-2377-14-59
- 163. Low V, Ben-Shlomo Y, Coward E, Fletcher S, Walker R, Clarke CE. Measuring the burden and mortality of hospitalisation in Parkinson's disease: a cross-sectional analysis of the English Hospital Episodes Statistics database 2009–2013. *Parkinson Relat Disord*. (2015) 21:449–54. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2015.01.017
- 164. Sampson EL, Jones L, Thune-Boyle IC, Kukkastenvehmas R, King M, Leurent B, et al. Palliative assessment and advance care planning in severe dementia: an exploratory randomized controlled trial of a complex intervention. *Palliat Med.* (2011) 25:197–209. doi: 10.1177/0269216310391691

- 165. A'Campo LE, Spliethoff-Kamminga NG, Macht M, Roos RA. Caregiver education in Parkinson's disease: formative evaluation of a standardized program in seven European countries. *Qual Life Res.* (2010) 19:55–64. doi: 10.1007/s11136-009-9559-y
- 166. Roland KP, Chappell NL. Caregiver experiences across three neurodegenerative diseases: Alzheimer's, Parkinson's, and Parkinson's with dementia. J Aging Health. (2017) 31:256–79. doi: 10.1177/0898264317729980
- 167. Lemos Dekker N, Gysels M, van der Steen JT. Professional caregivers' experiences with the Liverpool Care Pathway in dementia: an ethnographic study in a Dutch nursing home. *Palliat Support Care*. (2017) 16:479–86. doi: 10.1017/S1478951517000645
- 168. Husebo BS, Flo E, Engedal K. The Liverpool Care Pathway: discarded in cancer patients but good enough for dying nursing home patients? A systematic review. *BMC Med Ethics*. (2017) 18:48. doi: 10.1186/s12910-017-0205-x
- 169. Bloem BR, Stocchi F. Move for change part I: a European survey evaluating the impact of the EPDA charter for people with Parkinson's disease. *Eur J Neurol.* (2012) 19:402–10. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2011. 03532.x
- 170. Stocchi F, Bloem BR. Move for Change Part II: a European survey evaluating the impact of the EPDA Ccarter for people with Parkinson's disease. *Eur J Neurol.* (2013) 20:461–72. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2012.03876.x
- 171. Annear MJ, Toye C, McInerney F, Eccleston C, Tranter B, Elliott KE, et al. What should we know about dementia in the 21st century? A Delphi consensus study. *BMC Geriatr.* (2015) 15:5. doi: 10.1186/s12877-015-0008-1
- 172. Amador S, Goodman C, Robinson L, Sampson EL, Team SR. UK endof-life care services in dementia, initiatives and sustainability: results of a national online survey. *BMJ Support Palliat Care.* (2016) 8:424-7. doi: 10.1136/bmjspcare-2016-001138
- 173. Rudkins H, Thomas A. The importance of early consideration of palliative care in Parkinson's disease. Br J Neurosci Nurs. (2006) 2:10–6. doi: 10.12968/bjnn.2006.2.1.20497
- 174. MDS. Available online at: https://www.movementdisorders.org/MDS/ About/CommitteesH-Other-Groups/MDS-Task-Forces/Task-Force-on-Palliative-Care.htm
- 175. van Vliet LM, Gao W, DiFrancesco D, Crosby V, Wilcock A, Byrne A, et al. How integrated are neurology and palliative care services? Results of a multicentre mapping exercise. *BMC Neurol.* (2016) 16:63. doi: 10.1186/s12883-016-0583-6
- 176. Ghoche R. The conceptual framework of palliative care applied to advanced Parkinson's disease. *Parkinson Relat Disord.* (2012) 18 (Suppl. 3):S2–5. doi: 10.1016/j.parkreldis.2012.06.012
- 177. Oliver DJ, Borasio GD, Caraceni A, de Visser M, Grisold W, Lorenzl S, et al. A consensus review on the development of palliative care for patients with chronic and progressive neurological disease. *Eur J Neurol.* (2016) 23:30–8. doi: 10.1111/ene.12889
- Goy ER, Bohlig A, Carter J, Ganzini L. Identifying predictors of hospice eligibility in patients with Parkinson disease. *Am J Hosp Palliat Care.* (2015) 32:29–33. doi: 10.1177/1049909113502119
- 179. Brazil K, Galway K, Carter G, van der Steen JT. Providing optimal palliative care for persons living with dementia: a comparison of physician perceptions in the Netherlands and the United Kingdom. J Palliat Med. (2017) 20:473–7. doi: 10.1089/jpm.2015.0274
- 180. Waldron M, Kernohan WG, Hasson F, Foster S, Cochrane B. What do social workers think about the palliative care needs of people with Parkinson's disease? *Br J Soc Work*. (2013) 43:81–98. doi: 10.1093/bjsw/bcr157
- 181. Fox S, Gannon E, Cashell A, Kernohan WG, Lynch M, McGlade C, et al. Survey of health care workers suggests unmet palliative care needs in Parkinson's Disease. *Mov Disord Clin Pract.* (2015) 2:142–8. doi: 10.1002/mdc3.12133
- McCarthy M, Addington-Hall J, Altmann D. The experience of dying with dementia: a retrospective study. Int J Geriatr Psychiatry. (1997) 12:404–9.
- 183. Harding R, Gao W, Jackson D, Pearson C, Murray J, Higginson IJ. Comparative analysis of informal caregiver burden in advanced cancer, dementia, and acquired brain injury. J Pain Symptom Manage. (2015). doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2015.04.005

- 184. Moens K, Higginson IJ, Harding R, Euro I. Are there differences in the prevalence of palliative care-related problems in people living with advanced cancer and eight non-cancer conditions? A systematic review. J Pain Symptom Manage. (2014) 48:660–77. doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2013.11.009
- 185. Huang HK, Hsieh JG, Hsieh CJ, Wang YW. Do cancer patients with dementia receive less aggressive treatment in end-of-life care? A nationwide population-based cohort study. *Oncotarget*. (2017) 8:63596–604. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.18867
- 186. McWilliams L, Farrell C, Grande G, Keady J, Swarbrick C, Yorke J. A systematic review of the prevalence of comorbid cancer and dementia and its implications for cancer-related care. *Aging Ment Health.* (2017) 22:1254–71. doi: 10.1080/13607863.2017.13 48476
- 187. Morin L, Beaussant Y, Aubry R, Fastbom J, Johnell K. Aggressiveness of end-of-life care for hospitalized individuals with cancer with and without dementia: a nationwide matched-cohort study in France. J Am Geriatr Soc. (2016) 64:1851–7. doi: 10.1111/jgs.14363
- Monroe TB, Carter MA, Feldt KS, Dietrich MS, Cowan RL. Pain and hospice care in nursing home residents with dementia and terminal cancer. *Geriatr Gerontol Int.* (2013) 13:1018–25. doi: 10.1111/ggi.12049
- 189. Priebe JA, Kunz M, Morcinek C, Rieckmann P, Lautenbacher S. Does Parkinson's disease lead to alterations in the facial expression of pain? J Neurol Sci. (2015) 359:226–35. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2015.10.056
- 190. Kutschar P, Lex K, Osterbrink J, Lorenzl S. [Parkinson's disease, Alzheimer's disease and oncological diseases in residential geriatric care: pain frequency and selected healthcare features in comparison]. *Schmerz.* (2018) 32:356–63. doi: 10.1007/s00482-018-0302-x
- 191. Oishi A, Murtagh FE. The challenges of uncertainty and interprofessional collaboration in palliative care for non-cancer patients in the community: a systematic review of views from patients, carers and health-care professionals. *Palliat Med.* (2014) 28:1081–98. doi: 10.1177/0269216314531999
- 192. Siouta N, Van Beek K, van der Eerden ME, Preston N, Hasselaar JG, Hughes S, et al. Integrated palliative care in Europe: a qualitative systematic literature review of empirically-tested models in cancer and chronic disease. *BMC Palliat Care.* (2016) 15:56. doi: 10.1186/s12904-016-0130-7
- 193. Valentijn PP, Boesveld IC, van der Klauw DM, Ruwaard D, Struijs JN, Molema JJ, et al. Towards a taxonomy for integrated care: a mixed-methods study. Int J Integr Care. (2015) 15:e003. doi: 10.5334/ijic.1513
- 194. den Herder-van der Eerden M, van Wijngaarden J, Payne S, Preston N, Linge-Dahl L, Radbruch L, et al. Integrated palliative care is about professional networking rather than standardisation of care: a qualitative study with healthcare professionals in 19 integrated palliative care initiatives in five European countries. *Palliat Med.* (2018) 32:1091–102. doi: 10.1177/0269216318758194
- 195. Temel J. What do we mean by early? In: *10th World Research Congress of the European Association for Palliative Care (EAPC)*. Bern (2018).
- 196. Gomez-Batiste X, Murray SA, Thomas K, Blay C, Boyd K, Moine S, et al. Comprehensive and integrated palliative care for people with advanced chronic conditions: an update from several european initiatives and recommendations for policy. *J Pain Symptom Manage*. (2017) 53:509–17. doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2016.10.361

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 van der Steen, Lennaerts, Hommel, Augustijn, Groot, Hasselaar, Bloem and Koopmans. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Supportive Care Needs in Glioma Patients and Their Caregivers in Clinical Practice: Results of a Multicenter Cross-Sectional Study

Mirjam Renovanz^{1*}, Dorothea Maurer¹, Heike Lahr¹, Elke Weimann², Monika Deininger³, Christian Rainer Wirtz³, Florian Ringel¹, Susanne Singer⁴ and Jan Coburger³

¹ Department of Neurosurgery, University Medical Center, Johannes Gutenberg University Mainz, Mainz, Germany, ² Department of Neurology, Klinikum Ludwigsburg, Ludwigsburg, Germany, ³ Department of Neurosurgery, University Medical Center Ulm, Günzburg, Germany, ⁴ Division of Epidemiology and Health Services Research, Institute of Medical Biostatistics, Epidemiology and Informatics, University Medical Center, Johannes Gutenberg University Mainz, Mainz, Germany

Objective: Supportive care needs in glioma patients often remain unrecognized, and optimization in assessment is required. First, we aimed at assessing the support needed using a simple structured questionnaire. Second, we investigated the psychosocial burden and support requested from caregivers.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by: Ravmond Voltz.

Uniklinik Köln, Germany

Reviewed by:

Christoph Stretz, Yale University, United States Minjee Kim, Northwestern University, United States

*Correspondence:

Mirjam Renovanz mirjam.renovanz@unimedizin-mainz.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurocritical and Neurohospitalist Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 30 March 2018 Accepted: 22 August 2018 Published: 11 September 2018

Citation:

Renovanz M, Maurer D, Lahr H, Weimann E, Deininger M, Wirtz CR, Ringel F, Singer S and Coburger J (2018) Supportive Care Needs in Glioma Patients and Their Caregivers in Clinical Practice: Results of a Multicenter Cross-Sectional Study. Front. Neurol. 9:763. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00763 **Methods:** Patients were assessed at three centers during their outpatient visits. They completed the Distress Thermometer (DT; score \geq 6 indicated significant burden in brain tumor patients), the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Quality of Life Questionnaire (EORTC QLQ)-C30+BN20, and the Patients' Perspective Questionnaire (PPQ) that assessed psychosocial distress as well as support requested and received by patients for specific domains (e.g., family, doctor, and mobile care). In each subgroup, patients' caregivers were assessed simultaneously by a questionnaire developed for the study. Multivariate backward logistic regressions were performed for investigating predictors of patients' request for support.

Results: Assessments were conducted for 232 patients. Most patients (82%) had a high-grade glioma and a mean age of 52 years (range 20–87). The male to female ratio was 1.25:1. According to the PPQ results, 38% (87) of the patients felt depressed; 44% (103), anxious; and 39% (91), tense/nervous. Desired support was highest from doctors (59%) and psychologists (19%). A general request for support was associated with lower global health status (p = 0.03, odds ratio (OR) = 0.96, 95% CI: 0.92–0.99) according to EORTC QLQ-C30. Most of the assessed caregivers (n = 96) were life partners (64%; n = 61) who experienced higher distress than the corresponding patients (caregivers: 6.5 ± 2.5 vs. patients: 5.3 ± 2.4). When patients were on chemotherapy, caregivers indicated DT ≥ 6 significantly more frequently than patients themselves (p = 0.02).

Conclusion: Our data showed that glioma patients and their caregivers were both highly burdened. The PPQ allowed us to evaluate the psychosocial support requested and perceived by patients, detect supportive care needs, and provide information at a glance. Patients in poorer clinical condition are at risk of having unmet needs.

103

The caregivers' burden and unmet needs are not congruent with the patients' need for support. In particular, caregivers of patients on chemotherapy were more highly burdened than patients themselves.

Keywords: supportive care needs, palliative care, glioma, brain tumor, self-assessment

INTRODUCTION

The prognosis in high-grade glioma patients remains poor, and supportive care needs should be addressed in a timely manner. The requirement for psychosocial support and early palliative has not only become a focus of (neuro-) oncological research (1-5), but is also incorporated in guidelines for the provision of care for these patients (6, 7). Application of patient-reported outcomes (PROs) has become essential in assessing the patients' quality of life and their needs, distress, and psychosocial burden, as well as supportive care needs (8). Recently, it has been shown that monitoring symptoms via PRO measures can be very helpful for cancer patients and even influence survival (9, 10).

Palliative and end-of-life care are still partially neglected topics in current neuro-oncological outpatient care. Seibl-Leven et al. reported recently that palliative care in glioblastoma patients is either not provided at all, or not in a timely fashion, leading to a shortage of services for patients and caregivers (11). Adequate assessment of unmet needs, early integration of palliative care and timely end-of-life-care planning should be implemented as clinical routine (12).

As glioma patients suffer from neurocognitive deficits caused by both the disease itself and the treatment (13–15) they may not always be able to answer PRO questionnaires. Furthermore, as reported by our group and others, patients undergoing chemotherapy or in a poor clinical condition may be missed by PRO assessment; however, at the same time, they are those who could particularly benefit from early supportive care (5, 16–18). Therefore, we believe it is of utmost importance to adequately identify glioma patients in need of supportive care.

Caregivers face challenging situations as well, sometimes even more so than glioma patients. The neurological, psychological and cognitive symptoms of patients with gliomas represent significant challenges to their caregivers: Not only do they have to cope with the diagnosis of the family member, with the therapy and the knowledge that they will finally lose their partner or parent or child, but also accept changes in roles, relationships, social isolation, financial restriction and sooner or later, have to take care of the partner or family member day and night (19–23).

Therefore, the aims of our study were to (1) Assess support received and needed by patients and (2) Assess support needed by patients' caregivers.

PATIENTS AND METHODS

Patients

During April 2015 to June 2016, patients at three German neurooncological centers were approached during their outpatient visits and asked to participate in the study. Inclusion criteria were diagnosis of glioma WHO grades II–IV regardless of disease stage (initial diagnosis or recurrent disease), absence of aphasia impairing communication or consent to the study, and given informed consent. Patients were asked to complete several PRO measures. Furthermore, demographic and clinical data were recorded in a database.

PRO Measures Used Distress Thermometer (DT)

The DT is a self-reporting screening instrument developed by the National Comprehensive Cancer Network to evaluate psychological distress on a visual analog scale (0–10 points). A problem list with 40 items is included for patients to indicate the area of concern (family, financial, and physical) (24). Studies have proven its acceptance in oncological patients, and the German version for brain tumor patients was first evaluated by Goebel and Mehdorn (25). A score ≥ 6 indicates significant burden in brain tumor patients.

European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Quality of Life Questionnaire Core Module for Cancer Patients Accompanied by the Brain-Specific Module (EORTC QLQ-C30 + BN20)

The EORTC QLQ-C30 is a widely accepted questionnaire applying a 4-point Likert scale to evaluate cancer patients' quality of life. Five functional, three symptom, and six single-item scales as well as the global health status are investigated (physical, role, emotional, social, and cognitive functioning; fatigue, nausea and vomiting, pain; dyspnea, insomnia, appetite loss, constipation, diarrhea, and financial difficulties). Its validity and reliability have been proven in numerous clinical studies, and it is available in 85 languages. The additional module for brain tumor patients (BN20) consists of 20 questions specifically assessing their symptoms (3 neurological deficit scales, 1 future uncertainty scale, treatment and disease-related symptoms) (26, 27). The EORTC scores were calculated according to the user manual (28). Each scale is scored from 0 to 100, with higher scores indicating better functioning for functional scales and worse symptoms for symptom scales. In our regression and correlation analyses, we used the global health scale (GHS) as the primary endpoint.

The Patients' Perspective Questionnaire (PPQ)

The "Patients' Perspective Questionnaire" (PPQ) is a questionnaire assessing patients' current status of support received, its subjective benefit and further needs. It was adapted for brain tumor patients based on a questionnaire used by Singer et al. (29). They applied several versions, whereas in our study we combined them into one questionnaire, added

questions and items of probable interest to glioma patients according to the authors' experiences. This resulted in one questionnaire comprising three parts: Part I: The first 9 items assessed psychosocial distress (sad /worried /angry /tense /hopeful /burdened by disease/ burdened by other problems/ sufficiently supported/ sufficiently informed) by 5-step Likertscales (scoring from 1 = not at all to 5 = very much) and if support was requested by the patient with regard to the respective item ("I need support for....": yes/no). The latter questions were considered for the general request for support if one or more item was answered with "yes." The next 10 items (Part II) assessed support provided and its subjective benefit on a 5-step Likert scale (scoring from 1 = support was not helpful at all to 5 = support was very helpful). The last 7 items (Part III) recorded support requested currently by the patients (from doctors, psychologist, social worker, and so on) with dichotomous answer possibilities (yes/no). Further support currently requested by any profession or next of kin was considered positive if one or more answers were "yes." The questionnaire is provided as Supplement 1.

The Questionnaire for the Caregivers/Caregivers' Perspective Questionnaire (CPQ)

In order to provide a questionnaire for glioma patients' caregivers in line with the PPQ with regard to structure and practicability, we combined elements and items after conducting a literature search and using an expert panel in the study group. We first applied it as a pilot study in family members volunteering during an information-sharing event for brain tumor patients. According to their anonymous feedback, the questionnaire was adapted with respect to wording, font size and item specification. The final version of the questionnaire is provided as **Supplement 2**.

Part I assessed the psychological distress on a visual analog scale (0–10 points) according to the DT applied to patients. Further, possible problem-items were provided similarly to the DT item list with dichotomous choices with regard to practical, family or emotional problems (24). In part II, we incorporated two questions with regard to quality of life and global health with Likert scales scoring from 1 to 7 according to the items 29 and 30 of the EORTC QLQ-C30 questionnaire (26). Finally, part III provided a list of items recording the support requested by caregivers (psychologists, social care, doctor, physiotherapy, dietician, self-help, friends, family members, palliative care). The questionnaire further included a question if an explanation of any term in the questionnaire was needed (**Supplement 2**).

Patients' and Caregivers' Assessment

Patients completed the DT, EORTC QLQ-C30+BN20 and the PPQ by themselves. Further, patients were asked directly by the attending neuro-oncologist during the patient-doctor consultation if they would like support by a psychologist. Neuro-oncologists also indicated and recorded their own assessment with regard to patients' unmet psycho-oncological needs independent of the assessment by questionnaires after having obtained the current medical history. In a subgroup, patients' caregivers were assessed simultaneously by the CPQ developed for the study.

Statistical Analysis

Demographic and tumor-related data, as well as Karnofsky-Index, were analyzed descriptively. Explorative Spearman's rho correlations between DT score as well as GHS and general request for support or request for support by doctors were performed.

Multivariate logistic regressions were performed with regard to "request for support in general" as well as "request for support by doctors" and "by other health care professionals." Clinical and demographic factors probably influencing request for support were selected content driven by the authors as follows: sex (male/female), living situation (alone/in relationship), educational level (university degree/no university degree), WHO grade (low-grade/high-grade glioma), Karnofsky-Index (continuous variable, score 0–100), on chemotherapy (yes/no), GHS (continuous variable, EORTC QLQ-C30, score 0–100), DT score (continuous variable, score 0–10), surgery for recurrent disease (yes/no), and age (continuous variable, 25–85). The statistical analyses were performed using SPSS version 22 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY).

Ethics

The study was performed in accordance with national law, institutional ethical standards, and the Declaration of Helsinki after approval of the study protocol by the local ethics committees (Mainz, Germany and Ulm/Günzburg, Germany [No: 837.349.15 (10117)]. All patients provided written informed consent prior to data assessment.

RESULTS

Patients

Two hundred and thirty-two patients were assessed and 84% of the patients had a high-grade glioma. Mean age was 52 years (range 25–85). Male to female ratio was 1.25:1. Most of the patients were in a relationship and 30% (n = 71) had a higher education level. Mean Karnofsky-Index was 79 and 52% of the patients were on chemotherapy during assessment. Further details are provided in **Table 1**.

Patients' Perceived and Requested Support According to the PPQ

We observed that 38% (87) of patients felt depressed (indicated \geq 3 on the Likert scale), 44% (103) were anxious and 39% (91) were tense/nervous. Fifty-nine percent (138) reported to be adequately informed about the disease and therapy and 77% (180) of the patients felt sufficiently supported (**Table 2**).

Patients' support was reported to be highest from family (75%) and doctors (e.g., physician or attending neurooncologists, 68%). Only 13% were supported by psychologists. The support was mostly reported as helpful with highest mean scores being that of family and friends (mean score > 4), followed by doctors, outpatient care services and physiotherapists.

Results of a Multicenter Cross-Sectional Study

TABLE 1 | Clinical and demographic data of the patient sample and results of the psychosocial assessment using the Distress Thermometer (DT; score ≥ 6 indicated significant burden in brain tumor patients), the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Quality of Life Questionnaire (EORTC QLQ)-C30+BN20, and the Patients' Perspective Questionnaire (PPQ).

Variable	Patients $n = 232 (100\%)$
AGE IN YEARS	
Mean (SD; min, max)	52 (14; 20, 87)
Sex, n (%)	
Male	129 (56)
Female	103 (44)
LIVING SITUATION, n (%)	
Single	49 (21)
n relationship	75 (72)
Unknown	8 (7)
EDUCATION LEVEL	
University degree	71 (30)
No university degree	151 (66)
Unknown	10 (4)
WHO-GRADE, n (%)	
_GG (WHO I°+II°)	35 (16)
HGG (WHO III°+IV°)	190 (84)
TUMOR LOCALIZATION I, n (%)	
Frontal	99 (43)
Temporal	57 (25)
Parietal	31 (13)
Occipital	12 (4)
Other	17 (8)
Jnknown	16 (7)
ONGOING CHEMOTHERAPY, n (%	%)
Yes	111 (48)
No	121 (52)
SURGERY FOR RECURRENT TU	MOR, <i>n</i> (%)
Yes	57 (25)
No	140 (60)
Missing	35 (15)
KARNOFSKY-INDEX	
Vlean (SD, range)	79 (16; 40–100)
TIME SINCE DIAGNOSIS IN MON	THS
Vlean (SD, range)	42 (54; 4–288)
Vedian	19
VALUE OF DISTRESS-THERMOM	IETER*
Vlean (SD, range)	5.0 (2.5; 0.0–10.0)
< 6 (n, %)	126 (54)
≥ 6 (<i>n</i> , %)	95 (41)
Vissing	11 (5)
SELECTED EORTC QLQ-C30 ANI (SD)	D EORTC QLQ-BN20 SCORES, MEAN
C30 Global Health Status/QoL	57.4 (23.0)
C30 Physical functioning	68.8 (30.1)
C30 Role functioning	57.3 (36.4)
C30 Emotional functioning	60.4 (28.0)
	58.3 (32.7)
C30 Cognitive functioning	0010 (0211)

TABLE 1 | Continued

Patients <i>n</i> = 232 (100%)	
46.3 (32.0)	
23.4 (28.0)	
43.9 (29.9)	
25.0 (27.1)	
31.7 (32.4)	
29.7 (32.2)	

LGG, low grade glioma; HGG, high grade glioma.

Desired support was highest from doctors (59%) and psychologists (19%) as well as from dieticians (15%, **Table 2**).

Patients' Requested Support in Comparison to DT, GHS, and Clinical Condition

Patients requesting support according to the PPQ generally showed higher DT scores (according to DT, p = 0.006, $r_s = 0.20$), lower GHS (according to EORTC QLQ-C30, p < 0.001, $r_s = -0.34$), and lower Karnofsky indices (p = 0.03, $r_s = -0.18$). The request for support was further associated with patients' wish for psychological intervention when asked directly (p = 0.03, $r_s = 0.27$), and the neuro-oncologist's clinical assessment of patients' unmet needs (p = 0.001, $r_s = 0.24$).

Factors Associated With Current Requested General Support According to the PPQ

With regards to the request for support in general, we observed that patients reporting "lower GHS" were at higher risk for unmet needs (p = 0.03, odds ratio (OR) = 0.96, 95% CI: 0.92–0.99), as assessed by logistic regression analysis (step 5). Patients "living alone" indicated higher request for support; however, this was not significant. Educational level, WHO grade, Karnofsky-Index, on chemotherapy, DT score, surgery for recurrent disease and age were not significantly associated with the request for support in general.

Factors Associated With Current Requested Support by Doctors According to the PPQ

Logistic regression analyses revealed that "living situation/not in partnership" was associated with request for support by doctors according to the PPQ (living situation/in partnership p = 0.01, OR = 0.06, 95% CI: 0.01–0.53). Further, we observed a tendency of patients "on chemotherapy" to wish for greater support; however, this was not significant. Request for support from physicians was not significantly associated with educational level, GHS, sex, WHO grade, Karnofsky-Index, DT score, surgery for recurrent disease and age.

•	1	1 6	
Item	Do you feel? (Mean on Likert scale*)	Support requested (n, %)	
PART I: MOOD AND	WELL-BEING		
Sad/depressed	2.3 (1.2)	37 (16)	
Worried/anxious	2.5 (1.2)	36 (16)	
Angry	2.0 (1.2)	28 (12)	
Tense/nervous	2.3 (1.2)	33 (14)	
Hopeful	3.3 (1.2)	25 (11)	
Burdened by disease	2.9 (1.3)	44 (19)	
Burdened by other problems	2.2 (1.3)	27 (12)	
Sufficiently supported	3.9 (1.3)	33 (14)	
Sufficiently informed	3.5 (1.3)	49 (21)	
Profession	Received support (n, %)	If yes, how helpful? (Mean on Likert scale [#])	
PART II: RECEIVED S	UPPORT		
Doctor	157 (68)	3.9 (1.0)	
Outpatient	46 (20)	3.8 (1.1)	

Profession Requested support (n, %)		
Friends	156 (67)	4.2 (1.0)
Family	174 (75)	4.5 (0.9)
Support group	4 (2)	2.3 (1.6)
Dietician	12 (5)	2.8 (1.4)
Pastor	11 (5)	2.9 (1.7)
Psychologist	31 (13)	3.3 (1.6)
Social service	27 (12)	3.4 (1.6)
Physiotherapist	54 (23)	3.6 (1.3)
Outpatient care/palliative services	46 (20)	3.8 (1.1)
Doctor	157 (68)	3.9 (1.0)

PART III: REQUESTED SUPPORT			
Doctor	137 (59)		
Outpatient care/palliative services	31 (13)		
Social service	26 (11)		
Psychologist	43 (19)		
Pastor	10 (4)		
Dietician	34 (15)		
Support group	23 (10)		

In part I, patients indicated their psychological well-being and mood as well as satisfaction and unmet information needs. In part II, patients indicated received support and rated how helpful the support was. In part III, patients indicated by which profession he/she needed support. ^{*}Likert scale 1–5 with 1 = not at all and 5 = very much. [#]Likert scale 1–5 with 1 = not at all helpul and 5 = very helpful.

Factors Associated With Current Requested Support by Any Health Care Profession According to the PPQ

With regard to request for support by any health care profession, logistic regression revealed that "living situation/not in partnership" as well as "university degree" were associated with wish for support by any health care profession according to the PPQ; "living situation/in partnership" was protective (p = 0.01,

OR = 0.076, 95% CI: 0.10–0.57), whereas having "university degree" posed a higher risk (p = 0.04, OR = 7.86, 95% CI: 1.10–56.08). There was no significant association between requested support from any health care profession and sex, GHS, WHO grade, Karnofsky-Index, on chemotherapy, DT score, surgery for recurrent disease and age.

The Caregivers' Burden

In a subgroup of 96 patients, their caregivers completed the CPQ. Patients' age in this subgroup was 56 years (*SD* 14.8, range 19–84). Most of the caregivers (64%, n = 61) were life partners.

Caregivers' DT mean was higher than the DT mean of the corresponding patients (caregivers: DT = 6.5, SD = 2.5 vs. patients: DT mean = 5.3, SD = 2.4). Similarly, a DT score ≥ 6 was reported more frequently by caregivers (55%, n = 53) than patients (47%, n = 37). Simultaneously, according to the CPQ, caregivers were highly burdened: 48% indicated to be anxious, 54% were sad and 70% reported concerns/worries. Practical problems were mostly problems with insurance or financial problems (24%), mobility and transport (38%) and working situation (25%). The changes in relationship (32%) and problems in interactions with spouse or life partner (28%) were frequently reported. Further results are presented in **Table 3**.

When patients were on chemotherapy, caregivers indicated DT ≥ 6 significantly more frequently than the patients themselves (patients: 33%, n = 13 vs. caregivers: 59%, n = 23, p = 0.02, Fishers' exact test).

Caregivers' Requested Support

Twenty-eight percent (n = 26) of caregivers indicated a moderate and 14% (n = 13) a poor quality of life (mean of all assessments QoL: 4.4, and global health: 4.7 on a Likert scale 1–7). Requests for support came mostly from family (26%), doctors (24%), psychologists (15%), physiotherapists (15%) as well as social service (13%). **Table 3** presents results in more detail.

DISCUSSION

In our study, we were able to apply the PPQ to glioma patients and assess support received and needed by patients as well as evaluate the accompanying caregivers by a study-specific questionnaire in a subgroup of patients. We found clinical and demographic factors (e.g., GHS, living situation, and university degree with regard to education) to be associated with higher wish for support, either global or support by a specific profession. Caregivers were even burdened more highly and needed support as well.

Patients and Required Support

In our sample of glioma patients, we observed that the male to female ratio, general conditions expressed by the Karnofsky-Index and the high rate of high-grade gliomas (HGG) represented patients seen by neuro-oncologists in outpatient settings in general. However, as we did not assess the percentage of patients refusing the assessment, we are unable to reflect on the reasons for refusal (e.g., the assessment comprising three questionnaires might not have been well-accepted and probably
TABLE 3 | Results of assessments in 96 caregivers using the self-developed questionnaire.

PART I: DISTRESS AND PROBLEMS	
Distress mean (SD; median)	6.5 (2.5, 6)
Problems with	n (%)
Child Care	11 (11)
Housing situation	10 (10)
Insurance/finance	23 (24)
Mobility/transport	36 (38)
Working/education	24 (25)
Interaction with children	10 (10)
Interaction with life partner	27 (28)
Interaction with parents	12 (13)
Depression	12 (13)
Anxiety	46 (48)
Nervousness	45 (47)
Sadness	52 (54)
Worries	67 (70)
Changes in relationship	31 (32)
PART II: QUALITY OF LIFE	
Quality of Life of caregiver*	4.4 (1.5)
Global health of caregiver*	4.7 (1.4)
PART III: REQUESTED SUPPORT	
Profession	n (%)
Psychologist	14 (15)
Social service	12 (13)
Doctor	23 (24)
Outpatient care	13 (14)
Physiotherapist	14 (15)
Pastor	4 (4)
Dietician	10 (10)
Self-help group	4 (4)
Family	25 (26)
Palliative services	8 (8)
Request for further explanation of terms	3 (3)

In part I, caregivers indicated their distress and problems. In part II, caregivers indicated their quality of life and health status. In part III, they indicated by which profession he/she needed support.

^{*}Likert scale 1–7 with 1 = extremely poor and 7 = very good.

too demanding). Seibl-Leven et al. reported a relatively high refusal and drop-out rate in their field study (11). Further, in a previous study by our group, we observed that patients refusing an assessment or dropping out of an observational study were more often with recurrent diseases, poorer clinical condition and harbored more often a glioblastoma (18, 30). Therefore, we should take into account that a certain percentage of patients probably with unmet needs may have been missed by our assessment and assume that we observed a selection of glioma patients, leading to a lower generalizability of the results.

In general, high burden and a strong wish for support for certain mental/emotional states (e.g., worries and depression) were indicated by the patients using the PPQ, which was also reflected by the fact that higher DT scores were associated with more frequent requests for support. This is in line with other studies and emphasizes how demanding comprehensive care for glioma patients is (2, 11, 31–34).

Interestingly, 15% of the patients required support by dieticians. While rarely addressed by neuro-oncologists, this aspect should be taken into account when planning supportive care for glioma patients as they frequently suffer from dysphagia in the final phase of the disease (35, 36).

Although many patients suffered from depression, worries and sadness, only 13% were supported by psychologists and 20% by outpatient/palliative care services, and only 19% and 13% required support from these respective professions. One reason for this finding could be that patients felt stigmatized when they experienced psychological problems and hesitated to ask for and accept support. Doctors rarely refer patients proactively for psychosocial support or palliative care timeously. Ideally, the treatment team is multidisciplinary from the very beginning of the disease trajectory. Even if the patients are not healed, this team can still support the patients together (5, 7, 36). This is also strengthened by the fact that according to the findings from the PPQ in our study, many patients and caregivers required general support as well as support from doctors relatively often. As we did not define the specialist disciplines (e.g., neurologist, family doctor or oncologist) in the questionnaire, it remains difficult to interpret this high percentage. It may probably include other disciplines: Patients might hesitate to indicate the need of psychological support; however, they might prefer to indicate support by doctors. The high rate of required support by doctors compared to other disciplines could be further due to the timing of the assessment. All patients were assessed prior to the appointment. Thus, potentially relevant questions were not addressed. Patients participating in this study may have attempted to be a "compliant patient" which may have introduced a certain bias in our study. This is also a possible explanation for the finding that patients rated the support by doctors as "helpful" in part II of the PPQ.

Patients seemed to be not well informed. This is of concern and needs to be considered seriously, and as already reported by other studies on patient-doctor consultations in (neuro-) oncology, improvement in communication skills is required (37). Glioma patients suffer from neurocognitive deficits and comprehension can be impaired (38, 39). Further, due to the lack of data and effective treatment options for patients with recurrent gliomas, patients may feel that they are under-informed and hope for new therapeutic options (40).

Distress, GHS and Request for Clinical Support

We found a correlation of elevated DT, higher burden of patients and request for clinical support. Furthermore, the wish of patients when asked directly and the assessment of attending neuro-oncologists were both associated with request for general support. It is well known that doctors' views are not always congruent with the patients' views with regard to psychosocial distress and unmet needs (2). However, our data show that if there is no time for an extensive psychosocial assessment or patients are unable to complete questionnaires during the routine clinical visit, a higher level of distress directly indicated by the patient on a visual analog scale (which should be feasible for most of the patients) may signal unmet needs. Of note, the doctor in charge has to find out during the consultation the reasons for the distress and the areas of unmet needs. In our opinion, a routinely implemented question on distress during the consultation could draw attention to the patients' problems and initiate support whenever another type of screening (e.g., with questionnaires) is not possible.

Factors Associated With Required Support

We observed several clinical and demographic factors to be associated with required support. As also shown by others, patients in poor general condition (as perceived by themselves and expressed in our study by GHS) require greater support (34, 41).

In times of increasing social isolation, it seems to be an important finding of our study that patients living alone were at risk of higher unmet needs. Attending neuro-oncologists and physicians should consider the social situation of patients in order to initiate support timeously, particularly as patients with gliomas (as well as their families) are at risk for social isolation *per se* (42, 43).

Interestingly, patients with higher educational level longed for more support by any health care profession than did other patients. Possibly, they may have been better informed than the others or needed further support to deal with information obtained by themselves (e.g., via the internet). Presumably, all patients deal intensively with the poor prognosis, the clinical deficits, the neurocognitive impairment and psychological burden; however, those with higher education verbalize their questions better than the others. Although our analyses have to be regarded as exploratory, we observed similar results as others and the factors could serve as features signalizing patients with unmet needs to the doctors in charge (22, 34).

Caregivers' Burden

As in other studies, the caregivers of our patients reported high distress, even higher than that of the patients (1, 2, 22, 23). Our caregivers were mostly life partners accompanying their relative to the consultation. It is well known that in glioma patients, family problems occur due to role changes, or changes in relationships. Demanding financial situations and practical issues also lead to tremendous burden in caregivers along the disease trajectory-reflected in our data as well (e.g., 70% of the caregivers reported to be worried). Hence, special screening for caregivers is required using instruments such as our questionnaire which was well accepted. When patients are on chemotherapy, neurooncologists should take into account that mostly caregivers organize the family life, take care of the patients and are in charge when patients suffer from side effects. In order to relieve caregivers, early integration of palliative care, outpatient services, social services and interdisciplinary

treatment (during ongoing tumor-specific therapies) are required (44–47).

Caregivers' Requested Support

Although caregivers reported high burden, only a minority wished for support by any profession. This may be partially due to functional coping strategies [e.g., high expectation of self-efficiency (20)] as well as feelings such as shame and fear about being unable to manage. These hinder caregivers to requesting and/or accepting "external help." Some patients may also refuse outpatient care services as they do not like to accept the help of people they do not know and wish to stay at home in the final phase as well (36). This could lead to an enormous burden for caregivers when not supported by outpatient palliative care, which is the task of the doctor in charge (mostly physicians and neuro-oncologists) to initiate in a timely and sensitive way (45).

Strengths and Limitations of the Study

Of note, this is the first study that applied the two questionnaires in glioma patients and caregivers simultaneously in a multicenter study, with both questionnaires found to be useful for clinical and research purposes. However, the study does have several limitations.

The study required patients to be fit enough to complete several questionnaires. Therefore, patients in advanced stages of the disease and with cognitive deficits were not included, even though they might be the ones with the highest level of distress and need for supportive care. Shorter assessments are required for such patients. The study was a cross-sectional study and did not investigate the course of needs and distress during the disease trajectory. PPQ and CPQ were not validated instruments; therefore, the results should be interpreted with caution. Furthermore, the patient population was in a heterogeneous disease stage and current treatment. However, this can also represent a certain benefit as the results translate well to the general outpatient population seen at neuro-oncological centers. The content-driven selection of probable influencing clinical and demographic factors with regard to requested support for explorative correlation and logistic regression analyses reduced the statistical strength.

CONCLUSION

Our data show that glioma patients are highly burdened, and doctors play a crucial role in initiating these patients' psychosocial care and support. The PPQ allows us to evaluate the support requested and perceived by the patients, to detect supportive care needs and provide information at a glance. We observed clinical factors (e.g., when patients live alone in relation to support by doctors, lower GHS with regard to general requested support) and demographic factors (e.g., living alone or higher educational level with regard to support by any profession) that are possibly associated with unmet needs. Of note, the patients' needs do not always reflect the caregivers' situations. Especially, caregivers of patients on chemotherapy are more burdened than patients themselves. Therefore, either using a questionnaire or questioning during consultation, regular assessment of relatives/caregivers accompanying the patient is required.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MR contributed to the conception and design of the study and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. DM, HL, EW, and MD assessed the study data and organized the data base. MR and DM developed the questionnaire for caregivers. CW, FR, and SS contributed to the conception and design of the study and edited the manuscript. JC contributed to the conception and design of the study, performed the statistical analyses, and edited the manuscript. All authors contributed to

REFERENCES

- Catt S, Chalmers A, Fallowfield L. Psychosocial and supportivecare needs in high-grade glioma. *Lancet Oncol.* (2008) 9:884–91. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(08)70230-4
- Ford E, Catt S, Chalmers A, Fallowfield L. Systematic review of supportive care needs in patients with primary malignant brain tumors. *Neuro Oncol.* (2012) 14:392–404. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/nor229
- Sizoo EM, Pasman HR, Buttolo J, Heimans JJ, Klein M, Deliens L, et al. Decision-making in the end-of-life phase of high-grade glioma patients. *Eur J Cancer* (2012) 48:226–32. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2011.11.010
- 4. Sizoo EM, Pasman HR, Dirven L, Marosi C, Grisold W, Stockhammer G, et al. The end-of-life phase of high-grade glioma patients: a systematic review. *Support Care Cancer* (2014) 22:847–57. doi: 10.1007/s00520-013-2088-9
- Walbert T. Integration of palliative care into the neuro-oncology practice: patterns in the United States. *Neurooncol Pract.* (2014) 1:3–7. doi: 10.1093/nop/npt004
- Ferrell BR, Temel JS, Temin S, Alesi ER, Balboni TA, Basch EM, et al. Integration of palliative care into standard oncology care: American society of clinical oncology clinical practice guideline update. *J Clin Oncol.* (2017) 35:96–112. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2016.70.1474
- Pace A, Dirven L, Koekkoek JAF, Golla H, Fleming J, Ruda R, et al. European Association for Neuro-Oncology (EANO) guidelines for palliative care in adults with glioma. *Lancet Oncol.* (2017) 18:e330–e340. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(17)30345-5
- Dirven L, Taphoorn MJ, Reijneveld JC, Blazeby J, Jacobs M, Pusic A, et al. The level of patient-reported outcome reporting in randomised controlled trials of brain tumour patients: a systematic review. *Eur J Cancer* (2014) 50:2432–48. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2014.06.016
- Basch E, Deal AM, Kris MG, Scher HI, Hudis CA, Sabbatini P, et al. Symptom monitoring with patient-reported outcomes during routine cancer treatment: a randomized controlled trial. J Clin Oncol. (2016) 34:557–65. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2015.63.0830
- Basch E, Deal AM, Dueck AC, Scher HI, Kris MG., Hudis C, et al. Overall survival results of a trial assessing patient-reported outcomes for symptom monitoring during routine cancer treatment. *JAMA* (2017) 318:197–8. doi: 10.1001/jama.2017.7156
- 11. Seibl-Leven M, von Reeken C, Goldbrunner R, Grau S, Ruge MI, Galldiks N, et al. Clinical routine assessment of palliative care symptoms and concerns and caregiver burden in glioblastoma patients: an explorative field study. *J Neurooncol.* (2018) 138:321–33. doi: 10.1007/s11060-018-2800-1
- Mitchell AJ, Lord K, Slattery J, Grainger L, Symonds P. How feasible is implementation of distress screening by cancer clinicians in routine clinical care? *Cancer* (2012) 118:6260–9. doi: 10.1002/cncr.27648

revision of the manuscript, read and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

acknowledge patients for We all and caregivers their study participation. Further, acknowledge we members of our study group-Minou Nadji-Ohl, Linda Stöckelmaier, Katrin Nickel, Sonja Grüninger, Christoph Richter-for tremendous and their support.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fneur. 2018.00763/full#supplementary-material

- Efficace F, Taphoorn M. Methodological issues in designing and reporting health-related quality of life in cancer clinical trials: the challenge of brain cancer studies. *J Neurooncol.* (2012) 108:221–6. doi: 10.1007/s11060-012-0819-2
- Peterson JC, Pirraglia PA, Wells MT, Charlson ME. Attrition in longitudinal randomized controlled trials: home visits make a difference. *BMC Med Res Methodol.* (2012) 12:178. doi: 10.1186/1471-2288-12-178
- Boele FW, Zant M, Heine EC, Aaronson NK, Taphoorn MJ, Reijneveld JC, et al. The association between cognitive functioning and health-related quality of life in low-grade glioma patients. *Neurooncol Pract.* (2014) 1:40–6. doi: 10.1093/nop/npu007
- 16. Renovanz M, Hickmann AK, Coburger J, Kohlmann K, Janko M, Reuter AK, et al. Assessing psychological and supportive care needs in glioma patients feasibility study on the use of the Supportive Care Needs Survey Short Form (SCNS-SF34-G) and the Supportive Care Needs Survey Screening Tool (SCNS-ST9) in clinical practice. *Eur J Cancer Care (Engl)*. (2016) 27:e12598. doi: 10.1111/ecc.12598
- Walbert T, Glantz M, Schultz L, Puduvalli VK. Impact of provider level, training and gender on the utilization of palliative care and hospice in neuro-oncology: a North-American survey. J Neurooncol. (2016) 126:337–45. doi: 10.1007/s11060-015-1973-0
- Renovanz M, Hechtner M, Kohlmann K, Janko M, Nadji-Ohl M, Singer S, et al. Compliance with patient-reported outcome assessment in glioma patients: predictors for drop out. Neuro Oncol Pract. (2017) 5:129–38. doi: 10.1093/nop/npx026
- Piil K, Juhler M, Jakobsen J, Jarden M. Daily life experiences of patients with a high-grade glioma and their caregivers: a longitudinal exploration of rehabilitation and supportive care needs. *J Neurosci Nurs.* (2015) 47:271–84. doi: 10.1097/JNN.00000000000158
- Boele FW, Given CW, Given BA, Donovan HS, Schulz R, Weimer JM, et al. Family caregivers' level of mastery predicts survival of patients with glioblastoma: a preliminary report. *Cancer* (2017) 123:832–40. doi: 10.1002/cncr.30428
- Boele FW, van Uden-Kraan CF, Hilverda K, Weimer J, Donovan HS, Drappatz J, et al. Neuro-oncology family caregivers' view on keeping track of care issues using eHealth systems: it's a question of time. *J Neurooncol.* (2017) 134:157–67. doi: 10.1007/s11060-017-2504-y
- Halkett GK, Lobb EA, Shaw T, Sinclair MM, Miller L, Hovey E, et al. Distress and psychological morbidity do not reduce over time in carers of patients with high-grade glioma. *Support Care Cancer* (2017) 25:887–93. doi: 10.1007/s00520-016-3478-6
- Piil K, Jakobsen J, Christensen KB, Juhler M, Guetterman TC, Fetters MD, et al. Needs and preferences among patients with high-grade glioma and their caregivers-a longitudinal mixed methods study. *Eur J Cancer Care (Engl)*. (2018) 27:e12806. doi: 10.1111/ecc.12806

- 24. National Comprehensive Cancer Network. Distress management. Clinical practice guidelines. J Natl Compr Canc Netw. (2003) 1:344–374.
- Goebel S, Mehdorn HM. Measurement of psychological distress in patients with intracranial tumours: the NCCN distress thermometer. J Neurooncol. (2011) 104:357–64. doi: 10.1007/s11060-010-0501-5
- Aaronson NK, Ahmedzai S, Bergman B, Bullinger M, Cull A, Duez NJ, et al. The European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer QLQ-C30: a quality-of-life instrument for use in international clinical trials in oncology. J Natl Cancer Inst. (1993) 85:365–76. doi: 10.1093/jnci/85. 5.365
- Taphoorn MJ, Claassens L, Aaronson NK, Coens C, Mauer M, Osoba D, et al. An international validation study of the EORTC brain cancer module (EORTC QLQ-BN20) for assessing health-related quality of life and symptoms in brain cancer patients. *Eur J Cancer* (2010) 46:1033–40. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2010.01.012
- Wintner LM, Sztankay M, Aaronson N, Bottomley A, Giesinger JM, Groenvold M, et al. The use of EORTC measures in daily clinical practice-A synopsis of a newly developed manual. *Eur J Cancer* (2016) 68:73-81. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2016.08.024
- Singer S, Gotze H, Mobius C, Witzigmann H, Kortmann RD, Lehmann A, et al. Quality of care and emotional support from the inpatient cancer patient's perspective. *Langenbecks Arch Surg.* (2009) 394:723–31. doi: 10.1007/s00423-009-0489-5
- Renovanz M, Hechtner M, Janko M, Kohlmann K, Coburger J, Nadji-Ohl M, et al. Factors associated with supportive care needs in glioma patients in the neuro-oncological outpatient setting. *J Neurooncol.* (2017) 133:653–62. doi: 10.1007/s11060-017-2484-y
- Kvale EA, Murthy R, Taylor R, Lee JY, Nabors LB. Distress and quality of life in primary high-grade brain tumor patients. *Support Care Cancer* (2009) 17:793–9. doi: 10.1007/s00520-008-0551-9
- 32. Goebel S, von Harscher M, Mehdorn HM. Comorbid mental disorders and psychosocial distress in patients with brain tumours and their spouses in the early treatment phase. *Support Care Cancer* (2011) 19:1797–805. doi: 10.1007/s00520-010-1021-8
- Boele FW, Klein M, Reijneveld JC, Verdonck-de Leeuw IM, Heimans JJ. Symptom management and quality of life in glioma patients. CNS Oncol. (2014) 3:37–47. doi: 10.2217/cns.13.65
- Halkett GK, Lobb EA, Rogers MM, Shaw T, Long AP, Wheeler HR, et al. Predictors of distress and poorer quality of life in High Grade Glioma patients. *Patient Educ Couns.* (2015) 98:525–32. doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2015. 01.002
- 35. Koekkoek JA, Dirven L, Sizoo EM, Pasman HR, Heimans JJ, Postma TJ, et al. Symptoms and medication management in the end of life phase of high-grade glioma patients. J Neurooncol. (2014) 120:589–95. doi: 10.1007/s11060-014-1591-2
- Koekkoek JA, Chang S, Taphoorn MJ. Palliative care at the endof-life in glioma patients. *Handb Clin Neurol.* (2016) 134:315–26. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-802997-8.00019-0
- 37. Sterckx W, Coolbrandt A, Clement P, Borgenon S, Decruyenaere M, De Vleeschouwer S, et al. Living with a high-grade glioma: a qualitative study

of patients' experiences and care needs. Eur J Oncol Nurs. (2015) 19:383-90. doi: 10.1016/j.ejon.2015.01.003

- Bosma I, Vos MJ, Heimans JJ, Taphoorn MJ, Aaronson NK, Postma TJ, et al. The course of neurocognitive functioning in high-grade glioma patients. *Neuro Oncol.* (2007) 9:53–62. doi: 10.1215/15228517-2006-012
- Klein M. Neurocognitive functioning in adult WHO grade II gliomas: impact of old and new treatment modalities. *Neuro Oncol.* (2012) 14(Suppl. 4):iv17– 24. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/nos161
- Weller M, van den Bent M, Tonn JC, Stupp R, Preusser M, Cohen-Jonathan-Moyal E, et al. European Association for Neuro-Oncology (EANO) guideline on the diagnosis and treatment of adult astrocytic and oligodendroglial gliomas. *Lancet Oncol.* (2017) 18:e315–29. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(17)30194-8
- Aprile I, Chiesa S, Padua L, Di Blasi C, Arezzo MF, Valentini V, et al. Occurrence and predictors of the fatigue in high-grade Glioma patients. *Neurol Sci.* (2015) 36:1363–9. doi: 10.1007/s10072-015-2111-7
- 42. Cavers D, Hacking B, Erridge SE, Kendall M, Morris PG, Murray SA. Social, psychological and existential well-being in patients with glioma and their caregivers: a qualitative study. *CMAJ* (2012) 184:E373–82. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.111622
- Cavers D, Hacking B, Erridge SC, Morris PG, Kendall M, Murray SA. Adjustment and support needs of glioma patients and their relatives: serial interviews. *Psychooncology* (2013) 22:1299–305. doi: 10.1002/pon.3136
- 44. Sherwood PR, Given BA, Given CW, Schiffman RF, Murman DL, Lovely M, et al. Predictors of distress in caregivers of persons with a primary malignant brain tumor. *Res Nurs Health* (2006) 29:105–20. doi: 10.1002/nur.20116
- Flechl B, Ackerl M, Sax C, Oberndorfer S, Calabek B, Sizoo E, et al. The caregivers' perspective on the end-of-life phase of glioblastoma patients. J Neurooncol. (2013) 112:403–11. doi: 10.1007/s11060-013-1069-7
- 46. Trad W, Koh ES, Daher M, Bailey A, Kastelan M, Legge D, et al. Screening for psychological distress in adult primary brain tumor patients and caregivers: considerations for cancer care coordination. *Front Oncol.* (2015) 5:203. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2015.00203
- 47. Seekatz B, Lukasczik M, Lohr M, Ehrmann K, Schuler M, Kessler AF, et al. Screening for symptom burden and supportive needs of patients with glioblastoma and brain metastases and their caregivers in relation to their use of specialized palliative care. *Support Care Cancer* (2017) 25:2761–70. doi: 10.1007/s00520-017-3687-7

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Renovanz, Maurer, Lahr, Weimann, Deininger, Wirtz, Ringel, Singer and Coburger. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Palliative Care for Stroke Patients and Their Families: Barriers for Implementation

Tobias Steigleder^{1,2*}, Rainer Kollmar³ and Christoph Ostgathe¹

¹ Department of Palliative Care, University Hospital Erlangen-Nuremberg, Erlangen, Germany, ² Department of Neurology, University Hospital Erlangen-Nuremberg, Erlangen, Germany, ³ Department of Neurology and Neurointensive Care, Darmstadt Academic Hospital, Darmstadt, Germany

Stroke is a leading cause of death, disability and is a symptom burden worldwide. It impacts patients and their families in various ways, including physical, emotional, social, and spiritual aspects. As stroke is potentially lethal and causes severe symptom burden, a palliative care (PC) approach is indicated in accordance with the definition of PC published by the WHO in 2002. Stroke patients can benefit from a structured approach to palliative care needs (PCN) and the amelioration of symptom burden. Stroke outcome is uncertain and outlook may change rapidly. Regarding these challenges, core competencies of PC include the critical appraisal of various treatment options, and openly and respectfully discussing therapeutic goals with patients, families, and caregivers. Nevertheless, PC in stroke has to date mainly been restricted to short care periods for dying patients after life-limiting complications. There is currently no integrated concept for PC in stroke care addressing the appropriate moment to initiate PC for stroke patients, and the question of how to screen for symptoms remains unanswered. Therefore, PC for stroke patients is often perceived as a stopgap in cases of unfavorable prognosis and very short survival times. In contrast, PC can provide much more for stroke patients and support a holistic approach, improve quality of life and ensure treatment according to the patient's wishes and values. In this short review we identify key aspects of PC in stroke care and current barriers to implementation. Additionally, we provide insights into our approach to PC in stroke care.

Keywords: stroke, palliative care, palliative care needs, family, next-of-kin, caregiver burden, early integration, palliative care indication

INTRODUCTION

Stroke has all the characteristics of a disease consistent with the mandate of palliative care (PC) as defined by the WHO in 2002 (1): (a) PC addresses patients with life-threatening diseases, regardless of individual prognosis; stroke shows a 1-year mortality of 30–40%, it is the second leading cause of death worldwide. Its global burden of disease is continuously rising (2, 3); (b) PC addresses quality of life (QoL) as primary outcome parameter. QoL is severely impaired following stroke. There is evidence that stroke patients and families suffer from anxiety and decreased self-worth; they feel that they lack information, have difficulty sharing feelings and emotions. This was the result of an assessment six weeks after stroke. After six months and one year, respectively anxiety remained prominent for both patients and next-of-kin (4); (c) PC assesses and ameliorates symptom burden (SB) in various dimensions. SB is severe in stroke patients, comprising somatic, social, psychological, and spiritual aspects (5, 6).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Raymond Voltz, Uniklinik Köln, Germany

Reviewed by:

Deepa Bhupali, University of Illinois at Chicago, United States Ryan Matthew Martin, University of California, Davis, United States

*Correspondence:

Tobias Steigleder tobias.steigleder@uk-erlangen.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurocritical and Neurohospitalist Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

> Received: 16 August 2018 Accepted: 07 February 2019 Published: 06 March 2019

Citation:

Steigleder T, Kollmar R and Ostgathe C (2019) Palliative Care for Stroke Patients and Their Families: Barriers for Implementation. Front. Neurol. 10:164. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00164

112

In a neuro-critical care unit setting with mostly stroke patients, two thirds of patients and families reported PC needs (PCN) (7).

Integration of PC in treatment of stroke has been demanded repeatedly and data points to its beneficial effect (4, 8). PC can reduce SB after stroke (9) and shorten the length of hospital stay (10). PC correlated with longer time of survival after acute stroke (11) in parallel to its effects in cancer and dyspnoae patients (12–14).

Integration of PC in stroke care has been required by various professional societies (15, 16). In consequence, Creutzfeldt and Holloway demanded that stroke specialists must be able to deliver primary palliative care, comprising (1) patient- and family-centered care, (2) prognosis estimation, (3) development of appropriate goals of care, (4) awareness of end-of-life implications for common stroke decisions, (5) assessment and management of symptoms, (6) experience with palliative treatments at the end of life, (7) care coordination, including referral to PC or hospice, (8) fostering personal growth for patient and family, (9) ensuring the availability of bereavement resources if death is anticipated and (10) participation in quality improvement and research (15). Still, less than one in 15 stroke patients receive PC, whereas more than half of stroke patients die within 12 months or remain severely impaired with unknown SB and PCN (8, 17). Despite the need of a comprehensive approach, Ackroyd and Nair state that PC is still mainly integrated to comanage the last days of life and to help with the determination of treatment goals (18). We identified crucial topics for PC in stroke and barriers to its timely and adequate implementation.

The Right Time for Palliative Care Involvement

Laymen and health care specialists alike may view the term palliative care (PC) as related to giving up curative or lifeprolonging treatment and essentially on the patients themselves (19, 20). Accordingly, stroke specialists often consider PC applicable only in the phase of dying (4) or in the certain case of a poor prognosis (11), and may even equate PC with a decision against any treatment at all (21). In a qualitative study with 33 health care professionals specialized in stroke, only one participant understood that prognostic uncertainty may persist after the introduction of palliative care (4).

Indication for PC changes over the course of a disease (22). In cancer patients, PC is part of a comprehensive treatment concept, which is implemented in parallel with anticancer therapy as an integrated approach (23). If curative treatment has been unsuccessful over the course of the disease, patients will eventually no longer benefit from anticancer therapy and PC will be offered exclusively (22). Incurable cancer progresses gradually and impacts overall health. In stroke, the course of the disease

is different: an acute onset-if not instantly lethal-is followed in most cases by a chronic rehabilitation period (Figure 1). In acute stroke, PC involvement is often initiated to support care of the dying (18), but in the chronic stage of stroke, PCN may remain high, increase, or reappear (9). For post stroke patients, treatment is focused on rehabilitation, secondary prevention, and care management, but PC needs (PCN) are neither regularly screened for nor routinely treated (9, 24). Especially patients with cognitive and communicative impairments found it difficult to get access to services and equipment and often felt abandoned. This impression was reinforced once health care professionals decided that they had reached a stable plateau and curative and rehabilitation offers were withdrawn (4). Conversely, many doctors will refrain from offering PC to address mental, social, and spiritual SB at this stage, as they fear such measures would be understood as a signal of abandonment (11).

Structured screening programs can help to overcome this barrier and Creutzfeldt has suggested the use of a "Palliative care needs checklist" to screen for PCN, as seen below:

- Does this patient have pain or distressing symptoms?
- Does the patient and/or their family need social support or help with coping?
- Do we need to readdress goals of care or adjust treatment according to patient-centered goals?
- What needs to be done today? (25).

Therapeutic Goals and Communication

Stroke may lead to severe loss of function. Whether loss of function causes "unacceptable" circumstances of living differs subjectively. In a mixed method investigation, some stroke patients with rather severe disabilities accepted their disability and some with less severe disabilities felt discontented up to the point to claim that death would have been preferable (4). Interviews with stroke patients, next-of-kin and formal caregivers revealed that thoughts of death were common, but were not addressed with formal caregivers, who hope for good recovery even in cases with death as a possible outcome. Staff admitted to be overoptimistic in order to motivate patients, especially when encouraging them to participate in physical therapy (4).

Communicating therapeutic goals and possible outcomes truthfully can help to avoid vast discrepancies between experiences and expectations (26). The further patients' and families' experiences deviate from communicated goals and expectancies, the lower their satisfaction and overall QoL will be (27–29). Uncertainty of prognosis is a main stressor for families of stroke patients (30). Informal caregivers often feel that advance planning for both recovery and deterioration would help to address this issue (4).

Defining therapeutic goals after acute stroke faces various challenges. Decisions must be based both on medical evidence and on patients' personal preferences (30). Stroke occurs as a sudden and unexpected life event often with severe impact on all aspects of life including cognition and communication.

Abbreviations: AD, Advance Directives; CSI, Carer Strain Index; DALYs, Disability Adjusted Life Years; EQ5D, Quality of Life Questionnaire; GBD, Global Burden of Disease; HRQOL, Health Related Quality of Life; PC, Palliative Care; PCN, Palliative Care Needs; POS, Palliative Outcome Scale; QoL, Quality of Life; SB, Symptom Burden; SPARC, Sheffield Profile for Assessment and Referral to Care.



Living wills can be helpful here, but they are not always available. Therefore, determining the will of the patient, when communication and/or decision-making capacities have been lost, is particularly challenging and often relies on narratives by proxies. Limitations in experience, resources, and selfperceived qualification present additional barriers for health care professionals to successfully elicit the patient's point of view (11, 15, 31). Families describing their loved ones are likely to remember them as having been healthier and more autonomous than they actually were (recall bias) (30). In consequence, treatment outcomes may appear unfavorable although they are in accordance with the patient's life as it was. Also, perception of patients on favorable outcomes may change and we know QoL of patients to improve in the course of disabling diseases (32-34) and to be better than the QoL healthy participants expect when imagining to experience comparable circumstances (35). For example, most healthy persons said they would decide against hemicraniectomy facing the odds of disablement in case they had a severe stroke (36), whereas most people having been treated by hemicraniectomy after stroke would make the same choice again being given the same situation (37). Weighing values of future outcomes is directly influenced by perception of loss and gain based on the current status. Kahneman coined the term "losses loom larger than gains" (38), describing that a loss is felt more intensely than a possible gain, as is the case with imagining a new life situation when the focus lies on loss of function (speech, mobility, autonomy) in contrast to perceived values (gaining rehabilitation, social participation, and life) (30, 39). This psychological phenomenon has to be addressed by health care specialists when discussing treatment options in stroke.

PC involvement is often initiated to elicit goals of care together with the patient, the family and the stroke care team and also to support advance care planning. In a large retrospective series, PC involvement was found to triple advance directives (AD) while standard stroke care achieved an increase by 50% (7). In addition, AD exceeds mere planning for sudden deterioration, as it also serves to communicate therapeutic alternatives as well as to encourage and systematize quality care for severely ill patients (16). As therapeutic contacts will become less frequent after discharge from clinics and rehabilitation facilities, stroke patients can profit from AD through improvement of long term care.

Identification of Palliative Care Needs

Palliative care needs (PCN) are common and substantial after stroke (15, 24, 25, 40, 41). Both patients and families report lower health-related quality of life (HRQOL) after stroke (9, 15). Certain populations are especially at risk for inadequate amelioration of SB, including very young and old patients as well as patients with impaired communication skills (42). Data points to the fact that short term PCN in the last days of life are different from PCN among stroke survivors, with only few studies shedding light on long-term SB.

Several studies have investigated PCN in stroke patients with a focus on the last days of life. Here, most common somatic symptoms are dyspnoea (30%), pain (25–30%, mostly central post-stroke pain, hemiplegic shoulder pain, and spasticity induced pain), xerostomia (20%), constipation (20%), sadness (35–50%), anxiety (25%), and fatigue (50%) (6, 9, 43, 44). Although burdensome symptoms are sporadically recognized by stroke specialists, there is a lack of awareness and attention. Symptoms are attributed to stroke as part of the natural course rather than being viewed as treatable distress (43, 45, 46).

A structured approach is needed to identify PCN after stroke, but no appropriate tool has been developed so far (6). The Sheffield Profile for Assessment and Referral to Care (SPARC) has been proposed as a screening tool to identify patients who may profit from PC (40) and was successful in regards to acceptance and feasibility in a roll-out trial with 135 patients with various diseases (47). Whereas, SPARC covers PCN extensively, it contains 45 items and is challenging for patients with cognitive impairment. It has not been validated in patients with communication impairment, although elderly patients and those with impaired communication skills are in increased danger of untreated SB after stroke (42). The Palliative outcome scale (POS) is a validated and multidimensional assessment tool. POS comprises 11 items and addresses SB in somatic, psychological, social, and spiritual dimensions. Additionally, POS allows for multicenter comparison and thereby supports research endeavors. POS is widely accepted and has been adapted for multiple sclerosis and Parkinson's disease, but not for stroke.

Place of Death

Stroke causes severe restrictions in terms of autonomy and selfcare. The level of professional care after stroke is high and many people remain in hospitals and rehabilitation clinics for a considerable length of time (48). When discharged, many are transferred to nursing homes, even though most persons wish their homes to be the place of care and their place of death (49). Within 1 year after stroke, about two thirds of patients die in a hospital and only one in ten dies at home. Death in hospices was not specifically recorded (50). Only 10–12% of all deaths were found to be unexpected. For only 6% of patients who died in a hospital, their place of death corresponded to their explicit will. In contrast, 39% of patients who died in nursing homes and 78% of patients who died at home had expressed wishes to die there (50).

Caregiver Burden

A mixed-methods study showed that stroke is a major life crisis for patients as well as for next-of-kin (4). Stroke has a severe and sudden effect on physical, behavioral, and psychological functions, impacting all social interactions (51). Family members were unsure whether they were "doing the right thing" and were confused by health care professionals who expressed controversial narratives of good recovery vs. accounts of disability and death (4). Uncertainty of prognosis and possibility of a second stroke contributed to the strain especially strongly (30). Next-of-kin reported severe burdens on social structures (21, 52) and anxiety, partially due to lack of information, and emotional distress remained severe up to 1 year after the stroke (4).

Additionally, as most stroke patients die in a hospital (50), next-of-kin may be restricted in spending time with the patient through hospital regulations and logistic challenges, which increases caregiver burden. For patients who die in palliative and hospice care, next-of-kin report less posttraumatic stress disorder and facilitated grieving (53) as well as higher satisfaction with end-of-life care (54).

For next-of-kin in a mixed population, including mainly cancer patients, the burden is effectively alleviated by involvement of PC services (55). Especially in a multidimensional approach, PC improves quality of care significantly; main topics of significant improvement are: religious/spiritual beliefs, adequate support in dealing with one's own feelings, feelings after the possibility of death has been addressed, referral to psychosocial support for family, assessment of emotional/spiritual needs, support of the family's self-efficacy, and mild to strong confidence within families to know what to expect as well as what to do when the patient would die. Data shows that burden and need of support of next-ofkin increases if patients' cognitive functions are impaired (56-58). Uncertainty of outcome leads to a rise in burden for next-of-kin and patients (59). Both factors of increased burden for next-of-kin are highly prevalent in stroke patients. Although informal care giver burden is of great significance for both the individual (60) and society (61, 62), screening tools and instruments to assess informal caregiver burden in stroke are needed (63) as well as systematic research into suitable interventions (64).

OWN EXPERIENCES AND CONCLUSION

The appropriate point-of-time to integrate PC is a main challenge in implementing PC, especially for stroke patients and their families. PC has its origins in end-of-life care for cancer patients, which was reflected in the WHO technical report series of 1990 (65). Much has changed in favor of patients. Today, PC is understood as an integrated service which works in conjunction with other medical specialties in order to improve QoL and ameliorate SB regardless of prognosis in case of any life-threatening disease (1, 23, 66). By systematic and early integration of PC several beneficial effects have been found, e.g., reduction of SB and depression, increase of QoL, satisfaction of next-of-kin, and likelihood of survival in cancer patients (12-14). PC has been of increasing importance in neurology (20, 67), but it integrates more easily in some subspecialties, e.g., moto-neuron diseases, Parkinson's disease, and multiple sclerosis than in others like stroke (30) as the clinical course of stroke is fundamentally different from that of the aforementioned (Figure 1).

The main barrier of integration of PC in stroke is the obsolete idea of PC as being invariably joined with both definite and poor prognoses and automatic withdrawal of stroke care. Even health professionals still confuse these aspects (68). This is paralleled in the case of other vascular diseases like heart failure. In congestive heart failure, the foremost barrier for integration of PC the incorrect perception of PC being prognosis-dependent and requiring suspension of lifeprolonging treatment (19). A suggestion on how to move from "prognostic paralysis to active total care" is to focus on patients who "reasonably might die" rather than patients who "will die in the next six months" (69, 70), as is also reflected in the surprise question "Would I be surprised if my patient were to die in the next 12 months?" (71). If the answer to the surprise question is "no," a detailed PCN screening is necessary. Whether the time span of 12 months that has been validated in cancer patients can be paralleled to the course of disease in neurological non-cancer patients has not yet been researched.

We endorse Creutzfeldt's proposition of the PCN checklist (25). However, as it has neither been standardized nor validated, it may still be difficult for a stroke specialist to apply the PCN checklist in practice. A standardized and structured approach will be necessary to screen for and identify PCN.

Integrated pathways of care have proven to increase quality of care for stroke patients and for patients in hospice and palliative care, respectively (72–74). Still, an integrated PC approach has not yet been implemented in stroke care. Beyond initial and acute evaluation, regular assessments are crucial to ensure the identification of stroke patients who develop PCN later in the course of their disease due to complications, deterioration, and increasing distress in informal caregivers (21). Existing PC screening instruments, which are mostly derived from research on cancer patients' PCN, do not reflect specific SB of patients with chronic illnesses. For some neurological entities, adaptations of such screening tools have been developed, e.g., POS for Parkinson's disease and multiple sclerosis.

We have implemented a structured approach for stroke patients, based on a questionnaire which is sent to patients or next-of-kin within 6 months after discharge. The questionnaire constitutes a self-assessment tool which screens for PCN in four domains (physical, mental, social, spiritual) and has been validated for PC patients (75) and neurological outcome measures such as modified Rankin Scale and Barthel index. In addition, we address spasticity-associated pain and discomfort as specific and treatable symptoms. We use 20 pictures showing spastic postures of extremities and 16 questions aiming at symptoms related to post-stroke spasticity. The questionnaire is designed for self-assessment or assessment by proxy and the evaluation of its content is based on cumulative scores (76, 77).

Our approach aims at the first months after discharge with a focus on post-stroke spasticity. To ensure a holistic approach

to PCN after stroke, future research is urgently needed to identify and quantify stroke-specific parameters and develop appropriate intervals for PCN screening in the late phase of stroke.

In order to deliver PC to stroke patients and their families, more needs to be known of stroke-specific PCN. Stroke-specific PCN may be treated differently from similar symptoms in cancer care. Post-stroke pain, for example, is a common symptom, but management stemming from cancer pain might not be the most efficient way to ameliorate this pain. Opioids may reduce alertness and worsen constipation (78), whereas focal interventions like injections with botulinum toxin may help more in case of spasticity with significantly less adverse side effects (79).

PC addresses both the patient and the family. Next-of-kin are severely burdened by a rapidly changing situation in life, changes of the patient's functional and psychological status, and responsibilities in home care. Cancer-focused research showed that targeted interventions to increase QoL for the patient do not automatically lead to an increase of QoL of their family (80, 81). Therefore, it is necessary to develop this tailored support for caregivers (82).

Defining appropriate therapeutic goals and discussing alternatives are necessary steps in all phases of stroke. Next-of-kin are fraught with uncertainty by contradictory narratives simultaneously aiming at a good outcome and describing catastrophic development in dual presentation (4, 83). Uncertainty is a main factor of distress (30), but may be ameliorated decisively by addressing it openly and engaging in a transparent and meaningful dialogue about possible outcomes and therapeutic goals (4, 27, 38). To openly discuss the uncertainty of health outcomes with patients, families, and formal caregivers is a key competence in PC (70). AD may yield an appropriate platform to initiate this discourse with the added benefit to ensure patients' wishes in further course of the disease. To achieve this goal, further education of health care specialists on communication skills is needed. An open discussion on therapeutic goals may foster a trusting relation with patients and their families.

In the future, more research and more openness on both sides—palliative care specialists and neurologists—is needed to better understand PCN of stroke patients and their families and to assess how to ameliorate stroke-specific SB. Early detection and tailored interventions may prevent exacerbation of symptoms, reduce the involvement of emergency services and thereby health costs, prolong patients' lives, reduce suffering, increase QoL for patients and families, and allow patients to remain and possibly to die at home in care of their loved ones.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

TS: concept, first draft, and final version. RK: essential input and formative evaluation. CO: concept, essential input, formative evaluation, and final version.

REFERENCES

- Sepúlveda C, Marlin A, Yoshida T, Ullrich A. Palliative care: the World Health Organization's global perspective. *J Pain Sympt Manage*. (2002) 24:91– 6. doi: 10.1016/S0885-3924(02)00440-2
- Feigin VL, Norrving B, and Mensah, G. A. Global burden of stroke. *Circ Res.* (2017) 120:439–48. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.116.308413
- Collins TC, Petersen NJ, Menke TJ, Souchek J, Foster W, Ashton CM. Shortterm, intermediate-term, and long-term mortality in patients hospitalized for stroke. J Clin Epidemiol. (2003) 56:81–7. doi: 10.1016/S0895-4356(02)00570-X
- Kendall M, Cowey E, Mead G, Barber M, McAlpine C, Stott DJ, et al. Outcomes, experiences and palliative care in major stroke: a multicentre, mixed-method, longitudinal study. *Can Med Assoc J.* (2018) 190:E238– 46. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.170604
- Ntlholang O, Walsh S, Bradley D, Harbison J. Identifying palliative care issues in inpatients dying following stroke. *Irish J Med Sci.* (2016) 185:741– 4. doi: 10.1007/s11845-015-1290-9
- Mazzocato C, Michel-Nemitz J, Anwar D, Michel P. The last days of dying stroke patients referred to a palliative care consult team in an acute hospital. *Eur J Neurol.* (2010) 17:73–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2009. 02744.x
- Creutzfeldt CJ, Engelberg RA, Healey L, Cheever CS, Becker KJ, Holloway RG, et al. Palliative care needs in the neuro-ICU. *Crit Care Med.* (2015) 43:1677–84. doi: 10.1097/CCM.00000000001018
- Williams MT, Zimmerman E, Barry M, Trantum L, Dietrich MS, Doersam JK, et al. A retrospective review of patients with acute stroke with and without palliative care consultations. *Am J Hospice Palliat Med.* (2018) 36, 60–4. doi: 10.1177/1049909118787136
- Creutzfeldt CJ, Holloway RG, Walker M. Symptomatic and palliative care for stroke survivors. J Gen Intern Med. (2012) 27:853–60. doi: 10.1007/s11606-011-1966-4
- 10. Schloss ER, et al. Early palliative care consultation decreases length of stay in severe stroke patients (P1. 211). *Neurology*. (2017) 88 (16 Suppl.).
- Quadri SZ, Huynh T, Cappelen-Smith C, Wijesuriya N, Mamun A, Beran RG, et al. Reflection on stroke deaths and end-of-life stroke care. *Intern Med J.* (2018) 48:330–4. doi: 10.1111/imj.13619
- Bakitas MA, Tosteson TD, Li Z, Lyons KD, Hull JG, Li Z, et al. Early versus delayed initiation of concurrent palliative oncology care: patient outcomes in the ENABLE III randomized controlled trial. J Clin Oncol. (2015) 33: 1438–45. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2014.58.6362
- Higginson IJ, Bausewein C, Reilly CC, Gao W, Gysels M, Dzingina M, et al. An integrated palliative and respiratory care service for patients with advanced disease and refractory breathlessness: a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet RespirMed.* (2014) 2:979–87. doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(14) 70226-7
- Temel JS, Greer JA, Muzikansky A, Gallagher ER, Admane S, Jackson VA, et al. Early palliative care for patients with metastatic non-smallcell lung cancer. *N Engl J Med.* (2010) 363:733–42. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa 1000678
- Holloway RG, Arnold RM, Creutzfeldt CJ, Lewis EF, Lutz BJ, McCann RM, et al. Palliative and end-of-life care in stroke: a statement for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. *Stroke*. (2014) 45:1887–916. doi: 10.1161/STR.0000000000 00015
- Johnson S, Kerridge I, Butow PN, Tattersall MH. Advance Care Planning: is quality end of life care really that simple? *Intern Med J.* (2017) 47:390– 94. doi: 10.1111/imj.13389
- Singh T, Peters SR, Tirschwell DL, Creutzfeldt CJ. Palliative care for hospitalized patients with stroke: results from the 2010 to 2012 national inpatient sample. *Stroke*. (2017) 48:2534– 40. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.117.016893
- 18. Ackroyd J, Nair, A. 114 Palliative care and the acute stroke ward: new beginnings? *BMJ*.
- Kavalieratos D, Mitchell EM, Carey TS, Dev S, Biddle AK, Reeve BB, et al. "Not the 'grim reaper service": an assessment of provider knowledge, attitudes, and perceptions regarding palliative care referral barriers in heart failure. J Am Heart Assoc. (2014) 3:e000544. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.113. 000544

- Boersma I, Miyasaki J, Kutner J, Kluger B. Palliative care and neurology: time for a paradigm shift. *Neurology*. (2014) 83:561–7. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000000674
- Braun LT, Grady KL, Kutner JS, Adler E, Berlinger N, Boss R, et al. Palliative care and cardiovascular disease and stroke: a policy statement from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. *Circulation.* (2016) 134:e198–225. doi: 10.1161/CIR.00000000000 00438
- Ferris FD, Bruera E, Cherny N, Cummings C, Currow D, Dudgeon D, et al. Palliative cancer care a decade later: accomplishments, the need, next steps—from the American Society of Clinical Oncology. J Clin Oncol. (2009) 27:3052–8. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2008.20.1558
- Smith TJ, Temin S, Alesi ER, Abernethy AP, Balboni TA, Basch EM, et al. American Society of Clinical Oncology provisional clinical opinion: the integration of palliative care into standard oncology care. *J Clin Oncol.* (2012) 30:880–7. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2011.38.5161
- 24. Stevens T, Payne SA, Burton C, Addington-Hall J, Jones A. Palliative care in stroke: a critical review of the literature. *Palliat Med.* (2007) 21:323– 31. doi: 10.1177/0269216307079160
- Creutzfeldt CJ, Holloway RG, Curtis JR. Palliative care: a core competency for stroke neurologists. *Stroke*. (2015) 46:2714– 9. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.115.008224
- Carr AJ, Gibson B, Robinson PG. Is quality of life determined by expectations or experience? *BMJ*. (2001) 322:1240–3. doi: 10.1136/bmj.322.7296.1240
- 27. Calman KC. Quality of life in cancer patients-an hypothesis. J Med Ethics (1984) 10:124–7.
- Ross CK, Frommelt G, Hazelwood L, Chang RW. The role of expectations in patient satisfaction with medical care. J Health Care Market. (1987) 7:16–26.
- Roberts AH, Kewman, DG, Mercier L, Hovell M. The power of nonspecific effects in healing: implications for psychosocial and biological treatments. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (1993). 13:375–91. doi: 10.1016/0272-7358(93) 90010-J
- Creutzfeldt CJ, Holloway RG. Treatment decisions after severe stroke: uncertainty and biases. *Stroke*. (2012) 43:3405– 8. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.112.673376
- Luckett T, Spencer L, Morton RL, Pollock CA, Lam L, Silvester W, et al. Advance care planning in chronic kidney disease: a survey of current practice in Australia. *Nephrology*. (2017) 22:139–49. doi: 10.1111/nep. 12743
- Headey B, Holmström E, Wearing, A. The impact of life events and changes in domain satisfactions on well-being. *Soc Indic Res.* (1984) 15:203– 27. doi: 10.1007/BF00668671
- Allison PJ, Locker D, Feine JS. Quality of life: a dynamic construct. Soc Sci Med. (1997) 45:221–30. doi: 10.1016/S0277-9536(96)00339-5
- 34. Ubel PA, Peeters Y, Smith D. Abandoning the language of "response shift": a plea for conceptual clarity in distinguishing scale recalibration from true changes in quality of life. *Qual Life Res.* (2010) 19:465– 71. doi: 10.1007/s11136-010-9592-x.
- Albrecht GL, Devlieger PJ. The disability paradox: high quality of life against all odds. Soc Sci Med. (1999) 48:977–88. doi: 10.1016/S0277-9536(98) 00411-0
- 36. Klein A, Kuehner C, Schwarz S. Attitudes in the general population towards hemi-craniectomy for middle cerebral artery (MCA) infarction. A population-based survey. *Neurocrit Care.* (2012) 16:456–61. doi: 10.1007/s12028-012-9677-1
- Creutzfeldt CJ, Schubert GB, Tirschwell DL, Longstreth Jr WT, Becker KJ. Risk of seizures after malignant MCA stroke and decompressive hemicraniectomy. *Am Heart Assoc.* (2012) 43.
- Kahneman D, Tversky A. Choices, values, and frames. In: MacLean LC, Ziemba WT, editors. *Handbook of the Fundamentals of Financial Decision Making: Part I.* Singapore: World Scientific; WSPC (2013). p. 269–78.
- Kahneman D, Krueger AB, Schkade D, Schwarz N, Stone AA. Would you be happier if you were richer? A focusing illusion. *Science*. (2006) 312:1908– 10. doi: 10.1126/science.1129688
- Burton CR, Payne S, Addington-Hall J, Jones A. The palliative care needs of acute stroke patients: a prospective study of hospital admissions. *Age Ageing*. (2010) 39:554–9. doi: 10.1093/ageing/ afq077

- Mead GE, Cowey E, Murray SA. Life after stroke-is palliative care relevant? A better understanding of illness trajectories after stroke may help clinicians identify patients for a palliative approach to care. *Int J Stroke*. (2013) 8:447– 8. doi: 10.1111/ijs.12061
- Cristian A, Giammarino C, Olds M, Adams E, Moriarty C, Ratner S, et al. Safety considerations for patients with communication disorders in rehabilitation medicine settings. *Phys Med Rehabil Clin N Am*. (2012) 23:343– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.pmr.2012.02.017
- Hackett ML, Yapa C, Parag V, Anderson CS. Frequency of depression after stroke: a systematic review of observational studies. *Stroke*. (2005) 36:1330– 40. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000165928.19135.35
- Campbell Burton CA, Murray J, Holmes J, Astin F, Greenwood D, Knapp P. Frequency of anxiety after stroke: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Int* J Stroke. (2013) 8:545–59. doi: 10.1111/j.1747-4949.2012. 00906.x
- 45. Burton CR, Payne S. Integrating palliative care within acute stroke services: developing a programme theory of patient and family needs, preferences and staff perspectives. *BMC Palliat Care.* (2012) 11:22. doi: 10.1186/1472-684X-11-22
- Dar SK, Venigalla H, Khan AM, Ahmed R, Mekala HM, Zain H, et al. Post stroke depression frequently overlooked, undiagnosed, untreated. *Neuropsychiatry*. (2017) 7:906–19. doi: 10.4172/Neuropsychiatry.1000296
- 47. Hughes P, Ahmed N, Winslow M, Walters SJ, Collins K, Noble B. Consumer views on a new holistic screening tool for supportive and palliative-care needs: Sheffield Profile for Assessment and Referral for Care (SPARC): a survey of self-help support groups in health care. *Health Expect.* (2015) 18:562–77. doi: 10.1111/hex.12058
- Thom T, Haase N, Rosamond W, Howard VJ, Rumsfeld J, Manolio T, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics--2006 update: a report from the American Heart Association Statistics Committee and Stroke Statistics Subcommittee. *Circulation.* (2006) 113:e85–151. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105. 171600
- Higginson IJ, Sen-Gupta GJ. Place of care in advanced cancer: a qualitative systematic literature review of patient preferences. J Palliat Med. (2000) 3:287–300. doi: 10.1089/jpm.2000.3.287
- Asplund K, Lundström S, Stegmayr, B. End of life after stroke: A nationwide study of 42,502 deaths occurring within a year after stroke. *Eur Stroke J.* (2018) 3:74–81. doi: 10.1177/2396987317 736202
- Haley WE, Roth DL, Hovater M, Clay OJ. Long-term impact of stroke on family caregiver well-being: a population-based case-control study. *Neurology*. (2015) 84:1323–9. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000001418
- de Kloet AJ, Lambregts SA, Berger MA, van Markus F, Wolterbeek R, Vliet Vlieland TP. Family impact of acquired brain injury in children and youth. J Dev Behav Pediatr. (2015) 36:342–51. doi: 10.1097/DBP.0000000000 00169
- Wright AA, Keating NL, Balboni TA, Matulonis UA, Block SD, Prigerson HG. Place of death: correlations with quality of life of patients with cancer and predictors of bereaved caregivers' mental health. J Clin Oncol. (2010) 28:4457. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2009.26.3863
- Sadler E, Hales B, Henry B, Xiong W, Myers J, Wynnychuk L, et al. Factors affecting family satisfaction with inpatient end-of-life care. *PLoS ONE*. (2014) 9:e110860. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0110860
- Gelfman LP, Meier DE, Morrison, RS. Does palliative care improve quality? A survey of bereaved family members. J Pain Sympt Manage. (2008) 36:22–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2007. 09.008
- Edvardsson T, Ahlström G. Being the next of kin of a person with a low-grade glioma. *Psycho Oncol.* (2008) 17:584–91. doi: 10.1002/pon.1276
- Wideheim AK, Edvardsson T, Påhlson A, Ahlström G. A family's perspective on living with a highly malignant brain tumor. *Cancer Nurs*. (2002) 25:236–44. doi: 10.1097/00002820-200206000-00012
- Madsen K, Poulsen HS. Needs for everyday life support for brain tumour patients' relatives: systematic literature review. *Eur J Cancer Care.* (2011) 20:33–43. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2354.2010.01184.x
- Newton C, Mateo MA. Uncertainty: strategies for patients with brain tumor and their family. *Cancer Nurs*. (1994) 17:137–40.

- Adelman RD, Tmanova LL, Delgado D, Dion S, Lachs MS. Caregiver burden: a clinical review. JAMA. (2014) 311:1052-60. doi: 10.1001/jama. 2014.304
- Nielsen MK, Neergaard MA, Jensen AB, Bro F, Guldin MB. Psychological distress, health, and socio-economic factors in caregivers of terminally ill patients: a nationwide population-based cohort study. *Support Care Cancer*. (2016) 24:3057–67. doi: 10.1007/s00520-016-3120-7
- 62. Ganapathy V, Graham GD, DiBonaventura MD, Gillard PJ, Goren A, Zorowitz RD. Caregiver burden, productivity loss, and indirect costs associated with caring for patients with poststroke spasticity. *Clin Interv Aging.* (2015) 10:1793–802. doi: 10.2147/CIA. S91123
- Byun E, Evans LK. Concept analysis of burden in caregivers of stroke survivors during the early poststroke period. *Clin Nurs Res.* (2015) 24:468– 86. doi: 10.1177/1054773814537060
- 64. Rubbens E, De Clerck L, Swinnen E. Effectiveness of interventions to decrease the physical and mental burden and strain of informal caregivers of stroke patients: a systematic review. In: Ibáñez J, González-Vargas, Azorin JM, Akay M, Pons JL, editors. *Converging Clinical and Engineering Research on Neurorehabilitation II*. Segovia: Springer (2017). p. 299–303.
- World Health Organization. Cancer Pain Relief and Palliative Care: Report of a WHO Expert Committee. Geneva (1990).
- Morrison RS, Meier DE. Clinical practice: palliative care. N Engl J Med. (2004) 350:2582–90. doi: 10.1056/NEJMcp035232
- Oliver D, de Visser M, Voltz R. Palliative care in neurology. *Lancet Neurol.* (2017) 16:868. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(17)30321-6
- Adil MM, Zweifler R. Abstract WMP56: increase in rate of utilization of withdrawal of care in acute ischemic stroke patients in USA. *Stroke*. (2017) 48(Suppl. 1). Available online at: http://n.neurology.org/content/88/ 16_Supplement/P1.209.short
- Lynn J. Serving patients who may die soon and their families: the role of hospice and other services. *JAMA*. (2001) 285:925– 32. doi: 10.1001/jama.285.7.925
- Murray SA, Boyd K, Sheikh A. Palliative care in chronic illness. *BMJ*. (2005) 330:611–2. doi: 10.1136/bmj.330.7492.611
- Moss AH, Lunney JR, Culp S, Auber M, Kurian S, Rogers J, et al. Prognostic significance of the "surprise" question in cancer patients. *J Palliat Med.* (2010) 13:837–40. doi: 10.1089/jpm.2010.0018
- Cadilhac DA, Moss KM, Price CJ, Lannin NA, Lim JY, Anderson CS. Pathways to enhancing the quality of stroke care through national data monitoring systems for hospitals. *Med J Aust.* (2013) 199:650–1. doi: 10.5694/mja12. 11821
- Kwan J, Sandercock P. In-hospital care pathways for stroke: a Cochrane systematic review. *Stroke.* (2003) 34:587– 8. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000054673.28010.1B
- Phillips JL, Halcomb EJ, Davidson PM. End-of-life care pathways in acute and hospice care: an integrative review. J Pain Sympt Manage. (2011) 41:940– 55. doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2010.07.020
- Radbruch L, Loick G, Sabatowski R, Elsner F. MIDOS-an electronic database for the palliative care unit. Schmerz. (2000) 14:257–63. doi: 10.1007/s004820070032
- 76. Steigleder TMC, Huber D, Ostgathe C, Schramm A. Botulinumtoxin in der Palliativmedizin – Entwicklung eines Screening-Instrumentes zur Identifikation von Patienten, die von Botulinumtoxintherapie profitieren. In: 11. Kongress der Deutschen Gesellschaft für Palliativmedizin. Leipzig (2016).
- 77. Steigleder T, Möbius, C, Huber, D, Ostgathe C. Botulinumtoxin in der Palliativmedizin–Entwicklung eines Screening-Instrumentes zur Identifikation von Patienten, die von Botulinumtoxintherapie profitieren. Z Palliativmed. (2016) 17:1–59. doi: 10.1055/s-0036-1594036
- Furlan AD, Sandoval JA, Mailis-Gagnon A, Tunks E. Opioids for chronic noncancer pain: a meta-analysis of effectiveness and side effects. *Can Med Assoc J.* (2006) 174:1589–94. doi: 10.1503/ cmaj.051528
- 79. Shaw LC, Price CIM, van Wijck FMJ, Shackley P, Steen N, Barnes MP, et al. Botulinum Toxin for the Upper Limb after Stroke (BoTULS) Trial:

effect on impairment, activity limitation, and pain. *Stroke*. (2011) 42:1371– 9. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.110.582197

- Dionne-Odom JN, Azuero A, Lyons KD, Hull JG, Tosteson T, Li Z, et al. Benefits of early versus delayed palliative care to informal family caregivers of patients with advanced cancer: outcomes from the ENABLE III randomized controlled trial. *J Clin Oncol.* (2015) 33:1446. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2014. 58.7824
- Longacre ML, Applebaum AJ, Buzaglo JS, Miller MF, Golant M, Rowland JH, et al. Reducing informal caregiver burden in cancer: evidence-based programs in practice. *Transl Behav Med.* (2018) 8:145–55. doi: 10.1093/tbm/ ibx028
- 82. Spatuzzi R, Giulietti MV, Ricciuti M, Merico F, Meloni C, Fabbietti P, et al. Quality of life and burden in family caregivers of patients with advanced cancer in active treatment settings and hospice care: a comparative study. *Death Stud.* (2017) 41:276–83. doi: 10.1080/07481187.2016.1273277
- 83. Kendall M, et al. Is palliative care appropriate for all people with major stroke? A multi-centre, mixed-method, longitudinal study of outcomes and experiences. *Can Med Assoc J.* (2017).

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Steigleder, Kollmar and Ostgathe. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The "Surprise Question" in Neurorehabilitation – Prognosis Estimation by Neurologist and Palliative Care Physician; a Longitudinal, Prospective, Observational Study

Markus Ebke^{1,2†}, Andreas Koch^{3†}, Kim Dillen³, Ingrid Becker⁴, Raymond Voltz^{3,5,6,7} and Heidrun Golla^{3,5*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

David John Oliver, University of Kent, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Markus Weber, Kantonsspital St. Gallen, Switzerland Ana Graça Velon, Centro Hospitalar de Trás os Montes e Alto Douro, Portugal

*Correspondence:

Heidrun Golla heidrun.golla@uk-koeln.de

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurocritical and Neurohospitalist Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 29 June 2018 Accepted: 03 September 2018 Published: 24 September 2018

Citation:

Ebke M, Koch A, Dillen K, Becker I, Voltz R and Golla H (2018) The "Surprise Question" in Neurorehabilitation – Prognosis Estimation by Neurologist and Palliative Care Physician; a Longitudinal, Prospective, Observational Study. Front. Neurol. 9:792. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00792 ¹ Neurological Centre for Rehabilitation-MEDIAN-Clinics, Bad Salzuflen, Germany, ² Dr. Becker Rhein Sieg Clinic, Nümbrecht, Germany, ³ Department of Palliative Medicine, University Hospital of Cologne, Cologne, Germany, ⁴ Institute of Medical Statistics and Computational Biology (IMSB), University of Cologne, Cologne, Germany, ⁵ Center for Integrated Oncology Cologne/Bonn, Cologne, Germany, ⁶ Center for Clinical Trials, University of Cologne, Cologne, Germany, ⁷ Medical Faculty, Center for Health Services Research (ZVFK), University of Cologne, Cologne, Germany

Background: The 12-months "surprise" question (12-SQ) for estimating prognosis and the need for integrating palliative care (PC) services has not yet been investigated for neurological patients.

Objective: Test the value of the 12-SQ on a sample of neurorehabilitation patients.

Methods: All patients newly registered in the Department of Neurorehabilitation, Dr. Becker Rhein-Sieg-Clinic (8/2016-03/2017) were asked to participate. The treating neurorehabilitation physicians (NP) and an external consulting PC physician (PCP) independently estimated patients' prognosis using the 12-SQ; while symptom burden was independently assessed using the standardized palliative outcome measurement HOPE-SP-CL, a set of additional neurological issues, and ECOG. Follow-up with consenting patients 12 months later was via telephone. Descriptive and inferential statistics were utilized in data analysis.

Results: Of 634 patients, 279 (44%) patients (male: 57.7%, female: 42.3%; mean age: 63 ± 14) (or, alternatively, their legal representative) consented and were assessed at baseline. Per patient NP and PCP both answered the 12-SQ with "Yes" (164), with "No" (42), or had different opinions (73). The "No" group displayed the highest symptom burden on all three measures for both disciplines. Overall, PCP scored higher (i.e., worse) than NP on all measures used. Follow-up was possible for 236 (drop-out: 15.4%) patients (deceased: 34 (14.4%), alive: 202 (85.6%)). Baseline scores on all measures were higher for deceased patients compared to those still living. Prognostic characteristics were: *sensitivity:* NP 50%, PCP 67.6%; *specificity:* NP 86.1%, PCP 70.3%, p < 0.001; *positive predictive value:* NP 37.8%, PCP 27.7%; *negative predictive value:* NP 91.1%, PCP 92.8%; *area under the curve:* NP 0.68, PCP 0.69; *success rate:* NP 80.9%, PCP 69.9%,

120

p = 0.002. Regression analysis indicated that age, dysphagia and overburdening of family (NP answering the 12-SQ), dysphagia and rehabilitation phase (PCP answering the 12-SQ) were associated with increased likelihood of dying within 12 months. Without the 12-SQ as relevant predictor, age, dysphagia and ECOG were significant predictors (NP and PCP).

Conclusion: Combining the 12-SQ with a measurement assessing PC and neurological issues could potentially improve the 12-SQ's predictive performance of 12-month survival and help to identify when to initiate the PC approach. Clinical experiences influence assessment and prognosis estimation.

Keywords: surprise question, neurorehabilitation, palliative care, observational study, prognosis, outcome measurement

INTRODUCTION

For predicting the point at which to introduce palliative care for incurable cancer patients the German national S3 palliative guideline¹ recommends using the 12-months "surprise" question (12-SQ) (Would you be surprised if your patient would die within the next 12 months?). A "No" response (i.e., a poor prognosis) indicates that the assessor considers it a possibility that the patient could die within the next 12 months and, thus, palliative care should be initiated promptly.

The various disease entities to which the SQ has been applied thus far include cancer (1–5), chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) (6), nephrological diseases (7–13), as well as pediatric palliative care (14), intensive care (15), emergency care (16, 17), and in elderly care (17–19). The SQ has yet to be applied to neurological care where patients are characterized by different disease trajectories compared to other disease entities, especially cancer patients. Prognosis estimation is therefore challenging (20) and a suitable prognostic instrument would aid in estimating lifespan and indicating when best to initiate the palliative care approach for these patients.

A recent systematic review and meta-analysis revealed that the SQ it is not an ideal diagnostic tool for predicting one-year mortality, especially among non-cancer patients (21). Rather, the use of additional parameters seems warranted (22, 23).

Thus, in addition to the 12-SQ, supplementary assessment tools focusing on patients' symptom burden were employed for this study. Typical palliative care assessment tools, including the German Hospice and Palliative Care Evaluation initiative (HOPE= HOspiz- und PalliativErhebung) (24) and the

¹http://www.awmf.org/uploads/tx_szleitlinien/128-

001OLl_S3_Palliativmedizin_2015-07.pdf (accessed 29.05.2018)

internationally used palliative outcome scale (POS) (25, 26) were developed for patients suffering from later stage cancer diseases. This is not surprising, as presently, palliative and hospice care structures primarily care for advanced cancer patients² (27, 28), although the portion of cancer patients has slightly decreased (95% in 2005 vs. 76% in 2017 (see²) with respect to other disease entities such as neurological conditions, COPD, nephrological diseases or chronic heart failure (see²). For example, patients cared for in German palliative and hospice care structures suffering from nervous system diseases represented 4.8% in 2017 compared to only 0.8% in 2005 (see²). Despite this slight increase in the number of neurological patients in German palliative and hospice care, the current, rather small, percentage is still astonishing considering the great number and variety of neurological diseases, among them long-term neurological conditions (LTNC) which present with a high symptom burden. Given these cases are mostly incurable, symptom relief, and enhanced quality of life are the leading therapeutic goals in treating these patients, according to the World Health Organization (WHO)³. Using a combined neurorehabilitation and palliative care approach, neuropalliative rehabilitation for LTNC is on the way to becoming integrated into care in the UK (29-31), in contrast to Germany. Symptoms and complaints among neurological and cancer patients are in part fairly similar but may differ in their manifestation and certain issues clearly transcend those of cancer patients, presenting distinct challenges for such patients (32-40). Therefore, the neurorehabilitation study population was characterized utilizing a combination of a standard palliative care assessment tool (HOPE including ECOG) and an additional list of items representative for neurological disease entities as revealed from longstanding clinical experience, literature (32-40) and a previous study on glioblastoma (41). In addition to using the 12-SQ, this detailed characterization can help to identify further prognostic criteria of neurological patients, which may lead to improved prognostic accuracy of the 12-SQ, an approach in accordance with other studies commending additional tools other than the 12-SQ to predict mortality (22, 23).

Abbreviations: 12-SQ, twelve-months "surprise" question; PC, palliative care; NP, neurorehabilitation physicians; PCP, palliative care physician; HOPE= HOspiz- und PalliativErhebung, German Hospice and Palliative Care Evaluation initiative; HOPE-SP-CL, HOPE symptom and problem checklist; ECOG, Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group; POS, palliative outcome scale; COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; LTNC, long-term neurological conditions; WHO, World Health Organization; ROC, receiver operating characteristics; PPV, positive predictive value; NPV, negative predictive value; AUC, area under the curve; FDR, false discovery rate; SPSS, Statistical Package for the Social Sciences; SD, standard deviation; ADLs, activity of daily living; OR, odds ratio.

²https://www.hope-clara.de/download_1/ (accessed 29.05.2018)

³http://www.who.int/cancer/palliative/definition/en/ (accessed 29.05.2018)

The objective of this study was to investigate prognostic criteria for neurological patients. For the first time, the suitability of the 12-SQ for neurological patients was prospectively investigated, combining it with an assessment merging palliative care and neurological issues.

Patients were recruited from among those newly registered at a neurorehabilitation clinic providing care to a broad range of neurological disease entities. An important secondary goal was to examine whether the professional background—being a neurorehabilitation physician (NP) or being a palliative care physician (PCP) with no neurology background—played a role in assessment and prognosis estimation. This is a critical issue as a consultant palliative care service is not typically integrated in neurorehabilitation clinics and NP and their teams must make decisions on their own. On the other hand, the PCP might also care for neurological patients but only a small percentage of them are trained in neurology. Thus a complementary approach suggests itself, one that includes the professional assessment of both, NP and PCP.

In Summary, Aims of the Study Were

Primary Objective

Is the 12-SQ suitable for prognosis estimation with neurological patients?

Secondary Objectives

Does prognosis estimation depend on the physicians' background (NP vs. PCP)?

How is the study population characterized and assessed by both, NP and PCP?

How are the patients who died within this 12 month period actually characterized? Can factors be deduced which would help estimate the prognosis of these patients alone or in combination with the 12-SQ?

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design

This is a longitudinal, prospective, observational study. The recruitment period encompassed August 10, 2016–March 10, 2017. The follow-up period extended until March 10, 2018; 12 months later.

Study Participants

All newly admitted patients (permitted age range 18–100 years, all genders) then in treatment at the Dr. Becker Rhein-Sieg-Klinik, Department of Neurorehabilitation (phase B, C, D; a German classification system characterizing type and intensity of neurological rehabilitation) during the recruitment period were enrolled in the study after providing their informed written consent (or alternatively via their legal representative). The local ethics committees of the North Rhine Medical Chamber and of the University Hospital of Cologne approved the study (#16–118).

Data Collection

For quality assurance and to enable a patient-oriented care post-hospital discharge at the Dr. Becker Rhein-Sieg-Klinik, department for neurorehabilitation, an estimation of prognosis using the 12-SQ and an assessment of symptom burden was implemented into the clinical routine.

"Surprise"-Question

At time of admission, treating NP - neurologists with additional neurorehabilitation expertise, but no specialist training in palliative care—as well as an external consulting PCP—with no neurological training—responded independently to the 12-SQ. The PCP visited the Department of Neurorehabilitation once a week.

Assessment of Symptom Burden

Concurrently to answering the 12-SQ, both NP and PCP also independently assessed the symptom burden of the neurological patients utilizing the core documentation of the German Hospice and Palliative Care Evaluation initiative (HOPE), the HOPE symptom and problem checklist (HOPE-SP-CL) (24) including the Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group (ECOG) Performance Status scale. The HOPE-SP-CL consists of 17 items and assesses symptoms and problems representative for cancer patients in palliative care (24). Single items are scaled using a 4-point grading scale (0 = none, 1 = mild, 2 = moderate, 3 = severe) (possible total score: 0–51) (24). The ECOG Performance Status scale is a 5-point grading scale ranging from 0 (normal activity) to 4 (care-dependent, totally confined to bed).

A list of symptoms which might be of special importance for neurological patients who have or might develop palliative care needs was added to account for the particularities of the neurological patients' symptom burden (32-40). This "neuro supplement" was derived from clinical experience and existing literature (32–40). Augmenting this was a preliminary study (41) on assessing palliative care issues utilizing standardized outcome measurements (HOPE-SP-CL (24, 42), the POS (palliative outcome scale) (25, 26) as well as an open interview part which included symptoms not covered by these assessment tools. The neuro supplement scale derived from this comprises 13 items. Following the HOPE-SP-CL scale, single items of the neuro supplement are scaled using a 4-point grading Likert scale (0 = none, 1 = mild, 2 = moderate, 3 = severe) (possible total score: 0-39). All 3 scales (HOPE-SP-CL, ECOG, neuro supplement) combined in this study result in a possible total score ranging from 0 to 94.

Follow-Up

Twelve months after answering the 12-SQ, patients (or alternatively their legal representative) were contacted via telephone by NP (ME) or PCP (AK) to find out whether patients were still alive.

Statistical Analysis

Distribution of age, gender, rehabilitation phase, main, and secondary diagnoses, results from the clinical assessment (12-SQ-answer, HOPE-SP-CL, ECOG, neuro supplement) were

analyzed descriptively to characterize the study population at baseline.

The classification of patients was done in two separate steps. First, we used each physician's independent response to the 12-SQ, assigning patients to either the "Yes" group or the "No" group. Next, we combined the physicians' responses and allocated patients into three individual groups. Those who were given a good prognosis by both physicians were classified into the 12-SQ "Yes" group, those given a poor prognosis by both physicians were categorized as the 12-SQ "No" group, and those with contrary ratings were classified as the 12-SQ "Discordant"-group. This classification into three groups allowed us to characterize the study population (statistical details below) when the consensus of both physicians was used (secondary objective).

Prior to all analyses, the Kolmogorov-Smirnov Test was applied to assess normality for all relevant variables.

To investigate whether the 12-SQ can be used as a prognostic indicator for neurological patients (primary objective), the predictive power of the 12-SQ was determined using receiver operating characteristics (ROC) curves to assess sensitivity (proportion of patients who died within 12 months and were given a poor prognosis), specificity (proportion of patients who survived over 12 months and were given a good prognosis), positive predictive value (PPV, proportion of poor prognoses correctly predicting death within 12 months), negative predictive value (NPV, proportion of good prognoses correctly predicting survival over 12 months), and the area under the curve (AUC, function of both sensitivity and specificity measuring the predictive accuracy). Similarly, we examined the success rates of both physicians; defined as percentage of correct predictions accounting for all possible outcomes. The differences in prognostic accuracy proportions between the NP and PCP were assessed with the McNemar χ^2 test as appropriate (secondary objective) (43).

Group differences of demographic and clinical data were tested with the Mann-Whitney-U test and the Kruskall-Wallis test (for two and three groups, respectively) for continuous measures and a χ^2 test for dichotomous measures. *Post-hoc* tests were corrected for multiple comparisons using the false discovery rate (FDR) at p < 0.05 (44).

To determine independent predictors of 12-month mortality (secondary objective), binary logistic regression analyses were performed for both NP and PCP. In addition to the 12-SQ, age, gender, main and secondary diagnoses, frequency of secondary diagnoses, rehabilitation phase, HOPE-SP-CL single items, neuro supplement single items and the ECOG score were included in the model. A univariate regression was constructed first. Resulting predictors with a *p*-value of < 0.1 were then included in the multivariable regression. To determine which variables best predicted 12-month mortality in the presence and absence of the 12-SQ, we selected statistically significant predictors of the multivariable regression (at *p* < 0.05) for the final model and compared their prognostic accuracy indices to those of the 12-SQ as a stand-alone predictor.

Statistical analysis was performed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) software (v. 25, Inc, Chicago, IL).

RESULTS

Study Participation and Follow-Up

From August 10, 2016 through March 10, 2017, 634 patients were admitted to the Dr. Becker-Rhein-Sieg-Clinic Nümbrecht, Department of neurorehabilitation (Figure 1). Of this total, 137 (21.6% of 634) could not be included into the current study due to the restricted personnel resources and tightly packed clinical routine processes. Another 218 (34.4% of 634) patients had incomplete data, i.e., either the patients (or alternatively their legal representative) did not give their informed written consent or the physicians' assessment was not attainable because of the demanding clinical routines of the physicians or patients. The remaining 279 patients were independently assessed by both NP and PCP who concordantly estimated 164 (58.8%) patients with a good prognosis (both 12-SQ "Yes") and 42 (15.1%) patients with a poor prognosis (both 12-SQ "No"). 73 (26.2%) patients were estimated discordantly (one, either NP or PCP, answered 12-SQ "Yes", while the other responded "No"). A total of 43 out of 279 (equaling a drop-out rate of 15.4%) patients (or alternatively their legal representative) could not be followed-up due to unattainability via the phone (Figure 1). Complete data sets were obtained from 236 patients (37.2% of 634).

Characteristics of Study Participants at Baseline

Demographic information of the included 279 patients can be found in **Table 1** (male: 57.7%, female: 42.3%, male/female ratio: 1.4; mean age: 63 ± 14). Main diagnoses were grouped into 15 categories, secondary diagnoses were divided into seven groups (**Table 1**). Distribution of secondary diagnoses were as follows: 19.6% had no secondary diagnosis, 33.8% had secondary diagnoses in one category, 25.5% in two categories, 14.7% in three categories, 5.8% in four categories, and 0.7% in five categories, respectively (**Table 1**).

Characteristics of study participants at baseline as assessed by NP and PCP, respectively, utilizing HOPE-SP-CL, neuro supplement, and ECOG are presented in **Table 2**. Patients were given a higher score on all three measures when assessed by the PCP (all *p*-values < 0.025), except for feeling depressed and anxiety in the "No" group.

Significant group differences (12-SQ "Yes" by both NP *and* PCP; 12-SQ "No" by both NP *and* PCP; 12-SQ "Yes"/"No" NP and PCP discordant) were found for all but the following characteristics: pain, feeling depressed, anxiety, tension, symptoms of intracranial pressure, epileptic seizures, spasticity (all *p*-values < 0.031). As expected, *post-hoc* analyses showed that patients in the "No" group were evaluated with a higher symptom burden than patients in both the "Yes" and the "Discordant" group, and patients in the "Yes" group.

Characteristics of Deceased and Surviving Patients as Assessed at Baseline

Of the 115 patients assessed "No" on the 12-SQ by at least one discipline (**Figure 1**) 26 had died within the year. At the 12 months follow-up a total of 34 patients had died (also



encompassing eight patients estimated as "Yes" at baseline on the 12-SQ).

Table 3 summarizes the characteristics and differences of patients still alive at the time of 12-month follow-up (N = 202, 85.6%) and those deceased after 12 months (N = 34, 14.4%). The deceased were significantly older, more often in Rehabilitation phase B, less often in Rehabilitation phase D, and suffered significantly more often from malignancies (except for primary brain tumors) (all *p*-values < 0.001). With regards to our clinical outcome measures, deceased patients were evaluated with a higher symptom burden compared to patients still alive after 12 months (all *p*-values < 0.030) (**Table 3**).

Prognosis Estimation

Comparison of prognosis estimation via 12-SQ as diagnostic tool revealed an increased number of good prognoses (12-SQ "Yes") compared to poor prognoses (12-SQ "No") for both PCP (p < 0.001) and NP (p < 0.001). The PCP estimated more patients

with a poor prognosis (12-SQ "No") (N = 95) than did the NP (N = 62) (p = 0.008). Also, he offered a worse clinical assessment of patients compared to the NP. This difference is statistically significant for the total sample, the concordant "Yes" group and the discordant "Yes (NP)/No (PCP)" group (each p < 0.001) (**Table 4**).

Prognostic accuracy indices for both disciplines are summarized in **Table 5**, the corresponding frequency distribution can be found in **Tables 6**–7. Sensitivity of the 12-SQ as stand-alone predictor was poor. While we observed a higher sensitivity for responses of the PCP relative to treating NP, this difference did not achieve statistical significance. In contrast, specificity of the 12-SQ was significantly higher when estimated by NP compared to PCP [$\chi^2_{(1,N=194)} = 14.58$, p < 0.001]. There were no statistically significant differences between physicians for PPV, NPV, or AUC.

The combined "yes" and "no" success rate was high, with a significant difference between NP and PCP [$\chi^2_{(1,N=236)} = 9.47$,

Study participants	N = 279	
Age mean (SD)	63 (14)	
Gender Male	161 (57.7%)	
Female	118 (42.3%)	
Main diagnoses	Ischemic stroke	131 (47.0%)
	Neurodegenerative disorders	29 (10.4%)
	Primary intracerebral hemorrhage	24 (8.6%)
	Infection of CNS	21 (7.5%)
	Multiple Sclerosis	14 (5.0%)
	Brain injury	13 (4.7%)
	Critical illness polyneuropathy	11 (3.9%)
	Spinal canal stenosis	10 (3.6%)
	Primary brain tumors	9 (3.2%)
	Subarachnoid hemorrhage	4 (1.4%)
	Slipped disc	4 (1.4%)
	Subdural hematoma	3 (1.1 %)
	Epilepsy	2 (0.7%)
	Dementia Syndrome	2 (0.7%)
	Hypoxic brain injury	2 (0.7%)
Secondary	Cardiovascular diseases	184 (65.9%)
diagnoses	Bronchopulmonary diseases	57 (20.4 %)
(categories)	Other internal diseases	92 (33.0) %
	Neurological and psychiatric diseases	37 (13.3 %)
	Infectious diseases	19 (6.8 %)
	Diseases of the musculoskeletal system	19 (6.8 %)
	Malignancies (except for primary brain tumors)	17 (6.1 %)
Rehabilitation	Phase B	25 (9.0%)
phase	Phase C	107 (38.4%)
	Phase D	147 (52.7%)

SD, standard deviation.

Comments on main diagnoses:

Primary brain tumors encompassed: Glioblastoma, Astrocytoma, Meningioma

Neurodegenerative disorders encompassed: Parkinson's disease, atypical Parkinsonian's syndromes, multiple system atrophy, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis.

Comments on secondary diagnoses.

Cardiovascular diseases encompassed: Coronary heart disease, heart failure, arterial hypertension, peripheral arterial occlusive disease, cardiac arrhythmia, heart valve diseases

Bronchopulmonary diseases encompassed: pneumonia, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, asthma

Other internal diseases encompassed: Obesity, nutritional deficiencies, liver failure, kidney failure, diabetes mellitus and other metabolic disorders

Neurological and psychiatric diseases: Depression, psychoses, anxiety disorders, intelligence defects, e.g. post-early childhood brain damage, dementia syndrome, organic brain syndrome, multiple sclerosis, typical and atypical Parkinsonian's syndromes, polyneuropathies of various origins, epilepsy, dizziness of unknown origin, restless legs Infectious diseases encompassed: Pneumonia, urinary tract infections (including renal infections), hepatitis, thyroiditis, Lyme disease, abscesses, herpes zoster, human immunodeficiency virus

Diseases of the musculoskeletal system encompassed: fractures, osteoporosis, rheumatism, degenerative changes of the musculoskeletal system.

Rehabilitation phases B, C, D (German classification system characterizing type and intensity of neurological rehabilitation):

Phase B (early rehabilitation): There are still considerable disorders of consciousness; the ability to cooperate is severely restricted. Intensive medical treatment may be required.

Phase C (subsequent rehabilitation): High nursing need. The aim is intensive mobilization (sit up, straighten up, positioning, joint mobilization).

Phase D (medical rehabilitation): Early rehabilitation phase is completed and possibility of actively participating in rehabilitation measurements. The aim is free walking, performing care independently and regaining everyday competence). p = 0.002] (**Table 5**). The success rate for the "Yes" group was also significantly higher for NP relative to PCP [$\chi^2_{(1,N=236)} = 17.80$, p < 0.001]. Conversely, the success rate for giving a poor prognosis did not differ between physicians.

Regression analysis showed that age (p = 0.015), dysphagia (p = 0.006), and overburdening of the family (p = 0.036) were associated with an increased likelihood of dying at 12 months when the NP responded to the 12-SQ (**Figure 2**, **Table 8**). Overall classification was 80.3% accurate.

When patients were assessed by the PCP, the overall predictive accuracy of the model was 79.9%. Response to the 12-SQ (p = 0.014), dysphagia (p = 0.041), and rehabilitation phase (p = 0.014) were statistically associated with 12-month mortality. Patients in the "No" group were 3 times more likely to die than patients in the "Yes" group. Rehabilitation phase also predicted the likelihood of dying at 12 months with patients in phase B registering as 7.3 times more likely to die than patients in phase D (p = 0.005), and patients in phase C being 2.8 times more likely to die compared to patients in phase D (p = 0.041) (**Figure 3**, **Table 9**).

Without the 12-SQ as relevant predictor, age (NP: p = 0.038; PCP: p = 0.026) and dysphagia (NP: p = 0.012, PCP: p = 0.029) remained significant predictors, irrespective of the physicians' medical background. In addition, for both the NP and the PCP, an increased ECOG score was significantly related to an increased risk of dying (NP: p = 0.003; PCP: p = 0.005) (**Figures 2–3**, **Tables 8, 9**). When assessed by the PCP, the model showed 86.9% overall classification accuracy, which increased to 89% when assessed by the NP.

DISCUSSION

According to literature search this is the first study investigating prognosis estimation using 12-SQ and assessment of palliative care symptoms supplemented by neurological items, as rated by NP and PCP, respectively, in a sample of neurorehabilitation patients.

Prognosis estimation in this patient group proved challenging when utilizing 12-SQ as a single tool, which was reflected in poor prognostic accuracy indices, found also for other non-cancer diseases (21, 23). However, in our study, answering 12-SQ "No" pointed to physicians' expectation of poor prognosis as both treating NP as well as the PCP evaluated the 12-SQ "No" group consistently with the highest symptom burden. Overall, treating NP assessed patients better (meaning lower scores on the utilized measures) than the PCP. A potential explanation might be the clinical background of assessors with PCP primarily caring for the potential of general deterioration and the end of life and the NP being more concerned with recovery and restitution. Seemingly combined expertise might be needed for a balanced and accurate estimation.

In our study, accurate prediction for patients at increased risk of dying was especially low for NP. Accordingly, the NP demonstrated higher accuracy for predicting whether patients would still be alive after 12 months compared to PCP. Our results suggest the use of "12-SQ2": "Would I be surprised if this patient **TABLE 2** Assessment of patients' symptom burden (HOPE-SP-CL, ECOG, neurological symptoms) by neurorehabilitation physician (NP) and palliative care physician (PCP), respectively, for the patients who were concordantly estimated to have a good prognosis (NP and PCP, *both* answered 12-SQ with "Yes"), for the patients who were concordantly assessed as having a poor prognosis (neurologist and PC physician, *both* answered 12-SQ with "No") and for the patients whose prognosis was discordantly estimated by neurologist and palliative care physician (NP answered 12-SQ with "No" and PCP with "Yes" and vice versa, respectively).

Symptom	Assessor	12-SQ "Yes" (NP and PCP) N = 164 mean (SD)	p-value	12-SQ "No" (NP and PCP) <i>N</i> = 42 mean (SD)	p-value	12-SQ "Yes"/ "No" (NP, PCP discordant) <i>N</i> = 73 mean (SD)	p-value	<i>p</i> - value group comparison [#]
HOPE-SP-CL								
Pain	NP	0.75 (0.92)	0.015	0.90 (0.96)	0.743	0.55 (0.78)	0.019	0.191
	PCP	0.95 (1.17)		0.83 (1.08)		0.82 (1.18)		
Nausea	NP	0.05 (0.25)	0.003	0.31 (0.68)	0.414	0.15 (0.49)	0.310	0.001*
	PCP	0.17 (0.52)		0.45 (0.80)		0.23 (0.54)		
Vomiting	NP	0.03 (0.21)	0.046	0.26 (0.59)	0.868	0.11 (0.46)	0.885	<0.001*/***
	PCP	0.08 (0.35)		0.29 (0.60)		0.12 (0.41)		
Dyspnea	NP	0.07 (0.30)	<0.001	0.33 (0.65)	0.018	0.19 (0.52)	0.003	0.003*
	PCP	0.32 (0.66)		0.67 (0.85)		0.47 (0.88)		
Constipation	NP	0.25 (0.57)	0.022	0.64 (0.79)	0.834	0.41 (0.68)	0.114	0.002*/**
	PCP	0.38 (0.73)		0.69 (1.00)		0.60 (0.96)		
Weakness	NP	0.91 (0.77)	0.053	1.83 (0.85)	0.130	1.23 (0.95)	0.059	<0.001*/**/***
	PCP	1.06 (0.99)		2.05 (1.01)		1.45 (0.96)		
Loss of appetite	NP	0.24 (0.55)	0.489	0.98 (1.00)	0.878	0.68 (0.90)	0.449	<0.001*/**
	PCP	0.27 (0.63)		1.02 (1.26)		0.79 (1.09)		
Tiredness	NP	0.74 (0.69)	0.010	1.33 (0.90)	0.127	1.18 (0.84)	0.241	<0.001*/**
	PCP	0.98 (1.00)		1.64 (1.19)		1.32 (0.86)		
Wound care	NP	0.11 (0.44)	0.498	0.45 (0.80)	0.637	0.26 (0.67)	0.911	<0.001*/**
	PCP	0.13 (0.48)	01100	0.48 (0.83)	01001	0.26 (0.65)	0.011	
Assistance with activity of daily living [ADLs]	NP	0.55 (0.82)	0.041	1.76 (1.03)	0.763	1.30 (1.08)	0.878	<0.001*/**
	PCP	0.67 (0.97)		1.81 (1.27)		1.29 (1.21)		
Feeling depressed	NP	0.45 (0.70)	0.537	1.07 (1.02)	<0.001	0.63 (0.86)	0.104	0.045
0	PCP	0.48 (0.78)		0.43 (0.77)		0.44 (0.76)		
Anxiety	NP	0.40 (0.62)	0.009	0.88 (0.99)	0.002	0.53 (0.77)	0.071	0.379
	PCP	0.55 (0.75)		0.31 (0.60)		0.36 (0.61)		
Tension	NP	0.45 (0.58)	0.144	0.83 (0.92)	0.017	0.66 (0.79)	0.054	0.416
	PCP	0.52 (0.72)		0.40 (0.70)		0.45 (0.69)		
Disorientation/ Confusion	NP	0.06 (0.29)	0.025	0.64 (0.79)	0.926	0.34 (0.79)	0.941	<0.001*/**/***
	PCP	0.13 (0.48)	0.020	0.67 (1.07)	0.020	0.34 (0.75)	0.011	
Organization of care	NP	0.13 (0.45)	<0.001	0.81 (0.99)	0.033	0.45 (0.83)	0.009	<0.001*/**
organization of dato	PCP	0.34 (0.62)		1.17 (1.08)	0.000	0.88 (0.91)	0.000	
Overburdening of family	NP	0.19 (0.54)	0.129	0.64 (0.91)	0.156	0.36 (0.81)	0.014	<0.001*/**
overbardening of larmy	PCP	0.25 (0.49)	0.120	0.88 (0.97)	0.100	0.70 (0.83)	0.014	<0.0017
Other symptoms	NP	0.00 (0.00)	0.317	0.07 (0.34)	1.000	0.00 (0.00)	0.180	0.031*
	PCP	0.01 (0.08)	0.017	0.07 (0.46)	1.000	0.05 (0.37)	0.100	0.001
HOPE total score	NP	5.41 (4.02)	<0.001	13.74 (9.07)	0.679	9.18 (7.69)	0.035	<0.001*/**/***
HOPE IOIdi Score	PCP		<0.001		0.079	10.47 (6.07)	0.055	<0.00177
NEUROLOGICAL ISSUES	FGF	7.30 (5.64)		13.86 (7.14)		10.47 (0.07)		
Symptoms of intracranial pressure	NP	0.09 (0.37)	0.906	0.07 (0.34)	1.000	0.04 (0.26)	1.000	0.290
	PCP	0.09 (0.37)		0.07 (0.34)		0.04 (0.26)		
Epileptic seizures	NP	0.10 (0.41)	0.039	0.14 (0.47)	0.783	0.23 (0.68)	0.161	0.790
	PCP	0.16 (0.52)	2.000	0.17 (0.66)		0.15 (0.52)		
Sensory disturbances (sensory organs)	NP	0.48 (0.77)	0.004	0.86 (0.98)	0.247	0.79 (0.82)	0.509	<0.001*/**
	PCP	0.65 (0.92)		1.10 (1.14)		0.85 (0.92)		

(Continued)

TABLE 2 | Continued

Symptom	Assessor	12-SQ "Yes" (NP and PCP) <i>N</i> = 164 mean (SD)	p-value	12-SQ "No" (NP and PCP) <i>N</i> = 42 mean (SD)	<i>p</i> -value	12-SQ "Yes"/ "No" (NP, PCP discordant) $N = 73$ mean (SD)	p-value	<i>p</i> - value group comparison [#]
Sensation deficit (skin)	NP	0.77 (0.85)	<0.001	1.24 (0.98)	0.355	0.96 (0.84)	0.121	0.027*
	PCP	1.05 (1.02)		1.40 (1.19)		1.14 (0.99)		
Motor disturbances	NP	1.09 (0.94)	<0.001	1.90 (0.85)	0.168	1.41 (0.94)	0.035	<0.001*/***
	PCP	1.37 (1.02)		2.10 (1.12)		1.63 (1.15)		
Dysphagia	NP	0.07 (0.34)	0.001	0.74 (0.99)	0.084	0.34 (0.75)	0.435	<0.001*/**/***
	PCP	0.19 (0.50)		0.98 (1.22)		0.41 (0.86)		
Spasticity	NP	0.20 (0.56)	<0.001	0.62 (1.04)	0.061	0.37 (0.83)	0.523	0.572
	PCP	0.38 (0.78)		0.36 (0.79)		0.32 (0.69)		
Vegetative disturbances	NP	0.24 (0.59)	0.008	1.00 (1.01)	0.942	0.51 (0.86)	0.114	<0.001*/**/***
	PCP	0.37 (0.74)		1.00 (1.15)		0.71 (1.11)		
Neuropsychological disorders	NP	0.26 (0.58)	<0.001	0.81 (1.07)	0.001	0.60 (0.92)	<0.001	<0.001*/**
	PCP	0.66 (0.84)		1.45 (1.19)		1.26 (1.14)		
Quantitative disturbance of consciousness	NP	0.04 (0.30)	<0.001	0.48 (0.94)	<0.001	0.21 (0.62)	<0.001	<0.001*/**
	PCP	0.29 (0.57)		0.90 (1.01)		0.53 (0.71)		
Symptoms of delirium	NP	0.02 (0.17)	0.084	0.38 (0.73)	0.432	0.23 (0.68)	0.892	<0.001*/**
	PCP	0.06 (0.35)		0.29 (0.74)		0.21 (0.50)		
Change in personality	NP	0.09 (0.36)	<0.001	0.64 (0.96)	0.355	0.34 (0.73)	0.072	<0.001*/**
	PCP	0.39 (0.65)		0.79 [0.98)		0.52 (0.77)		
Loss of autonomy	NP	0.38 (0.67)	<0.001	1.31 (1.16)	<0.001	0.93 (1.10)	<0.001	<0.001*/**/***
	PCP	0.80 (0.86)		2.02 (1.07)		1.58 (1.15)		
Neuro total score	NP	3.89 (3.16)	<0.001	10.19 (7.81)	0.001	7.05 (6.56)	<0.001	<0.001*/**
	PCP	6.46 (4.05)		12.62 (8.44)		9.41 (5.88)		
ECOG	NP	1.28 (0.84)	<0.001	2.64 (1.10)	0.065	1.96 (1.02)	0.001	<0.001*/**/***
	PCP	1.52 (0.95)		2.93 (0.92)		2.33 (0.97)		
Total score	NP	9.30 (6.14)	<0.001	23.93 (16.12)	0.122	16.23 (13.51)	0.001	<0.001*/**/***
	PCP	13.76 (8.5)		26.48 (14.19)		19.88 (10.48)		

Numbers represent mean [standard deviation (SD)] and are reported here for ease of interpretation instead of median [range]. However, due to the skewed distribution of the data, non-parametric tests were applied to detect statistically significant differences. Values in bold are significant at p < 0.05 (FDR-corrected).

[#]If significant group differences were found (Kruskall-Wallis test), a post-hoc test was applied (FDR-corrected at p < 0.05).

*"yes" vs. "no", ""yes" vs. "discordant", ***"no" vs. "discordant".

12-SQ, "surprise" question; PCP, palliative care physician; NP, neurorehabilitation physician; SD, standard deviation; ADLs, activity of daily living.

is still alive after twelve months?" (45) for physicians with a background in neurology or a combination of the original 12-SQ and the 12-SQ2, which has been piloted in a sample of general practitioners (45, 46).

Significantly, the 12-SQ was not originally developed for an accurate prognosis in the prediction of death, but to identify patients in need of palliative care (1–19). In specialties such as neurorehabilitation the implementation of the 12-SQ in combination with a palliative care assessment into the clinical routine—as in our study—might help sensitize healthcare professionals toward palliative care issues like initiating conversation on advanced care planning or prognosis or integrating additional services like palliative and hospice care services if needed. Currently, this approach is not yet well recognized in German neurorehabilitation and integrative prognostic studies may serve to help change this, an eventual consequence which would be beneficial to both patients and the caregivers involved in neurorehabilitation. The need for such a multi-disciplinary neuropalliative rehabilitation approach has already been highlighted and recommended in the UK's National Service Framework for Long-term (Neurological) Conditions (29–31) but has not been consistently pursued in neurorehabilitation in Germany so far.

In a recent study, the 12-SQ was combined with further clinical parameters to better identify patients with palliative care needs and aid in prognosis estimation (22). Our study corroborates the importance of bringing in additional clinical assessments to the 12-SQ, i.e., HOPE-SP-CL, neuro supplement,

	Still alive after 12 months <i>N</i> = 202 (85.6%)	Deceased after 12 months N = 34 (14.4%)	p-value
Age mean (SD)	62 (13.7)	70.9 (13.1)	< 0.001
GENDER [%]			
Male	57.5	58.8	0.879
Female	42.5	41.2	0.879
REHABILITATION P	HASES [%]		
З	4.0	26.5	< 0.001
0	37.0	52.9	0.081
D	59.0	20.6	< 0.001
MAIN DIAGNOSES	[%]		
schemic stroke	48	32.4	0.256
Primary ntracerebral nemorrhage	7.5	20.6	0.040
Primary brain tumors	2	11.8	0.011
Critical illness polyneuropathy	2.5	8.8	0.115
Neurodegenerative disorders	10.5	8.8	0.905
nfection of CNS	8.5	5.9	0.647
Subarachnoid nemorrhage	1.5	2.9	0.555
Subdural nematoma	1.5	/	0.561
Multiple Sclerosis	5	2.9	0.720
Epilepsy	0.5	2.9	0.245
Dementia	1	/	0.681
Hypoxic brain njury	0.5	/	0.377
Slipped disc/spinal canal stenosis	2	/	0.475
CATEGORIES OF SI	ECONDARY DIAGNOS	ES [%]	
Cardiovascular diseases	64	61.8	0.240
Other internal diseases	32	35.3	0.747
Bronchopulmonary diseases	18	26.5	0.221
Malignancies except for primary prain tumors)	4.5	23.5	< 0.001
Neurological and osychiatric diseases	12	8.8	0.232
nfectious diseases	5	8.8	0.092
Diseases of the musculoskeletal system	7.5	5.9	0.786

"Surprise" (Question	Used i	in Neurore	habilitation
--------------	----------	--------	------------	--------------

TABLE 3 | Continued

ASSESSMENT RESULTS AT BASELINE (HOPE, NEURO SUPPLEMENT						
ECOG) MEAN [SD]						
\$	HOPE score t0 Survivors V = 202 (85.6%)	HOPE score t0 Deceased N = 34 (14.4%)	p-value			
HOPE						
Pain	0.83 (0.91]	0.74 (0.74)	0.810			
Nausea	0.16 (0.39)	0.16 (0.47)	0.394			
Vomiting	0.09 (0.32)	0.12 (0.35)	0.834			
Dyspnea	0.23 (0.46)	0.50 (0.63)	0.004*			
Constipation	0.37 (0.61)	0.63 (0.74)	0.030*			
Weakness	1.11 (0.79)	1.63 (0.92)	0.001*			
Loss of appetite	0.39 (0.64)	0.93 (0.95)	< 0.001*			
Tiredness	0.97 (0.70)	1.43 (0.75)	0.001*			
Wound care	0.12 (0.34)	0.37 (0.63)	0.002*			
Assistance with activity of daily living [ADLs]	0.83 (0.92)	1.66 (1.11)	< 0.001*			
Feeling depressed	0.49 (0.63)	0.66 (0.66)	0.080			
Anxiety	0.48 (0.59)	0.51 (0.56)	0.564			
Tension	0.50 (0.55)	0.58 (0.59)	0.427			
Disorientation/Confusio	n 0.16 (0.42)	0.53 (0.80)	0.002*			
Organization of care	0.37 (0.54)	0.44 (0.61)	< 0.001*			
Overburdening of	0.31 (0.48)	0.72 (0.73)	< 0.001*			
Other symptoms	0.003 (0.04)	0.10 (0.36)	< 0.001*			
HOPE total score	7.41 (4.86)	12.15 (7.72)	< 0.001*			
NEURO SUPPLEMEN	T					
Symptoms of ntracranial pressure	0.08 (0.27)	0.01 (0.09)	0.161			
Epileptic seizures	0.11 (0.42)	0.21 (0.54)	0.146			
Sensory disturbances (sensory organs)	0.64 (0.78)	0.87 (0.75)	0.044			
Sensation deficit (skin)	0.95 (0.79)	1.41 (0.87)	0.005*			
Motor disturbances	1.35 (0.91)	1.87 (0.96)	0.004*			
Dysphagia	0.18 (0.42)	0.79 (1.06)	< 0.001*			
Spasticity	0.29 (0.57)	0.38 (0.71)	0.592			
/egetative disturbances	0.38 (0.67)	0.90 (1.05)	0.003*			
Neuropsychological disorders	0.60 (0.72)	1.16 (1.01)	0.002*			
Quantitative disturbance of consciousness	0.22 (0.39)	0.57 (0.79)	0.003*			
Symptoms of delirium	0.07 (0.25)	0.21 (0.45)	0.015*			

(Continued)

(Continued)

TABLE 3 | Continued

	HOPE score t0 Survivors N = 202 (85.6%)	HOPE score t0 Deceased N = 34 (14.4%)	<i>p</i> -value
Change in personality	0.27 (0.41)	0.63 (0.76)	0.005*
Loss of autonomy	0.78 (0.78)	1.60 (1.05)	< 0.001*
Neuro total score	5.97 (3.65)	10.62 (1.18)	< 0.001*
ECOG	1.66 (0.88)	2.66 (1.09)	< 0.001*
Total score	13.39 (7.57)	22.76 (14.15)	< 0.001*

Numerical scores are given as mean [standard deviation]. They are reported here in lieu of medians [range] for ease of interpretation. As the data is not normally distributed, statistical group differences were analyzed with non-parametric test (FDR-corrected at p < 0.05) as directed by the data. Numerical scores for each item are presented here as mean score from both the PCP and NP.

*p < 0.05 (FDR-corrected)

SD, standard deviation; 12-SQ, "surprise" question; PCP, palliative care physician; NP, neurorehabilitation physician; ADLs, activity of daily living.

TABLE 4 | Prognosis estimation of NP and PCP.

	N	Total score ⁺ given by NP median [range]	Total score ⁺ given by PCP median [range]	<i>p</i> -value
Total	279	10 (1–74)	15 (1–58)	< 0.001*
12-SQ concordant "Yes" (NP: 12-SQ "Yes", PCP: 12-SQ "Yes") (concordant estimation of good prognosis)	164	8 (1–41)	13 (1–54)	< 0.001*
12-SQ concordant "No" (NP: 12-SQ "No", PCP: 12-SQ "No") (concordant estimation of poor prognosis)	42	18.5 (2–65)	25.5 (2–58)	0.122
12-SQ discordant (NP: 12-SQ "No", PCP: 12-SQ "Yes")	20	18.5 (3–74)	22.5 (2–50)	0.737
12-SQ discordant (NP: 12-SQ "Yes", PCP 12-SQ "No")	53	11 (1–33)	19 (3–47)	< 0.001*

⁺Total score, sum of HOPE-SP-CL total score; Neuro supplement total score and ECOG. *Indication for significant differences

12-SQ, 12-months "surprise" question; NP, neurorehabilitation physician; PCP, palliative care physician.

ECOG, diagnoses, age, gender, rehabilitation phase, to establish a broader basis for estimation of prognosis and palliative care needs.

With the help of the additional data we were able to identify several items (HOPE-SP-CL as well as neuro supplement as well as ECOG) which were scored significantly higher at baseline (meaning worse) for the group of patients who died after 12 months compared to those still alive. This speaks in favor of these measurements being suitable to assess patients' deteriorating general health condition. Moreover, the regression identified three factors (age, ECOG, dysphagia)
 TABLE 5 | Prognostic accuracy indices, 95% confidence intervals are displayed in brackets.

	Neurorehabilitation physician	Palliative care physician	Significance
Sensitivity	50% (0.32–0.67)	67.6% (0.50–0.83)	NS
Specificity	86.1% (0.81–0.91)	70.3% (0.64–0.77)	<0.001
PPV	37.8% (0.27–0.50)	27.7% (0.22–0.34)	NS
NPV	91.1% (0.88–0.94)	92.8% (0.89–0.96)	NS
AUC	0.68 (0.57–0.79)	0.69 (0.59–0.79)	NS
Success rate ("Yes")	73.7%	60.2%	<0.001
Success rate ("No")	7.2%	9.7%	NS
Success rate (combined)	80.9%	69.9%	0.002

PPV, Positive predictive value; NPV, negative predictive value; AUC, area under the curve; NS, not significant.

 TABLE 6 | Frequency table for prognosis estimation by the neurorehabilitation physician.

	Deceased	Living
12-SQ "No"	17	28
12-SQ "Yes"	17	174

 TABLE 7 | Frequency table for prognosis estimation by the palliative care physician.

	Deceased	Living	
12-SQ "No"	23	60	
12-SQ "Yes"	11	142	

which might help to predict one-year mortality in our sample of neurorehabilitation patients. These three factors are all reasonable indicators for a worsened overall condition. As anticipated, increased age is a risk factor for dying, even more so when seriously ill. Second, an increasing ECOG score in patients indicates decreasing, i.e., worse, functionality in all daily activities. Lastly, dysphagia has been identified as a critical prognostic factor in neurological patients, especially those suffering from stroke and neurodegenerative disorders (20, 47, 48). In the rehabilitation setting mortality risk increased by a factor of 13 for patients suffering from dysphagia (47). Depending on subtypes, patients suffering from progressive supranuclear palsy or multiple system atrophy died 2-24 months after developing severe dysphagia (48). Potential reasons for dysphagia being associated with a poor prognosis might be the development of serious complications like aspiration pneumonia (20, 47, 48).

As the 12-SQ is a commonly used tool for estimation of prognosis—even if poor when used as the only instrument and for initiating palliative care in cancer and non-cancer patients (1-19), we investigated whether adding further clinical



TABLE 8 | Binary logistic regression to predict 12-month mortality as assessed by the neurorehabilitation physician.

	Predictor	OR	AUC (one for each model)
Model 0	12-SQ (reference: "Yes")	6.21 (2.84–13.58)	0.68 (0.57–0.79)
Model 1	12-SQ (reference: "Yes")	2.00 (0.75–5.33)	0.80 (0.72–0.89)
	Age	1.05 (1.01–1.09)	
	Dysphagia	2.54 (1.3–5.0)	
	Overburdening of the family	1.97 (1.05–3.7)	
Model 2	Age	1.04 (1.00–1.08)	0.79 (0.69–0.88)
	Dysphagia	2.39 (1.21–4.71)	
	ECOG score	1.90 (1.24–2.92)	

95% confidence intervals are displayed in brackets.

OR, odds ratio; AUC, area under the curve; 12-SQ, 12-months "surprise" question; ECOG, Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group.

characteristics to the 12-SQ would improve the overall predictive power. Again, our results indicate that age and dysphagia, as well as rehabilitation phase and overburdening of the family in combination with the 12-SQ have great prognostic value in estimating prognosis and thus identifying patients in need of palliative care. These two additional factors can be interpreted similarly to the ECOG: Patients in rehabilitation phases C and B suffer from a more serious illness with decreased functionality compared to phase D and "overburdening of family" also indicates patients' health deterioration. It is well known that as patients' health condition worsens, family caregivers physically and psychologically reach their limits (49–52).

LIMITATIONS

Of our initial sample of 634 patients only 236 (37%) could be included and later followed up. This proportion is quite good for a palliative care study, but generalizability remains limited as we were unable to present a full data set. Moreover, study participants attending rehabilitation phase B (i.e., seriously ill patients) were represented to a lesser degree than patients in rehabilitation phase C or D. One potential reason might be the increased difficulty in obtaining consent (seriously ill, legal representative, etc.). Of the 236 included and followed-up patients 14% died within one year. Despite similar incidences of death reported in other studies investigating the 12-SQ (21) this is a moderate to small fraction complicating the interpretation of prognostic accuracy indices. The neurorehabilitation population investigated was quite heterogeneous. Group sizes of the different main diagnoses groups were unequal ranging from 47% (ischemic stroke, largest group) to 0.2% (epilepsy, dementia syndrome, and hypoxic brain injury, respectively) and thus, a sound subgroup analysis was not possible. At least from results of this study, we cannot conclude whether the 12-SQ and identified risk factors may be of differing predictive accuracy with respect to special disease entities s (e.g., ALS representing a progressive disorder vs. ischemic stroke normally representing a monophasic illness). One caveat to the interpretation of our results is that various NPs (each time the respective treating NP) evaluated the patients while there



TABLE 9 | Binary logistic regression to predict 12-month mortality as assessed by the Palliative Care Physician.

	Predictor	OR	AUC (one for each model)
Model 0	12-SQ (reference: "Yes")	4.95 (2.27–10.79)	0.69 (0.59–0.79)
Model 1	12-SQ (reference: "Yes")	2.95 (1.25–6.97)	0.80 (0.72–0.88)
	Rehabilitation phase		
	(reference: phase D)		
	Rehabilitation phase B	7.32 (1.83–29.26)	
	Rehabilitation phase C	2.78 (1.04-7.39)	
	Dysphagia	1.61 (1.02–2.54)	
Model 2	Age	1.04 (1.00–1.07)	0.78 (0.69–0.87)
	Dysphagia	1.61 (1.05–2.47)	
	ECOG score	1.87 (1.21–2.88)	

95% confidence intervals are displayed in brackets.

OR, odds ratio; AUC, area under the curve; 12-SQ, 12-months "surprise" question; ECOG, Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group.

was a single, external, consulting PCP assessing the patients, so that systematic assessment bias for the PCP could not be averaged out. That clinical background influenced 12-SQ estimation was also apparent amongst the rather large group of patients who were discordantly judged using the 12-SQ (26.2%) thereby reducing the number of unambiguously assigned patients.

CONCLUSION

Prognosis estimation of neurological patients is challenging and thus, identifying the right point in time to integrate the palliative care approach for neurological patients remains difficult. Implementing an assessment tool into the care of these patients - in the current study with a sample of neurorehabilitation patients - combining the 12-SQ with palliative care and neurological items might improve predictive performance of 12 months survival and thus identify an appropriate, sufficient time to initiate the palliative care approach and services if needed. Factors improving predictive accuracy (with and without the 12-SQ) were rehabilitation phase, dysphagia, age, overburdening of family and ECOG. Professional background influences assessment and prognosis estimation.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ME, HG, RV, AK, and IB planned the study. ME and AK recruited and assessed patients. KD, AK, IB, and HG analyzed the data. HG, KD, AK, ME, IB, and RV wrote and corrected the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all study participants and clinical personnel of the Dr. Becker Rhein-Sieg-Clinic, especially Britta Michler and Marion Birkholz for their valued assistance.

REFERENCES

- Moss AH, Lunney JR, Culp S, Auber M, Kurian S, Rogers J, et al. Prognostic significance of the "surprise" question in cancer patients. *J Palliat Med.* (2010) 13:837–40. doi: 10.1089/jpm.2010.0018
- Moroni M, Zocchi D, Bolognesi D, Abernethy A, Rondelli R, Savorani G, et al. The 'surprise' question in advanced cancer patients: a prospective study among general practitioners. *Palliat Med.* (2014) 28:959–64. doi: 10.1177/0269216314526273
- Rhee J, Clayton JM. The 'surprise' question may improve the accuracy of GPs in identifying death in patients with advanced stage IV solid-cell cancer. *Evid Based Med.* (2015) 20:71. doi: 10.1136/ebmed-2014-110114
- Hui D. Prognostication of survival in patients with advanced cancer: predicting the unpredictable? *Cancer Control* (2015) 22:489–97. doi: 10.1177/107327481502200415
- Hamano J, Morita T, Inoue S, Ikenaga M, Matsumoto Y, Sekine R, et al. Surprise questions for survival prediction in patients with advanced cancer: a multicenter prospective cohort study. *Oncologist* (2015) 20:839–44. doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.2015-0015
- Duenk RG, Verhagen SC, Janssen MA, Dekhuijzen RP, Vissers KC, Engels Y, et al. Consistency of medical record reporting of a set of indicators for proactive palliative care in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Chron Respir Dis.* (2017) 14:63–71. doi: 10.1177/1479972316661922
- Moss AH, Ganjoo J, Sharma S, Gansor J, Senft S, Weaner B, et al. Utility of the "surprise" question to identify dialysis patients with high mortality. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2008) 3:1379–84. doi: 10.2215/CJN.00940208
- Pang WF, Kwan BC, Chow KM, Leung CB, Li PK, Szeto CC. Predicting 12month mortality for peritoneal dialysis patients using the "surprise" question. *Perit Dial Int*. (2013) 33:60–6. doi: 10.3747/pdi.2011.00204
- 9. Da Silva Gane M, Braun A, Stott D, Wellsted D, Farrington K. How robust is the 'surprise question' in predicting short-term mortality risk in haemodialysis patients? *Nephron Clin Pract.* (2013) 123:185–93. doi: 10.1159/000353735
- Amro OW, Ramasamy M, Strom JA, Weiner DE, Jaber BL. Nephrologistfacilitated advance care planning for hemodialysis patients: a quality improvement project. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2016) 68:103–9. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2015.11.024
- Javier AD, Figueroa R, Siew ED, Salat H, Morse J, Stewart TG, et al. Reliability and utility of the surprise question in CKD stages 4 to 5. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2017) 70:93–101. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2016.11.025
- Malhotra R, Tao X, Wang Y, Chen Y, Apruzzese RH, Balter P, et al. Performance of the surprise question compared to prediction models in hemodialysis patients: a prospective study. *Am J Nephrol.* (2017) 46:390–6. doi: 10.1159/000481920
- Salat H, Javier A, Siew ED, Figueroa R, Lipworth L, Kabagambe E, et al. Nephrology provider prognostic perceptions and care delivered to older adults with advanced kidney disease. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2017) 12:1762–70. doi: 10.2215/CJN.03830417
- Burke K, Coombes LH, Menezes A, Anderson AK. The 'surprise' question in paediatric palliative care: a prospective cohort study. *Palliat Med.* (2018) 32:535–42. doi: 10.1177/0269216317716061
- Hadique S, Culp S, Sangani RG, Chapman KD, Khan S, Parker JE, et al. Derivation and validation of a prognostic model to predict 6-month mortality in an intensive care unit population. *Ann Am Thorac Soc.* (2017) 14:1556–61. doi: 10.1513/AnnalsATS.201702-159OC
- Haydar SA, Almeder L, Michalakes L, Han PKJ, Strout TD. Using the surprise question to identify those with unmet palliative care needs in emergency and inpatient settings: what do clinicians think? *J Palliat Med.* (2017) 20:729–35. doi: 10.1089/jpm.2016.0403
- Ouchi K, Jambaulikar G, George NR, Xu W, Obermeyer Z, Aaronson EL, et al. The "surprise question" asked of emergency physicians may predict 12-month mortality among older emergency department patients. *J Palliat Med.* (2018) 21:236–40. doi: 10.1089/jpm.2017.0192
- Lilley EJ, Gemunden SA, Kristo G, Changoor N, Scott JW, Rickerson E, et al. Utility of the "surprise" question in predicting survival among older patients with acute surgical conditions. *J Palliat Med.* (2017) 20:420–3. doi: 10.1089/jpm.2016.0313
- 19. Rice J, Hunter L, Hsu AT, Donskov M, Luciani T, Toal-Sullivan D, et al. Using the "surprise question" in nursing homes: a prospective mixed-methods study. *J Palliat Care*. (2018) 33:9–18. doi: 10.1177/0825859717745728

- 20. Oliver D (ed.). End of Life Care in Neurological Disease. London: Springer (2013). doi: 10.1007/978-0-85729-682-5
 21. Doi: 10.1007/978-0-85729-682-5
- Downar J, Goldman R, Pinto R, Englesakis M, Adhikari NK. The "surprise question" for predicting death in seriously ill patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *CMAJ* (2017) 189:E484–93. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.160775
- 22. Gómez-Batiste X, Martínez-Mu-oz M, Blay C, Amblàs J, Vila L, Costa X, et al. Utility of the NECPAL CCOMS-ICO(©) tool and the surprise question as screening tools for early palliative care and to predict mortality in patients with advanced chronic conditions: a cohort study. *Palliat Med.* (2017) 31:754–63. doi: 10.1177/0269216316676647
- 23. White N, Kupeli N, Vickerstaff V, Stone P. How accurate is the 'surprise question' at identifying patients at the end of life? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Med.* (2017) 15:139. doi: 10.1186/s12916-017-0907-4
- 24. Stiel S, Pollok A, Elsner F, Lindena G, Ostgathe C, Nauck F, et al. Validation of the symptom and problem checklist of the German hospice and palliative care evaluation (HOPE). *J Pain Symptom Manag.* (2012) 43:593–605. doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2011.04.021
- Hearn J, Higginson IJ. Development and validation of a core outcome measure for palliative care: the palliative care outcome scale. Palliative care core audit project advisory group. *Qual Health Care* (1999) 8:219–27. doi: 10.1136/qshc.8.4.219
- Bausewein C, Fegg M, Radbruch L, Nauck F, Mackensen S, Borasio GD, et al. Validation and clinical application of the German version of the palliative care outcome scale. *J Pain Symptom Manag.* (2005) 30:51–63. doi:10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2005.01.017
- 27. Golla H, Ebke M, Rolke R, Lorenzl S, Nacimiento W, Thiekötter T, et al. Integration of palliative and hospice care structures in the care of neurological patients: opinion of chief consultant neurologists in Germany. *Fortschr Neurol Psychiatry* (2016) 84:733–8. doi: 10.1055/s-0042-119027
- Golla H, Fink GR, Rolke R, Lorenzl S, Ebke M, Montag T, et al. New structures in neurology: palliative care for neurological patients. *Neurol Int Open* (2017) 1:E117–26. doi: 10.1055/s-0043-108438
- Turner-Stokes L, Sykes N, Silber E. Guideline Development Group. Long-term neurological conditions: management at the interface between neurology, rehabilitation and palliative care. *Clin Med.* (2008) 8:186–91. doi: 10.7861/clinmedicine.8-2-186
- Turner-Stokes L, Sykes N, Silber E, Khatri A, Sutton L, Young E. From diagnosis to death: exploring the interface between neurology, rehabilitation and palliative care in managing people with long-term neurological conditions. *Clin Med.* (2007) 7:129–36. doi: 10.7861/clinmedicine.7-2-129
- Khan F, Amatya B, Turner-Stokes L. Symptomatic therapy and rehabilitation in primary progressive multiple sclerosis. *Neurol Res Int.* (2011) 2011:740505. doi: 10.1155/2011/740505
- Higginson IJ, Hart S, Silber E, Burman R, Edmonds P. Symptom prevalence and severity in people severely affected by multiple sclerosis. *J Palliat Care*. (2006) 22:158–65.
- Oliver DJ, Campbell C, O'Brien, Sloan R, Sykes N, Tallon C, et al. Medication in the last days of life for motor neuron disease / amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Amyotroph Lateral Scler*. (2010) 11:562–4. doi: 10.3109/17482968.2010. 493203
- Hensler M, Paul S, Abright C, Lorenzl S. Progressive supranuclear palsy: living environment of the patients in Germany. *Nervenarzt* (2011) 82:207–14. doi: 10.1007/s00115-010-3076-7
- Ostgathe C, Alt-Epping B, Golla H, Gaertner J, Lindena G, Radbruch L, et al. Non-cancer patients in specialized palliative care in Germany: what are the problems? *Palliat Med.* (2011) 25:148–52. doi: 10.1177/0269216310385370
- Golla H, Galushko M, Pfaff H, Voltz R. Unmet needs of severely affected multiple sclerosis patients: the health professionals' view. *Palliat Med.* (2012) 26:139–51. doi: 10.1177/0269216311401465
- Lorenzl S, Nubling G, Perrar KM, Voltz R. Palliative treatment of chronic neurologic disorders. *Handb Clin Neurol.* (2013) 118:133–9. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-444-53501-6.00010-X
- Grehl T. Diagnostics and therapy for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. *Fortschr* Neurol Psychiatry (2013) 81:592–603. doi: 10.1055/s-0033-1350151
- Lorenzl S. Multimorbidity of neurological patients in palliative care units. Nervenarzt (2014) 85:409–16. doi: 10.1007/s00115-013-3938-x
- Basedow-Rajwich B, Koehler J. Besonderheiten der neuropalliativmedizinischen versorgung schwerst betroffener MS-Patienten. Akt Neurol. (2015) 42:11–5. doi: 10.1055/s-0034-1398524

- Golla H, Ale Ahmad M, Galushko M, Hampl J, Maarouf M, Schroeter M, et al. Glioblastoma multiforme from diagnosis to death: a prospective, hospitalbased, cohort, pilot feasibility study of patient reported symptoms and needs. Support Care Cancer (2014) 22:3341–52. doi: 10.1007/s00520-014-2384-z
- 42. Radbruch L, Nauck F, Ostgathe C, Elsner F, Bausewein C, Fuchs M, et al. What are the problems in palliative care? Results from a representative survey. *Support Care Cancer* (2003) 11:442–51. doi: 10.1007/s00520-003-0472-6
- Trajman A, Luiz RR. McNemar chi2 test revisited: comparing sensitivity and specificity of diagnostic examinations. *Scand J Clin Lab Invest.* (2008) 68:77–80. doi: 10.1080/00365510701666031
- 44. Benjamini Y, Hochberg Y. Controlling the false discovery rate a practical and powerful approach to multiple testing. *J R Stat Soc Ser B Methodol.* (1995) 57:289–300.
- 45. Weijers F, Veldhoven C, Verhagen C, Vissers K, Engels Y. Adding a second surprise question triggers general practitioners to increase the thoroughness of palliative care planning: results of a pilot RCT with cage vignettes. *BMC Palliat Care* (2018) 17:64. doi: 10.1186/s12904-018-0312-6
- Klok L, Engels Y, Veldhoven C, Rotar Pavlič D. Early identification of patients in need of palliative care in Slovenian general practice. *Zdr Varst.* (2018) 57:55–64. doi: 10.2478/sjph-2018-0008
- Cichero JA, Altman KW. Definition, prevalence and burden of oropharyngeal dysphagia: a serious problem among older adults worldwide and the impact on prognosis and hospital resources. *Nestle Nutr Inst Workshop Ser.* (2012) 72:1–11. doi: 10.1159/000339974
- O'Sullivan SS, Massey LA, Williams DR, Silveira-Moriyama L, Kempster PA, Holton JL, et al. Clinical outcomes of progressive supranuclear palsy and multiple system atrophy. *Brain* (2008) 131:1362–72. doi: 10.1093/brain/awn065
- 49. Seibl-Leven M, von Reeken C, Goldbrunner R, Grau S, Ruge MI, Galldiks N, et al. Clinical routine assessment of palliative care symptoms and

concerns and caregiver burden in glioblastoma patients: an explorative field study. *J Neurooncol.* (2018) 138:321–33. doi: 10.1007/s11060-018-2800-1

- Harding R, Gao W, Jackson D, Pearson C, Murray J, Higginson IJ. Comparative analysis of informal caregiver burden in advanced cancer, dementia, and acquired brain injury. *J Pain Symptom Manag.* (2015) 50:445– 52. doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2015.04.005
- Katsavos S, Artemiadis AK, Zacharis M, Argyrou P, Theotoka I, Chrysovitsanou C, et al. Predicting caregiving status and caregivers' burden in multiple sclerosis. A short report. *Neurol Res.* (2017) 39:13–5. doi: 10.1080/01616412.2016.1254942
- Geng D, Ou R, Miao X, Zhao L, Wei Q, Chen X, et al. Patients' selfperceived burden, caregivers' burden and quality of life for amyotrophic lateral sclerosis patients: a cross-sectional study. *J Clin Nurs.* (2016) 26:3188–99. doi: 10.1111/jocn.13667

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The handling editor is currently organizing a Research Topic with one of the authors RV, and confirms the absence of any other collaboration.

Copyright © 2018 Ebke, Koch, Dillen, Becker, Voltz and Golla. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Telemedicine in Palliative Care: Implementation of New Technologies to Overcome Structural Challenges in the Care of Neurological Patients

Christiane Eva Weck^{1*}, Katharina Maria Lex² and Stefan Lorenzl^{1,2,3}

¹ Krankenhaus Agatharied GmbH, Hausham, Germany, ² Institut für Pflegewissenschaft und -Praxis, Paracelsus Medizinische Privatuniversität, Salzburg, Austria, ³ Palliative Care, Ludwig Maximilian University of Munich, Munich, Germany

Telemedicine provides a possibility to deal with the scarcity of resources and money in the health care system. Palliative care has been suggested to be appropriate for an increasing number of patients with neurodegenerative disorders, but these patients often lack care from either palliative care or neurology. Since palliative care means a multidisciplinary approach it is meaningful to use palliative care structures as a basis. There exists no systematic access to neurological expertise in an outpatient setting. A successful link of two existing resources is shown in this project connecting the Department of Neurology of an University Hospital with specialized outpatient palliative care (SPC) teams. A videocounselling system is used to provide expert care for neurological outpatients in a palliative setting.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Marianne De Visser, University of Amsterdam, Netherlands

Reviewed by:

Alvaro Sanchez-Ferro, Centro Integral en Neurociencias A.C. HM CINAC, Spain Benjamin Aaron Emanuel, University of Southern California, United States

> ***Correspondence:** Christiane Eva Weck christiane.weck@khagatharied.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurocritical and Neurohospitalist Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

> **Received:** 31 July 2018 **Accepted:** 29 April 2019 **Published:** 24 May 2019

Citation:

Weck CE, Lex KM and Lorenzl S (2019) Telemedicine in Palliative Care: Implementation of New Technologies to Overcome Structural Challenges in the Care of Neurological Patients. Front. Neurol. 10:510. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00510 **Methods:** A prospective explorative single arm pilot trial was implemented to provide a mobile telesystem for 5 SPC teams. The opportunity was given to consult an expert in neuropalliative care at the specialized center in the hospital (24/7). Semistructured interviews were conducted with the physicians of the SPC teams after a trial duration of 9 months.

Results: Our data provides strong evidence that the technical structure applied in this project allows a reasonable neurological examination at distance. Qualitative interviews indicate a major impact on the quality of work for the SPC teams and on the quality of care for neurological patients.

Conclusion: The system proves to be useful and is well accepted by the SPC teams. It supplies a structure that can be transported to other disciplines.

Keywords: neurological, telemedicine, neuropalliative care, specialized outpatient palliative care team, videoconsultation

BACKGROUND

A multidisciplinary palliative care approach improves patient's quality of life and symptoms in advanced neurological diseases (1). End of life care in neurological diseases is often challenging since disease trajectories are less predictable compared to cancer patients (2). Furthermore, either the palliative care expertise might be lacking in neurologists or the neurological expertise be missing in palliative care experts (3).

Outpatient Palliative Care services are a multidisciplinary approach with a network around the core team. A specialized outpatient palliative care (SPC) support which enables patients to stay at home is currently seen as the most appropriate form of palliative care. Usually, the neurological expertise is lacking in SPC teams which makes it difficult to handle patients with either neurological diseases or neurological symptoms. In most countries no regulated approach to a neurological consultant in an outpatient setting is established.

Owing to the increased awareness of the benefits of palliative care for non-cancer patients, telemedicine might provide a solution to cope with the growing requirements in the health care system. It enables the provision of expert medical opinion over long distances and can transport the support to virtually any place. It offers the opportunity to enhance quality and capacity of medical care (4). Especially in rural areas a lack of experts due to a lack of human resources could be overcome by providing expertise via telemedicine. It gives the possibility to monitor patients with advanced illnesses at home (5).

Here we describe an established system that provides the opportunity to consult an expert in neurology/neuropalliative care via a teleconference app.

METHODS

Study Design

A single center, multi-site, non-randomized trial was conducted at a Bavarian Neurological Medical Centre with expertise in neuropalliative care. Five teams were equipped with a mobile telesystem to consult an expert in neuropalliative care at the specialized center (24/7). The mobile telesystem allows a videoconsultation between the patient at home and the medical center. Patients had to meet the following criteria: (1) to be attended by one of the five selected specialized outpatient palliative care teams with a (2) diagnosis of a neurological disease or having a cancer diagnosis suffering from neurological symptoms. Ethics were approved by University Ethics committee (Nr. 17-068) and the study was registered at the DRKS.

Each team selected has been equipped with a mobile teleconsultation device consisting of a mobile phone with a high resolution camera (Samsung Galaxy S6) supplemented by a mobile WIFI router and a small tripod (see **Figure 1A**). Additionally, a WIFI router which offers the opportunity to generate a wireless LAN, has been supplied.

The videoconference software (MEYDOC[®]) is installed on the mobile device as an app. The acquired software ensures high data integrity providing a point to point communication with authenticated endpoints, the server is used only for call control procedure and an end to end encryption is used. The teleconsultation equipment at the medical center consists of a laptop with the videoconference software installed.

Intervention

Teleconsultations are held on demand. When the outpatient team identifies a symptom which is difficult to control, a call is made to the expert medical center for an appointment.

Depending on the acuteness of the problem the teleconsultation usually is scheduled within the next 1 to 5 days. Generally, the teleconsultations can be scheduled beforehand. However, emergency calls are possible (24 h/day). The screen to screen contact is built up between the patient's home and the specialist in the medical center. The hospital-based neurological team consists of two neurologists (one having major expertise in neuropalliative care). A physician or a nurse of the specialized palliative outpatient team is involved by joining the video consultations at the patient's home.

For data analysis we have used a mixed methods approach. Quantitative data: We have documented personal data of the patients, the neurological diagnosis, main neurological symptoms, and the technical quality of the teleconsultation (ranking by the physicians at the medical center on a NRS 1-5). For qualitative analysis we have used a semistructured interview guide (see **Table 1a**).

After a trial duration of 9 months the researchers conducted five semi-structured ethnographic interviews with the leading physician of each specialized palliative care team. The interviews were recorded, transcribed and anonymized. They were subjected to a pragmatic thematic analysis of the content conducted by CW and KL.

RESULTS

Specialized Outpatient Palliative Care Teams–Selection and Characterization

We asked seven SPC teams in Bavaria to participate. Finally, five teams agreed to participate (One team never answered the proposal. The other team already had the support of a neurologist.) The teams covered an area of about 7,250 km² (ranging from 317 to 2,370 km²) with a population density ranging from 113 inhabitants per km² to 4,713 inhabitants per km², employing from two to 5.4 physicians. In the five participating teams the specializations consist of anaesthisiologists (9), general practitioners (6), internists (7), and one geriatrician. In one team a neurologist stepped in during the ongoing trial.

Technical Feasibility

The first 26 videoconsultations were evaluated for their technical quality. A stable connection with a satisfactory quality of the visual and acoustic components even in rural areas is feasible using the dual phone card solution and the mobile wireless LAN router (NRS 2). In two cases problems occurred with the audio line. In some cases the pre-existing wireless LAN of the patient's home was utilized. Redialling was sometimes necessary to establish the connection. However, in every case a teleneurological consultation with sufficient quality to determine the acute problems and to make a neurological assessment was possible.

Quantitative Data

Until March 2018, 37 teleconsultations were held concerning 21 patients. Eleven of the consultations were conducted via telephone, 26 consultations via videoconference. **Figure 1B**



shows the number of patients co-supervised per team varying from nine to two patients. In 48% of the cases a re-consultation was conducted with up to 4 follow up consultations for one patient. Fourteen of the 21 patients were cared for by the SPC for neurological disorders. The other seven patients had an internal or oncological diagnosis and neurological symptoms. Half of the patients suffered from motor neuron disease, three of them from glioblastoma. The other four had Parkinson's disease, Progressive supranuclear palsy, a non-convulsive status epilepticus and unclassified dementia. **Figure 1C** shows the main neurological symptoms discussed in the video and telephone consultations from all of the 21 patients. The leading symptoms were dysphagia, hypersalivation, laryngospasm, spasticity, and epileptic seizures or non-convulsive status epilepticus.

Qualitative Data

A positive impact of the telemedical project for the teams and the patients is the core tenor of the interviews. The SPC teams perceived that the patients highly accepted a neurological telemedical visit. Recommended therapy procedures, discussed in the teleconsultation often led to efficient symptom control thereby improving patient's quality of life, as perceived by the SPC teams.

TABLE 1a | Interview guide.

Questions

1) How did you handle neurological problems prior the participation in the trial?

2) Did the project influence your job satisfaction?

3) Did the project modify your daily job activity? If yes, how did it change your work?

4) How do you estimate your knowledge concerning neurological problems prior to and post-trial participation?

5) Did you have problems with the technology, which were the most disturbing ones?

6) Did you think there was a problem with the patient's acceptance of the telemedical system?

7) Do you have any suggestions for the next trial stage?

8) Miscellaneous

Even if there has been no improvement with the suggested treatment, the fact that everything possible was done by consulting a specialist, has been significant enough to have a positive effect on the patient's satisfaction. Physicians experience an obvious increase in the satisfaction with the quality of their work. SPC teams feel safer having a neurological

TABLE 1b | Quotes of the semistructured interviews.

Patient's acceptance of the neurological telemedical screen to screen visit	"if we inform patients that we want to consult a neurologist, who is unable to come in person but joins us via a videoconference, patients are actually enthusiastic" (interview C, line 57–58)
	"they rather thought this was a really good idea and were excited, because when suffering from ALS or MS they no longer manage to visit the resident neurologist."(interview D, line 192–194)
Symptom control by recommended therapy	"Patient X she lived quite a long time with a significant increase in mobility and was ver satisfied and extremely thankful." (interview C, line 15)
The fact that everything possible was done by consulting a specialist	"patients are highly satisfied also because they feel comprehensively cared for." (interview A, line 41)
Satisfaction with the quality of their work increases in the SPC teams	"where a new neurological symptom supervenes and I feel incapable of making the right diagnosis and initiating the accurate therapy it is really brilliant for this."(interview C, line 34–37)
	"in other cases there were fewer consequences (<i>therapeutically</i>), but we got certainty"(interview C, line 11–12)
Clear structures make it easier to discuss neurological problems	"if we have a reasonable initial suspicion" (interview C, line 23-24).
	"It was extremely helpful, we may never have solved such questions" (interview D, line 125–126).
The visual component is a key feature of the system	" asking you without inhibitions, and not only calling and describing, but really displaying, having you with us in the living room (<i>via camera</i>)" (interview D, line 26–27).

telemedical background. There was no clear structure in handling neurological/neuropalliative questions in any of the teams prior to the participation in this trial. Strategies used before the telemedical application included asking the residential neurologists or the nearest neurological department, reading books and making treatment decisions on their own. Therefore, using the telemedical application even these structures for the teams have been improved. The project changed the awareness of neurological symptoms, it resulted in a faster consultation. It has been highly acknowledged to have a contact person with neuropalliative care expertise. To further point out: a key feature of the telemedical approach with a huge significance is the visual component of the consultation.

Suggestions for technical improvement were a bigger display for the videosystem at the patient's side and the request for a timely fixed consultation hour beyond the videoconsultations, for short discussions concerning neurological symptoms or medications (quotes of the interviews are listed in **Table 1b**).

DISCUSSION

In this small pilot study we have been able to show for the first time that telemedical support for SPC teams with a focus on neurological patients or neurological symptoms in oncology patients is technically feasible and supports the team's treatment. It enables the teams to get rapid access to neurological and neuropalliative care expertise without losing contact to the patient. Until now, there was no clear structure in the teams in dealing with these issues which often caused troubles since neurological expertise is usually only available during hospital treatment. However, since patients with progressed neurological diseases are usually bedridden and have severe communication problems they are frequently difficult to transport to a hospital or even a palliative care unit. Telemedical consultation therefore enabled the patient to stay at home and the SPC team to be the primary provider of care using expert opinion on demand. This also strengthened the relationship between the patient and the SPC team.

Patients with a neurological diagnosis are seldom cared for by SPC teams. Due to the growing awareness of the usefulness of a multidisciplinary palliative approach in progressive neurological conditions, we suggest a growing number of neurological patients in the specialized outpatient teams. The telemedical project offered clearly defined consultance structures which also improved the quality of work and job satisfaction of the SPC teams. The interviews with the physicians report a high acceptance of the telemedical application by the patients. It is important to point out that in some cases where we couldn't add much to symptom control, only the patient's awareness of comprehensive medical care brought benefit to the patient. To get an unbiased view of patient's acceptance further interviews with the patients and caregivers have to be performed. The offered system, especially because of the possibility of a visual way of appraisal, yields more safety in the care for neurological palliative outpatients. Furthermore, the system is small, easy to carry and it stands out due to a simple application.

Since this is a pilot trial, the number of patients is too small for statistical analysis. Not surprising is the fact that half of the patients with a neurological diagnosis cared for by SPC teams suffer from ALS. This is one of the few neurological diagnoses where the need and the benefit of a palliative support is already comprehensively proven (7). Therefore, the main symptoms discussed in the videoconsultations were pseudohypersalivation, laryngospasm/choking fits, dyspnoea, and spasticity.

The concentration on neurological and neuropalliative care questions and the encompassed needs in a palliative situation proves successful. A comprehensive palliative care approach can be difficult to provide via telemedicine as shown in a telemedical approach for pediatric palliative care (6). Further application might provide access to specialist in cardiac or pulmonary care (8). The system we offer works even in rural area. The technical construction (two mobile cards and the WIFI router) is stable enough even with a low bandwidth. As a future task, we are currently preparing to include more SPC teams as we have seen that based on the amount for videoconsultation we can provide our knowledge to an even larger number of teams. The suggested improvements (bigger display of the videotool and a consultation hour) will be implemented.

In conclusion, the qualitative interviews suggest that expert neurological and neuropalliative consultation is helpful in SPC teams concerning patients quality of life and the quality of work for the SPC teams. Our telemedical approach offers technical components which are easy to handle and have stable communication lines even in remote areas. The telemedical "home visitation" of a specialized neurologist has been well accepted by the teams. It provides an easy and effective way of symptom discussion and treatment evaluation. Further research is needed to explore telemedical applications in palliative care consultations.

REFERENCES

- Oliver DJ, Borasio GD, Caraceni A, de Visser M, Grisold W, Lorenzl S, et al. A consensus review on the development of palliative care for patients with chronic and progressive neurological disease. *Eur J Neurol.* (2016) 23:30–8. doi: 10.1111/ene.12889
- Moens K, Houttekier D, Van den Block L, Harding R, Morin LMarchetti S. Place of death of people living with Parkinson's disease: a population-level study in 11 countries. *BMC Palliat Care*. (2015) 14:28. doi: 10.1186/s12904-015-0021-3
- van Vliet LM, Gao W, DiFrancesco D, Crosby V, Wilcock A, Byrne A, et al. How integrated are neurology and palliative care services? Results of a multicentre mapping exercise. *BMC Neurology*. (2016) 16:63. doi: 10.1186/s12883-016-0583-6
- 4. Wass S, Vimarlund V. I got 99 problems, and eHealth is one. *Stud Health Technol Inform.* (2017) 245:258–62. doi: 10.3233/978-1-61499-830-3-258
- Gomes B, Calanzani N, Curiale V, McCrone P, Higginson IJ. Effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of home palliative care services for adults with advanced illness and their caregivers. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2013) 6:CD007760. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD007760.pub2
- 6. Bradford NK, Young J, Armfield NR, Herbert A, Smith AC. Home telehealth and paediatric palliative care: clinician perceptions of what

ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethics committee Ludwig Maximilians University Munich. 17-068, 6.6.17. Written informed consent was obtained from all participants in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CW and SL are the Researchers in the Project. The Project was initiated by SL and CW was part of the Project from the beginning. KL and CW evaluated the qualitative Research part.

FUNDING

This project was funded in total by the Bavarian State Ministry of Health and Care Services.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Helen Salcher for her support in English.

is stopping us? BMC Palliat Care. (2014) 13:29. doi: 10.1186/1472-6 84X-13-29

- Bede P, Oliver D, Stodart J, van den Berg L, Simmons Z, O Brannagáin D, et al. Palliative care in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a review of current international guidelines and initiatives. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry*. (2011) 4:413–8. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.2010.232637
- Barken TL, Thygesen E, Söderhamn U. Unlocking the limitations: living with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and receiving care through telemedicine-A phenomenological study. J Clin Nurs. (2018) 27:132–42. doi: 10.1111/jocn.13857

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Weck, Lex and Lorenzl. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Practical Management of Epileptic Seizures and Status Epilepticus in Adult Palliative Care Patients

Wenke Grönheit^{1,2*}, Stoyan Popkirov², Tim Wehner^{1,2}, Uwe Schlegel² and Jörg Wellmer^{1,2}

¹ Ruhr-Epileptology, Department of Neurology, University Hospital Bochum, Bochum, Germany, ² Department of Neurology, University Hospital Bochum, Bochum, Germany

In terminally ill patients, paroxysmal or episodic changes of consciousness, movements and behavior are frequent. Due to ambiguous appearance, the correct diagnosis of epileptic seizures (ES) and non-epileptic events (NEE) is often difficult. Treatment is frequently complicated by the underlying condition, and an approach indicated in healthier patients may not always be appropriate in the palliative care setting. This article provides recommendations for diagnosis of ES and NEE and treatment options for ES in adult palliative care patients, including aspects of alternative administration routes for antiepileptic drugs such as intranasal, subcutaneous, or rectal application.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Raymond Voltz, Uniklinik Köln, Germany

Reviewed by:

Teneille Emma Gofton, University of Western Ontario, Canada Jan Rémi, Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München, Germany

*Correspondence:

Wenke Grönheit wenke.groenheit@kk-bochum.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Neurocritical and Neurohospitalist Care, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

> **Received:** 29 April 2018 **Accepted:** 04 July 2018 **Published:** 02 August 2018

Citation:

Grönheit W, Popkirov S, Wehner T, Schlegel U and Wellmer J (2018) Practical Management of Epileptic Seizures and Status Epilepticus in Adult Palliative Care Patients. Front. Neurol. 9:595. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00595 Keywords: palliative care, epilepsy, epileptic seizures, end of life, status epilepticus, non-convulsive status

INTRODUCTION

Patients may require palliative care for several conditions. These are not only end stage systemic cancer including primary brain tumors and cerebral metastases, but also ischemic stroke, intracerebral hemorrhage, neurodegenerative diseases, and non-neurological conditions such as terminal liver, kidney, or respiratory failure. Many of these carry an increased risk for epilepsy and epileptic seizures (ES) or non-epileptic events (NEE, defined as paroxysmal or episodic changes of consciousness, movement and/or behavior) (1–4).

Both ES and NEE present an important challenge in the already complex interaction with palliative patients. Differential diagnosis and treatment can be difficult. Events are not always witnessed by professionals and even if so, focal seizures with reduced awareness and automatisms can be mistaken for delirium or agitation (5). If patients are found in a state of impaired consciousness, several reasons are possible, too, such as a postictal state, non-convulsive status epilepticus (NCSE), dehydration, metabolic dysfunction, or new intracerebral pathology such as ischemic stroke or hemorrhage. In elderly patients who are increasingly represented among palliative patients, event duration as a distinguishing feature is less useful than in young patients due to longer lasting postictal periods of impaired consciousness or focal neurological deficits (4, 6). The ability of patients to report subjective symptoms which might facilitate differentiation can be reduced in palliative patients.

Treatment with antiepileptic drugs (AEDs) including benzodiazepines requires careful consideration in palliative patients since they may have prolonged sedative effect. This can even obscure the diagnosis (7, 8). Nevertheless, if patients are confirmed to have epilepsy, anticonvulsive treatment is usually indicated, however, in palliative patients in particular the burden of side effects has to be balanced against the benefit of reduction of seizure frequency and severity (9). In palliative care side effects can be especially strong due to drug-drug interactions, impaired metabolism and systemic comorbidities (9–11). Cognitive or sedative side effects can rob palliative patient's

139

remaining autonomy and negatively affect quality of life. Reliable routes of AED administration (which need to maintain constant blood level) is a particular challenge in patients with dysphagia and/or impaired consciousness.

The following sections provide recommendations for the differential diagnosis of ES and NEE and for treatment of ES in patients under palliative conditions.

DIAGNOSTICS

Semiology

Seizure semiology, the description of ictal signs and symptoms, is the most important diagnostic tool in epileptology. Characteristic semiological elements and their sequence can be used to ascertain the epileptic etiology of seizures (or NEE in turn) and to guide further diagnostic and treatment (12).

Since studies on seizure semiology in the palliative care setting are lacking, findings in elderly patients may be a helpful approximation. In a prospective study comparing young and elderly epilepsy patients, Stefan et al. found less clonic elements and a higher proportion of non-convulsive status epilepticus in elderly patients. In the light of more differential diagnoses, this leads to frequent misdiagnosis in particular in first manifestations of seizures (4, 13, 14).

Sheth et al. described that in elderly patients with ictal confusion the correct diagnosis was made only late $(31 \pm 30 \text{ h}, \text{range: } 1-140)$ (14). Patients often appeared bewildered, had impaired attention and concentration, or had impairment of goal-directed action. Speech was reduced to simple semiautomatic phrases or gestures. Subtle ictal manifestations included a subtle gaze preference and low amplitude fragmentary myoclonic jerks, typically in the face, eyelids, or hands, and at times associated with hand automatisms.

Studies assessing symptoms in palliative care patients tend to report a relatively small prevalence of ES, but impaired consciousness of unspecified cause is very common with occurrences in up to 90% of cases (15). This discrepancy might indicate a high number of unrecognized seizures. Therefore, ictal or post-ictal states should be considered an important differential diagnosis of unexplained drowsiness.

As patient's descriptions may have limitations owing to their level of consciousness, the observer's description is frequently the only available source of information for physicians (16). Subtle semiologies are often not recognized and therefore remain unreported. Witnesses of seizures may use misleading descriptions of what they saw (17–19). And in palliative care patient's symptoms may often appear less "textbook-like" than in healthier patients. Therefore, every attempt should be made to get as close as possible to the actual semiology of the event. Beniczky et al. reported that accuracy in diagnosis is higher when resulting from a dialogue between physician and patients or witnesses, respectively, compared to when symptoms are only reported (20). Recording characteristic episodes by smartphone videos is a valuable aid, too. To document the level of consciousness patients should be addressed verbally in the video sequence as recommended for video-EEG monitoring (21).

Technical Examination

Ideally, in palliative patients the diagnosis will be made at the patient's place of care without hospital admission. Yet, in some instances electroencephalography (EEG) may be required to make the correct diagnosis. In particular the diagnosis of NCSE is facilitated by EEG (22–24). EEG patterns of NCSE can be highly variable and sometimes difficult to distinguish from encephalopathy, and clinically suspected NCSE without typical EEG pattern are common (25). Sometimes only the combination of EEG and time limited treatment trial (see below) clarifies the situation. Since NCSE can fluctuate prolonged EEG recording can be necessary (26).

The diagnostic value of short term (routine) EEG in palliative care is difficult to rate, because EEG in elderly patients (and probably in palliative patients, too) rarely shows normal findings, instead focal slowing with or without epileptic discharges is frequent (27). Absence of epileptic discharges, on the other hand, does not exclude epilepsy.

If EEG shows clear epileptiform discharges, the risk for seizure recurrence is considerably higher and the diagnosis of epilepsy might be made after only one seizure [practical definition of epilepsy; (28)]. However, EEG readers should be aware that the combination of a NEE and an overinterpreted EEG (e.g., mistaking sleep signs as epileptiform discharges) may lead to a misdiagnosis and avoidable use of AED. Therefore, before application of EEG the clinical assessment of the event in question is of paramount importance.

MRI is the most sensitive imaging method regarding epileptogenic lesions (29). In palliative patients with newonset seizures, imaging could in fact reveal brain metastases, meningeosis, brain tumor progression, or stroke or verify metastases of already diagnosed systemic cancer (10). Yet, in patients in palliative setting MRI only needs to be performed if recognition of brain pathology had therapeutic consequences. Computed tomography (CT) may be less sensitive for the above pathologies, but will reveal most of the relevant reasons, like gross tumors or brain edema, and is much less time consuming and less of a burden for the patients. Therefore it might be more adequate in these patients.

Laboratory testing has some relevance in the differential diagnosis of ES and NEE. The focus is, however, more on detecting conditions that mimic ES such as dysglycaemia, electrolyte imbalance, hyperammonemia, anemia rather than on verifying epileptic seizures. Postictal creatine kinase (CK) elevation in serum is helpful only after generalized tonic clonic seizures (GTCS), but in palliative patients the reliability of CK elevation after GTCS is unknown due to often reduced muscle mass. CK in general can be substantially lower in the elderly (30).

Abbreviations: ES, epileptic seizure; NEE, non-epileptic event; AED, Antiepileptic drugs; NCSE, non-convulsive status epilepticus; EEG, Electroencephalography; CT, Computed tomography; CK, Creatine Kinase; SE, status epilepticus; GTCS, generalized tonic clonic seizure; QoL, Quality of life; ICU, intensive care unit; SQ, subcutaneous; IV, intravenous; IM, intramuscular; LEV, levetiracetam; LTG, lamotrgin; BRV, brivaracetam; PB, phenobarbital; VPA, valproic acid; LCM, lacosamide; TPM, topiramate; CBZ, carbamazepine; NG, nasogastric; PEG, percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy.

Serum prolactin measurement has no use in the palliative care setting.

Measuring AED blood levels is useful in cases when drug intoxication is part of the differential diagnosis [e.g., valproic acid (VPA) intoxication vs. NCSE], but this is rare and regular blood sampling should be avoided in the palliative setting.

In case of doubt concerning semiology based differential diagnosis and the application of technical examinations it might be helpful to get the opinion of an epileptologist though undoubtedly, in some cases a precise diagnosis might remain impossible.

Antiepileptic Therapy

Seizures interfering with Quality of life (QoL) should be treated, though anticonvulsive treatment *per se* should not impair QoL. We propose the following principles to guide anticonvulsive treatment in epilepsy patients in the palliative care setting:

Respecting Patient Resources and Wishes

Brom et al. found 93% of the patients in the palliative setting prefer to share responsibility with their physician in clinical decision making (31). Because cognitive problems may hamper communication and thus shared decision-making as brain diseases progress, advanced planning is crucial (15).

Target Levels of QoL

Treatment regimes should be chosen to protect or improve activities of everyday life that are important to the individual patient (e.g., not accepting daytime sleepiness for complete seizure freedom).

Considering the Current and Future Requirements of Therapy

Avoiding interactions with medications used to control other symptoms (e.g., steroids, palliative chemotherapy) (10) and between AED themselves.

Ensuring Practicality

Choosing application forms easily applicable by the patients themselves, family and caregivers. Since disease progress and/or symptom fluctuations can make swallowing of tablets or capsules difficult temporarily or permanently, treatment plans should enable flexibility in this respect to avoid acute withdrawals.

The threshold for seizure medication cessation in the end of life-setting should vary according to the kind of pre-existing epilepsy (low threshold for single post-stroke seizure a year ago vs. high threshold for long-standing structural epilepsy.) However, this is a highly individual decision in all cases, even if comprehensive medical records are available and may be approached using a shared decision making process involving the patient and caregivers.

Acute Management of Seizures and Convulsive Status Epilepticus

As most epileptic seizures are self-terminating, there is no need to apply acute anticonvulsive treatment during or after every seizure. This accounts for a first in lifetime seizure in palliative patients, too. The rationale behind this is that, in addition to postictally impaired consciousness and a potential acute seizure cause, AED, in particular benzodiazepines, may impair consciousness—sometimes for days. Acute administration of AED in palliative patients should thus be restricted to status epilepticus (SE) or series of seizures.

While the current definition of status epilepticus applies to palliative epilepsy patients (32), not all treatment recommendations can be transferred.

Patients should be acutely treated when a generalized seizure lasts longer than 5 min (so-called continuous seizure activity, or early SE) or two or more seizures occur without regaining preictal level of consciousness in between events (32, 33). Choice of treatment of SE will depend on the patient's location: hospital, hospice, or home care.

In either setting, the first step of treatment (0-10 min) is administration of benzodiazepines. Due to its pharmacokinetic characteristics (e.g., long antiepileptic effect conditional on slow redistribution in the body fat), lorazepam is often preferred as initial treatment of SE (33). Alternatively, midazolam has been proven equally effective (34).

Formal recommendations for starting doses in a palliative situation do not exist, but application of lower doses of benzodiazepines, if necessary repeated, may be preferable over the initial application of the maximum recommended dose. Future research should address if in the specific setting of palliative patients, the initial application of non-sedating, easily applicable fast acting AED such as levetiracetam (LEV) or brivaracetam (BRV) may prove advantageous.

Hospital Setting

Intravenous status therapy and even intensive care treatment can be reasonable acknowledging that early beginning of treatment increases the chance of seizure termination (35). Therefore, first steps of in-hospital treatment of SE in the palliative situation can be adopted from the general treatment recommendations for SE (**Table 1**). In established SE (10–60 min), intravenous drugs [e.g., phenytoin/fosphenytoin, valproate (VPA), LEV, phenobarbital (PB)] are most commonly used, although there is no class I evidence for choosing one over the other (33). Among those VPA, LEV, and lastly additional lacosamide (LCM) seem to be effective and safe alternatives (33).

The idea of palliative care is to balance noninvasive treatment and avoiding delays in optimal (but invasive) therapies (e.g., deduced from ICU treatment of patients with cancer: "unlimited ICU support for a limited time period"), respecting the patient's wishes (36). Knowing refractory and super-refractory SE are treated with anesthetics with a markedly lower success rate and a high morbidity and mortality (33, 37), it seems difficult to apply these principles to the palliative care setting. In some cases "palliative sedation" using benzodiazepines (or alternatively propofol) might alleviate symptoms even if epileptic activity persists.

Hospice/Home Care Setting

In SE in children, intranasal or buccal midazolam or lorazepam or IM- midazolam have been found to be at least equally effective as the IV or rectal form (34, 38–43). Although data in adults are

limited (34, 44) the differences among various non-intravenous routes are likely to be small. The non-IV application forms of benzodiazepines can be administered by family members or carers and are thus a valuable tool in the therapy of SE in a hospice or home care setting where the IV-route is typically not available (**Table 1**) (45).

In patients with recurrent episodes of prolonged seizures or SE, benzodiazepines should be administered as early as possible to shorten the seizure. Addressing practical issues, lorazepam has been shown to be stable at room temperature $(20-25^{\circ}C)$ for at least 0.8 months (46). Although it showed some chemical degradation after 60 days, the concentration of the active metabolite remained at acceptable levels. Midazolam was found to be stable for 60 days (47). Therefor these medications can be kept at the patient's bedside to allow fast administration if necessary. This is of particular relevance as seizure frequency increases in the last weeks of life (48).

TABLE 1 | Administration routes and characteristics of antiepileptic drugs relevant for palliative care.

AED	Daily Dose	Special consideration for palliative care	IV	Liquid solution	Suspension	Tablet
Brivaracetam (BRV)	50–200 mg	Mild CYP3A4 metabolism. Probably no clinical relevant interactions	+	+	_	+
Carbamazepine (CBZ)	600–2000 mg	Dizziness, nausea, ataxia Effective for neuralgic pain (200-400 mg/d), decreases: VPA, TPM, LTG, neuroleptics, antimycotic agents, antidepressant drugs, steroid level Increases: diazepam level and effective CBZ- Metabolite Is decreased by: PHT Is increased by: Theophyllin, Cisplatin	-	+	+	+
Eslicarbazepine (ESL)	800–1600 mg (max. 1200 mg when combined with other AED)	Dizziness, gait disturbance, ataxia, hyponatremia Is decreased by: PHT, CBZ Increases: PHT	-	-	-	+
Gabapentin (GBP)	900–3000 mg	Sedation (especially in combination with opioids), therapy of neuropathic pain (900 mg/d) Is increased by: morphine	-	+	+	+
Lacosamide (LCM)	100–600 mg (max. 400 mg when combined with other AEDs)	Dizziness No relevant interactions	+	+	+	+
Lamotrigine (LTG)	100–300 mg	Tremor, sedation (rare), sleep disturbance,, mood stabilizing effect. Very slow titration necessary Is decreased by: CBZ, PHT Is increased by: VPA	_	-	+	+
Levetiracetam (LEV)	1000–3000 mg (–4000 mg off-label) mg	Sedation (rare), psychiatric side effects No relevant interactions	+	+	+	+
Oxcarbazepine (OXC)	900–2400 mg	Dizziness, nausea, ataxia (less often when the slow release form is used), hyponatraemia	-	+	+	+
Perampanel (PER)	4–12 mg	Dizziness, somnolence Is decreased by: CBZ, OXC, TPM Decreases: CBZ, OXC, VPA	-	-	-	+
Phenytoin (PHT)	200–350 mg	Dizziness, allergy. Potentially complicated titration Decreases: steroid level	+	-	+	+
Pregabalin (PGB)	150–600 mg	Sedation. No relevant interactions Anxiolytic effect.	-	+	+	+
Topiramate (TPM)	50–200 mg	Sedation, fatigue, lack of appetite, weight loss, paraesthesia, speech disturbances No relevant interactions	-	-	+	+
Valproate (VPA)	1200–2400 mg	Tremor, encephalopathy, mood stabilizing effect. Enzyme inhibition (leading e.g., to increased toxicity of chemotherapy).	+	+	+	+

Non Convulsive Status Epilepticus (NCSE)

Samala et al. noted that in terminally ill patients, successful treatment of NCSE can restore the ability to communicate, facilitate goals of care discussion and positively impact QoL (49). Lorenzl et al. shared this opinion in lining out that the most notable effect of treating NCSE was regaining the ability to communicate (50). Because NCSE is potentially responsive to therapy, treatment should be considered in all patients and started as soon as (50) possible.

As outlined above, diagnosing NCSE or SE in the palliative care setting can be challenging. Drislane et al proposed to include the response to anticonvulsant as a diagnostic criteria, in addition to the semiological and EEG features discussed above (51). Therefore, probatory therapy seems to be a reasonable approach in the palliative setting, given that a prolonged confusional state following a GTCS might in fact be due to ongoing NCSE and a history of epilepsy is a risk factor for this condition as well.

The initial treatment of NCSE does not differ from the approach outlined for GCSE outlined above. The first step should be the administration of a benzodiazepine followed by LEV, LCM, or VPA, if necessary. In a palliative situation, these drugs may be administered orally, sublingually, via an NG or PEG tube, or subcutaneously [(50), **Table 2**].

Application Forms of AEDs

Dysphagia is a common symptom in neurological and oncological patients (15, 52). Independent of the underlying disease, swallowing might be affected by a reduced level of alertness, inattention, and muscular weakness. Therefore, it is helpful if an AED can be administered as an oral liquid, subcutaneously, or rectally.

Subcutaneous AED Application

Subcutaneous (SQ) administration of LEV has been shown to be safe and effective as a continuous infusion via a syringe driver (250–4000 mg/d, dosage equal to prior oral route), or intermittent bolus diluted in 100 ml 0.9% sodium chloride every 12 h over 30 min. In 20 prospectively examined patients, 7 showed seizure activity under SQ administration, leading to an increase of the SQ dose or addition of a benzodiazepine (53). Rémi et al. identified 20 patients treated with SQ LEV without adverse reaction at the infusion. In 16 patients (80%), no further seizures were noticed or SE was terminated (54).

Moreover, Rémi et al. described one patient receiving SQ LCM. According to the former oral dosage, 200 mg of the undiluted LCM solution over 10 min SQ twice a day was administered and well tolerated. Serum levels were in the recommended range and their course comparable to oral administration (55).

Rectal AED Application

The rational of rectal antiepileptic administration is avoidance of hepatic first pass effect due to rectal venous drain. Anderson et al. suggest rectal administration to be feasible for short term administration of carbamazepine (CBZ), lamotrigine (LTG), LEV, PB, topiramate (TPM), and VPA (56).

Birnbaum et al. found compressed LTG to be rectally absorbed and well tolerated in 12 healthy adults (57). Chewable dispersible

TABLE 2 Proposal for (convulsive) SE treatment in palliative care [partially taken from (33)].				
		Hospital	Hospice/home care	Outcome
Stage 1 5–10 minutes	Early phase Premonitory SE, Impending SE	Lorazepam IV 0.05 mg/kg max. 2 mg/minute, if necessary repeat after 5 minutes	Midazolam buccal or intranasal 0.2 mg/kg (5–10 mg) or Lorazepam buccal or intranasal 0.05 mg/kg or 10 mg IM-midazolam Repeat if necessary	better
Stage 2 10–30 minutes	Established SE	Levetiracetam 30-60 mg/kg IV max. 500 mg/minute, if necessary repeat after 10 minutes and/or additional lacosamide 5 mg/kg IV in 15 minutes <i>Alternative stage 2:</i> Valproate 20-30 mg/kg IV max. 10 mg/kg/minute, if necessary repeat after 10 minutes	In absence of IV route: 1000–2000 mg levetiracetam in 100 ml 0.9% sodium chloride over 30 minutes SQ if necessary additional: 200 mg lacosamide over 20 minutes SQ Repeat if necessary, or repeat benzodiazepine administration	
Stage 3 30–60 minutes	Refractory SE: SE, that continues despite stage I/II treatment, subtle SE, stuporous SE	midazolam bolus 0.2 mg/kg IV, continuously 0.1–0.5 mg/kg/h or propofol bolus 2 mg/kg IV, continuously 4–10 mg/kg/h	consider palliative sedation	
Stage 4 >24 h	Super refractory SE: SE, that continues despite treatment with an esthetics $>24\mathrm{h}$	consider palliative sedation	consider palliative sedation	worse

LTG was tested likewise in 12 healthy adults but was not absorbed to the same extent compared to oral administration (58).

Conway et al. showed TPM to be absorbed to a similar extent as the oral dosage when administered rectally in 10 healthy adults (59).

Stockis et al. monitored pharmacokinetic data during targeted delivery of LEV to the colon (60). Systemic bioavailability after application in the ascending colon was comparable to oral administration. This suggests that LEV may be administered rectally (56).

VPA has been shown to be highly absorbed (80%) after rectal administration in healthy adults. Its peak serum concentration was \sim 30% lower and achieved 2.1 h later when compared to oral intake (3.1 vs. 1 h) (61). Multiple studies and case series demonstrate its clinical practicability and effectiveness (61–65).

It is important to note that many of these recommendations, although widely used, are off-label, and patients and caregivers should be informed accordingly.

CONCLUSION

ES are a relevant clinical problem in a palliative care setting that may affect the patient's QoL. They thus require adequate supportive care and treatment. Timely recognition and adequate out of hospital management may prevent unnecessary hospital admissions for uncontrolled seizures (66). In line with the general philosophy of palliative care, seizures should be addressed like

REFERENCES

- Beghi E, Carpio A, Forsgren L, Hesdorffer DC, Malmgren K, Sander JW, et al. Recommendation for a definition of acute symptomatic seizure. *Epilepsia* (2010) 51:671–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2009.02285.x
- Clouston PD, DeAngelis LM, Posner JB. The spectrum of neurological disease in patients with systemic cancer. Ann Neurol. (1992) 31:268–73. doi: 10.1002/ana.410310307
- Fritz L, Dirven L, Reijneveld JC, Koekkoek JAF, Stiggelbout AM, Pasman HRW, et al. Advance care planning in glioblastoma patients. *Cancers* (2016) 8:1–9. doi: 10.3390/cancers8110102
- Stefan H, May T, Pfäfflin M, Brandt C, Füratsch N, Schmitz B, et al. Epilepsy in the elderly: comparing clinical characteristics with younger patients. *Acta Neurol Scand.* (2014) 129:283–93. doi: 10.1111/ane.12218
- Sampson EL, White N, Lord K, Leurent B, Vickerstaff V, Scott S, et al. Pain, agitation, and behavioural problems in people with dementia admitted to general hospital wards: a longitudinal cohort study. *Pain* (2015) 156:675–83. doi: 10.1097/j.pain.000000000000095
- Cloyd J, Hauser W, Towne A, Ramsay R, Mattson R, Gilliam F, et al. Epidemiological and medical aspects of epilepsy in the elderly. *Epilepsy Res.* (2006) 68S:39–48. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2005.07.016
- Picton JD, Marino AB, Nealy KL. Benzodiazepine use and cognitive decline in the elderly. *Am J Heal Pharm.* (2018) 75:e6–12. doi: 10.2146/ajhp160381
- Manchester KR, Maskell PD, Lomas EC, Waters L, Dempsey FC. The emergence of new psychoactive substance (NPS) benzodiazepines: A review. *Drug Test Anal.* (2017) 10:1–17. doi: 10.1002/dta.2211
- Viteva EI. Seizure frequency and severity: How really important are they for the quality of life of patients with refractory epilepsy. *Ann Indian Acad Neurol.* (2014) 17:35–42. doi: 10.4103/0972-2327.128544
- Weller M, Stupp R, Wick W. Epilepsy meets cancer: when, why, and what to do about it? *Lancet Oncol.* (2012) 13:e375–82. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(12)70266-8

other symptoms that may cause discomfort or reduce QoL. The patient's wishes and needs should shape the anticonvulsant therapy as early as possible. Careful use of alternative AED administration routes can lead to a very individualized and practical therapy regime even in the last days of life. Seizure recognition, acute management, drug administration, and possible side effects are all areas where caregivers might benefit from education and training (3, 15).

What outstanding questions should be addressed by future research in this area? Randomized or controlled studies will be difficult to conduct in palliative care settings. Future research to improve seizure management should include pharmacokinetic studies on alternative administration routes combined with respective case series; descriptive studies on seizure semiology in the terminally ill; and studies on service provision regarding transdisciplinary communication.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

WG wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors (WG, SP, TW, US, and JW) revised the manuscript critically and approved the final version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We acknowledge support by the DFG Open Access publication funds of the Ruhr-Universität Bochum.

- Berto P. Quality of life in patients with epilepsy and impact of treatments. *Pharmacoeconomics* (2002) 20:1039–59. doi: 10.2165/00019053-200220150-00002
- Noachtar S, Peters AS. Semiology of epileptic seizures: a critical review. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2009) 15:2–9. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2009.02.029
- Beleza P, Rocha J, Pinho J. Diagnosis, etiology, and treatment of nonconvulsive status epilepticus, a semiological oriented review. *Neurologist* (2015) 19:160–7. doi: 10.1097/NRL.00000000000031
- Sheth RD, Drazkowski JF, Sirven JI, Gidal BE, Hermann BP. Protracted ictal confusion in elderly patients. *Arch Neurol.* (2006) 63:529–32. doi: 10.1001/archneur.63.4.529
- Ford E, Catt S, Chalmers A, Fallowfield L. Systematic review of supportive care needs in patients with primary malignant brain tumors. *Neuro Oncol.* (2012) 14:392–404. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/nor229
- Heo JH, Kim DW, Lee SY, Cho J, Lee SK, Nam H. Reliability of semiology description. *Neurologist* (2008) 14:7–11. doi: 10.1097/NRL.0b013e3181343cb4
- Chowdhury FA, Nashef L, Elwes RDC. Misdiagnosis in epilepsy: a review and recognition of diagnostic uncertainty. *Eur J Neurol.* (2008) 15:1034–42. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2008.02260.x
- Seneviratne U, Rajendran D, Brusco M, Phan TG. How good are we at diagnosing seizures based on semiology? *Epilepsia* (2012) 53:e63–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2011.03382.x
- Elger CE, Hoppe C. Personal View Diagnostic challenges in epilepsy: seizure under-reporting and seizure detection. *Lancet Neurol.* (2018) 17:279–88. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(18)30038-3
- Beniczky SA, Fogarasi A, Neufeld M, Andersen NB, Wolf P, Van Emde Boas W, et al. Seizure semiology inferred from clinical descriptions and from video recordings. How accurate are they ? *Epilepsy Behav.* (2012) 24:213–5. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2012.03.036
- Beniczky S, Neufeld M, Diehl B, Dobesberger J, Trinka E, Mameniskiene R, et al. Testing patients during seizures: a European consensus procedure developed by a joint taskforce of the ILAE – Commission on European Affairs

and the European Epilepsy monitoring unit association. *Epilepsia* (2016) 57:1363–8. doi: 10.1111/epi.13472

- Klass DW, Westmoreland BF. Nonepileptogenic epilepuform electroencephdographc activity. Ann Neurol. (1985) 18:627–35. doi: 10.1002/ana.410180602
- Benbadis SR, Lin K. Errors in EEG interpretation and misdiagnosis of epilepsy: which EEG patterns are overread? *Eur Neurol.* (2008) 59:267–71. doi: 10.1159/000115641
- Sam MC, So EL. Significance of epileptiform discharges in patients without epilepsy in the community. *Epilepsia* (2001) 42:1273–8. doi: 10.1046/j.1528-1157.2001.17101.x
- Jirsch J, Hirsch LJ. Nonconvulsive seizures: developing a rational approach to the diagnosis and management in the critically ill population. *Clin Neurophysiol.* (2007) 118:1660–70. doi: 10.1016/j.clinph.2006.11.312
- Pandian JD, Cascino GD, So EL, Manno E, Fulgham JR. Digital video-electroencephalographic monitoring in the neurologicalneurosurgical intensive care unit. *Arch Neurol.* (2004) 61:1090–4. doi: 10.1001/archneur.61.7.1090
- 27. Besser R. EEG bei Altersepilepsien. Z Epileptol. (2006) 19:6–10. doi: 10.1007/s10309-006-0159-3
- Fisher RS, Acevedo C, Arzimanoglou A, Bogacz A, Cross JH, Elger CE, et al. ILAE Official report: a practical clinical definition of epilepsy. *Epilepsia* (2014) 55:475–82. doi: 10.1111/epi.12550
- Wellmer J, Quesada CM, Rothe L, Elger CE, Bien CG, Urbach H. Proposal for a magnetic resonance imaging protocol for the detection of epileptogenic lesions at early outpatient stages. *Epilepsia* (2013) 54:1977–87. doi: 10.1111/epi.12375
- George MD, McGill N, Baker JF. Creatine kinase in the U.S. population. Medicine (2016) 95:e4344. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000004344
- Brom L, Pasman HRW, Widdershoven GAM, Vorst MJDL Van Der, Reijneveld JC, Postma TJ, et al. Patients' preferences for participation in treatment decision-making at the end of life: qualitative interviews with advanced cancer patients. *PLoS ONE* (2014) 9:e100435. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0100435
- 32. Glauser T, Shinnar S, Gloss D, Alldredge B, Arya R, Bainbridge J, et al. Evidence-based guideline: treatment of convulsive status epilepticus in children and adults: report of the guideline committee of the American epilepsy society. *Epilepsy Curr.* (2016) 16:48–61. doi: 10.5698/1535-7597-16.1.48
- Trinka E, Höfler J, Leitinger M, Brigo F. Pharmacotherapy for status epilepticus. Drugs (2015) 75:1499–521. doi: 10.1007/s40265-015-0454-2
- 34. Silbergleit R, Lowenstein D, Durkalski V, Conwit R. RAMPART (Rapid Anticonvulsant Medication Prior to Arrival Trial): a double-blind randomized clinical trial of the efficacy of IM midazolam versus IV lorazepam in the pre-hospital treatment of status epilepticus by paramedics. *Epilepsia* (2012) 52(Suppl 8):45–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2011.03235.x
- 35. Tradounsky G. Seizures in palliative care. Can Fam Physici. (2013) 59:951-5.
- Azoulay E, Soares M, Darmon M, Benoit D, Pastores S, Afessa B. Intensive care of the cancer patient: Recent achievements and remaining challenges. *Ann Intensive Care* (2011) 1:1–13. doi: 10.1186/2110-5820-1-5
- Trinka E, Cock H, Hesdorffer D, Rossetti AO, Scheffer IE, Shinnar S, et al. A definition and classification of status epilepticus – Report of the ILAE Task Force on Classification of Status Epilepticus. *Epilepsia* (2015) 56:1515–23. doi: 10.1111/epi.13121
- McIntyre J, Robertson S, Norris E, Appleton R, Whitehouse WP, Phillips B, et al. Safety and efficacy of buccal midazolam versus rectal diazepam for emergency treatment of seizures in children: a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* (2005) 366:205–10. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(05)66909-7
- Arya R, Gulati S, Kabra M, Sahu JK, Kalra V. Intranasal versus intravenous lorazepam for control of acute seizures in children: a randomized openlabel study. *Epilepsia* (2011) 52:788–93. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1167.2010.02 949.x
- McMullan J, Sasson C, Pancioli A, Silbergleit R. Midazolam versus Diazepam for the treatment of status Epilepticus in children and young adults: a meta-analysis. *Acad Emerg Med.* (2010) 17:575–82. doi: 10.1111/j.1553-2712.2010.00751.x
- 41. Appleton R, Macleod S, Martland T, Appleton R, Macleod S, Martland T. Drug management for acute tonic-clonic convulsions including convulsive

status epilepticus in children. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. (2008) CD001905. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD001905.pub2

- Scott RC, Besag FMC, Neville BGR. Buccal midazolam and rectal diazepam for treatment of prolonged seizures in childhood and adolescence: a randomised trial. *Lancet* (1999) 353:623–6. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(98)06425-3
- Ashrafi MR, Khosroshahi N, Karimi P, Malamiri RA, Bavarian B, Zarch AV, et al. Efficacy and usability of buccal midazolam in controlling acute prolonged convulsive seizures in children. *Eur J Paediatr Neurol.* (2010) 14:434–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ejpn.2010.05.009
- Nakken KO, Lossius MI. Buccal midazolam or rectal diazepam for treatment of residential adult patients with serial seizures or status epilepticus. *Acta Neurol Scand.* (2011) 124:99–103. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0404.2010.01474.x
- Silbergleit R, Lowenstein D, Durkalski V, Conwit R. Lessons from the RAMPART study – and which is the best route of administration of benzodiazepines in status epilepticus. *Epilepsia* (2014) 54:74–7. doi: 10.1111/epi.12284
- De Winter S, Vanbrabant P, Vi NTT, Deng X. Impact of temperature exposure on stability of drugs in a real-world out-of-hospital setting. *Ann Emerg Med.* (2004) 62:380–7. doi: 10.1016/j.annemergmed.2013.04.018
- McMullan J, Pinnawin A, Jones E, Denninghoff K, Siewart N, Spaite D, et al. The 60-Day Temperature-Dependent Degradation of Midazolam and Lorazepam in the Prehospital Environment. *Prehosp Emerg Care* (2013) 17:1–7. doi: 10.3109/10903127.2012.722177
- Sizoo EM, Koekkoek JAF, Postma TJ, Heimans JJ, Pasman HRW, Deliens L, et al. Seizures in patients with high-grade glioma: a serious challenge in the end-of-life phase. *BMJ Support Palliat Care* (2014) 4:77–80. doi: 10.1136/bmjspcare-2013-000456
- Samala R V, Parala-Metz A, Davis MP. Nonconvulsive status epilepticus in a palliative care unit: when delirium is a seizure. *Am J Hosp Palliat Med.* (2015) 32:243–7. doi: 10.1177/1049909113512719
- Lorenzl S, Mayer S, Noachtar S, Borasio GD. Nonconvulsive status epilepticus in terminally Ill patients-a diagnostic and therapeutic challenge. J Pain Symptom Manage. (2008) 36:200–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2007.10.006
- Drislane FW, Schomer DL. Clinical implications of generalized electrographic status epilepticus. *Epilepsy Res.* (1994) 19:111–21. doi: 10.1016/0920-1211(94)90021-3
- Maschio M, Dinapoli L. Patients with brain tumor-related epilepsy. J Neurooncol. (2012) 109:1–6. doi: 10.1007/s11060-012-0867-7
- 53. Sutherland AE, Curtin J, Bradley V, Bush O, Presswood M, Hedges V, et al. Subcutaneous levetiracetam for the management of seizures at the end of life. *BMJ Support Palliat Care* (2017) 8:129–35. doi: 10.1136/bmjspcare-2016-001261
- Rémi C, Lorenzl S, Vyhnalek B, Rastorfer K, Feddersen B. Continuous subcutaneous use of levetiracetam: a retrospective review of tolerability and clinical effects. J Pain Palliat Care Pharmacother. (2014) 28:371–7. doi: 10.3109/15360288.2014.959234
- Rémi C, Zwanzig V, Feddersen B. Subcutaneous use of lacosamide. J Pain Symptom Manage. (2015) 51:e2–4. doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2015.11.001
- Anderson GD, Saneto RP. Current oral and non-oral routes of antiepileptic drug delivery. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. (2012) 64:911–8. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2012.01.017
- Birnbaum AK, Kriel RL, Burkhardt RT, Remmel TP. Rectal Absorption of lamotrigine compressed tablets. *Epilepsia* (2000) 41:850–3. doi: 10.1111/j.1528-1157.2000.tb00252.x
- Birnbaum AK, Kriel RL, Im Y, Remmel RP. Relative bioavailability of lamotrigine chewable dispersible tablets administered rectally. *Pharmacotherapy* (2001) 21:158–62. doi: 10.1592/phco.21.2.158. 34104
- Conway JM, Birnbaum AK, Kriel RL, Cloyd JC. Relative bioavailability of topiramate administered rectally. *Epilepsy Res.* (2003) 54:91–6. doi: 10.1016/S0920-1211(03)00083-4
- Stockis A, Sargentini-maier ML, Otoul C, Connor A, Wilding I, Wray H. Assessment of levetiracetam bioavailability from targeted sites in the human intestine using remotely activated capsules and four-way crossover study in healthy male volunteers. *Clin Ther.* (2010) 32:1813–21. doi: 10.1016/j.clinthera.2010.09.001
- Graves NM, Kriel RL. Rectal administration of antiepileptic drugs in children. Pediatr Neurol. (1987) 3:321–6. doi: 10.1016/0887-8994(87)90001-4

- Leppik IE, Patel SI. Epilepsy & Behavior Intramuscular and rectal therapies of acute seizures. *Epilepsy Behav.* (2015) 49:307–12. doi: 10.1016/j.yebeh.2015.05.001
- Snead III OC, Miles M V. Treatment of status epilepticus in children with rectal sodium valproate. Clin Lab Obs. (1985) 106:16–8.
- Vajda FJE, Symington GR, Bladin PF. Rectal Valproate in intractable Status epilepticus. *Lancet Neurol.* (1977) 359–60. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(77)91155-2
- Viani F, Jussi MI, Germano M, Lotti P, Lotti F. Rectal administration of sodium valproate for neonatal and infantile status epilepticus. *Dev Med Child Neurol.* (1984) 26:677–80. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8749.1984. tb04511.x
- Pace A, Villani V, Di Pasquale A, Benincasa D, Guariglia L, Ieraci S, et al. Home care for brain tumor patients. *Neuro-oncology Pract.* (2014) 1:8–12. doi: 10.1093/nop/npt003

Conflict of Interest Statement: WG received speaker's honoraria, travel, or accommodation payment or participation fee from UCB, Eisai and Bial. JW has received speaker's honoraria from UCB, Desitin, Eisai und Bial. US has received speaker's honoraria from GSK, Novartis, medac and has received consultancy fees from Roche. SP reports no conflicts of interest to this work. TW has received consultancy fees by Bial and speaker fees for participation at educational activities organized by Eisai, Pfizer and UCB.

Copyright © 2018 Grönheit, Popkirov, Wehner, Schlegel and Wellmer. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Improvement of Restless Legs Syndrome Under Treatment of Cancer Pain With Morphine and Fentanyl

Jan Gärtner^{1*}, Karin Jaroslawski¹, Gerhild Becker² and Christopher Boehlke^{2*}

¹ Palliative Care Center Hildegard, Basel, Switzerland, ² Faculty of Medicine, Medical Center, Clinic for Palliative Medicine, University of Freiburg, Freiburg, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Raymond Voltz, Uniklinik Köln, Germany

Reviewed by:

Gennaro Pagano, King's College London, United Kingdom Mauro Manconi, Neurocenter of Southern Switzerland, Switzerland Silmar Teixeira, Federal University of Piauí, Brazil

*Correspondence:

Jan Gärtner jan.gaertner@pzhi.ch Christopher Boehlke christopher.boehlke@ uniklinik-freiburg.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Movement Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neurology

Received: 31 March 2018 Accepted: 15 April 2019 Published: 08 May 2019

Citation:

Gärtner J, Jaroslawski K, Becker G and Boehlke C (2019) Improvement of Restless Legs Syndrome Under Treatment of Cancer Pain With Morphine and Fentanyl. Front. Neurol. 10:457. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2019.00457 Restless-Legs-Syndrome (RLS), also known as Willis-Ekbom disease, is a sleep- and rest related disorder characterized by the unpleasant urge to move the legs. Pharmacological therapy is mainly based on dopamine-agonists and delta-2-alpha calcium channel ligands. Also, randomized-controlled-trials (RCTs) reported effectiveness of oral oxycodone (in combination with naloxone), and intrathecal opioids have also been administered for this indication. In the case reported here, a patient with advanced pancreatic cancer was referred to an acute palliative care unit for the treatment of cancer-related pain. Yet, in thorough exploration of her symptom burden, the patient reported that she felt her quality of life had been predominantly limited by symptoms other than cancer pain. Her medical history and neurological examination revealed that these symptoms were most obviously caused by severe RLS. In the years before, pharmacological therapies with dopamine-agonists and delta-2-alpha calcium channel ligands were initiated, but failed to relieve the RLS. In the palliative care ward, intravenous morphine was successfully titrated to treat her cancer pain. Concurrently, the patient also experienced almost complete relief from her RLS-symptoms and an increase in quality of life. The amelioration of her RLS-symptoms continued after morphine therapy was switched from intravenous to oral administration. Even after the patient was dismissed to home care and opioid rotation to transdermal fentanyl, symptom control of RLS remained excellent. To our knowledge, this is the first report of successfully treating RLS with intravenous and oral morphine. Since morphine is more easily available worldwide and the cost of morphine therapy is substantially lower compared to oxycodone/naloxone, comparisons to morphine may be an intriguing option for future RCTs.

Keywords: restless-legs-syndrome, Willis-Ekbom disease, treatment, morphine, oxycodone, transdermal fentanyl

INTRODUCTION

Restless-Legs-Syndrome (RLS), also known as Willis-Ekbom disease, is a sleep- and rest related disorder characterized by unpleasant sensations in the legs and the urge to move the legs, which may reduce the symptoms (1). RLS is a common disease with a reported prevalence of 5–10% in European and North American adults, with 2–3% experiencing moderate-to-severe symptoms (2). Women are affected twice as frequently as men (2).

If non-pharmacological interventions fail to relieve symptom burden, common pharmacological interventions include dopamine-agonists or an alpha-2-delta calcium channel ligand as first-line therapy (3). Unfortunately, after initial amelioration of symptoms many patients (50–70% over a period of 10 years) treated with dopamine-agonists experience worsened symptoms under ongoing medication, a process called augmentation (4). Therefore, other therapy options are needed to help these patients.

As a second-line approach, opioids have been used in clinical practice for years, but only a few placebo-controlled randomized trials have been conducted to prove their effectiveness. A recent phase III trial showed reduction of RLS-symptoms when patients were treated with oxycodone/naloxone (5), but there are some concerns of attrition bias due to high drop-out rates (6). An older study investigated the monotherapy of oxycodone without naloxone showing similar beneficial effects on symptom burden (7).

Several retrospective studies implicate other opioids -for example methadone (4, 8) and tramadol (9)- to reduce RLSsymptoms. Additionally, intrathecal morphine was administered successfully to treat RLS-patients (10–12). However, to our knowledge so far there are no published reports on orally or intravenously administered morphine in the treatment of RLS.

CASE REPORT

A 75-year-old woman was admitted to our palliative ward with abdominal pain, nausea, and vomiting. The patient had been diagnosed with metastatic pancreas carcinoma with one singular liver metastasis 18 months before. She had received first- and second-line chemotherapy regimens; the latter had been stopped due to severe side effects. Two months prior to admission, when MRI scans revealed progressive disease, and together with her medical oncologist, the patient decided against continuing chemotherapy. Instead, symptom oriented, palliative care was chosen without any further antineoplastic therapy.

The patient had been suffering from RLS for 12 years already, with moderate to strong symptoms [Numerical Rating Scale (NRS): 6-10/10] mostly in the evening and at night. The family history regarding RLS was not investigated. She reported symptom alleviation by long walks (up to several hours long), and rigorous tennis playing, both of which she could no longer accomplish because of the progressive cancer related fatigue. Twelve years ago, her neurologist started treating RLS with levodpa, but after initial improvements in symptom control, symptoms began worsening again due to augmentation. Five years later, the patient was started on a transdermal application of the dopamine-agonist rotigotine (4 mg/d), but this treatment could not reduce RLS-symptoms satisfactorily. The patient reported that a trial of pregabalin was discontinued because of side effects (dizziness) and oxycodone was stopped because of nausea and vomiting. Thereafter transdermal rotigotine (4 mg/d) was continued with little effect until admission to our palliative care unit.

To assess RLS-symptom burden and pain we used the 11-NRS, an established tool to assess pain and commonly used in the palliative care setting, where 0 = no pain and 10 = worst possible pain (13). We used the NRS to semi-quantify RLS-symptom intensity, because it is well-known by staff while other assessment tools specifically designed for RLS are not established. When using the NRS for the assessment of RLS-symptoms, we asked the patient: how severe are your RLS-symptoms right now (0 = no RLS-symptoms, 10 = worst possible RLS-symptoms)?

Upon initial admission, she reported abdominal cramps (NRS 8/10). Her temperature and blood pressure were normal with a heart rate of 100 bpm. The abdomen was distended, but soft with normal bowel sounds. The patient reported ubiquitous abdominal tenderness. The rest of the physical examination was normal. Initial laboratory testing included elevated gamma-glutamyl transferase at 194 U/l (reference range, <40 U/L), lactate dehydrogenase at 364 U/L (reference range, 135-214 U/l) and C-reactive protein at 42 mg/l (reference range, <5 mg/l). Bilirubin and lipase levels were normal. The peripheral-blood count was normal. An abdominal ultrasound dismissed possible bowel obstruction, hepatic cholestasis, and gall bladder abnormalities, but revealed a significant amount of ascites, which is why percutaneous ascites drainage was performed (3.5l). Cell counts in the ascites fluid revealed elevated neutrophils/µl indicating spontaneous bacterial peritonitis. Calculated antibiotic treatment was started with tazobactam/piperacillin.

The patient also received intravenous fluids, analgesics (oral metamizole) and antiemetics (dimenhydrinate, ondansetrone). At day 5 after admission the abdominal pain exacerbated. Symptomatic analgesia with intravenous morphine (20 mg/d) was initiated. Pain management was excellent after 1 day with a NRS of 0-3/10. Unintendedly, the patient also reported almost complete symptom relief regarding her RLS (Figure 1), which had not occurred for her in years. After nausea and vomiting had resided, analgesics, including morphine were given orally. Still, pain management and the symptom control of RLS-symptoms remained steady. According to the patient's wish, she was discharged 13 days after admission. Three days later, she was re-admitted with increasing abdominal pain. Without our knowledge, her general practitioner had rotated morphine to transdermal fentanyl (25 μ g/h). While pain control was insufficient, RLS-symptoms remained adequately controlled with this opioid therapy. After re-admission we discontinued transdermal fentanyl and re-initiated intravenous morphine therapy, which once again achieved excellent pain relief. Paracentesis revealed an increasing neutrophil count in the ascites. Considering her incurable, advancing and metastatic disease and good symptom control under analgesia, the patient declined antibiotic treatment and died a little more than 1 week later.

DISCUSSION

We report a case of a patient with advanced pancreatic cancer, treated with intravenous and oral morphine for cancer



pain, who experienced markedly reduced symptom burden of her RLS-syndrome. While there are several publications reporting successful use of intrathecal morphine (10–12) and oral methadone and tramadol (4, 8, 9) in RLS, to our knowledge this is the first report showing amelioration of RLS-symptoms by morphine administered intravenously and orally and by transdermal fentanyl.

A systematic review by Trenkwalder et al. on association of RLS with certain diseases could not identify increased prevalence in malignant disease, although MEIS1, the RLS gene most strongly associated with RLS risk in GWAS studies, is a transcription factor with implications in leukemia and neuroblastoma (14). To our knowledge, no association with malignant disease has been reported so far. As in our patient, RLS symptoms occurred years before diagnosis of the malignant disease and no other typically RLS-associated condition was present. We therefore assume that she was suffering from primary (idiopathic) RLS. Still, a neoplastic origin from so far unidentified anti-neuronal antibodies (secondary RLS) cannot be excluded. The late onset of RLS in our patient might favor secondary disease, which is seen later in life than idiopathic disease (15).

The pathophysiology of RLS is poorly understood. Three main pathways seem to be involved: iron metabolism, dopaminergic dysfunction, and the central opioid system (16). Why are opioids effective in treatment of RLS? Cell culture experiments in irondeficient conditions show that dopaminergic cells from the substantia nigra are protected from apoptosis by the delta-opioid peptide enkephalin (17). Furthermore, post mortem analyses of human brains showed reduced antibody staining against betaendorphine and met-enkphalin in RLS patients when compared to controls, possibly involving the mu-opioid receptor subtype in the pathogenesis of RLS (18). At a morphological level, dendritic spines, which are small membranous protrusions at the dendrites proposed to be the cellular basis for learning and memory, may be involved in the pathogenesis of RLS (19, 20). Activation of ubiquitously clustered mu-opioid-receptors in excitatory synapses by morphine invoke morphological changes in dendritic spines and decreased expression of glutamate receptors (21). This may as well-contribute to the beneficial effect of opioids on RLS symptoms.

Our patient had previously been treated with the dopamine agonist rotigotine and levodopa. According to the practice guidelines, second line therapy should include delta-2alpha calcium channel ligands such as gabapentin (level A recommendation) or pregabalin (level B) (22, 23). In our patient, pregabalin had caused dizziness and was discontinued. Some years before, her neurologist had treated our patient with oxycodone/naloxone (2 \times 5 mg/2.5 mg/d; daily oral morphine equivalent dose of 15-20 mg), which had also not led to improvement of the RLS symptoms. Notably, the oxycodone/naloxone dose had not been increased stepwise, as it is suggested by the phase III trial (5). During her stay on our palliative care unit our patient was titrated up to 20 mg intravenous morphine daily dose (daily oral morphine equivalence of 40-60 mg), which is the equivalent dose of the fentanyl dose that relieved her RLS symptoms but around 200-300% the daily morphine equivalent when oxycodone/naloxone was tried unsuccessfully. This could explain why our patient had not experienced any benefits from oxycodone/naloxone concerning the RLS symptoms. We assume that opioid equivalents known from treatment of pain are also applicable to the treatment of RLS. This is not necessarily the case, because there might be other mechanisms involved during opioid-action in RLS. For example, several downstream targets of the mu-receptor are known (24). However, it is unknown, exactly which downstream targets are involved in mediation of mu-receptor activation in the treatment of RLS. These targets could be different in pain and RLS causing different equivalence dosages. In Europe, oxycodone/naloxone (Targin^{\mathbb{R}}) is approved for treatment of RLS after failure of dopaminergic therapies. No prospective RCTs have investigated the effectiveness of other opioids. Our patient experienced markedly reduced RLSsymptoms after initiation of analgesia with morphine, regardless of application route (intravenous or oral), and transdermal fentanyl. Interestingly, RLS symptom burden remained low after the patient's general practitioner switched oral morphine to transdermal fentanyl therapy. This indicates that in addition to oxycodone, morphine and other opioids may have beneficial effects on RLS-symptoms. RCTs with comparison of other strong opioids are warranted to investigate this intriguing option: morphine is more readily available worldwide and therapy costs of morphine are substantially lower compared to oxycodone/naloxone.

A concern in the long-term use of opioids is addiction. While opioids are well-established in treatment of cancer-pain, in chronic pain their use is controversial and should only be considered under certain precautions (25). There is no data investigating the issue of addiction when opioids are used for RLS. Therefore, opioid use in RLS-patients should be monitored closely to reduce potential abuse. Possible reversible causes of RLS-refractoriness (such as low iron stores) and other therapeutic options (such as pharmacological combination therapy, nonpharmacologic and complementary approaches) should be considered before prescribing opioids (26, 27). Although opioid use disorder could be a relevant problem in RLS-patients, we know that long-term use of opioids in "low" dosages (<100 mg/d morphine or equivalent) has significantly lower risks than the use of high dosages (26, 28). Additionally, a recent study found increased rates of invasive pneumococcal pneumonia in patients

REFERENCES

- Allen RP, Picchietti DL, Garcia-Borreguero D, Ondo WG, Walters AS, Winkelman JW, et al. Restless legs syndrome/Willis-Ekbom disease diagnostic criteria: updated International restless legs syndrome study group (IRLSSG) consensus criteria–history, rationale, description, and significance. *Sleep Med.* (2014) 15:860–73. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2014.03.025
- Picchietti DL, van den Eeden SK, Inoue Y, Berger K. Achievements, challenges, and future perspectives of epidemiologic research in restless legs syndrome (RLS). *Sleep Med.* (2017) 31:3–9. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep. 2016.06.007
- 3. Garcia-Borreguero D, Ferini-Strambi L, Kohnen R, O'Keeffe S, Trenkwalder C, Högl B, et al. European guidelines on management of restless legs syndrome: report of a joint task force by the European Federation of Neurological Societies, the European Neurological Society and the

receiving opioid therapy (29). In the cohort study of Wiese et al. the authors hypothesize that this finding may be caused by the immunosuppressant effects of opioids, but confounders and other risks of bias cannot be excluded. Nevertheless, these findings and the debate about the current "opioid epidemic" emphasize the need for thorough risk-benefit appraisal for each individual patient before initiating opioid therapy for RLS (30).

CONCLUDING REMARKS

A patient with advanced pancreatic cancer experienced pronounced and sustained amelioration of RLS-symptoms by intravenous and oral morphine therapy and due to transdermal fentanyl therapy. In the literature no case reports or studies of oral or intravenous morphine or transdermal fentanyl against RLS could be identified. As morphine is more readily available worldwide and therapy costs of morphine are substantially lower compared to oxycodone/naloxone, randomized clinical trials are warranted to investigate the role of morphine in the treatment of RLS. Yet, in the non-palliative care population, thorough individual risk-benefit appraisal should be conducted for every patient before initiating opioid therapy due to safety issues concerning misuse (addiction) and potential immunosuppression.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The patient provided verbal and written consent for use of the patient's personal health information in this case report.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CB and JG wrote the manuscript. CB prepared the figure, and GB and KJ edited the final manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The article processing charge was funded by the German Research Foundation (DFG) and the University of Freiburg in the funding programme Open Access Publishing.

European Sleep Research Society. *Eur J Neurol.* (2012) 19:1385–96. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-1331.2012.03853.x

- Silver N, Allen RP, Senerth J, Earley CJ. A 10-year, longitudinal assessment of dopamine agonists and methadone in the treatment of restless legs syndrome. *Sleep Med.* (2011) 12:440–4. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2010.11.002
- Trenkwalder C, Beneš H, Grote L, García-Borreguero D, Högl B, Hopp M, et al. Prolonged release oxycodone-naloxone for treatment of severe restless legs syndrome after failure of previous treatment: a double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled trial with an open-label extension. *Lancet Neurol.* (2013) 12:1141–50. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(13)70239-4
- de Oliveira CO, Carvalho LB, Carlos K, Conti C, de Oliveira MM, Prado LB, et al. Opioids for restless legs syndrome. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2016) CD006941. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD006941.pub2
- 7. Walters AS, Wagner ML, Hening WA, Grasing K, Mills R, Chokroverty S, et al. Successful treatment of the idiopathic restless legs syndrome

in a randomized double-blind trial of oxycodone versus placebo. *Sleep.* (1993) 16:327–32.

- Ondo WG. Methadone for refractory restless legs syndrome. Mov Disord. (2005) 20:345–8. doi: 10.1002/mds.20359
- 9. Lauerma H, Markkula J. Treatment of restless legs syndrome with tramadol: an open study. J Clin Psychiatry. (1999) 60:241–4.
- Ross DA, Narus MS, Nutt JG. Control of medically refractory restless legs syndrome with intrathecal morphine: case report. *Neurosurgery*. (2008) 62:E263; discussion E263. doi: 10.1227/01.NEU.0000311089.04014.91
- Hornyak M, Kaube H. Long-Term treatment of a patient with severe restless legs syndrome using intrathecal morphine. *Neurology.* (2012) 79:2361–2. doi: 10.1212/WNL.0b013e318278b5e7
- Jakobsson B, Ruuth K. Successful treatment of restless legs syndrome with an implanted pump for intrathecal drug delivery. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand.* (2002) 46:114–7. doi: 10.1034/j.1399-6576.2002.460121.x
- Farrar JT, Young JP, LaMoreaux L, Werth JL, Poole RM. Clinical importance of changes in chronic pain intensity measured on an 11-point numerical pain rating scale. *Pain.* (2001) 94:149–58. doi: 10.1016/s0304-3959(01)00349-9
- Trenkwalder C, Allen R, Högl B, Paulus W, Winkelmann J. Restless legs syndrome associated with major diseases: a systematic review and new concept. *Neurology.* (2016) 86:1336–43. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000002542
- Ohayon MM, O'Hara R, Vitiello MV. Epidemiology of restless legs syndrome: a synthesis of the literature. *Sleep Med Rev.* (2012) 16:283–95. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2011.05.002
- Guo S, Huang J, Jiang H, Han C, Li J, Xu X, et al. Restless legs syndrome: from pathophysiology to clinical diagnosis and management. *Front Aging Neurosci.* (2017) 9:171. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2017.00171
- Sun Y-MJ, Hoang T, Neubauer JA, Walters AS. Opioids protect against substantia nigra cell degeneration under conditions of iron deprivation: a mechanism of possible relevance to the Restless Legs Syndrome (RLS) and Parkinson's disease. J Neurol Sci. (2011) 304:93–101. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2011.02.003
- Walters AS, Ondo WG, Zhu W, Le W. Does the endogenous opiate system play a role in the Restless Legs Syndrome? A pilot post-mortem study. *J Neurol Sci.* (2009) 279:62–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2008.12.022
- Trenkwalder C, Zieglgänsberger W, Ahmedzai SH, Högl B. Pain, opioids, and sleep: implications for restless legs syndrome treatment. *Sleep Med.* (2017) 31:78–85. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2016.09.017
- Yuste R, Bonhoeffer T. Morphological changes in dendritic spines associated with long-term synaptic plasticity. *Annu Rev Neurosci.* (2001) 24:1071–89. doi: 10.1146/annurev.neuro.24.1.1071
- Liao D, Lin H, Law PY, Loh HH. Mu-opioid receptors modulate the stability of dendritic spines. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2005) 102:1725–30. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0406797102
- 22. Winkelman JW, Armstrong MJ, Allen RP, Chaudhuri KR, Ondo W, Trenkwalder C, et al. Practice guideline summary: treatment of restless legs

syndrome in adults: report of the Guideline Development, Dissemination, and Implementation Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology. *Neurology.* (2016) 87:2585–93. doi: 10.1212/WNL.00000000003388

- Ferini-Strambi L, Marelli S. Pharmacotherapy for restless legs syndrome. *Expert Opin Pharmacother*. (2014) 15:1127–38. doi: 10.1517/14656566.2014.908850
- Williams JT, Ingram SL, Henderson G, Chavkin C, von Zastrow M, Schulz S, et al. Regulation of μ-opioid receptors: desensitization, phosphorylation, internalization, and tolerance. *Pharmacol Rev.* (2013) 65:223–54. doi: 10.1124/pr.112.005942
- Dowell D, Haegerich TM, Chou R. CDC guideline for prescribing opioids for chronic pain–United States, 2016. JAMA. (2016) 315:1624–45. doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.1464
- Silber MH, Becker PM, Buchfuhrer MJ, Earley CJ, Ondo WG, Walters AS, et al. The appropriate use of opioids in the treatment of refractory restless legs syndrome. *Mayo Clin Proc.* (2018) 93:59–67. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2017.11.007
- Bega D, Malkani R. Alternative treatment of restless legs syndrome: an overview of the evidence for mind-body interventions, lifestyle interventions, and neutraceuticals. *Sleep Med.* (2016) 17:99–105. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2015.09.009
- Blue Cross Blue Shield Blue Health Intelligence. America's Opioid Epidemic and its Effect on the Nation's Commercially-Insured Population. (2018). Available online at: https://www.bcbs.com/the-health-ofamerica/reports/americas-opioid-epidemic-and-its-effect-on-the-nationscommercially-insured (accessed on April 14, 2019).
- Wiese AD, Griffin MR, Schaffner W, Stein CM, Greevy RA, Mitchel EF, et al. Opioid analgesic use and risk for invasive pneumococcal diseases: a nested case-control study. *Ann Intern Med.* (2018) 168:396–404. doi: 10.7326/M17-1907
- Humphreys K. Avoiding globalisation of the prescription opioid epidemic. Lancet. (2017) 390:437–9. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31918-9

Conflict of Interest Statement: JG has received research grants, speaker's fees and honoraria for advisory boards from several manufacturers of opioids. These include: Grünenthal, Mundipharma, Teva, and Sanofi-Aventis.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Gärtner, Jaroslawski, Becker and Boehlke. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

